Chaos at the Crossroads

Family Law Reform in Australia

John Stapleton

Chaos At The Crossroads

Family Law Reform in Australia

by John Stapleton

First Edition, Copyright 2010 John Stapleton
All rights reserved.

Published by Dads On The Air Books.

More information: www.dadsontheair.net

Published for the Internet by eBookIt.com http://www.eBookIt.com

ISBN-13: 978-1-4566-0019-8

This book may not be reproduced in any form or by any electronic or mechanical means including information storage and retrieval systems, without permission in writing from the author. Reviewers may quote excerpts in a review.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

CHAPTER ONE:IN THE BEGINNING

CHAPTER TWO: ORIGINS AND POLITICS

CHAPTER THREE: THE FIRST DAYS

CHAPTER FOUR: TALES FROM THE SUBMISSIONS

CHAPTER FIVE: THE WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE

CHAPTER SIX:THE FINAL DAYS OF ALASTAIR NICHOLSON

CHAPTER SEVEN: DESCENT INTO CHAOS

CHAPTER EIGHT: THE TWILIGHT ZONE

CHAPTER NINE:WORST CASE SCENARIO

CHAPTER TEN:THE SWINGS AND ROUNDABOUTS OF 2010

INTRODUCTION

In the middle of the year 2000 I received a phone call which would ultimately lead to the writing of this book. The caller, a former police officer called Rick Torning, wanted to know if I would be interested in contributing to a program at a community radio station in western Sydney called 2GLF. As one of a small group of separated blokes who had secured some air time on a community radio station, he wanted to cover family law, child support and fatherhood issues. They had heard, I'm not sure how, that I was both a journalist and a separated dad.

Subsequently I met up with the initial group of what was to evolve into Dads On The Air. From those original few, I remained directly involved with the program the longest, for about nine years. As such I am sometimes referred to as "the founder", although that is not correct and there were several of us involved in those early days, including Richard Torning aka Uncle Buck and others who for professional reasons would now rather not be named.

Rick was a domestic violence expert with the NSW Police who mounted a number of complex legal cases attempting to demonstrate in the family law system's lack of validity.

"Matt", another former policemen, was at that time a contributor to the show, before he started complaining that every time he made an appearance his child support was increased and he could no longer afford to participate.

Like many other fathers who find working while paying what they perceive as draconian levels of child support pointless, "Matt" eventually gave up the job he loved and instead went to university. He has since graduated. Thanks to our family law and child support systems, there are a number of dads who have either gone back to tertiary education or pursued other dreams, such as to become a painter. Or who took the other path and are eking out their lives on welfare rather than spend them in servitude to what they saw as the system's rapacious financial demands. They might have felt differently if they thought their money was genuinely benefitting their children.

These two men were particularly upset, as separated policemen tended to be. Former policemen, of which there were a disproportionate number within the atomised, disorganised and almost entirely unfunded father's and family law reform movements in Australia, were perhaps more attune to the injustices and failures of the system they

had spent their lives serving and which, when they needed it most, comprehensively failed them.

Matt, too, was heartbroken that a one-night stand resulted in a child he could not see. His own life had been turned upside down as a result and his own parents were upset at the lack of contact with their grandchild.

We shared much in common, that first small group, most of all disgust at the rampant anti-father bias and to our minds outright corruption in Australia's family law system. We were similarly distressed at what had been so blithely done to our children, and the children of so many others, the attempted destruction of their relationship with their dads. I admired people who didn't give up, who didn't say sure, take my kids, act as if they didn't need a father in their lives, leach me for every cent you can.

During those dark days more than half the fathers entering the Family Court saw their children barely once or twice a year. All too many never saw their children again. Those who did usually got the so-called daddy pack of contact every second weekend, although there was no evidence such an arrangement was in the best interests of children. The situation improved somewhat after the introduction of the Howard government's modest reforms promoting shared parenting, but these reforms now look likely to be wound back.

While I perhaps somewhat obsessively dedicated many hundreds of hours to Dads On The Air over the years, I am not some kind of gender warrior. I worked in the mainstream media, on two of Australia's leading broadsheets, for more than a quarter of the century. As a former general news reporter, a "humble hack on the highways of print" sometimes dismissively known as an ambulance chaser, I have written thousands upon thousands of stories on a dizzying range of topics. Family law was just one of the subjects that intrigued me over the years.

But as that first small band of disgruntled dads rapidly discovered once we began broadcasting, like no other subject family law was something that cut deep into the hearts and lives of many men. Family law represents an inexhaustible well of pain.

When we began we felt very much alone, our broadcasts putting us out on a limb. Not for long. As the years passed DOTA was joined by other voices, both within the Australian community and internationally. There were so many stories. Fathers everywhere, often having worked in thankless jobs in order to protect and provide for their children, and then kept busy at home for the same purpose, were outraged by the post-separation system they found themselves unwillingly trapped within. When we began in 2000 we had no idea we were part of a worldwide trend protesting the mistreatment of fathers in separated families.

At first we would say what we had to say nervously, thinking that at any time the Australian Federal Police would come knocking at our door and try to silence us. The Family Court had a history of prosecuting its critics. No other media outlet in Australia was routinely trying to expose the suspect practices and decision making of the Family Court and the Child Support Agency in the way we were. Our boldly expressed views on the dysfunction within the country's family law, child support and child welfare systems, which once seemed so daring because they were so rarely heard, eventually came to appear decidedly mainstream.

From that initial telephone call evolved Dads On The Air, which by dint of pure perseverance is now the world's longest running program dedicated to gender, family and fatherhood issues. It has gone on to attract a talented team of volunteers with journalistic, entertainment, legal, academic and internet experience. But back in 2000 we had no expertise, no experience in radio, and no resources. At that time we did not even have the ability to interview people on air. Convincing talent to travel out to western Sydney for an obscure radio show was difficult.

Technology had rapidly changed the father's movement by enabling the almost instantaneous spread of information, news stories, research and developments worldwide. Once separated fathers had been socially isolated and largely withdrawn. Now they realised they were not alone, that their cases were far from unique. The internet facilitated the rapid "wising up" of separated fathers. In the previous five years there had been a rapid expansion of internet chat-lines and on-line communities which meant anyone struggling to understand court processes or to handle the emotional fall out of divorce or separation could benefit from other's experience. All they had to do was put out a simple request about forms or procedures and they would be deluged with advice.

Dads On The Air was itself a prime example of the way revolutions in computer science were transforming social debate. The technology which made it possible for a small group in western Sydney to create a 90 minute weekly program that could be downloaded in Mongolia and attract the country's and the world's leading political, academic and social commentators on fathers issues simply hadn't existed five years before.

The show played a pivotal role in the debate over family law reform in Australia during the first decade of the new millennium, acting as a conduit for groups and individuals whose voices were rarely if ever heard in the mainstream media.

The program today is very different to what it once was, including being more professional and hopefully considerably more entertaining. While we continue to follow Australian family law, child support and fatherhood issues more closely than any other media outlet, we also pursue broader debates, from men's health to early childhood development to parental alienation. As the years have passed, Dads On The Air has widened its focus to promote a positive view of men, boys, fathers and to explore social issues around gender and fatherhood.

While Dads On The Air has been accused by some of being a "men's rights" group, something somehow evil while women's rights groups are to be applauded, it is nothing of the kind. It is simply a media outlet focusing on dads' issues, encouraging debate across a range of perspectives.

Australia's unique network of more than 100 community radio stations, established by Gough Whitlam in the early 1970s, is one of the main reasons the show arose in Australia. Ironically it was also Whitlam who established the Family Court of Australia, following a similar trend towards secretive Marxist feminist style family courts in other Western countries. While internationally there was widespread discontent amongst men over the operations of family law, child support, child protection and other gender related issue, there has so far been nothing else like Dads On The Air anywhere in the world. As a result we regularly interview international guests and our archives now

represent a backlog of interviews with most of the major figures in fatherhood politics around the world.

The show followed more closely than any other media outlet in Australia the struggle for reform of family law. Ultimately, through its programs and early forums, it provided the most complete record available of the long, difficult and passionate struggle for reform of what separated fathers regarded as the extreme anti-male anti-father bias of Australia's family law system. As we were to discover, we were not alone. A similar bias infected family law systems throughout the western world.

Dads On The Air was in a unique position to cover and even at times to contribute to the years of reports, committee inquiries and debate on reforms promoting cooperative care of children after divorce. These changes were finally made into law by the Australian government headed by then Prime Minister John Howard in 2006 as a bipartisan initiative.

Almost immediately following the election of a left leaning Labor government headed by Prime Minister Kevin Rudd in 2007 the process of winding the reforms back began in an entirely partisan way. In Australia family law amendments have never previously been introduced without bipartisan support. The debate continues to this day.

Dads On The Air has evolved a long way from its early years. The first programs must have been a bit of a strain on the audience, with long spiels about the impacts of family law and elaborate deconstructions of domestic violence or anti-father ideologies. My first contribution went for 18 minutes, an eternity on radio, and contained a detailed summing up of events concerning family law around the world. We must have stretched the tolerance of our listeners. But after that first phone contribution, I began to make the weekly trek out to Liverpool in western Sydney to do the show. And after a year or so, our first amateur efforts coalesced into a dedicated radio program. The name Dads On The Air just popped into my mind one morning, and stuck.

We were fortunate to find ourselves in an era when there was plenty of material to broadcast. The web has been a God send for separated fathers, who have flocked to the various internet chat lines and web sites. Their sometimes unfashionable pro-family views, their scepticism towards domestic violence legislation, family courts and child support and child protection agencies, while routinely ignored, marginalised or even ridiculed in the mainstream media, have found ample room in cyber space.

During the course of the show I have met many of the various figures in the men's movement in Australia, and for a period followed several internet chat lines and news services. For a couple of years I read virtually everything published in English language media on family law in the Western world. There's a surprisingly large volume of material. The invaluable work of Lindsay Jackel, a retired telecom worker in Melbourne, in collecting and redistributing gender and family law related media and academic articles on internet news services such as Manumit - which means escape from slavery - and chat lines such as Nuance convinced me there was more than enough material around to maintain a weekly radio program. Jackel is now a valued member of the DOTA team.

We have made mistakes. At first we tried to fill three hours a week with dads' related material. Then the station not so subtly suggested it might be easier on the listeners to

condense our separated father focused material into a shorter time span. For a while the program was 60 minutes long. We finally settled on the current 90 minute format.

In the early years we ran an often lively public forum on our old website. But we found that while the forums were valuable in spreading information and displaying the grief and despair of fathers for all to see, they were also easily abused. A few used the forums as a way of recruiting people to their legal adventurism, dispensing poor advice for money distressed dads could ill afford. And a drunken and obsessive disenfranchised father with a head full of conspiracy theories can be an unlovely beast at 2am. We also found that because of the volatility of the subject matter the forums associated us with positions and attitudes which did not reflect our own views. Intemperate comments on the forums were easily used against us by our critics; yet we had not authored them. We were faced with many hours of work to clean up the forums or on occasion to comply with police requests to remove material. When we moved to our new website at www.dadsontheair.net we abandoned them altogether.

The argument over family law was essentially a "tipping point" one. It was simple a matter of numbers. More and more people were either directly affected or had friends and family whose lives had been adversely affected by the operations of the court. After the establishment of the Child Support Agency in 1989, this only got worse. By 2000 the large number of fathers and their extended families had seen or experienced first hand their lives and the lives of those they loved destroyed by the conduct of the court and its style of custody orders.

More than a million children and their parents were clients of the Australian Child Support Agency and subject to orders of the Family Court of Australia. With so many of the citizenry having experienced the Family Court's overly complex processes first hand, often being burnt or becoming embittered as a result, or knowing loved ones who had, there were sufficient numbers of the disaffected to defy institutional propaganda, political gutlessness and media neglect. Or in notable cases, the agendas of some strategically placed journalists and columnists.

Through the latter half of the twentieth century, as more than half of all marriages came to end in divorce, the belief that family law in Australia was overwhelmingly tilted against fathers and that this hostility was doing massive harm to parents and children alike had become an accepted truth amongst a significant section of the population. Equally, such claims were the subject of denial from the mandarins who administered family law and greatly benefited from its administration. And most of the tax-payer funded women's groups representing the interests of single mothers.

With the introduction of no fault divorce in the 1970s, the Family Court had been created as a so-called "helping court". Initially it was regarded in many quarters as a progressive institution carrying out long overdue reforms. But as one of our guests, historian John Hirst wrote in his book Kangaroo Court, far from being a helping institution, as the years rolled by the Court became feared and hated. In practice, no fault divorce in an adversarial system simply meant all the fault was placed on dads. In a he said she said jurisdiction, the words of fathers were routinely dismissed as the mutterings of the patriarchy.

Separated fathers critical of the family law system were described as disgruntled litigants, or even as patriarchal relics unable to cope with the fact they no longer had control over their former wives or their children. These were insulting and self-serving

analyses. As many discovered first hand, the notion that complex cases were being carefully weighed by Family Court judges according to the evidence before them and the individual circumstances of each family to reach a studied conclusion "in the best interests of the child" was simply not true.

Most decisions which do not settle prior to trial were and still are made on the basis of reports from a coterie of Family Court report writers, at one time largely the court's own in-house counselors and now likely to be one of a small coterie of psychiatrists who get this lucrative work.

From its inception Dads On The Air claimed that there were significant problems with these reports.

Custody decisions, when not made at interim hearings on little evidence but the affidavits of feuding parents, are almost invariably made at trial on the recommendations of a family report writer who has rarely seen the parties involved for more than an hour each, if they are lucky. Departure from their recommendations can offer grounds for appeal.

There is no proof that an hour long interview under such conditions provides anything but a brief glimpse of parents in stress. Putting aside the frequent complaints about the bias and extremely poor quality of the reports, such interviews are simply insufficient to determine the appropriate future for a child. They are certainly insufficient to justify the removal of a child from one parent or the other.

It appeared to DOTA self evident that the "experts" and family report writers used by the court were chosen over time for their preparedness to perpetuate its agenda. The judicial requirement for what were known as 30A Reports provided a cash cow for psychologists and counselors prepared to to do the court's bidding. While expert witnesses are a problem throughout the Australian legal system, their routine abuse is particularly evident in family law. The "experts" charge thousands of dollars for reports based on little if anything more than brief interviews with each parent accompanied by their children, combined with their subjective impressions or prejudices.

Dads On The Air has consistently argued that these reports constitute the core of the corruption within the Australian family law system. They form the evidentiary bedrock of Australian family law but are, at the best, "very, very poor and entirely suspect", as family law reform advocate Michael Green QC described them.

Green, when we first began broadcasting, was best known as the author of Fathers After Divorce, a practical guide to coping with custody disputes and their aftermath, including the loss of children, assets and income. As a senior legal figure who had nonetheless been brutalised by the system just like so many others, in the early days his moderate and educated tone was important in giving credibility to our own often more strident criticisms of the court.

Later Michael Green was to co-author a second book, in conjunction with psychologist Jill Burrett titled Shared Parenting. Of course we were to interview him once again. Over time he became one of the most learned and reasonable of the voices calling for reform as we ourselves became increasingly critical of the judgements, the secrecy and the conduct of the Court. As a lawyer himself, Green was far more polite than we would ever be. Later he became closely involved with the drafting of the Howard government's legislative reforms.

Green argued that when people thought of separation they thought of lawyers and all too easily run off to find out what their rights were. The true question separating couples should ask themselves was not what were their rights and responsibilities but what were the best arrangements they could put in place for the parents and for the children.

At the time there was a widespread belief amongst separated fathers that far from assessing the facts before them to determine the "best interests of the child", the Family Court judges, indoctrinated with old-style 1970s and 1980s "all men are rapists" feminism, were more likely to follow those precepts set out in the book Feminist Jurisprudence – facts are nothing but weapons that men use to batter women and perpetuate the system.

Its critics regarded The Family Court of Australia's moniker "The Palace of Lies" to be well deserved.

Far from being concerned about "the best interests of the child", as we were often to say on radio one of the most dishonestly used phrases in Australia today, its social aim appeared to us to be the marginalization of perfectly decent dads and the creation of that noble victim, the single mother, the linchpin and justification for billions of dollars of social welfare spending, complex administrations, thousands of jobs and a welter of supporting programs.

The Family Court at the turn of the millennium had been very slow to adjust to changing social mores which once again increasingly valued the role of fathers. Or to take note of the new generations of fathers closely involved in the day to day care of their children.

There were many issues impacting on separated fathers, most dominantly the long battle for joint custody or shared parenting, but many other factors impinged on their lives as men and fathers. In our early days at DOTA we were keen to cover them all.

One topic of particular concern to separated fathers but probably of little interest to anyone else was child support. Despite every father's group in the country claiming that child support is directly linked to the high death rate amongst separated men, no government inquiry has ever addressed this scandal. Almost no politician ever speaks up. And no mainstream media outlet has ever tackled the story in depth.

The rigidities and complexities of the child support formula and its poor interaction with the real world of separating couples, whose lives are often in flux, has created distress and frustration from clients and child support workers alike.

Despite the bureaucratic propaganda demonising "deadbeat dads" and boasting about the millions collected, at great expense and allegedly in the best interests of children, the case for the abolition of the Child Support Agency is as strong today as when we first began broadcasting. Based on information obtained under Freedom of Information laws, we estimated that as of 2010 more than 13,000 clients of the Agency had died since Labor came to power in late 1997. This is significantly higher than would be expected in a similarly aged group of non-child support payers.

Along with bread and butter stories of changing government policy and institutional and legal reform, many often wrenching individual tales came to the attention of Dads On The Air. We have broadcast or brought attention to as many of them as we could; the fathers jailed for sending birthday cards to their children, or who have had their homes or businesses destroyed because of the claims of their former wives and the

viciousness of court decisions. The rural families who lost family operations built up over generations. The fathers falsely accused of sexual crimes against their children, simply in order to gain advantage in a custody battle. The fathers who spend the rest of their lives grieving for the children they have lost and who are so often and so painfully turned against them. While some dads hope and pray their children will eventually return to them when they are old enough to make their own decisions, in practice many of these often damaged kids are indoctrinated for life. Many painful stories remain untold, non-existent in the public conscience.

One story we broadcast was the Australian father, a pensioner, Des, who was repeatedly jailed after he became disabled from a car accident while driving up to Brisbane to see his children. His best friend was killed in the accident. His wife refused to bring the children to see him in the hospital. The judge decreed that because he was disabled he would have to sell all his assets and pay the sum total of \$200 a week child support for the children until they were 18 in one lump sum. He couldn't afford to pay. We came to the story long after the children were adults and had left their mother behind, when the courts of the land were pursuing a disabled man to take his small home in rural Victoria, his only asset. How is this system acting "in the best interests of children"?

The then Attorney-General Phillip Ruddock often wore an Amnesty International badge, thus expressing concern for human rights abuses around the world, but sat atop a system which routinely perpetuated these types of abuses at home. These stories were all too common and I was astonished by the detail of many of those which came to our attention.

Dads On The Air was born on the cusp of gathering outrage around the globe about family law and child support systems, the latter in effect an onerous additional tax imposed almost solely on separated dads, the former arbitrary, capricious, secretive and unaccountable. This international outrage reached its most colourful apogee early in the millennium with the antics of the British group Fathers For Justice. Their stunts included climbing Buckingham Palace in London and invading Parliament House at Westminster, where purple powder was thrown at the politicians, purple being the adopted colour for justice. Bridges across Britain were climbed, traffic brought to a standstill.

While there was much talk at various times, and even at one point the creation of a Fathers For Justice Australia group, such overt acts of civil disobedience never came down under, perhaps because of our smaller population, perhaps because Australian men are less inclined to showy displays. Whatever the reason, at least questions were beginning to be asked over the routine demonisation of men and the ideological shift away from the nuclear family and the role fathers had traditionally played as protectors and providers. The most concrete demonstration of these ideological shifts could be found in the operation of the Family Court.

It is perhaps worth labouring the point, as fathers are so often painted if they dare speak out against the plethora of feminist inspired courts, institutions and laws, that DOTA has never adopted an anti-feminist stance. Many of the fathers involved with the program over the years were the very proud parents of independent minded working daughters. They had no desire to see their progeny bare-foot and chained to the kitchen sink, as cliché would have it.

Nor has DOTA an anti-gay position and has steered away from pundits with overtly anti-gay sentiments. We have interviewed gay fathers, and dedicated shows to them. This has upset our more conservative or Christian followers, but they are free to have their say or start their own show. Nor have we adopted an anti same-sex marriage editorial stance, one of the current issues of the day. While we've been happy to discuss it, there is a full spread of views on the subject from those involved with the program.

Dads On The Air would not exist if family law was not rampantly piled against fathers and if we had not all, as individuals, felt a deep hurt and profound distress over our experiences with the Family Court of Australia. Subsequently our personal experiences and the experiences of so many others with Australia's mal-administered Child Support Agency rubbed salt into the wounds.

In Australia, as elsewhere in the western world, the state was assuming many of the traditional roles of fathers – and doing a very poor job of it – while separated fathers were dismissed as an embarrassing consequence of the great march forward of feminism and modernity.

That the male suicide rate was so high, and men, most particularly men in the divorce age bracket, were killing themselves at four times the rate of women and in large numbers, only confirmed what we knew already, that the style of family law and the financial abuse being meted out by the Family Court and the Child Support Agency were having devastating impacts on individuals and the community at large.

While apologists for family law claim it is not systemically biased against fathers and operates "in the best interests of children", none of us at DOTA believed this to be true.

The family law reforms which are the focus of this book had been a long time coming, with a long history of community agitation and discontent behind them. Only occasionally was this dissatisfaction reflected in the mainstream media.

One such exception was a story, by a Mr X, called Court Out: One man's battle for his kids – The awful heartbreak of families courting disaster", which was published on the front page of the weekend feature section of The Australian the day before Christmas in 1999. It came at a time when there was substantial criticism of the Court from several different quarters, including from the government's own legal adviser, the Australian Law Reform Commission.

The strap line to the story read: "As the government tries to improve family justice, 'Mr X' tells of his personal voyage of despair."

The story began: `Don't cry, you will lose your children for sure," your barrister says sternly; and inside all you can feel are waves of distress. For you are vulnerable through what you love the most -- your children. Welcome to the Family Court of Australia. Behind the imposing facades of the courts lies the deepest hurt. Close to a million children now live away from their fathers.

"I was in the middle of an excruciating three days of being cross-examined in the Family Court of Australia, an experience that cost taxpayers many thousands of dollars. It had been an intensely difficult two-year journey getting here. I had done everything I could to protect the children, and recently everything I could to settle the matter. I had represented myself almost all the way through. I didn't have money to pay people thousands of dollars a day to argue over my family situation."

The article went on to describe the all too common situation of an unrepresented father without the financial resources for legal representation, facing a partner fully funded by the state through the auspices of Legal Aid. The author said he faced an aggressive barrister, solicitor and legal assistant who used every destabilising tactic they could think of. None of them had met the children, or in reality could really care less what happened to them. They were locked in legal process, nothing else.

It was through these sorts of experiences that many separated fathers came to view Legal Aid and its family law units' one sided funding of custody battles as an inappropriate use of taxpayer's money. While there were always regular news reports about the alleged underfunding of Legal Aid as reporters regurgitated press releases form various interest groups, we argued that in fact a large percentage of this money constituted back door funding to the Family Court. Most couples would likely settle their cases if one of the parties was not being driven by handsomely funded lawyers. How, Dads On The Air asked, could the government justify funding one side of a custody dispute, almost invariably the mother, thereby massively distorting the case and providing huge advantage to one side?

The anonymous author claimed that while he had worked within easy walking distance of the Family Court's Sydney registry for most of his professional life, he was shocked to find out what was going on behind its expensive marble facade: the leisurely pace of the judges, the astonishing complexity of its procedures, the contempt with which lone litigants were treated – and most of all, the behaviour and what arguably the professional misconduct of the court's family report writers, who's practices we at Dads On The Air have done our best to expose.

Way back in 1999 the author Mr X went on to expound his own conclusions: "It is in the family reports that the alchemy of truth characteristic of the court occurs: where black can be turned into white, junkie mums into sober paragons of maternal virtue and men into violent sub-Neanderthals. It is here where the accusations of women, no matter how implausible, can be reported as fact."

The report writers, often enough the same reporters working for child protection departments, are virtually immune from any oversight of their conduct. Complaints made to the Federal Attorney-General are met with a lecture on the separation of power between court and state. Complaints to state based Health Care Complaints Commissions are given short shrift, referred back to the Family Court as the being most appropriate place for such complaints. But the Court, of course, is the last place to make a complaint about the conduct of their experts, because they have relied for years on these very reports to justify their style of custody order. The circular nature of the complaints system has failed the consumers of these services. It is a hermetically sealed evidentiary loop; no truth need enter.

The psychs have grown rich. Sad dads have increased in number. The experts themselves, with their well established legal networks, are highly litigious. No newspaper in the country has seriously attempted to expose their practices.

In the DOTA submission to the 2003 parliamentary inquiry into family law we wrote: "The systemic abuse of psychiatric evidence within the court is at the heart of its discredited practices. It is self-evident that the court uses those psychiatrists and family report writers, the evidentiary basis of Australian family law, which comply with its agenda.

"The conduct of this comparatively small clique of report writers should be the subject of a Royal Commission or similar inquiry. Michael Green QC, author of Fathers After Divorce, described the reports on which decisions are often based almost exclusively as "very very poor and entirely suspect". That's being polite. The poor quality, extreme bias and often farcical nature of these reports will ultimately be exposed as corrupt practice. We suggest that any objective investigation into their conduct would provide enough evidence for them to be de-registered, if not charged. Any reform of family law and the introduction of shared parenting or joint custody cannot proceed effectively while these practices continue."

DOTA observed that in the decades since its establishment in the 1970s the Family Court of Australia had been characterised by a potent mix of feminism, psychology, psychiatry, ideology and the law, but it may well be money and the law which ultimately unravels the system. The European Human Rights Court had recently awarded a father \$40,000 in compensation for breach of his human rights after he was denied access to his child in the German courts.

In Australia there had been several sputtering, passionate but poorly resourced attempts at litigation. One of the earliest attempts was by the now defunct Fathers for Family Equity who attempted a class action against the government and the Family Court over bias, discrimination, injustice, abuse of power and damage to children.

Time cures many things, and years later once feuding couples often enough find themselves attending the children's school events together amicably enough. One thing they can often agree on: those days in the court were the worst of their respective lives.

The author Mr X went on to record his experiences in the witness box across three days: "In all those days of cross-examination I was never asked about my relationship with the children or attitudes to parenting. Past relationships were referred to snidely as `sexual difficulties", things that happened 20 years ago flung in my face. I can't pretend to have been the cleanest of skins throughout my life, but as I said in the court: 'I might have a history, but I also have a present. I get up, I go to work, I pay my taxes and I have every right to expect that the mechanisms in this society which are supposed to protect children will also protect my children.'"

While women are natural networkers and often well prepared when they enter the family law arena, like most dads Mr X claimed he was entirely ignorant of the system, assuming it would work in a fair and reasonable manner. "While some may naively expected consistent honesty, accuracy and decency in our public institutions when it came to children, many mothers and fathers ultimately find nothing of the kind."

Fathers damaged by family law and child support are all too easy to find. Next time you're in a taxi drop the subject and you are just as likely to find a separated dad who slept in his taxi for months after his court case, or who is being hounded by Child Support, or who has gone back to live with his parents and misses his children badly. These are the same people so arrogantly dismissed as nothing but disgruntled litigants.

Many fathers, often legally unrepresented and unprepared intellectually or emotionally to deal with the complexities of a family court case, blame themselves for not succeeding. They think: if only I had done this, if only I had done that. It is only slowly they realise there is no sanity in the system from top to bottom, and that no number of legal appeals or appeals to reason can win the day. For months after their cases end

they replay the circumstances in their minds, involuntarily shouting out in their sleep at the family report writer, telling him or her what a liar they were, rehearsing what they would say to the children's lawyer who had done such a disgraceful job if they ever met her in the street, dreaming that when the judgement was handed down they should have stood up and shouted "Bastard", but didn't.

One day, in desperation in the early months after separation, having rung around domestic violence refuges and other places looking for support and discovering, like so many before me and so many since, that if you're a man no support is available, I rang Sue Price from the Men's Rights Agency. She listened to my distress, offered comfort.

"One day you might write about all this," she said. "Never," I sobbed. "I couldn't."

She was right of course. Over the years I have come to respect her. It's all too easy when you're government funded and spruiking a fashionable piece of victimology to speak out publicly while being comforted by a committee. To do as she has done and speak out boldly on behalf of unfashionable victims, fathers, while facing derision for having allegedly betrayed her own gender, requires genuine fortitude.

Price said at a parliamentary forum in Canberra organised by family law reform proponent Ken Ticehurst in 2002: "I'm frequently asked, What's a women doing in a Men's Rights organisation. It's easy to answer when one has an understanding and appreciation that men are an essential part of our lives, and vice versa. We complement each other in so many ways.

"There should not be a gender war, but unfortunately the need for Men's Rights Agency has come about as a result of the bias that has escalated beyond all reason against men and boys, affecting all facets of their life. Most of which has occurred because of oppressive affirmative action legislation, the introduction and misuse of domestic violence laws, and family law perceptions that favour maternal preference.

"Boys educational disadvantage is just the start of the problem, jobs for men are disappearing, whilst more are created for women, little money is spent on improving men's health, yet men die earlier, the bias even extends to sentencing for criminal offences. Women will undoubtedly receive a lesser sentence for a similar crime.

"If we continue to raise our children in an atmosphere where boys' masculinity is suppressed as if it is a disorder, men are told they need to be deconstructed and reconstructed, where girls are told they can do anything without reminders that with rights come responsibilities, our next generations are facing a bleak future, and even greater family dysfunction.

"If the Australian people knew the full extent of the unfair treatment dished out to loving, caring parents and their children on a daily basis they would be horrified, but this treatment will not be uncovered until Section 121 of the Family Law Act is repealed. The secrecy clause just cloaks the abuse against the family that is allowed to flourish in the Family Court on a daily basis.

"After an appearance in family court, fathers repeatedly tell me they feel as if they are being treated like criminals."

Men typically do not cooperate well with each other, and do not network in the same way as women. They are embarrassed to protest. They are, as we have sometimes

described them on Dads On The Air, like bulls all in their separate paddocks. They all want to get out, but they'll be buggered if they're going to cooperate to do so. One woman's pain is an Oprah Winfrey show, one man's pain is a public embarrassment. Without the massive public funding available to women's groups and women's causes, the family law reform movement in Australia was atomised and uncoordinated, made up of people burnt by the system or incensed by its manifest injustices. Only a few fathers stay around to fight the good fight on behalf of their brothers. After the custody dispute is over and they have got whatever help they need from the various groups, most dads crawl off under a rock, or go back to their everyday lives, never to be heard of again.

They will tell you in private, for hours sometimes, how disgusted they are by the state of family law in Australia and the government's complicity in it and what a pack of bastards the Child Support Agency are. But for most, particularly those who can no longer see their children, campaigning for the rights of fathers and children to maintain a relationship after divorce is nothing but salt in a bitter wound. Even if they do become active after being burnt by divorce or separation, they rarely stay around for more than a few years, burning out quickly.

One day such a person, David, who had been phoning me at work and keeping me abreast of the more outrageous cases he came across, insisted that I come down and watch his own case. He had been extremely wound up during the lengthy process of preparing for trial, and desperately concerned over the welfare of his adolescent son, who the mother was preventing him from seeing and who had recently attempted suicide. From what I understood, the boy was not even going to school anymore, just staying home with his mother.

David was insistent that the judge and the court's behaviour defied belief. Fearing that I might be being used as a prop, but also understanding how difficult sitting in the witness box being cross examined over your own children for days on end really was and wishing to lend some support, I attended, sitting quietly up the back of the court room with a reporter's pad clearly in my hand.

A reporter's pad was not enough to stop that judge. By mid-morning he was going hammer and tongs, provoking snickers from the work experience girl hanging behind the bench. The fact that David had been critical of family law in recent months in numerous online forums no doubt did not help his case.

Obviously dissatisfied with the barrister's cross examination, the judge took over.

"What do you mean, Mr G, what do you mean when you say in your statement that you wanted to be there after your son attempted suicide?" he demanded from the bench.

"I merely meant that after his suicide attempt, which must have been very distressing, it would have been nice to be able to see him, comfort him," David answered.

"That's not what you meant at all, is it?" the judge demanded. "You wanted to be there to watch, didn't you? Didn't you?"

Shocked at the accusation, David continued to protest from the witness box. "All I wanted to do was to be able to talk to my son after his suicide attempt, to comfort him, talk to him."

"You wanted to be there to watch, didn't you? Didn't you?" the judge continued.

"I meant nothing of the kind."

"You wanted to be there to watch, didn't you, didn't you?" the judge thundered.

I couldn't believe this bullying, disgraceful behaviour from a judge of one of the country's "superior" courts. A man paid hundreds of thousands of dollars a year to sit where he was sitting, to supposedly serve the public. But unfortunately I had begun to realise that these cases, far from being unusual, were the norm. In a secretive jurisdiction fathers were routinely treated with hostility and disdain, the most ludicrous accusations made against them treated as fact. The words of a court appointed counselor or psych who the litigants often believed had deliberately misinterpreted everything they said, were taken as gospel. The court had itself developed its own strange psycho-pathology.

Mr X recorded recent research showing the average lone litigant spent 42 days preparing for trial. The family matters basket on his computer had 273 files in it; submissions, affidavits, solicitors' letters, complaints. As he described it: "The process is like climbing Mount Everest a dozen times in a state of emotional distress."

It is no wonder your average truck driver gets rolled in the Family Court. What was originally meant to be a simple, user friendly, caring jurisdiction evolved into one where the processes are so complex they exclude ordinary people; and few peope can afford to pay lawyers hundreds of dollars an hour to squabble over their private affairs.

A fact box recorded that the costs in a contested action can range from \$10,000 to \$100,000 plus for each party. The median annual income of people attending the court is \$25,000 to \$30,000. Some parents spend two to three times their annual income on legal fees.

The author wrote that it was just after Father's Day when the judgement was finally handed down: "My time with the children was to be progressively decreased over the next three years. I went home to a house still full of banners from the children: `We Love You Dad', `You're the Best Dad'.

"The judgment did not get my age or the hearing date correct, falsely claimed that I had an AVO against me and that the mother was the primary carer. The judgement ignored four days of evidence and regurgitated the report of a ``specialist" who had never been cross-examined because I didn't have \$1500 to pay for his court appearance. It was as if the trial had never happened. I had seen the specialist with the children for perhaps six minutes.

"The judge went out of his way to say how helpful the reports were. But I knew they were patently biased and inaccurate."

This was one man's story, but at DOTA we heard of too many cases to think this one was unique. It was common to find stories of courts ordering children back into the hands of violent, abusive, drunken, drug-addicted mothers when there was a perfectly good home for them with their fathers, of men being stitched up by biased and inaccurate reports. No one listened to the grief and injury of men falsely accused of sexually abusing children, of being violent and neglectful fathers when nothing of the sort was true; of their disgust at an industry thriving on false claims, the pain of a system which left them impoverished and their children's lives wrecked.

Mr X stated in his windup that despite almost two decades as a journalist and a comparatively colourful life, he had never met a more dishonest group of people than some of those he encountered while fighting a custody battle.

"I have formed the view that like any institution neither transparent nor accountable, the culture of the Family Court is corrupt; that ideology has replaced decency and the ones suffering the most are children, mine and many others."

The newspaper received more letters than the Saturday features editor at the time, well known Sydney journalist Ean Higgins, had received on any other topic. Most were supportive.

One wrote giving his hearty thanks for publishing the story. "From personal experience I know without any doubt that everything Mr X wrote is true, because he did no more than describe how the Family Court industry operates. There are many fathers quietly battling 'the system'. In my own case, even though I have committed no crime, and want more than anything else to be a good father, I have had my little son taken away from me via the court process -- and, of course, my little son has lost his father."

Another wrote: "The Family Court specialises in first removing parenthood, then property, possessions and pride from any loving father through any means available to them, and any woman even considering a change in lifestyle without the father of her children being involved knows full well the power that she has at her disposal through the threatened use of this court."

Another declared that similar stories could fill page after page of our newspapers daily if any journalist bothered to hunt out the men churned through this system. "I am one of those stories, but I am forbidden to publicly give that story, by a piece of Family Law legislation known as s121, that is designed to protect the children, but in fact does far more to protect our judges and their decisions from any close scrutiny."

The then Chief Justice of the Family Court Alastair Nicholson, however, was singularly displeased. Nicholson had long been a thorn in the side of successive governments, regarding it as part of his duties to comment on many of the social issues of the day. Nor did he hesitate to personally attack his critics within the journalistic, legal, academic and community worlds. He would routinely condemn the work of anyone who dared to question the dysfunctional Court he had presided over for much of its life as doing them "no credit".

None of the normal constraints on judge's making public comments seemed to apply. He regularly harangued the government about lack of funding for his already handsomely resourced Court - as well as the lack of Legal Aid funding.

Nicholson complained the paper had given an anonymous individual, apparently a journalist, the opportunity to personalise his version of a Family Court dispute in a highly dramatic manner to a national audience.

He wrote: "In publishing this sensational account The Australian has managed to send a poisonous Christmas message to the many families for whom Christmas is already a difficult time because of family breakdown. It also succeeds in undermining faith in the judicial system in a most irresponsible manner, and in unfairly criticising dedicated legal and other professionals who work in one of the most difficult and stressful areas of the law.

"The Family Court cannot respond properly to this scurrilous story because of restrictions on the publication of details of Family Court proceedings, nor can it verify or check the accuracy of the allegations made because of their anonymous nature.

"In publishing one side of what is inevitably a complex story, The Australian has shown a complete abdication of its responsibility to the public and to the concept of balanced journalism. Long experience in family law shows that many people are unable to be objective about their involvement in such proceedings and when such accounts are examined from both points of view, the real story is often very different.

"It is all too easy to blame the Family Court for failing to solve the consequences of relationship breakdown but perhaps it is time to ask as to why the author and people like him were unable to do so themselves...

"Your story has done much to encourage those who bring a sense of not only irresponsibility but violence to family relationships and may well have put at risk women and children involved in family law matters during the tense festive period."

It was typical of the Court's culture that its numerous problems and poor reputation were being blamed on litigants for failing to resolve their own cases, despite the Court regularly making those cases worse and despite the Court's many suspect practices and unhelpful processes. And despite the fact that many fathers, caught in a system they quickly learnt to despise, were there by no choice of their own and have little option but to fight if they want to see their children at all.

As well it is little appreciated that many parents have no alternative but to go to the court at least in the first instance as such orders are a contingent part of receiving welfare benefits post separation. It is at this point that custody decisions, usually the standard "daddy pack" of alternative weekends, are made on minimal evidence. As the status quo sets in these original orders become almost impossible to overturn. The unfortunate connection with the social welfare department Centrelink, which demands that separated parents have orders so that they can claim various tax benefits and welfare payments such as the sole parents pension and child support payments, is a major factor in forcing parents into conflict most would prefer to avoid. There are numerous stories of separated parents who got on reasonably well until they were dragged through the excruciating processes of the court and the battle lines of child support.

Nicholson's claim that the story promoted violence against women and children was insulting nonsense. The claim that the paper was hiding behind anonymity was also nonsense. The secrecy provisions of the legislation protecting the court, the notorious Section 121, have significantly hampered any proper journalistic inquiry into its operations for decades. Legislation which is supposed to protect children in custody disputes has simply hidden its worst excesses behind a cloak of secrecy, doing the nation's children far more harm than if the occasional child of divorce underwent the discomfort of having their parents squabble become public.

DOTA editorialised that there were many scandals associated with the court which had never been publicly aired because secrecy provisions inappropriately protected an institution long overdue for reform. Corrupt processes thrive behind a wall of secrecy, no matter what the justification or jurisdiction. Negative experiences in the court were far from a rarity. The only difference in this case was that a journalist felt compelled to

write about what he had seen and experienced. Originally written in the third person as a generalised feature, its personalised tone was as a result of a direct request from the paper's editor.

Nicholson's letter, published four days after the story itself, showed the court ignored the pain and stress its procedures imposed on fathers over extended periods of time during custody disputes. Sheltered by magnificent salaries and regarding themselves as champions of women, they appeared blind to the hurt of the litigants before them. Heroic and expensive appeals to the full bench of the court were almost entirely pointless.

On the same day there was a letter from a Dr Vincent Patrick of Western Australia proposing a solution the government would later adopt in some measure: "Although a happily married man, I am aware of the poor treatment meted out to fathers in the name of family law, and the irrational doctrines which allow it to happen. Much of the problem would be solved with changes to the law to provide default equal parenting on separation, with variations from this requiring agreement by both partners."

The Family Court judge involved in Mr X's case retired in 2005. The same judge where unfortunate litigants cautioned each other it could take a good two years or more to recover from his judgements, the same judge who couldn't even get simple things like trial dates correct, was given a full ceremonial sitting of the court upon his retirement after a "long and distinguished career". It was presided over by the then fairly new Family Court Chief Justice Diana Bryant.

He was also lauded by the then Attorney-General himself Phillip Ruddock. Others to attend included the Chairman of the Family Law Section of the Law Council of Australia Ian Kennedy; President of the NSW Bar Association Michael Slattery and President of the Law Society of NSW John McIntyre.

The sitting was held at Goulburn Street in the centre of Sydney, site one of the country's grandest Family Court registries. In later years Dads On The Air would play a song called Goulburn Street Hall by the band Horizon Shine:

Innocent families, lambs to the slaughter, They separate brother and mother and daughter, The corridors echo with silent screams, Agony etched into every ream, Of paperwork piled from wall to wall, Lost in the horror of Goulburn Street Hall Goulburn Street Hall where love has to crawl, Down comes the gavel, the winner takes all, Goulburn Street Hall my heart is appalled. At the calm, casual, carnage behind every door. Pillars of marble, wood panels, horse hair, The symbols of conflict, dead love and despair, Institutionalised horror all day, Haunting sad hearts that can't run away. All for nothing and nothing for all, Lives slip through fingers in Goulburn Street Hall. A modern torture chamber, disguised as a court,

Processing daily, an endless onslaught, Of pain and dysfunction, of lies and deceit, While lawyers circle round like spaniels on heat, Nobody knows how far they can fall, Until they have been to the seventh floor.

Apart from giving the long list of senior roles the judge had held within the court, the notice alerting the media of the ceremonial sitting carried a warning of the reporting restrictions which had protected the court's functioning from public scrutiny over so many years: "Filming, photography and interviews are restricted by section 121 of the Family Law Act 1975. People who are involved in family law cases – litigants, lawyers, witnesses and the like – must not be identified or be identifiable."

Within months of the publication of the Mr X story the Australian Law Reform Commission handed down the final results of its extended inquiry into the federal justice system, including the most extensive inquiry ever conducted into the Family Court. The review had been initiated by the Howard government. It found a secretive and defensive institution immune to positive criticism. It also found overwhelming disquiet from both litigants and the legal profession with the court and its processes. It recommended an external review, the first step towards abolition, if changes were not put in place. No such independent review ever took place.

Although by 2000 I needed no further convincing of the desperate need for the reform of family law, such proof was to come anyway. I was assigned to a story on the longest running case in The Family Court of Australia's history. The trial was spread across 25 days. To my mind this story demonstrated clearly that the Family Court was the last place on earth one could trust to take care of the welfare of children, putting the lie to all the claims the court must be given the legal power and the funds to act quickly to protect women and children if there was any evidence of domestic violence.

It also demonstrated that campaigns against shared parenting laws ignored repeated statistical findings that biological fathers are the least likely to abuse their children.

The story was published under the heading: "Battered By The System" with the strap "Nobody believed 'Frank' when he tried to protect his son from bureaucratic bungling...nearly 20 years on, Frank has been proved right, even though he lost in court."

This was the second time Frank, as we were obliged to call him, had made himself known to The Australian. The first time round, he had wandered in off the street demanding to speak to a journalist, claiming he had a story worth telling about his experiences in the Family Court and its failure to protect his child. Of course most members of the public wandering into newspaper offices are quickly and politely dismissed as either suffering from mental health issues or having no understanding of what is required for a news story.

That first time, back in 1991, the journalist, James Morrison got a front page story out of the Family Court's failure to protect a child headlined: "Why it took years for Frank to save his son." It illustrated one of the most under-reported and under discussed crimes in Australia today: physical and sexual abuse of children by women.

Now, years after that first front pager, it was my turn to deal with the strange, determined man we called Frank. What made him exceptional was that as a tireless litigator he had obsessively kept every shred of documentation to do with his case. I still remember vividly, although it is now almost a decade ago, choosing to work in the office in the wee hours of the morning when it was easier to concentrate. To make sure I understood the sequences correctly, I would line up all the documents to do with the case in a long string on the floor of the office, stretching more than 30 meters in a straight line. Sometimes I had to dodge the cleaners, who I got to know well for a few weeks there.

The story began: "The boy was eight weeks old when his father called welfare authorities and pleaded with them to take his son into foster case. He alleged that the mother was being violent towards the child, throwing him against walls and trying to smother him. The authorities ignored him, as they did for years to come, but the father persevered.

"Twenty years, 550 days in court and tens of millions of dollars of public funds later, the matter which has just run across the civil, criminal and family law jurisdictions, reached its final chapter this week.

Last year the Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions, satisfied there was a primafacie case, laid charges against the mother for tying her son in a cot with a rope, striking him in the face, throwing him against a wall and 'causing him actual bodily harm', events alleged to have occurred in 1981-82."

But in a judgment critical of earlier police inaction, Sydney's Downing Centre Local Court issued a permanent stay on proceedings, primarily due to the time that has elapsed since the alleged offences occurred.

Magistrate Hugh Dillon said the disappearance of police records raised the suspicion of a cover-up. But he said the treatment the Police Service meted out to the father did not detract from the issue of the mother facing a possible abuse of process because of the 20-year delay.

One of the sad ironies of the case was that, although the father did not see it that way, in many of his claims of judicial, police and political inaction as well as inappropriate behaviour by the NSW Department of Community Services had been vindicated in a series of court judgments. But nobody was ever found guilty, no compensation was ever paid.

Magistrate Dillon wrote: "There is no explanation before the court as to why or how the investigation stopped once the father had set it in train. No one has ever explained to the father what happened during the investigation or what decisions, if any, were made by those originally in charge of it. The fact that police records, which would, presumably, explain these things, have disappeared raises a suspicion that police officers have been involved in covering up their own negligence or the negligence of colleagues. Beyond this, we can merely speculate.

"I feel considerable sympathy for the father... it is appalling that it has taken him almost 20 years to get the Police Service to take action on evidence it has had for most of that time.

"A reasonable and right-minded person might have his or her confidence in the justice system undermined because the father has been treated so badly.

"Yet is it now just ... to continue the proceedings because the father was unjustly or unreasonably treated ... for many years? This is ... one of those rare or exceptional cases where the delay in proceedings has been so excessive that the proceedings constitute an abuse of process.

"These proceedings are permanently stayed."

I was particularly interested in the Family Court's involvement in the case. As the father was to tell me in heart breaking detail, he had been repeatedly refused by the court the right to see or care for his son.

Amongst the judicial figures involved in the case who ruled against the father was Justice Elizabeth Evatt, the court's first Chief. At the time the story was written she was a member of the UN Human Rights Committee. The obsessive campaign for justice by the father touched many of Australia's best known people and it had been mentioned in parliament 14 times. The dozens of politicians whom the father approached for help included Labor leading lights Paul Keating, former Prime Minister and Neville Wran, former NSW Premier.

The long history of the case offered a time-tunnel view of the behaviour of bureaucracies in the face of a determined and persistent litigant. An expert on female abuse of children, Dr. Malcolm George of St Bartholomew's Hospital in London, said it was "par for the course", where the mother is the alleged abuser, for institutions to spend large amounts of money defending their decisions, based on an ideology that "denies that women can be violent and abusive".

Although Australian and international research clearly indicated that children are most at risk from their mother, followed by their step father and live-in boyfriends, almost a decade on crimes of this type remain significantly under-reported and under-researched.

During the child's early years, Frank made hundred of calls and applications to police, welfare organisations, the NSW Department of Community Services, parliamentarians and the Family Court. But it was not until 1984, when the child was four years old, that at least some members of DOCS began taking the accusations seriously.

A report by a clinical psychologist independent of the courts gave a graphic account of James attempting to have oral sex with her – behaviour considered to have been acquired from a woman. A departmental psychologist and a child protection worker then interviewed the mother and the child. They concluded that James was an "emotionally deprived little boy who has been sexually abused and has been exposed to adult sexual behaviour".

For almost two years from this date, the father was prevented from seeing his son through Family Court orders, actions by departmental officers and recommendations by Sydney psychiatrist Dr Brent Waters, who for many years had been a favourite of DOCS, the Family Court, Legal Aid and at times journalists seeking a quick quote on just about anything.

Waters recommended custody be with the mother and that the father be denied access. James, 20 when I interviewed him, was on medication and rarely left his father's house. Court documents showed that he consistently maintained over several years that he remembers psychiatrist Waters saying: "Don't tell anyone about the naughty things mummy's doing."

Waters refused to comment on the case, but later attempted to sue the paper over the story. He did not proceed.

Repeated attempts by the father in the early 80s to gain custody failed. Only after the boy was bashed with a cricket bat in 1986 did he finally get to care for his kid. The alleged perpetrator of the cricket bat incident was never questioned. A Children's Hospital report from the time reported evidence of a recent severe beating "suggesting he had been held on the face and struck". The report noted "extensive bruising ... blueblack in colour" and recorded the six-year-olds long association with the hospital for similar problems.

The father finally gained full custody of his son by locating the home of the then federal attorney-general Lionel Bowen. Braving dogs, he knocked on the door. Bowen was not at home but his wife answered the door and listened to Frank's story. James has not seen his mother since.

The Ten network's footage of the child when he was 11 shows a quiet, well-mannered boy asking: "Why was it me, why was it me that got hurt?" He said his mother "should be put in jail for life, I just hate her".

When I interviewed him there was no artifice in the way the story emerged.

"I was so young, the main things that come across now - I get flashbacks: a smell, and idea can trigger them," he said. "It is more a sense of fear. I used to dream a lot, nightmares ... about my mother. I was extremely scared of her. I remember certain episode and events... when her husband beat me with a cricket bat ... I felt anger, but more than anything, no I feel pity."

The father may very well have not helped his case through the years by calling everyone who would not help him, including judges, politicians and police, "evil, disgusting, protectors of pedophilia". Transcripts from the NSW Supreme Court show much legal huffing and puffing over the man's "scurrilous" attacks.

After failing in a Supreme Court action to expose the Department of Community workers involved in the case which briefly preceded his action before Magistrate Dillon, the father came to believe that the judiciary and politicians generally had acted to protect the interconnecting webs of Legal Aid, DOCS and the Family Court. He claimed the entire system was "immoral, inhuman"; and had acted to protect the very people who were abusing his son and the very institutions which had placed him in harm's way.

Whistleblowers Australia's national president Dr Jean Lennane concurred, saying DOCS, Legal Aid and the Family court all had very close connections, "incestuous you might say".

But litigation is rarely satisfying, and the father's hope that his case would help stop other children being abused and provide a comfortable future for his son were in ashes.

The story concluded with Frank's claim there were other fathers doing, as he did, everything they could to protect their children and being frustrated in the process.

"There is no doubt it is still happening today," he said.

With a spirited campaign now taking place in Australia to wind back shared parenting laws upon the claim the laws are exposing children to abusive fathers, it is perhaps worth repeating the statistics I found for that story:

"The US Government's 1997 report Child Maltreatment found 62.3 per cent of perpetrators were women. The Heritage Foundation Study, The Child Abuse Crisis, found that of the approximately 2000 children killed each year, 55 per cent were killed by mothers, 25.7 per cent by live-in boyfriends, 12.5 per cent by stepfathers, and 6.8 per cent by biological fathers.

"The 1995 report US National Incidence of Child Abuse and Neglect found that where maltreatment led to death, 78 per cent of perpetrators were female. Boys were four times more likely to be fatally abused and 24 per cent more likely to be seriously abused than girls.

"The book Broken Homes and Battered Children reports that the child of a biological mother cohabiting with a man other than the natural father is 33 times more likely to suffer serious abuse than a child living with their married biological parents."

Dads On The Air has been proud to broadcast a range of voices little heard in the mainstream, as well as having politicians, authors and academics who's voices, at least on these subjects, are often ignored by gender study courses and journalists alike.

Dads On The Air was born not just out of a sense of injustice, but out of frustration with the mainstream media's failure to take men's issues seriously, often confusing social affairs reporting with feminist causes.

An article I wrote titled Men and The Media posted on the DOTA website recorded some of this frustration in the early part of millennium:

"The Sunday Tasmanian has nowhere near the clout or the distribution of mainland papers like The Age, The Sydney Morning Herald, the east coast Sunday papers or The Australian. Yet it is the only newspaper in the country which has reported that the male suicide rate in Australia is now at its highest since the Depression. The paper puffed the story on its front page under the headline "If Men Were Whales" and a full front page picture of a group of men marooned on a sand bank.

It began: "More than 40 Australian men commit suicide each week. If men were whales, this would cause community outcry and public mourning." The accompanying inside story, the best compilation of male suicide statistics published in Australia so far, showed that more men suicided in the previous decade than died in World War II, and the male suicide rate in a single year is four times that of the total number killed in the Vietnam conflict.

"The entire mainland press was creamed on what is a fundamentally important social story. Why? It's not a lack of interest."

Reporter Simon Bevilacqua noted: "We had an amazing amount of feedback from people working in the industry, like nothing else, from left, right and centre, from the

federal government to people in the industry. There were a lot of people pleased the issue was raised."

Managing Director of media monitors Rehame Australia Peter Maher said there was a distinct increase in the reporting of men's issues and the Family Court throughout 2000. He said "huggy stories" about men wanting to spend more time with their children ran all year with coverage of family law reform peaking in December after the introduction of new jailing provisions into the family law.

The article Men and the Media observed that the government's big push for men in the previous 12 months had been the Men and Relationships Conference held in Sydney and organised by the Office of the Status of Women.

"Not one newspaper in the country seemed to think it odd that hundreds of thousands of dollars of public funds were spent flying 300 public servants and domestic violence experts from around the country to a very comfortable hotel in Sydney for a two-day conference that was allegedly about men's issues.

Not one newspaper raised the issue that the Office of the Status of Women had been previously caught out making exaggerated claims about domestic violence. Nor did anyone seem to think it odd that there had been no invitations to a men's conference issued to anyone from the country's broad spectrum of men's groups.

Sydney Morning Herald columnist Adele Horin told a million or so readers: "Hardly a single 'angry dad' could be sighted at the Men and Relationships conference. It was a civilised, hand-picked gathering. New Age men. New Age women. About 300 in all hopping from workshops on domestic violence to workshops on men's post-separation services. It was a festival of enlightenment... Those incendiary words 'Family Court' and 'child support' were barely uttered."

The article questioned why the disenfranchisement of men's concerns should be such a source of delight and observed: "In reality this was a 'festival of enlightenment' most men would have preferred these people held on their own time and at their own expense."

The article also recorded frustration at the Coalition Government's first fumbling efforts to reform family law, including the creation of the Family Pathways Advisory Group, which consisted almost entirely of feminist advocacy groups, feminist academics or industry insiders and had not a single representative of men's groups.

"That any findings by such an unrepresentative group will lack legitimacy does not appear to bother the government a jot. Their answer to criticisms of the make-up of the group has been that the Attorney-General has confidence in its members. He might. Half the population doesn't.

"No newspaper has commented on this.

"In haste the Federal Coalition Government, which paints itself as standing for family values and probity in public life, has just passed legislation jailing parents who defy Family Court orders. Both The Sydney Morning Herald and The Australian, without speaking to those involved, incorrectly reported that men's groups supported the legislation. In fact jailing is opposed by most men's and women's groups, neither of whom were consulted.

"Men's groups in particular are opposed, seeing the jailing of former wives as inappropriate and fearing the laws will be mostly used to jail fathers. There have been a number of appalling stories in the international media over the past year on the consequences of these types of laws: a man in the US jailed for three months for ringing his daughter on Monday and not Sunday suicided within hours of being released; a bus conductor in Britain was jailed for waving at his children out the window of a bus.

"In Australia an Indian man was jailed for writing to his parents in English, not Hindi. The Family Court was not satisfied he was attempting to comply with their orders. His efforts to point out that his father had two masters degrees in English fell on deaf ears. The story received extensive coverage in the ethnic press, but not a word in the mainstream."

The article went on to record that the Family Court of Australia had ordered litigants not to contact the United Nations over their concerns.

Fathers had been demonised for more than 20 years with relentless anti-male propaganda which in classic Marxist language painted the family as patriarchal nests of violence and abuse. Studies which showed children to be better off in all ways in intact families or with good contact with their fathers had been ignored.

In the universities where it all began, the bias against men both in terms of courses and behaviour continued. At the University of NSW a men's issue of Tharunka was quashed by the Guild Council, which condemned "any proposal to produce a men's edition or white heterosexual male edition of Tharunka" and went on to insist Tharunka editors not publish material which undermined the purpose of women's, lesbian and gay, indigenous or ethnic students departments. At the same time the Guild passed a proposal for a women's only edition.

In many of the opinion pages of Australian newspapers the words of the Women's Electoral Lobby or other sympathisers are paraded as the cutting edge of social commentary. The opposite view was rarely put.

The so-called "sinister men's groups", to quote the Chief Justice of the Family Court, in reality nothing more than groups of people who want to see more of their kids, have long complained of the media bias against them.

Lone Fathers, Dads, Fathers Against Family Equity, Men's Rights and many other smaller groups have all struggled to get their views across against what they perceived as overwhelming odds. Out funded more than 1000:1, they are no match for the public relations expertise of the women's groups. The media rarely bothers to consult them on any issues affecting families or single parents.

Over the years many family law reform campaigners have viewed the wall of silence arrayed against them as some kind of leftist conspiracy. Indeed, as professional surveys have shown, journalists tend to be left leaning, partly by the nature of their work and the impulses which drove them to it. Like most people, they want to leave the world a better place, often in their case by making a strike for the disadvantaged.

The media had never seriously tackled the most draconian censorship in the country, Section 121 of the Family Law Act, which prohibited the identification of parties to a Family Court case. The secrecy laws had effectively shielded the Court and its decision

making from any detailed public scrutiny. It made coverage of family law issues almost impossible for television. This protection spilled over into the operations of children's courts, welfare departments such as DOCS in NSW and Human Services in Victoria as well as the family law units of Legal Aid.

The legislation meant the agencies that intruded most into the private lives of individuals had evolved in secrecy. These agencies impacted on the lives of large numbers of Australian adults and children, and would impact on them for generations to come. And yet no one questioned or exposed the behaviour of lawyers in any of these jurisdictions, their agendas or their use of so-called expert witnesses.

Journalists also rarely questioned the conduct of the protecting bureaucracies and heftily funded academics circling family law. Academics know better than anyone which side their grants are buttered on. The Institute of Family Studies has spent far more money on studies of social capital, an academic discourse devoted almost entirely to attempting to define itself, than it ever has in investigating the suicide or death rate fathers after divorce and potential linkages to family law or child support.

Men and The Media went on to note that there were signs of change. Significantly the national newspaper The Australian had run a number of stories and editorials critical of the Family Court. They were written by then High Court writer Bernard Lane, who relied closely on Australian Law Reform Commission's reports. As well he reported on the actions of senate committee member and former barrister Senator Mason, who asked a string of parliamentary questions on the travel budgets of senior judges and delays in the court. The court refused to answer a number of the questions.

"But while the Family Court remains something of a sacred cow for most of the media, the same is not true of the Child Support Agency, which has received more hostile or mixed coverage than ever before.

"The Canberra Times has broken a string of excellent stories on child support in the past few months; including running on its front page twice in the same week a story on the inquest into the suicide of a 28 year old man with three children, Warren Gilbert. He was found dead in his car with a Child Support Agency letter in his hand. He was losing 80 per cent of his pay in tax and child support. The Agency claimed it was treating him fairly. The coroner indicated there was a clear link between the CSA and the man's death. The Agency refused to answer questions at the inquest.

"The Brisbane Courier Mail has also just run a three part series on child support throwing up a range of moving stories. As well The Adelaide Advertiser just ran an excellent piece called Fathers Fighting Back."

In this mixed but largely hostile media environment, Dads On The Air was proud to provide an outlet for a number of number of dissenting voices, including groups like the Shared Parenting Council of Australia, the Men's Rights Agency, the Fatherhood Foundation, Fathers4Equality, Fairness In Child Support, Lone Fathers and Dads In Distress, far from being "sinister" mostly made up of sad dads driven by a sense of social injustice.

DOTA editorialised: "The single most barbaric thing any civilisation can do to its citizenry is the removal of children, yet this happens every day. Fathers are told it is in their children's best interests. These disenfranchised parents often show signs of post

traumatic stress disorder, repetitive, obsessive, fragile, fighting injustices they have no hope of solving."

We've broadcast their voices, taxi drivers, teachers, firemen, policemen. It does the country no good to have such a large body of such disaffected people.

But DOTA has also tried to be open to the many complexities of the debate, and guests have included Diana Bryant of the Family Court, former Attorney-General Phillip Ruddock, the head of the family law inquiry Kay Hull and many others.

However it must be said that as of the time of writing we have found the Labor government which came to power in 2007 little short of hostile. Attorney-General Robert McClelland did not respond to Dads On The Air's repeated requests for an interview, although his predecessor, who knew perfectly well how disenchanted we were with family law, came on several times. After about the eighth attempt to get McClelland on the show we simply gave up.

Ministers responsible for the Child Support Agency have followed the same pattern of simply ignoring our requests. However, like it or not we are Australia's leading program dedicated to issues affecting fathers. This lack of accountability by elected officials "does them no credit".

Over the years Dads On The Air has broadcast some of the world's best known father activists, including such figures as author Warren Farrell, who's books include Father and Child Reunion and The Myth of Male Power, as well as Fathers For Justice founder Matt O'Connor, the brain behind Britain's most sensational stunts. Another interviewee, author of Family Court Hell Mark Harris, was jailed for waving at his children as they drove past him on the street.

Guests such as Professor Stephen Baskerville, author of Taken Into Custody, argued "the long march" through the institutions was almost complete in the Western world. While writing of America, his comments were equally valid in Australia. He wrote that families have been systematically portrayed as dangerous places for women and children and men propagandised as violent, abusive patriarchs or historical relics. He argued the divorce industry was a serious perpetrator of human and constitutional rights violations.

On the program we read out the following extract from Taken Into Custody: "The divorce regime is the most totalitarian institution ever to arise in the United States. Its operatives in the family courts and the social service agencies recognise no private sphere of life.

"The divorce regime is responsible for much more than 'ugly divorces,' 'nasty custody battles,' and other clichés. It is the most serious perpetrator of human and constitutional rights violations in America today. Because it strikes the most basic institution of any civilization – the family – the divorce regime is a threat not only to social order but to civil freedom. It is also almost completely unopposed. No political party and no politicians question it. No journalists investigate it in any depth. A few attorneys have spoken out, but they are eventually suspended or disbarred. Some academics have written about it, but they soon stop. No human rights or civil liberties groups challenge it, and some positively support it. Very few 'pro-family' lobbies question it. This is because the divorce regime operates through money, political power, and fear.

"The divorce regime is much more serious than simply 'unfairness' or 'gender bias' against fathers in custody proceedings. It is the government's machine for destroying the principal check on its power – the family – and criminalising its main rival: fathers. The most basic human and constitutional rights are routinely violated in America's family courts. The lives of children and parents are in serious danger once they are, as the phrase goes, taken into 'custody.' Systemic conflicts-of-interest among government and private officials charged with child custody, child support, child protection, and connected matters have created a witch hunt against plainly innocent citizens.

"The terror of the divorce regime is not a future possibility; it is a present reality."

Dads On The Air followed the process of family law reform in Australia throughout the millennium's first decade more closely than any other outlet in Australia. Our archives of old programs and forums provide a unique record of the struggle for equality by the nation's fathers.

There were many antecedents, both personal and historical, which fed into the creation of Dads On The Air and meant that we were uniquely placed to follow in detail Australia's fight for, or over, shared parenting.

While ministers from the present Labor government have ignored our requests for interviews, there was a time when the nation's politicians queued up to be on the program, making sure the message got out that they were father friendly and serious about family law reform.

Nowhere is the divide between the mandarins and the masses sharper than in family law, where the mandarins protect the status quo, pretending the court functions appropriately "in the best interests of the child" and its many critics are dismissed as "men's rights" activists more concerned with their own rights than the welfare of their children.

Since the election of a new government in Australia in 2007, headed first by Prime Minister Kevin Rudd and then by Julia Gillard, the forces of the ancient regime, those bureaucrats and women's groups who have most to gain from sole mother custody, have wasted no time in mounting a rear guard action to wind back the modest shared parenting reforms instituted by the former Howard government and which became law in 2006.

Against the backdrop of a partially successful media campaign against shared parenting by feminist advocates raising alarm over domestic violence in family law proceedings and the potential for harm to women and children, by 2010, after a decade of ferment and change, procrastination and reform, there were fears family law was about to returned to the dark ages when many fathers rarely saw their children after separation.

As the first edition of this book went to press the Australian Labor government appeared to be choosing to ignore history. Amongst its back to the future moves it was abolishing the Family Magistrate's Service, created as a faster, cheaper and fairer alternative by the Howard Government keen to work around a recalcitrant Family Court. Its staff and functions were being folded in under the umbrella of the Family Court.

The women's groups which the Labor government funds and seems so beholden do not represent the broad front of Australian women, many of whom are concerned about

the state of family law and the damage it has done to the men in their lives, their sons, their husbands, their brothers.

In June and July of 2009 fathers' activists around Australia were saddened by statements from the Labor Government's Attorney-General Robert McClelland that in the name of domestic violence and protecting women and children his government intended winding back the 2006 shared responsibility family law reforms.

The government announced three separate inquiries into family law, by the Australian Institute of Family Studies, by former Family Court judge Richard Chisholm and by the Family Law Council, inappropriately, DOTA editorialised, linking them with what was now being called "family violence". Later a further three reports were commissioned from feminist academics. Not one of those inquiries consulted the views of fathers or even the general public. There was strong public support for shared parenting. It was ignored.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This book has many fathers; and even a few mothers. First of all I would like to thank everyone who has contributed to Chaos At The Crossroads in various ways, including the team at Dads On The Air: Rockin' Pop aka Peter van de Voorde, proud father of five girls, creator of the album Our Stolen Children and a major contributor to Dads On The Air; Greg Andresen, our researcher, who has done a marvelous job creating our current web site and also made a name for himself with his work for Men's Health Australia; Lindsay Jackel, who runs the news feeds and has been a constant provider of the latest news and academic studies since the show began in 2000; Ian Purdie, who panels and hosts each Tuesday; and Phil York from Dads In Distress, who has been a invaluable addition to the show.

Perhaps ironically, considering the treatment we have dished out to lawyers over the years, a lawyer Bill Kable, is now acting as one of the program's directors.

DOTA would not be the success it is today without the participation and contributions of countless people. In particular we would like to thank station manager Carol North-Samardzic, whose decency, technical assistance and patience in teaching us all the ropes has been of enormous help. Former station manager Ruth Morrison for 2GLF was also helpful, as has been Ian Becker, director of morning programming for 2GLF, whose technical assistance has been invaluable. David Burn aka Smiley, who has helped create some of the original music for the show, Bruce Scheider and Tyson Ware, two stalwarts, whose support and technical expertise has often saved the day, and Jeremy Horton, who created the original version of our last website.

As well, DOTA would also not have become one of the most successful community radio programmes in Australia today without the support of numerous figures in lobby groups around the country, including in particular Sue Price from the Men's Rights Agency, Warwick Marsh from the Fatherhood Foundation, John Flanagan from the Non-Custodial Parents Party (Equal Parenting) and the Fairness in Child Support group, Barry Williams from the Lone Fathers Association, James Adams from Fathers4Equality, Tony Miller from Dads In Distress and Geoffrey Greene, President of the Shared Parenting Council of Australia and spokesman SPCA spokesman Ed

Dabrowski. These people have worked hard to expose one of the great injustices in Australian society. Yuri Joakimidis from the Joint Parenting Association and Mark Bourne aka Traks from the Richard Hillman Foundation have also been guests.

Like all community efforts, over the years many people have come along to play their part, and without their timely efforts DOTA would never have survived. These people include the legendary Uncle Buck aka Rick Torning who was with the program for many years from 2000; creator of our first web site Glen Burns; recorder of the program and active forum participant for many years Mike Taylor, regular on-air voice for quite some time Ray Lenton and the wonderfully high-spirited former president of Dads Australia Rod Hardwick.

Many individuals, including the ever-prolific and sometimes controversial Ross Mitchell from Newcastle and the good-hearted Brian Mahony aka Bom Bom from up past Grafton, were also foundation stones for our early forums.

Author and mediator Michael Green was an important early supporter of the program. Other guests have included former Child Support Agency head Matt Miller, who has always ignored our requests for information on the death rate of child support payers, UK writer and academic Barry Worrall, of Without Authority fame, Mark Harris who wrote Family Court Hell and activists including Matt O'Connor, Ray Barry, and Jolly Stansby from Fathers4Justice UK, who's antics were to attract world attention.

Other guests have included historian John Hirst, author of Kangaroo Court: Family law in Australia, who tracks the deterioration of the Court's public standing. He said: "I cannot see the way by which the Court can be rescued. Until there is fundamental change, it will continue to give offence."

We've also interviewed many women critical of the anti-father bias in family law, including, most fascinatingly, Erin Pizzey, founder of the first women's refuge in Britain, who has been critical of the way the refuge movement was used to perpetuate a radical anti-male agenda. We've also interviewed a number of non-custodial mothers. Recently one mother, Diana, who copped all the false allegations and alienating behaviour usually perpetrated on fathers, brought tears as she spoke of parking opposite a school just in the hope of catching a glimpse of her children. We also recently broadcast the male version of the same, Nick, who was been jailed for sending a birthday card to his children; and later jailed for allegedly playing golf next to a sporting field where unbeknown to him his son was playing soccer.

It is telling that amongst academics who have come on the show, the University of Western Sydney is the only dedicated men's study unit, the Men's Health and Information Resource Centre. John MacDonald and Michael Woods have examined the poor outcomes amongst separated men.

Much of the success of the program, of course, comes down to its guests. Amongst them have been former Attorney-General Phillip Ruddock, Chief Justice of the Family Court of Australia Diana Bryant, head of the family law inquiry Kay Hull.

Commentators such as Warren Farrell, author of several books including The Myth of Male Power: Why Men are the Disposable Sex and Father and Child Reunion have provided unique deconstructions of the domestic violence, child abuse, child support, family law and social welfare industries predicated on the vilification of men. He claimed

the traditional feminist portrayal of male-as-oppressor is inaccurate and has hindered both genders, leaving men feeling undervalued and women angry.

International commentators and broadcasters including Richar' Farr from KRights Radio and renowned columnist broadcaster and blogger Glenn Sacks have also graced our airwaves. Other guests have included founder of the world's first women's refuge Erin Pizzey, author of the books What Men Don't Talk About and What Is Happening To Our Boys Maggie Hamilton, leading expert on parental alienation and author of Parental Alienation Syndrome Dr Ludwig Lowenstein, Senior Researcher for Kids Help Line Ian Thomas, NZ expert on boys' education and author of He'll Be OK: Growing Gorgeous Boys Into Good Men Celia Lashlie, author of Adult Children of Parental Alienation Syndrome: Breaking the Ties that Bind Amy JL Baker, head of Adelaide University's School of Medicine Professor Gary Wittert, Daniel Donahoo author of Idolising Children, academic researcher on the devastating social impacts of the Child Support Agency Christine Cole along with independent researcher and head of PIR Research Richard Cruickshank and former leader of the Australian Labor Party Mark Latham.

Others have included father of an alleged terrorist Terry Hicks, 2006 Australian Father of the Year Ron Delezio, Cheryl King - wife of Liam Magill who ran a famous Australian case against the Child Support Agency after discovering children he was paying child support for were not biologically his, Terry Melvin from Mensline Australia, Teri Stoddard from the US organisation Shared Parenting Works, Sanford Braver, author of Divorced Dads: Shattering the Myths, outspoken maverick Liberal MP Alby Schultz, supporter of shared parenting Senator Steve Fielding, authors of Spreading Misandry and Legalizing Misandry Drs Paul Nathanson and Katherine Young, Professor Gordon Finley from Florida International University, Alsion Pearce from Partners of Paying Parents, now deceased supporter of social justice for fathers Senator Jeannie Ferris, and also deceased and much loved activist Lionel Richards.

Still other guests have included renowned Australian entertainer Andrew Denton, who has established a writer's grant in his father's name The Kit Denton Fellowship; Geoffrey Atherden, former President of the Australian Writer's Guild; Adrienne Burgess, author of Fatherhood Reclaimed; John Baker from the UK group Families Need Fathers; disabled father jailed twice by the CSA Des Cochoran; Professor Ian Hickie, head of the Brain and Mind Research Institute at UNSW; Graeme Cowan, author of Fbook on depression Back From The Brink; outspoken critic of Australia's family law system Ann Bressington MLC from the South Australian Parliament; Di Underwood from Grandparents Rights Need Support (GRANS); motivational speaker and US fatherhood guru Brian Molitor; Christina Hoff Summers, author of The War Against Boys and Who Stole Feminism?: How Women Have Betrayed Women; Joshua Key, subject of the book The Deserter's Tale: The Story of an Ordinary Soldier Who Walked Away from the War in Iraq; and Mary Cleary from AMEN in Ireland. International activists Jeremy Swanson from Canada, Ulf Andersson from Sweden, Rainer Sonnenberg from Germany, Joep Zander from the Netherlands, Tony Coe from England and Agustin Serrano and Francisco Zugasti from Spain, Linda Mellor from The British Second Wives Club, and Kris Titus from Fathers4Justice Canada have also been on the show.

More recent guests included Dr Glenn Ross Caddy and Professor William Bernet speaking on parental alienation, Lee-Anne Smith from the Halo Leadership Foundation, Melinda Tankard-Reist, author of Collective Shout, Kids Free To Be Kids author Julie Gale, Dr Rubenstein, author of Rites of Passage and cofounder of the Pathways Foundation, Paul Pritchard from the Centre for Community and Child Health on why

fathers should be central to our rethinking of early childhood development, Akiva Quinn from Dadslink in Victoria, Darren Atkinson of the support group I'm An Aboriginal Dad, Elizabeth Willmott Harrop, author of She-Wolves in Sheep's Clothing on female child abusers, Chief Executive of Stepfamilies Australia Steve Martin, Bettina Arndt on her book What Men Want – In Bed, Helen Ritz on the program Blackyard Blitz for dads and their kids, Stephen S. Holding, author of The Other Glass Ceiling, on anti-father legislation and investigative journalist Paul Mischefski from the Men's Well Being website on the plight of the modern male.

This is but a sample of the numerous authors and groups we have interviewed.

Chaos At The Crossroads is not footnoted and may attract some criticism as a result. However it is a work of journalism rather than an academic text. As well, it should be noted everyone involved in Dads On The Air are unpaid volunteers and the writing of this book was also unfunded. The source of almost all information in it is clearly acknowledged along the way. In the event of any errors appearing, the publishers Dads On The Air Books can be easily contacted through our website www.dadsontheair.net – email John or any of the other members of the team. If there are any unfortunate errors in the manuscript these will be corrected in subsequent editions.

As well, any member of the public or any group who would like to contribute their stories or additional material to later editions are welcome to do so, also through our website.

CHAPTER ONE: IN THE BEGINNING

Early in the millennium the Australian was presented with an historic opportunity to address once and for all the public disquiet that child welfare and child custody had provoked since Prime Minister John Howard powered into office in 1996. The routine stripping of children from their fathers, along with much of their income and assets, rose from policy decisions made as long ago as the 1970s.

Australia adopted with alacrity the same style of family courts that had sprung up across the western world during that decade of social ferment and change. Fancying itself amongst the avante garde on social justice issues, Australia embraced the court's philosophy of protection and advancement of women. But with this, unfortunately, came the denigration of fathers as dangerous and unnecessary historical relics. The playing out of these policies in the modern era and the dysfunction of the institutions which administered the nation's family law and child support policies sat poorly with a conservative pro-family government.

Established in 1975 in its early days the Family Court of Australia was widely perceived as a progressive, ground breaking institution. But within a decade the court was making headlines for all the wrong reasons, particularly its treatment of fathers. By the year 2000, when Dads On The Air first began broadcasting, the Family Court and the associated industries and bureaucracies around it, including the family law units of Legal Aid and the multi-million dollar family report writing business, were attracting public disquiet.

While hampered by the secrecy provisions in family law, which have worked effectively to keep the general public ignorant of the worst excesses of the court, its most farcical judgements and its repeated failure to take child protection issues seriously, particularly when those issues are raised by fathers, Dads On The Air has done its best to expose the court's practices and its many dirty little secrets.

The issues so lightly glossed over in much of the public debate represented a deep personal hurt that was disfiguring the country. MPs across the country were besieged with complaints about family law and child support; hour upon hour of their time eaten up by distressed parents who's problems were exacerbated or made intractable by their interaction with government agencies.

Modern fathers had embraced with gusto the increased involvement with and hands-on parenting of their children sparked by a feminist push to remake the family and remodel women's roles. The shopping malls of the era were full of kids crawling all over their fathers, holding hands, dribbling and drooling, while their cheerfully harassed dads struggled to do the shopping. Not to be at your child's birth was now the exception rather than the rule. The days of fathers opening up cigars and slugging down whisky with their mates while their wives bellowed their way through childbirth were a distant memory. In the contemporary urban environment in which most Australians lived, with both parents working to pay large mortgages, shared parenting was already the norm in many intact families.

But almost overnight, if his wife decided she wanted to divorce, those same fathers laughing in the sun with their children could be transformed into the now familiar sight of the lonely, sad and suicide prone separated dad virtually overnight. For most of the Family Court's 30 plus year history these fathers had been invisible in the public debate. While hundreds of millions of dollars were poured into funding women's and single mother's advocacy groups and championing women friendly policies, fathers groups received zero or next to zero funding and had no voice in government or the formation of policy.

There was a "Sex Discrimination" Commissioner, a post traditionally held by high profile leftwing women such as feminist advocate and author Anne Summers or during the family law inquiry Pru Goward, who was always insulting towards fathers. Goward's role in campaigning against joint custody while collecting a government salary was criticised by fathers groups as an inappropriate use of her office and provoked hostility nationwide.

The Family Court's Chief Justices have also always been of the left. Founding Chief Justice Elizabeth Evatt expressed concern for lesbian mothers, but never for fathers. For decades CJ Alastair Nicholson commented freely and widely on issues impacting on women and children, invariably from a feminist perspective. His successor CJ Diana Bryant has also felt free to take up the cudgels on behalf of women and has criticised the shared parenting laws on their behalf.

The mistreatment of fathers and their children by state institutions was fostered by the gender politics of those in the highest reaches of the country's bureaucracy and judiciary. It all began a long time ago. Most of those now in senior positions within the media and in government were in or around universities in the 1970s, during a period of massive expansion of tertiary education. Many have not altered their views much since then. In women's studies courses, now renamed gender studies, the traditional nuclear

family was painted by academics as a patriarchal prison from which women must escape. Any desire to do otherwise was diagnosed as the internalisation of the ideology of the oppressor.

In their youth those responsible for oversight of the system had consumed tracts like Germaine Greer's The Female Eunuch and Shulamith Firestone's The Dialects of Sex as gospel.

Firestone, for example, described the biological family as "tyranny" and incorporated gender into traditional socialist analysis. In her opening paragraphs she wrote: "If there were another word more all-embracing than revolution - we would use it. To so heighten one's sensitivity to sexism presents problems far worse than the black militant's new awareness of racism: feminists have to question, not just all of Western culture, but the organisation of culture itself, and further, even the very organisation of nature. Many women give up in despair...Others continue strengthening and enlarging the movement, their painful sensitivity to female oppression existing for a purpose: eventually to eliminate it."

Raised on a diet of this sort of rhetoric and now in senior and powerful positions in the bureaucracy, graduates of the 1970s saw themselves as righting historical wrongs.

But the feminism of the day, once seen as so cutting edge and supported by many men, became in its playing out in family courts, social welfare departments, domestic violence shelters and all the hundreds of millions of dollars worth of supporting bureaucracies, a shock to many of its original male supporters. Particularly if by one twist of fate or another they became a separated dad.

Despite the level of concern in the community, the mistreatment of separated families had traditionally been protected by an unofficial bipartisan veil drawn across family law. Both major political groupings in Australia, the "conservative" Liberal National Party coalition and the "leftwing" Labor Party, knew there was little to be gained by bashing each other up over the issue, and much to be risked in openly attacking another wing of government, the courts. Any such action undermined the public's confidence in the judicial system and opened a "can of worms". For every Family Court decision which defied community norms, there was another right behind it.

Very few constituents' concerns over the conduct of Family Court judges, legal aid lawyers or child support officers ever made it from the desks of politicians into parliament house and thereby onto the public record.

The disorganised voices of protest from separated fathers were drowned out by well funded women's lobby groups and their media sympathisers. Nor were fathers themselves, often poor, angry, heart broken, frustrated and disempowered, always their own best advocates.

The media was slow to report the public's discontent; flummoxed by the he said she said nature of the stories. Secrecy provisions in the Family Law Act, ostensibly designed to protect the identity and welfare of children, made it almost impossible to cover the high-profile cases which might have brought attention to their farcical nature. While of intense interest to those who had been through the Family Court or the Child Support Agency, news editors tended to view the issues as of minority concern.

As well there was a reluctance to attack what were still largely seen as feminist icons. While women were once a rarity on newsroom floors, by the beginning of the 21st century they constituted about 70% of all new recruits, according to the journalists union The Arts, Media and Entertainment Alliance. Social welfare rounds were almost invariably assigned to women. Many of them used these positions to promote what they saw as social justice causes, most often the agendas of women's groups. On the rare occasion when a male did become a social affairs reporter, they were usually men sympathetic to women's causes who largely ignored the concerns of their own gender. The role of fathers as parents, nurturers, protectors and advisers was written out of the public discourse. Every fathers' group in the country complained that they could not get their concerns heard. Their own naivety and lack of experience in dealing with the media, the unfashionability or even conservatism of some of their views and the lack of funds to employ dedicated media officers all no doubt played a part.

For many years the blurring, if not total lack of separation, between women's affairs rounds and social affairs rounds on newspapers, radio and television meant the concerns of women's groups were put forward as newsworthy while the concerns of men and fathers were simply ignored. As American author of The Myth of Male Power Warren Farrell, who has written extensively the media's silence on men's issues and what he calls "the lace curtain" says, "gender issues are regularly covered by feminists whose gender reinforces their political ideology... feminism achieved power informally, by becoming the one party system of gender politics: creating a new arena of study, defining the terms, generating the data and becoming the only acceptable source of interpretation."

The ideologically driven state and taxpayer funded creation of the single mother household, spawned and indeed enforced as the normal family pattern post-separation, created a multi-billion dollar industry. Enormous slabs of the country's \$80 billion welfare tab were taken up catering for the welfare of single parents, primariy mothers; with a slew of benefits flowing on from obtaining custody of children. These included family and child payments, child support, housing or rental assistance, and reduced medicine and transport costs. Any attempt to reform family law was a threat to this empire.

In April 2000, before Dads On The Air began broadcasting and before I was blocked from writing about family law after persistent complaint from the Family Court's Chief Justice, The Australian published a double page feature under the heading: Problem Parents Doing Time. It explored the Coalition governments' first haphazard attempts at family law reform with its Family Law Amendment Bill 1999. The article was introduced with the words: "Attorney-General Daryl Williams wants to jail more mums and dads who defy family law. But critics say it is the system that is at fault."

The scene was set with the story of a former professional sportsman, now disabled and unable to work, who was being hounded by the Child Support Agency after his marriage broke down in 1987, more than a decade before. In 2000, shortly before the article appeared, he lost his Family Court case to have the claims dismissed. Under the proposed new laws, if found guilty of "willfully" refusing to pay he would face up to 12 months in jail. The definition of willful was to be left to the Family Court. The Government's push to jail parents who defied court orders included provisions to jail those who refused to comply with parenting orders on a "three strikes and you're in" basis.

While the maintenance provisions would mostly affect men the penalties for parenting orders would mostly affect women. The legislation was an attempt to overcome one of the biggest complaints made by fathers about Family Court orders, that they were virtually unenforceable — rendering them useless despite the enormous expense of obtaining them. Any mother who refused to provide contact to fathers rarely faced any consequence.

For once both men and women's groups were on common ground, arguing the laws would be dangerously counter productive. Then in Opposition, the Labor Party supported jailing those who did not pay child support, but not those who defied parenting orders.

The controversy once again focused unwanted attention on the Agency. Critics of the Child Support Agency claimed it was not bound by rules of evidence yet its quasi-judicial decisions were impossible to appeal and it often put fathers into debt. Rather than refusing to pay, they could not pay.

Six years before an exhaustive joint select committee report of parliament had found the CSA was characterised by "inconsistent advice, administrative errors and refusal to verify data...the inaction or lack of service is inexcusable. The end result is often appalling client service delivery."

The report made 163 recommendations. Chair of the inquiry western Sydney MP Roger Price expressed anger at the Hawke/Keating government's cherry picking only the most punitive of them, thereby compounding the country's child support disaster.

The government ignored recommendations for an external review as a matter of priority, a close study of its social impacts, disincentives to work and the child support formula itself.

By attempting to address two of the major issues in the linked fields of child support and family law, lack of contact and lack of money, the then Attorney-General Daryl Williams appeared no one.

The article quoted research from suicide expert Pierre Baume suggesting 70 per cent of suicides in the divorce age bracket were related to separation, producing a figure of 20 men a week killing themselves as a result, five times the rate of youth and female suicides. It was to become a catch cry of Australian fathers groups that three men a day were killing themselves as a result of the operations of the Family Court and the CSA. The claim has never been disproved.

Dads On The Air pursued the question of how many clients of the Agency die each day, the most basic indicator of its impacts, as hard as we could with our limited resources. While under questioning the Agency acknowledged that like other government bodies it had a duty of care its clients, a succession of ministers and chief executives have refused or failed to answer the question on how many clients of the Agency are dying. As DOTA editorialised, somewhat sarcastically, it appeared to us that one of the most basic aspects of a duty of care is to know whether your clients are dead or alive. Bundled in with other legislation and with no public debate, the Howard government repealed a section of the law requiring the Agency to act "in the best interests of children". The move was very telling.

Exasperated by the government's repeated refusal to provide the figures on the numbers of deaths of its clients, and claims by the Agency itself that it did not keep such statistics, Dads On The Air finally put a death toll counter on the front page of its website, calculating that 12 clients of the Child Support Agency die everyday. In 2010 this translated to more than 13,000 deaths since the Labor government came to power in 2007. No other institution could produce these kinds of outcomes and continue to operate with impunity.

Concerning this issue, Dads On The Air spelt out on air that we were a community radio station with all the usual obligations which that entails, and declared we would happily publish the correct figure if the Agency provided it. There has been no word, certainly no denial, and no cease and desist notice despite their arsenal of lawyers.

The rate was calculated on information provided by the Agency from freedom of information requests which showed that 6.1 per cent of all cases had terminated due to the death of a party since its formation. The figures are already out of date and have probably worsened, but several years ago about 75,000 cases were terminating each year. This, using Institute of Health and Welfare figures on death rates in the community, resulted in a figure of around three times what you would expect in a similarly aged group in the broader community. We argued that this death toll was largely due to the poor treatment dished out to separated dads by the Family Court, the Child Support Agency; and all their supporting bureaucracies; including Centrelink.

If our estimates of the numbers of deaths of child support clients were correct – and DOTA has argued they could well be an underestimate – this represented a major public administration scandal.

Every father's group in the country maintained that the high death rate amongst separated men was directly linked to their mistreatment at the hand of government bodies. There are numerous desperately sad stories to back up the argument.

Adding to the arguments over the jailing of parents, Griffith University research psychologist Susie Sweeper, an expert on separation, said there were high levels of stress associated with the Family Court and the CSA. "The accumulation of stress from not seeing children, low finances, litigation and low levels of social support can lead to psychopathology such as suicide," she said. "Some parents are very angry. By putting these people in jail you would increase their stress levels. This would not assist children."

Labor member from western Sydney Roger Price, chairman of the 1994 inquiry into the CSA and later to be appointed by John Howard as part of a committee investigating joint custody, said there had to be a better method than jailing people. "We have to find a less battering and bruising and financially crippling system," he told the paper. "The Family Court and Child Support are a nightmare legal maze. Jailing is most definitely the wrong way to go. What frightened me while doing the report was the level of frustration I found. People had spent all their money on legal cases, borrowed from credit cards, borrowed from parents, and were seething with anger. I was frightened to see the level of frustration and anger. This continues to this day, absolutely.

"Back in 1994 when I said people were committing suicide in major part because of family law matters, people were disbelieving. No one disbelieves it anymore."

Several case studies accompanied the article. The paper insisted on sighting all the original documentation to prove the claims. One told the story of a man we called Joseph, who committed suicide at the age of 34 after a call from the Child Support Agency. He had four children living with his ex-wife. His sister Katherine tearfully recalled him as a "gentle, kind, caring person. He had been depressed because he had no money, he had absolutely nothing."

The coroner's report recorded how the Agency had phoned Joseph on the evening of his suicide, told him because he had overpaid by \$800 he would have to write a letter gifting the money to his ex-wife, otherwise they would take the funds in administrative costs. Attempts by the coroner to identify the CSA officer involved were frustrated by the Agency, which claimed that "secrecy provisions" meant it was not required to disclose information. No one from the Agency attended the inquest. DOTA would later claim this as a shocking abuse of privacy legislation.

"Eight hundred dollars, that money would have eased things so much, made such a difference to his life," his sister said. "The next month the CSA wrote wanting to know why he wasn't paying his child support. How are we supposed to teach our children not to run people into the ground, humiliate and degrade them, just for your own benefit?"

Once again, after publication the Family Court's Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson went on the attack, claiming the article was riddled with errors, although he did not point out what they were. He also claimed the article was one-sided, although I had gone to considerable lengths to quote both men's and women's groups, which were in rare accord.

In his published letter Nicholson wrote: "The article `Problem' parents doing time reflects little credit upon your newspaper and its journalistic standards. It is riddled with inaccuracies and contains unsourced personal accounts. It gives undue prominence to the views of well-known critics of the family law system without providing any balance. The article asserts that Family Court orders are virtually unenforceable. Yet the vast majority of orders are complied with and are enforced when they are not complied with. The fact that difficulties are experienced with the enforcement of orders in a small minority of cases has more to do with the people involved and their attitude to the orders than it does to the issue of enforcement. "

Nicholson continued: "A caption to a photograph asserts that the welfare of second families is not taken into account by the Family Court. Child support legislation does limit what the court can do on appeal from assessments, but this is hardly the fault of the court. The article speaks as though the current federal Government invented the encouragement of dispute resolution to avoid litigation. The first thing that the Family Court does when approached by separating couples is to refer them to its counseling and mediation services. Approximately 70 per cent of proceedings that commence in the court are resolved within four months and only 5 per cent ever require a judicial determination."

Elspeth McInnes from the National Council of Single Mothers also appeared on the letter pages: "The article rightly states "the maintenance provisions will mainly affect men while the penalties for parenting orders will mainly affect women" and then goes on to canvass only the maintenance order issues. While building sympathy for parents who won't pay, the poverty of children living without child support was not presented. The article gives mainly men's perspectives on men's problems.

"The public needs to be aware also of the implications of a mandatory sentencing regime proposed for parents who don't comply with parenting orders. Parents jailed under mandatory sentencing will not necessarily even have the benefit of legal representation. From the perspectives of children and women and men after separation there is no advance in justice in the jailing of parents."

Another letter, name and address supplied, read in part: "Having been placed in a similar situation to that reported has made me realise that I am not alone. I lost my home, my family, contact with my children and more recently my 20-year job. I feel that the persecution and sheer bloody-mindedness of the CSA drives many good parents to despair. The persecution is even extended to second families, where any children born from this relationship are treated with disdain and blatant discrimination by the CSA."

Another name and addressed supplied thanked the paper for drawing attention to the excesses, irrationality and peculiar mismanagement of the Child Support Agency. "For 12 months I struggled to meet my payments. I was given to understand by my legal adviser that I had to maintain mortgage repayments, private medical health cover, rates on investment land, ambulance ... all commitments in place at the time of separation.

"I went broke, then into child support arrears, while I still had a full-time job from which support was garnisheed monthly. Except for the kindness and support of my siblings, who kept lending me money, I could well have been one of CSA's delinquent payers, and a jail candidate. How dare the Government consider legislation allowing the jailing of non-custodial parents at the subjective behest of such an irrational, autonomous mediocrity as the CSA."

In a supportive letter Alison Pearce from the group Partners of Paying Parents wrote that children in second families were treated inequitably and non-residential parents were left with little money to cover the basic necessities of survival for himself and his second family.

"The law needs to be changed so that all children with the same father will benefit equally. Children from the second relationship are discriminated against by the formula used by the CSA."

Partners of Paying Parents would go on to produce a devastating critique of the operations of the Child Support Agency in their working paper "Discrimination against Paying Parents and their Second Families" disseminated in September 2001.

In brief it declared that paying parents and their second families were suffering critical financial and relationship breakdown due to the inequities of child support and family law.

The group objected to the CSA's practice of refusing to refund monies falsely paid, complained the Review Officers were not held accountable and found that prosecutable practices by the CSA needed to be addressed.

Despite the 1994 findings of a Joint Select Committee that illegal activities were occurring within the CSA, the government had done nothing to correct problems which amounted to systemic corruption.

These activities included the CSA deliberately not adhering to accurate record keeping, deliberately not taking or ignoring information, and advising in favour of Payee clients for the purposes of aiding and abetting Payee clients in false receipt of funds.

The report concluded "Equitable change to Child Support legislation is paramount in the minds of thousands of Australians. The community is looking for a Government who will not only acknowledge the inequities and failures of the current legislation and Scheme. In a country that prides itself on democracy and equity, it is a disgrace that Governments have not been willing to significantly address this highly discriminatory legislation."

The institutional mistreatment of fathers and their children led by extension to the mistreatment of their new partners and often enough of the second wife's children from a previous relationship. It was a common enough refrain on DOTA that there was more likely to be government action and change of policy as a result of the conflict between the rights of one group of women with another than because of the numerous cries of upset from fathers.

Discontent over the issues led to the creation of groups such as the Second Wives Association, Partners of Paying Parents and the Step Families Association of Australia and in America the powerful National Association of Non-Custodial Mothers, all of whom we have been happy to feature on the show.

In Australia the mistreatment of non-custodial mothers was swept under the carpet, an embarrassment to women's lobby groups focused on working for single mothers in the scrabble for the welfare dollar.

Public debate had shifted and the suffering of separated families was on the political radar. With public and media sympathy running in favour of change, the government was in a position to alter for the better the destiny of the country's one million children from separated families; and the many children who would follow them.

The sight of bitter couples at war with each other, burning through thousands and even hundreds of thousands of dollars of their own and taxpayer's money in bitter and chaotic fights over property and the custody of their children, often accompanied by a blizzard of false or exaggerated claims, could have been relegated to history.

The Prime Minister of Australia John Winston Howard set the hares running in mid-June of 2003 when he told his colleagues it might well be worth re-looking at joint-custody.

This was an issue whose time had come. In a rare confluence of opinion, the public, the media and numerous politicians all supported change. The mind-boggling bureaucracy of the Child Support Agency and its staff's overt hostility towards separated fathers rubbed salt into wounds from dysfunctional Family Court cases. In the padded surrounds and heavy security of their plush offices judges continued to make judgements "in the best interests of the child" while out in the real world politicians, counselors, refuges and ambulance officers were left to pick up the mess.

Howard, always one to sniff the political wind, knew that a large number of voters were looking to him to fix the lunacy of Australia's Family Court and its evil twin the Child Support Agency, both creations of the country's Labor Party during its many years in power through the 70s and 80s.

For many Australians one of their only interactions with the legal system during their lifetimes would be with the Family Court. They rarely left impressed. Many of the country's lawyers regarded the court as an embarrassment and its processes as cruel and arbitrary. It was a haven for social justice dreamers, but not for "real" lawyers.

This was a storm which had been brewing since the creation of the Family Court of Australia in 1975 and the Child Support Agency in 1989. As a suburban solicitor promoting traditional family values, many assumed that the Prime Minister could not have personally condoned the extreme anti-father bias of these institutions, their arbitrary decision making processes, or indeed what many saw as blatant corruption in the rigging of evidence and procedures advantaging the mother at virtually any cost.

Howard received instant support across political divides. To the general public, tired of the angry, sad and chaotic stories emanating from family law and the chronic welfare dependency that it promoted, backed him immediately.

It was classic Howard. He barely said anything, committed little but ignited a chain of events which sparked public debate and led to the formation of committees and inquiries. He had risked nothing, kept his powder dry, but in this case had touched a raw community nerve. Like every other politician in the country, he knew this so-called "sleeper" issue was asleep no more. The personal and social consequences of the family law and child support systems in Australia were evident to all but the industry itself.

In 2003, while some newspaper editorials hedged their bets, the networks of groups including legal, women's, domestic violence, academics, the judiciary and the bureaucracy, which benefited from the sole custody regime of the Family Court of Australia, were yet to rally their forces. Howard received frequent praise for raising a subject that appeared to ignite an egalitarian spirit in the Australian psyche.

Howard told Coalition MPs he was "interested in the broad concept" of rebuttable joint custody - where the court presumes a child should spend roughly equal time or large amounts of time living with each parent unless there are strong reasons against it.

He said he would not commit his government to it. "It may on further examination turn out to be prejudicial to the child, unworkable, but we should be willing to have another look at it."

Talkback radio hummed with tale after tale of child custody fiascos. The story of the government's willingness to look at reforming family law and child support ran all week, and then just kept on running; on talkback, on television and in print.

On the 17th June 2003 a number of newspapers around Australia, including the Adelaide Advertiser, The Australian, the Brisbane Courier Mail, the Melbourne Herald Sun and the Townsville Bulletin all prominently reported that the Prime Minister was considering joint custody. Much of the reporting was supportive in the first instance.

The Shared Parenting Council of Australia, a loose association of 28 fathers and family law reform groups formed specifically to help change the laws, took on a profile many of its associated groups could never have dreamed possible.

Fathers groups were exuberant at the Prime Minister's comments, but a good deal of support came from women.

The papers reported that the Prime Minister had been lobbied heavily by members of his backbench, who had repeatedly raised child support and custody issues at party meetings during the previous months - and that Liberal MPs Ken Ticehurst, Barry Haase and Margaret May along with South Australian Senator Jeannie Ferris had led the charge.

Ferris, who passed away in 2007 from cancer at the age of 66, was a significant supporter of family law reform. She was the mother of two adult sons and was herself divorced. She was Federal Executive of the Liberal Party and elected as the Government Whip in the Senate in 2002 and had a professional background as a journalist and political lobbyist.

Senator Ferris said the group had been working with advisers from the Prime Minister's office since the middle of 2002 on a review of child support payments and custody issues and had begun working on the terms of reference for the inquiry three months before.

In an interview with Dads On The Air she said: "Every child has a fundamental human right to an equal relationship with both their mother and father following parental separation or divorce. My interest in child access has been ongoing for many years. Working for a Federal and State Member of Parliament before I became a Senator showed me just how important this issue is to so many families. Custody issues can take up to 25% of work for members of Parliament and it is a highly emotive issue for everyone involved.

"One of the major issues in child custody agreements is the ability for grandparents to have regular access to the child. Under the current system, grandparents have no legal recourse in the arrangements and important bonds between grandparents and their grandchildren can often be destroyed by a system that does not consider them in custody arrangements.

"Only 16% of divorced couples have their children living with each parent for more than 30% of the time. The inquiry into child access will look into ways that we can raise this figure considerably.

"I believe that if we start from the basis that both parents are jointly responsible for the child and then try to work through from there how the living arrangements will apply, better access could be established for parents and children.

"Recently I travelled overseas and spoke to several joint parenting organisations to look closer at the changes that have been made overseas. During my trip I was also fortunate to meet a Canadian Senator, Anne Cools, who has dedicated much of her time in public office to progress joint custody access. It has always been her strong belief that children benefit from joint parenting and a society that accepts this presumption will work better for everyone involved in such painful circumstances.

"Children are not prizes in a competition and a parent should not try to prevent access to the other parent for reasons such as power or money. The focus of custody arrangements needs to examine more of the benefits for children from equal parenting to educate people that amicable arrangements can be made and their children can continue from loving relationships - no matter where their parents live."

The Sydney Morning Herald followed up with a largely sympathetic front page story using the example of a couple in a shared parenting arrangement who found they loved their kids more than they disliked each other. For the soft left bible of the chattering classes, it was a significant story. They also noted the flood of phone calls into MPs offices on the issues.

Matilda Bawden, then president of the Shared Parenting Council, told high circulation Melbourne tabloid The Herald Sun that shared parenting would force warring parents to get along by taking litigation out of the family break-down picture to the greatest extent possible and encouraging parents to work it out themselves. "Get the lawyers, get the judges, the psychologists and social workers out of the picture and families might stand a chance of working things out," she declared.

Shared custody would also benefit other family members, including grandparents, aunts and uncles, who may not see children after a divorce.

In the Fairfax press social commentator Bettina Arndt argued in a piece headlined Fathers May Get Justice At Last that joint custody was the arrangement most children wanted and was usually better for children.

She wrote: "John Howard made a crucial decision this week to support a new look at child custody. By doing this, he is acknowledging the festering community discontent over the failure of the family law system to effectively handle this most emotional issue.

"Very few Australian children experience the type of care they would prefer after divorce - namely equal care by both parents. Our adversarial family law system, and a long history of the Family Court awarding "custody" to mothers, has meant that most children of divorced parents are brought up with their fathers cast in a visiting dad role, and contact with the child often at the whim of the mother."

Arndt wrote that while previous pushes for even small reforms had been torpedoed by left wing parties firmly in the sole parent camp, "this time the push for change has the backing of a powerful, popular Prime Minister with a record of supporting fatherhood".

In what was little more than a dream come true for family law reformers, at the end of the week "Give Dads A Go" was the front page headline of the high circulation high profile Sydney tabloid The Daily Telegraph, a newspaper any Australian politician ignored at their peril.

The story recorded the Prime Minister's concerns over the need for young boys to have a male role model in their lives. He said they were the group most likely to be affected when their parents separated or divorced. He said this was exacerbated where there were no close uncles or relatives because there were now fewer male teachers.

A survey by the Kids Help Line suggested that a quarter of all boys whose parents have separated had no contact with their father.

But repeating an assertion he would make many times in the coming months, both to the media and to the inquiry, the ever controversial Family Court Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson said he regarded proposals for joint custody as "just impracticable and it's not children focused. This is a big country, for example, and how do you divide the time of a child, if one parent's in Alice Springs and the other one is in Melbourne. Do you shunt them back and forwards via plane, and half the time the parents can't afford it.

"But more importantly than that, you've got situations where they live on the other sides of cities and many children become very unsettled by being battered backwards and forwards like a ping-pong ball. So I just think that the people who are advocating this are coming from the wrong direction. They're not thinking of the children, they're thinking of the parents."

Howard may have raised the ire of the Family Court's Chief Justice but otherwise his proposals were widely applauded. Having tested the waters so successfully, the next week, on the 25 June 2003, Prime Minister Howard formally announced an inquiry into custody issues, including a brief to examine the notion of rebuttable joint custody or shared parenting, whether or not the child support scheme is fair and issues over contact with grandparents.

The inquiry was to unleash a remarkable flood of material.

John Howard told parliament he was aware, along with members from both sides of the house, that "within the Australian community there is a level of concern and unhappiness with the operation of matters relating to the custody of children following marriage breakdown and a measure of unhappiness with the operation of the Child Support Agency."

"The government wants to respond to that concern because we believe that these are issues that go to the heart of personal happiness for millions of Australians."

The Prime Minister's comments on the Child Support Agency were an understatement.

Politicians were being bombarded with complaints about the child support system and the CSA, with claims that staff discriminated against non-custodial parents, most often fathers.

As if to reiterate the point about child support and the problems being experienced in separated families, in case anyone had missed it, that weekend The Australian ran a story on some of the multiple dysfunctions of the Child Support Agency. It was written by its Freedom of Information editor Michael McKinnon, journalist Christine Jackman and myself.

That story kicked off: "Hundreds of threats of assault, murder and suicide by angry parents have been mishandled or ignored by the Child Support Agency.

"Federal Children and Youth Affairs Minister Larry Anthony yesterday ordered the Agency to explain itself after it was revealed he had been misled by a CSA briefing on its safety procedures."

Documents obtained under Freedom of Information laws had revealed that the Minister was told any "possible murder or suicide" threat from CSA clients would be referred to police. The Agency claimed staff were trained to refer on to qualified counselors the "distraught" parents who "occasionally" contacted them.

"A few of these threaten to harm themselves or others," the CSA brief noted.

Minister Anthony admitted writing on the CSA's briefing paper that it was "an understatement" for the agency to claim distressed parents "occasionally" contacted the service.

Internal documents obtained during a six-month investigation by The Weekend Australian showed the CSA fielded hundreds of threats to harm expartners and children, use bombs or commit suicide each year.

The Agency received 184 suicide threats, 320 client-to-client threats, 48 bomb threats, with four bomb incidents, and 453 harassment calls between 1996-97 and 2001-02. But security incident reports revealed the police were called in fewer than half a dozen of these cases.

A CSA spokeswoman said no records had been kept of police referrals before July 2001. In the financial year to June 25, 2003, the CSA had received 111 suicide threats, 81 client-to-client threats, 74 threats to staff and seven bomb threats. In the two years since July 2001, 59 client-to-client threats and 46 suicide threats were referred to police.

The article spilled to page two, where it was accompanied by a story I wrote about CSA payers being pushed to the brink.

It recounted the case of Jack, a senior public servant, who slashed his wrists after receiving 36 letters from the Child Support Agency in one day.

"I am being pushed against the wall emotionally, financially and in every other way. The best analysis: you get stuck in a dark tunnel, you keep walking down the tunnel, there is no light at the end, so why keep walking?"

Two years before he had told the CSA by phone he was being driven to the wall. "I was losing control, I was thinking of chucking it all in and said I might as well go the whole hog," he said. "I made it very clear to them that I was contemplating suicide."

Jack was provided with not provided with professional counseling or received any expression of sympathy and to his knowledge the police were not informed.

He handed over 27 per cent of his pay in child support payments while also supporting his second family, which includes two teenagers.

"You ring up the CSA and tell them your situation. They don't care."

In a separate background piece Christine Jackman wrote that the suicide and assault threats were only a miniscule part of the Agency's clientele, but it would be folly to assume the remaining 99.95 per cent of the agency's clients are satisfied with the system.

"On the contrary, grim anecdotal evidence from the fraught frontline of family breakdown suggests the agency's incident reports are the mere tip of a much larger iceberg threatening the child-support system."

As a result of the CSA stories an employee turned whistleblower contacted the paper and penned a piece about his own experiences. He said he was fearful he was breaking the Public Service code of conduct after threats from management that speaking out about Agency matters could land staff in jail.

He said the Prime Minister's acknowledgement there was "unhappiness" in the Australian community with the Child Support Agency and the coverage documenting the Agency's failure to properly deal with suicide threats from clients was only the tip of

the iceberg in an Agency characterised by high staff turnover and deeply flawed management practices.

"The un-ending stuff-ups and the caller discontent and hatred are dispiriting for staff.

"At 8.31am the phones start ringing. You'll be answering near constant calls in a four hour block, often taking call after call from unhappy, resentful, fed-up and disbelieving mothers and fathers.

"We get of lot of calls where the blokes are at the end of their tether. They say things like 'I might as well not go on'. None of these types of calls are reported as suicide threats. But when a payer calls and the threat is for real and you find out the police were involved and the client has gone to hospital or worse it makes you feel like you want to quit.

"While the staff cop much of the abuse from disgruntled clients, the faults of the staff are very much to do with their lack of time to follow up on work or undertake decent training. The phone staff at the CSA really do what they can - but the work culture is so damaging it is difficult to see outside the 'madhouse' of the Agency. I hope to have a different job soon."

Of course it wasn't just the Agency which was upsetting separated families, with the operations of the Family Court square in their sights.

In his address to Parliament announcing the historic inquiry Howard said: "We all aspire to an ideal but an ideal is never realised in an overwhelming majority of cases, and the obligation of society when a marriage breaks down is to have arrangements which are in the best interests of children but which also have proper regard to the interests of the parents of those children."

Howard said he would be asking the House of Representatives Standing Committee on Family and Community Affairs to examine "whether there should be a presumption that children will spend equal time with each parent and, if so, in what circumstances such a presumption could be rebutted.

"The committee will also be asked to investigate in what circumstances a court should order that children of separated parents have contact with other persons, including their grandparents.

"We will also be asking the committee to examine whether the existing child support formula works fairly for both parents in relation to their care of, and contact with, their children, because...there are many non-custodial parents in Australia who are profoundly unhappy with the existing formula used by the Child Support Agency and wish that matter to be examined. "

Howard said he wanted the committee to report by year's end. "There is no point giving it two or three years. I think that six months, given the intensity and amount of public interest in this matter, is an appropriate period of time.

"I cannot think of anything that is more important to millions of Australians than current custody arrangements. This issue is properly the concern of the national parliament, and I hope it brings forth the genuine bipartisan involvement of the Opposition."

Radio, television and newspapers once again all ran the story prominently, much of it positive to the notion of shared parenting. Talkback ran strongly in favour, with callers split equally between men and women. It appeared in the first flush a clear vote winner.

Some of the toughest women journalists in the country penned pieces in support.

On the 24th of June the Courier Mail ran a piece by journalist Madonna King, former bureau chief for The Australian and former Deputy Editor at The Daily Telegraph. She wrote: "This year, more than 1000 fathers will commit suicide, many such deaths blamed on family law issues. This weekend fathers across Australia will travel to pick up children for an access visit to find their children missing. And today, hundreds of mothers will seek help after their former partner refuses to pay child maintenance.

"And they say family law works. It doesn't and it's about time it was overhauled.

"For 20 years, we've told our fathers, our husbands and our sons to play a bigger role in their families, to spend fewer hours at work and to take a bigger role in their children's future. And they have.

"Then, when a relationship breaks down, reports suggest only three per cent of fathers are awarded equal joint custody. It's about time that changed and Prime Minister John Howard ... should be applauded for flagging his family law review."

Well versed in media campaigns and equally well funded, the National Council for Single Mothers spokeswoman Elspeth McInnes shot off a response to King demanding "in the interests of balanced and informed journalism" there be equal column space given to opposing arguments.

"The claim that 'women's groups have controlled the debate for decades' is not supported by any evidence. Your claim that women's groups don't want fathers to have a role in their children's lives after separation is wrong.

McInnes, long one of the country's most virulent anti-father campaigners, argued for a rebuttable presumption of no contact where there were allegations of violence established "on the balance of probabilities".

"Persons found on the basis of civil proof to have used violence would have to show why they were safe before contact was allowed," she said.

But critics, including DOTA, saw these comments as the same old propaganda designed to cut dads out of their children's lives.

One of the Sydney Morning Herald's most senior reporters Paola Totaro penned an opinion piece calling the decision to re-look at joint custody humane and long overdue. She said it was a win not just for "angry dads" but "for the thousands of silent women and men who choose to put their children not bitterness and anger first."

She derided another of the paper's prominent female columnist Adele Horin for suggesting that while divorced fathers may have a point about wanting more time with their kids, seeking equal time was veering into "dangerous territory".

"'Angry dads'? 'Dangerous territory'? For men to want to have equal time with their children?

"As a woman, divorced mother and now a remarried step mum too, these arguments strike me as the worst kind of sexism.

"How can we, as a civilised society, continue to suggest that capable men do not have the same rights to bring up their children, post-divorce, as their female partners? And how can we women who quite rightly expect and enjoy an equitable arrangement both in parenting and in the domestic environment inside marriage then argue that post-divorce, only motherhood is sacrosanct?"

The Advertiser declared the need for family law reform was "a message being heard in MPs' offices around the nation, where staff are often snowed under with traumatised parents and grandparents denied the right to see their children. But it is a message MPs have seemingly failed to act on - until now."

Parliamentary Secretary Jackie Kelly, who advised Mr Howard on women's issues, had spent many hours in her Sydney electorate office trying to help parents gain access to their children. "Access is the killer and access is the tragedy," she said.

"The enforcement of it is a joke. It really must be about acting in the children's interests. Children really need both parents ... we are really chopping off whole extended families - the grandparents, the aunts and the uncles. I believe we will be paying as a Federal Government for that social injustice 20 or 30 years down the track."

On Saturday the West Australian editorialised: "The review of child custody laws promised by Prime Minister John Howard will be contentious but necessary. He has been criticised often for his conservatism and apparent attachment to the past - the so-called white picket fence view of the world. But he is right this time.

"Ideally, children should be brought up by both parents. Loving mothers and fathers, in cooperation, both have vital contributions to make in caring for children.

"There is a significant body of opinion that men endure systematic discrimination under the present arrangements. It is not surprising that coalition MPs have raised concerns about what they say are unfair access arrangements and child-support payments.

"There are many furious men who assert - sometimes in concert with new wives or partners - that they have been dudded by their former wives and denied justice by the court. This chorus seems to be getting louder."

Also at the weekend The Sun Herald in Sydney ran an editorial under the headline "We owe our sad kids a fairer go". It began: "They live next door, across the road and in every classroom in the country. Sometimes they're even in our own homes. They're the children of what are called 'dissolved partnerships'. It went on to say that "children are the silent sufferers in angry confrontations between warring parents. They often are used as weapons of retribution... The world has moved on since the Family Law Act was introduced in 1975. Even though the courts must place the children's best interests first, only three per cent of orders made are for joint custody."

Also at the weekend The Age ran a conspiratorial story on its front page suggesting that a group of disgruntled Adelaide dads had laid the groundwork for custody reform. The paper suggested the moves were originally floated by One Nation, a splinter right wing party which enjoyed brief fame and electoral popularity in the late 1990s. It suggested that John Abbott, whose only previous claim to fame was as cousin of a bank robber

known as the "Postcard Bandit", had laid the groundwork for the move to joint custody with two other Adelaide denizens scarred by Family Court battles, Geoff Greene of the Shared Parenting Council and Joint Parenting Association president Yuri Joakimidis.

DOTA commented that it seemed unlikely such a small group could dictate or initiate such a major policy debate in isolation. John Howard, as the wiliest and most successful conservative politician of modern times, was more than capable of recognising a hot button issue in the electorate all on his own. Fathers who had met with him all reported him sympathetic.

Greene denied any linkage between the proposals and One Nation, saying it was his lobbying for the Joakimidis extensively researched and well documented proposals for joint custody contained in publications such as Back To The Best Interests Of The Child, that finally brought it to the Prime Minister's attention, first through the auspices of South Australian MP Christopher Pyne; and then through SA Senator Jeannie Ferris and later NSW MP Ken Ticehurst.

Greene was also quick to credit the behind the scenes work of SA Senator Nick Minchin, who was then Finance Minister in the Howard government.

Greene declared with a certain characteristic pugnacity: "Once the Prime Minister is on your side it's easier to get your story heard. Cabinet sets policy and Attorney-General's will do what it's told. I think it's possible we'll have legislation before Christmas. I think we have very good odds of success."

The forecast, as it turned out, was way too optimistic.

A number of family law reform groups put out press releases in support of the inquiry. The Shared Parenting Council of Australia issued a congratulatory release heaping praise not just on the Prime Minister but "the numerous backbench Coalition Members and Senators who have supported this review".

The formation of the SPCA the previous year, a representative body of various children's, father's and church groups around Australia, was one of the many crystallising factors leading up to the inquiry and helped to shape the disparate and sometimes conflicting messages from fathers groups into a more coherent voice.

The statement said: "The current 'one size fits all' model of sole custody orders of the Family Court has clearly failed children and the wider Australian society and must be reformed. Children of separating or divorcing parents are the real victims of current failed Family Law policies. Under the sole custody regime, children are automatically deprived of a continuing and meaningful relationship with both their parents, and the social outcomes for children as a result of this loss is a national disgrace.

"Only by recognising and upholding the fundamental rights of children to maintain an equal relationship and opportunity with both their mother and father will society reduce the impact of family breakdown on children of divorce."

Reliable Parents from West Australia also congratulated John Howard; going on to say the introduction of a presumption of shared parenting would represent a shift from sole parent possession of children to an arrangement that recognised the needs and responsibilities of all involved. "At present many families reach an agreement on parenting based on the impediments to equitable arrangements brought about by

obstacles put before the non-resident parent. These include lack of legal assistance and family court pressures to accept lesser contact in order to avoid the high costs associated with court appearances."

Established in 1985, Men's Confraternity, a particularly active and outspoken group, also from Western Australia, was jubilant.

"Finally Australia has a Prime Minister who has the courage to tackle this immensely difficult issue, in the hope of creating a system that no longer discriminates against children and fathers," their release read. "The current adversarial system of winner takes all, has contributed to the escalating divorce rate being initiated predominately by females, and lead to the appalling level of suicide amongst divorced and separated men. Contrary to the misandrist ravings of many women's organisations, men truly love and care for their children, and the current Family Court system, which actively seeks to alienate them from their children, has resulted in a shocking loss of life.

"Research both within Australia and internationally, strongly supports the irreplaceable role that fathers play in the development and growth of children. The sole parent regime purported by the Family Court and its Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson to be in the child's best interest, is a complete failure."

Most Australian newspapers published a scattering of letters in support of shared parenting. The West Australian ran one the much loved Lionel Richards, organiser of the OzyDads internet chat line. He linked a recent spate of juvenile crime in the west to sole custody: "The problem with delinquent youths in the streets at night is that they are living in fatherless homes with many suffering very low self-esteem as a result of parental alienation and denigration of the absent father. Shared parenting as the default position in family breakdown will go a long way to remedying the problem of our youths on the streets at night."

There was some argument over whether the inquiry should have gone to the Legal and Constitutional Committee. DOTA agreed with view of senior government figures that this would have produced an entirely different and much more legalistic inquiry; something along the lines of the previous year's failed Family Law Pathways Advisory Group's report Out of the Maze.

That inquiry had stirred hope and confusion in equal measure; and become a class study in bureaucratic frustration of reform.

The Standing Committee on Family and Community Affairs was one of 13 generalpurpose investigatory committees established by the House of Representatives of the Parliament of Australia. Its role was to carry out inquiries into matters referred to it by the House of Representatives or a Minister of the Commonwealth Government.

The committee Chairwoman was Kay Hull, the National Party member for Riverina. Known as the "pocket dynamo" for her size and energy, she was both popular with her fellow politicians and within her electorate.

At first it appeared family law reformers were fortunate in the constitution of the committee, all of whom had expressed a sympathetic interest in the issues as a result of their work as parliamentarians.

Through the public phases of the inquiry Kay Hull established a distinguished and authoritative hold over the committee's proceedings and brought to the job a great deal of intelligence and personal charm.

As the mother of three adult sons and a proud grandmother in one of the many rural areas badly affected by family law, she could hardly have failed to understand the depth of hostility in the community.

Ms Hull said early on in the piece that the problems with family law and child support had been evident for some time. She continued to make public statements questioning the status quo and suggesting significant change was appropriate.

Another member, Roger Price, MP for the western Sydney electorate of Campbelltown, had already appeared on DOTA as a staunch critic of the social impacts of family law and child support, which he had witnessed first hand in his Western Sydney electorate. During the inquiry he was determined in his questioning of witnesses as to why a 50.50 presumption would not work. He had previously said the hurt and individual pain that so many experienced had only made him more radical on the issue since he chaired an inquiry into child support in the early 1990s. He had described the level of anger in the community as frightening.

Chris Pearce, also on the committee, had penned a piece published in the Herald Sun which claimed the Family Law Act of 1975 had sought to deal with separating families in a fair and sensitive manner but "with the benefit of 30 years' experience, the overwhelming evidence from children, parents and professionals reveals significant flaws in the system."

He wrote that although it may be challenging at times, shared parenting had many advantages. "It would allow both parents to be active and ongoing role models for their children. It would provide greater equality between the parental roles of the mother and father, which is often a source of conflict. This greater equality would mean that separated parents would be less likely to become overwhelmed by the burden of sole parenting or largely cut out of a child's life."

Also on the committee were Deputy Chair Mrs Julia Irwin, of the Australian Labor Party, Alan Cadman, Trish Draper, Cameron Thompson and Peter Dutton from the Liberal Party, the latter a former policeman who's line of inquiry during the hearings indicated a clear disgust for the present system. There was also self declared feminist Jennie George, the well known former President of the Australian Council of Trade Unions and the ever volatile Harry Quick, both of the Australian Labor Party. The latter's derisive comments towards the judiciary and the "industry" during the progress of the public hearings enlivened proceedings.

Kay Hull was going into Question Time in the House of Representatives when she heard news of the inquiry. "I thought to myself that is an amazing job for someone and one that would be very difficult and I was rendered a little speechless when it turned out we would be doing it. I was quite gob smacked. I picked myself up off the floor and said here we are, we are going to be very busy."

The committee set about hiring extra staff and organising an itinerary. A date for receipt of submissions of Friday 8 August 2003 was set. The tight deadline was designed to focus attention in an emotive and divisive area and to avoid prolonged campaigning and maneuvering by opposing interest groups.

At the same time as the inquiry was being established the country's leading research facility dealing with fathers, the Men's Health and Information Resource Centre at the University of Western Sydney, released a report urging general practitioners to be more aware of the poor health and high suicide rates of separated men

The latest Australian Bureau of Statistics report revealed that in the prime divorce age bracket -- of 25 to 44 years -- suicides remained stubbornly high or were increasing. This age group of men accounted for almost 50 per cent of all suicides.

Co-director of the Centre, Professor John MacDonald, another periodic guest on DOTA, said while it was notoriously difficult to get men to go to a doctor, GPs were strategically placed to help when troubled men come knocking.

"The sources of stress belong in the social domain and often in the legal domain," he said. "But if the doctor has a list of relevant agencies that can help, some legal agencies rather than medical, for example, then such a GP would be bringing a holistic service to his clients. That would be the doctor acknowledging what we call the 'social determinants of health'."

MacDonald said statistics showed separated men were up to six times more likely to suicide than separated women, although this depended on the age group. He said several doctors were now asking what they could do to make their services more accessible to men.

"Even when doctors are referring men on to counselors or other agencies, it is important that such services are male-positive," he said.

MacDonald pointed out that many community health services don't deal with men at all unless they are in crisis, for example for drug and alcohol problems.

"Most of the medical profession would accept that there are very few services directed at men," he said. "We would definitely like to see. "

Director of the Shared Parenting Council Geoffrey Greene said general practitioners were usually the first place where fathers suffering the process of separation presented. "Losing your children is one of the single most distressing experiences any person can go through," he said. "Doctors need to be aware that if their patients are experiencing separation or divorce they are at high risk of suicide. Even if they are not suicidal they can present with stress disorders."

At the time the government funded Mensline was managing to answer only one-in-four of the deluge of the calls to its emergency service.

"Clearly from our experience, men dealing with family and relationship breakdown deal with a range of physical and mental health issues," Mensline manager Terry Melvin said. "We find callers on the line with high levels of anxiety and stress, depression, and risk of suicide or self-harming behaviour. Six per cent of our callers are men who are either threatening suicide or where the suicide is actually in progress."

Melvin said there was a spill over effect from separation into men's working lives. Mensline research showed high absenteeism, conflict with their peers, inability to concentrate and the potential for industrial accidents.

"There is often a high use of drugs and alcohol as men struggle to cope with the loss of daily contact with their children and the loss of the relationship. The level of stress increases when they have to deal with the legal system." Board member of Suicide Prevention Australia Julian Krieg said many separated men were "falling through the cracks" of the health system.

"There are support mechanisms for the wife and kids, but the blokes are expected to carry on, doing the provider thing. There is no approach that recognises these blokes are, in reality, heart broken. The blokes are saying, 'it's over. I've failed at my job, my life, my marriage.'

"The reality is that the man is stressed out of his brain. When people are going through a divorce there are critical things going on. The whole spectrum of care needs to recognise that separation and divorce is a time of risk."

At first the slowness of submissions to the parliamentary inquiry going up on line caused some disquiet; with most of the first fifty or so in the first few weeks being from various segments of the divorce industry, and all against shared parenting; seemingly at odds with an inquiry into joint custody.

To begin with the only groups in favour with submissions up on line were The Shared Parenting Council of Australia , the Lone Father's Association, Tasmanian Men's Health Well Being Association, The Joint Parenting Association and the Australian Family Support Services Association.

Already the women's legal and domestic violence groups, virtually all taxpayer funded, were well represented; including the Women's Information and Referral Exchange, the National Welfare Rights network, the Domestic Violence and Incest Resource Centre, Relationships Australia, the Law Council of Australia, the Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission, National Legal Aid and the Governments of Tasmania and South Australia.

But what followed was a flood of many hundreds of submissions, more than 1700 in the end, where in combination with the Hansard transcripts of the public inquiry, the individual stories of people's lives mangled by the family law industry stood out in contrast to the bland assurances of experts.

At the same time as the inquiry was proceeding personnel in the upper echelons of the Family Court and Attorney-General's Department were in flux. The entire shared parenting or joint custody debate was made more piquant by the fact that these were the final months of the reign of Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson, who had been in position since 1989, only the second Chief Justice in the court's more than quarter of a century history.

Nicholson had been the dominating figure in family law in Australia for many years, fawned upon by his supporters or regarded with reptilian fascination by his critics. He was leaving behind an institution engulfed in controversy and the subject of the most far reaching and transparent inquiry ever conducted into it. DOTA described him as perhaps the most hated figure in Australian judicial history. Certainly the fatherhood movement saw it that way.

Nicholson had been appointed by the Hawke government in 1989 to the age of 65, which came to pass on August 19th 2003. There was no public acknowledgement that

the judges of the Family Court, had, with a few principled exceptions, en masse and in secret, previously resigned their commissions and then been reappointed.

Nicholson turned 65 and didn't retire. Mischievously, several groups put out press releases asking why not. The government was forced to admit that the retirement ages of Family Court judges had been changed by the previous government without any public discussion or revelation. Apart from a couple of minor stories, DOTA was the only media outlet to air stories on the secretive changes to Family Court retirement dates for judges, an apparent breach of the Australian Constitution expressly forbidding any changes to retirement dates of judges once appointed. The FC's retirement age had been decreased to 65, as opposed to the standard 70 in other jurisdictions, with the thought that such a sensitive arena required judges who were closely in touch with changing community mores.

The source of the story was a former Family Court judge who had once been a fan of the supposedly progressive Nicholson but become a staunch critic of his excessive bonhomie and conference attendance, and what he saw as maladministration of the court. He himself had refused to accept the later retirement date, believing it to be unconstitutional, and I attempted to speak to every last one of the small coterie of judges who had followed suit. Later to become a senior legal figure in NSW, the whistle blowing judge described his years in the court as the worst of his professional life. He leaked the story in an attempt to expose Nicholson's conduct.

With no apparent logicality to the date, Nicholson declared he would retire in March, 2004. His initial statements that he would take a year's accumulated leave were rescinded and he continued to carry out what he saw as his duties.

During the inquiry there was also a change of Attorney-General, from the mild mannered and eternally polite Daryl Williams, who family law reformers regarded as fairly useless. His replacement Phillip Ruddock, having survived the difficult and ever controversial immigration portfolio, was perceived as tougher and perhaps more suited to overseeing fundamental reform to the Family Court.

Daryl Williams was the Attorney-General who once claimed to an international conference of visiting judges that Australia had a world class family law system, a claim met with ridicule by reform advocates.

Despite the initial wave of favourable coverage and continuing support on talkback radio the climate towards shared parenting turned colder as the inquiry progressed, at least in one sense. The opponents of joint custody, Chief Justice Nicholson and Sex Discrimination Commissioner Pru Goward in particular, received considerable mainstream media coverage for their utterances and courtesy of the taxpayer used their appearances at the inquiry to great effect in propagating their views.

But in contrast to their hostility was the tone of the public hearings, where the committee members appeared sceptical of the parade of industry heavyweights appearing before them.

There was, to the very end, a disconnect between the community experience exemplified by compelling stories of grief, dysfunction and difficulty with family law and child support issues and the assurances of the industry's leaders. This same disconnect between reality and expert, between the masses and the government elites, carried

through into the writing and delivery of the inquiry's report Every Picture Tells A Story and the political processes before and after.

The report came in on Monday 29 December 2003. It was released at a media conference in the nation's capital Canberra and gained widespread coverage. The report may have been front page news but coverage dried up rapidly. Long term family law campaigners were visceral in their contempt for the report. Some said Every Picture Tells A Story itself resembled a Family Court judgement, it bore no relationship to the evidence and no relationship to reality.

Allegedly charged by the Prime Minister to fix the problem "once and for all", at the end of the day the inquiry's report killed any chance of that happening.

The committee's rejection of the rebuttable presumption of joint custody, with no logical explanation whatsoever and clearly for misguided political purpose, created far more problems than it solved. But despite the disappointment, Dads On The Air argued the inquiry in itself would come to be seen as a watershed in family law reform. It brought to public view the many failures of the sole mother custody model and the compelling arguments for reform. And it brought to public attention the impassioned stories of fathers, mothers, non-custodial mothers, second wives, grandparents and children.

The weight of these stories, both in the public hearings and in submissions, made for a significant body of evidence. The dysfunction of the family law and child support systems in Australia were clearly illustrated. The repeated evidence of the mismanagement of people's lives left should have left any responsible government with little choice but to act.

Despite all the momentum, the public debate and the media supporting change, the Howard government baulked at the last fence. Instead of joint custody Australia ended with "joint parental responsibility". Instead of shared parenting centres dotted across the country helping parents to come up with sensible plans for the care of their children after separation there are Relationship Centres, producing mixed results.

Dads On The Air was always critical that the reforms did not go far enough and was suspicious of the many compromises made. We predicted that in five years time there would be another round of inquiries as the government tried once more to take the lid off the pressure cooker; the wall of discontent that would once more be impossible to ignore. And that there would be a replay of the inquiry just competed: "At these same community consultations an armada of heftily funded women's and domestic violence groups will present submissions prepared by paid staff and will relay horror stories of the mistreatment of women at the hands of men. And at these same meetings unfunded fathers groups relying on volunteers will sometimes stumblingly present their point of view. The politicians chairing the events will once more express sympathy to tearful individuals, men and women, and will promise faithfully that the government is looking closely into their issues."

Maybe. Maybe not. History will tell what social problems the many bottled up frustrations of created by the present system will take.

After the handing down of Every Picture Tells A Story, it took a few hours, in some cases days, for fathers and family law reform advocates to realise how thoroughly they had been done over.

But realise they did. Lone Fathers described the rejection of a rebuttable notion of joint custody as silly. President Barry Williams said reform simply couldn't work without a rebuttable notion of joint custody and said he would appeal directly to the Prime Minister.

"It's just ridiculous that they've rejected it," he said. "The number of submissions for shared care far outweighed those against it. They've played into the hands of the people with vested interests: the Family Court, women's groups and the legal profession. They've pressured the committee to reject it."

Dads Australia called the report a betrayal of the million Australian children of separated parents.

Geoffrey Greene of the Shared Parenting Council said there was bitter disappointment amongst the members over the failure of the committee to embrace a rebuttable presumption of shared parenting. "We don't see how the children's rights to a relationship with their mothers and fathers will be upheld without it," he said. "There is talk of shared parenting all the way through the report but it is all lip service. It is very unlikely we will see any genuine improvement without a rebuttable presumption. My biggest concern is for the million children in Australia, many of whom have inappropriate custody orders, who after all were the driving force for the inquiry, and there is specifically no provision to improve their lot."

The Men's Rights Agency, which did numerous interviews on the subject right around the country, dismissed it as "the greatest betrayal by any government ever in Australia".

"The politicians all knew how crucial this issue was to the many fathers who are denied contact with their children," Sue Price said. "They have raised their hopes, only to see them dashed. They will not forget in a hurry. The government and the committee have put us so far back in seeking shared parenting that it will take years to recover. They have vetoed a presumption of joint custody with no logical argument whatsoever. They have presumed that any parent with on-going conflict with their partner is a danger to their children. How just is that?"

CHAPTER TWO: ORIGINS AND POLITICS

On the 5th of January 1976 the Family Law Act 1975 came into effect. It was passed into law by just one vote. This marked a controversial and historically significant turning point for Australian family life. Making contentious changes to the law relating to marriage, Australia had introduced 'no fault' divorce. For the first time, married couples could seek a divorce by demonstrating a separation of 12 months duration.

The single ground of irreconcilable breakdown was controversial in the early 1970s and much of the lengthy parliamentary debates were dedicated to the abandonment of fault in divorce proceedings. Some saw it as an assault on the tradition of marriage.

The Family Law Act of 1975 also created the Family Court of Australia to interpret and apply that law and to ensure matters of family breakdown, separation and divorce were managed in a more family friendly manner. It would prove to be one of the most hotly debated and often despised pieces of legislation in Australian history.

The Family Court has jurisdiction over all marriage-related cases in all states and territories of Australia, except Western Australia which has its own family court. Its jurisdiction covers applications for declarations of the validity or nullity of marriages, divorces, residence, contact, maintenance, child support and property issues. It also has jurisdiction over de facto couples and parents who have never lived together. The only avenue of appeal is to the High Court, which requires the granting of special leave.

Conciliation and counseling services were designed into the Family Court's structure to assist the dissolution of marriages in a less hostile manner than previously.

Those same counselors, originally intended to be so helpful, were later to become the subject of much hostility from father's and father's groups for their frequently alleged bias.

Children's custody matters were to be determined with "the best interests of the child" as the paramount consideration and all matters coming before the Court were to receive individual attention specific to the parties' unique circumstances.

A government media release described the initiative as "sweeping away the laws and procedures of the past and providing a new era of calmness

and rationality, presided over by specialist judges assisted by experts and which would introduce speedy, less expensive and less formal procedures."

The original intention of the Family Court of Australia was to improve the manner in which separation and marriage dissolution had been previously managed.

Underlying the vision of the Family Law Act, its architect, the late Senator Lionel Murphy, believed the court would operate on principals supporting humanitarian values. The Court was to be a 'helping' court. The need for improved access to justice was also identified as an aim. The Court's processes were to be less formal, services were to be provided to remote areas and child-care was to be provided for parents using the Court's services.

In a speech to Federal Parliament in March 1973, Senator Lionel Murphy said, "When a family is broken up, when there is a divorce, at least let us enable those people involved to solve their differences in a decent human and dignified way, and without their being subjected to this kind of expense."

As it evolved, the court, with its extensive delays and elaborately complex and overly-legalistic procedures, was light years from this aim.

Hansard's record of the debates surrounding the Family Law Bill demonstrated the intention of the parliament to establish a child custody regime which would see the care and upbringing of children equitably shared between separating parents. In a parliamentary debate in October 1974, the late Senator Alan Missen explained that the Family Law regime would "create the concept of joint custody under the law."

Original lofty intentions were rapidly lost. Appeals to the High Court case forced the Family Court to act like a normal court and emphasised the importance of traditional legal practice rather than "palm tree justice", thus locking the adversarial trial system into place. Parliament's intension that the Family Court would operate with less formal

processes and as a 'helping court' effectively collapsed, leaving two of the original presumptions of Parliament in passing the legislation undelivered.

Separating couples had to slog it out in front of a judge. The appropriateness of adversarial trials was the subject of debate throughout the life of the court. The sight of separating couples locked in protracted battles they could seemingly not escape became all too common. Critics argued that the wild claims separated couples were encouraged to pitch against each other and the high conflict it generated between parents meant adversarial trials themselves were against the best interests of children.

At the turn of the millennium difficulties with the application and interpretation of the Family Law Act were evident. Families engaging the Family Court became more ready to agitate their concerns. Constituent pressure for reform was building in Parliamentary Members and Senators offices around the country.

The Family Court was controversial from the minute it opened its doors. One common thread in the history of Australian family law has been the multiple amendments to the Act and numerous changes to procedures. Parliamentary action has sat beside multiple reports into family law from a range of eminent bodies as well as from individuals and research institutions.

As early as 1978 a Parliamentary Joint Select Committee was asked to review the Family Law Act and whether there should be additional grounds for divorce. The report did not recommend a reconsideration of no-fault divorce, but several Committee members expressed opposition to that particular ground.

In 1980, the Fraser Coalition Government set out to hold the first comprehensive inquiry into the operations of the Family Law Act, only four years after the court began operating. Many concerns of individual MPs had been canvassed during this period, including proposals to lower the retirement age of Family Court Judges to age 65 to keep them more closely in touch with changing social mores. This was a matter strongly supported by former Prime Minister and then Fraser Government Minister, John Howard.

In 1987, the Advisory Committee on the Australian Judicial System received numerous submissions on the position and role of the Family Court in the federal judicial structure.

By 1990, there was clear unrest in the electoral offices of Members of Parliament in relation to the operation of family law.

An area of concern particularly in rural areas was that with family breakdown escalating farmers were losing their generational farming properties, with a significant number of people being forced to sell because of the property division orders of the Family Court.

Economic circumstances in the early 1990's were difficult for farming families, and the country towns that relied on the income from surrounding farmlands for their survival were also under stress. Drought, escalating interest rates, high debt and pending economic recession were taking their toll throughout rural and regional Australia.

At the federal election held in March 1990, the Liberal National Party Coalition committing it to a review the operation of family law if elected.

After the election, NSW National Party Senator David Brownhill sought assistance from other Senators for a parliamentary inquiry into the operation and outcomes of family law.

The Senator, himself a farmer and grazier, held the view that the family law system was significantly contributing to the devastation of rural family life.

Many of his constituent's were watching their livelihoods evaporate in the struggle to maintain their farming operations. They were confronted with further devastation through the loss of their marriages under the economic strains of high debt and rising interest rates. Suicide was on the increase, and country towns were being economically savaged by the exodus of broken families fleeing to the cities.

Increasing numbers of rural constituents faced the final blow to any hope of recovery dished out in the shape of Family Court judgements. The most significant complaint made by these rural families was the devastation faced by having to sell farm and grazing property to satisfy Family Court orders. For the first time established family farms that had been passed down through families for generations, were being sold.

Senator Brownhill continued his push and by March 1991 had secured the numbers in the Senate to establish at least an inquiry in that chamber. He hoped to convince a reluctant Hawke Government to expand the inquiry to the House of Representatives to examine custody, property determinations, access and the cost of family law matters, all of which were causing difficulties within the community.

In March, after Brownhill and Leader of the Opposition in the Senate Robert Hill reached agreement with other Opposition parties, including the Democrats, the government agreed to a select joint committee. Brownhill noted the problems besetting family law. There had been 21 separate amendments to the original Act since 1980 when the last parliamentary inquiry was undertaken into a review of the original 1975 Act.

The Report of the Joint Select Committee on Certain Aspects of the Operation and Interpretation of the Family Law Act was tabled in January 1993. It agreed with Senator Brownhill's concerns in relation to family farms and advised that the Act be amended to distinguish farming properties from other matrimonial property so that the Family Court was able to consider whether the farming property was brought into the marriage by one or other party and the necessity for the retention of a farming property as an income producing unit for the future needs of the separating family.

While accepting most of the 120 recommendations of the Joint Select Committee the Family Law Council was opposed on the vexed farming property. The impact of family law in rural areas remained an issue. The Court's favouring of sole mother custody and its rewarding of mothers, often enough school teachers who had only been in the rural district for a short time, with up to 90 per cent of assets on separation mitigated against any cooperative parenting after divorce and destroyed farming operations built up over decades.

The Committee recommended there be no change to the terminology of the Act in relation to custody and access, until there was clear evidence that a change would be advantageous to the settlement of custody and access disputes. The Family Law Council did not agree and stated they would "continue to monitor this situation with a view to ensuring that changes in terminology are implemented at an appropriate time".

The Family Law Council's 1992 report Patterns of Parenting After Separation, attempted to soften the distinction between one parent, usually the mother, being seen as the "real" parent, while the other, usually the father, was seen as a visitor. The

terms "custody" and "access" were thought to suggest both a proprietorial and a gendered attitude to parenting. The report emphasised cooperative parenting after separation, resolution of disputes through mediation and the use of parenting plans rather than traditionally formulated court orders.

The issue of reforming family law terminology became a part of the debate over family law reform. A Shared Parenting Council submission observed that the influence of the Family Law Council within the Attorney-General's Department and the Hawke and Keating Labor Governments was unparalleled.

Ultimately, the Family Law Council successfully had Family Law terminology changed in the 1995 Family Law Reform Act despite the 1992 Joint Select Committee's opposition.

Having effectively ignored the parliamentary committee findings, the terms "custody" and "access" were replaced by the terms "residence" and "contact" in 1996. Almost universally, critics of the Family Court and simultaneously, academics, and even the Chief Justice realised the terminology change had been a resounding failure, and many family law reform organisations identified it as a "smoke and mirrors" trick to convince the hundreds of thousands of dissatisfied litigants, predominately, but not exclusively fathers, that their minimal contact award was much better for them, because it was now called contact instead of access.

In a submission the Shared Parenting Council suggested the imposition of the will of the Family Court and the Family Law Council over parliament's recommendations led to a hardened backlash by backbench members and senators to the 'Family Law Industry'. More specifically it increased the resistance to accepting advice ordinarily forwarded to Government by these institutions, which were established under the Family Law Act 1975.

An example of this distrust and parliament's avoidance of seeking advice from the Family Court of Australia and the Family Law Council could be seen by the Federal Parliament's June 2003 calling of an Inquiry into Child Custody, in which the entire inquiry was referred to the Family and Community Affairs Committee, chaired by Kay Hull, and bypassed all traditional aspects of the family law Industry and its administration.

The inquiry was established without any reference to the Attorney-General's department, the Family Court of Australia, the Family Law Council, or the Australian Institute for Family Studies. The disappointment for this complete sidelining of the gatekeepers to the Family Law industry was reflected by the Chair of the Family Law Council, Professor John Dewar, when in a television interview he was asked if had been consulted prior to the Prime Minister's announcement of the pending inquiry. Professor Dewar replied somewhat acidity, "No we have not".

Yet another attempt to fix the problems in the Family Court, lessen the community backlash and promote shared parenting after separation failed dramatically.

The raft of amendments in the Family Law Reform Act of 1995 emphasised that, except when contrary to a child's best interests, children should have the right to know and be

cared for by both their parents, regardless of whether their parents are married, separated, have never married or have never lived together; children had a right of contact, on a regular basis, with both their parents and with other people significant to their care, welfare and development; parents should share duties and responsibilities concerning the care, welfare and development of their children; and parents should agree about the future parenting of their children.

In the lead up to the passing of the legislation, in 1995 Yuri Joakimidis of the Joint Parenting Association and several other children's rights advocates met with Parliamentary Secretary Peter Duncan. At the meeting the Minister stated his government would introduce presumptive joint custody legislation.

The Family Court got it wrong was the message by Peter Duncan when he moved the Keating Labor government's 1995 amendments. His words made clear that, in the view of the Parliament the Family Court had handled child custody matters inappropriately. "The original intention of the late Senator Murphy was that the Family Law Act would create a rebuttable presumption of shared parenting, but over the years the Family Court has chosen to ignore that. It is hoped that these reforms will now call for much closer attention to this presumption and that the Family Court will give full and proper effect to the intention of Parliament."

Despite the Duncan speech however, the legislated changes omitted the above statutory instruction.

The changes, which came into affect in 1996, were associated with an increase in the number of men making applications to the court for a greater role in the lives of their children post-separation.

Many fathers attempted to gain more contact through contravention applications, which were at that time one of the few litigation remedies available to parents seeking to restore or increase their parenting time.

The number of contravention applications by fathers almost doubled in the year following the legislation's enactment. Large numbers of the applications were dismissed.

The 1995 legislation aimed at encouraging fathers into their children's lives post separation was ignored by the Family Court. Shared parenting orders are variously estimated to have subsequently halved, from 5 per cent to 2.5 per cent.

Warnings that there were serious problems with the court came early. In 1985, only a decade after the court's establishment, Australia's proud old weekly The Bulletin ran a story on its front cover: "The Devastation Of Divorce: Why Men Hurt The Most". It was written by Bettina Arndt, for many years virtually the only columnist in the Australian media to show any sympathy or understanding of men's issues.

In an era when media was transfixed by latter-day feminism and men were out of vogue, Arndt stood out for her courage to be different. Ridiculed by her liberal critics as an old fashioned right winger, she was a hero to separated men around the country.

On one occasion, almost 20 years after her Bulletin article, she gave me a lift out to western Sydney for a public meeting. When we alighted from the vehicle she was

surrounded by men saying how much they appreciated her work. Sad, she commented, that I have become a celebrity to these people just for showing a bit of sympathy.

Her Bulletin article began with a series of quotes: "Total devestation"; "like being hit on the head by a piece of four by two"; "falling apart"; "shattered"...

Arndt went on to disclose the details of research by Family Court counselor Peter Jordon showing the crippling effects of divorce and separation on men's emotional and physical health. It contained the first published Australian research focusing on male reaction to divorce and confirmed overseas evidence of men's vulnerability in the breakdown of a marriage.

In a world where men were characterised as controlled, unemotional decision makers the research held a number of surprises, including that only 19% of divorces were initiated by men, contradicting the image of unfaithful, feckless men. The report also showed that upon separation most men experienced emotional and physical symptoms normally associated with extreme grief, including crying and sleeplessness, and also had difficulty concentrating at work. They often suffered loneliness and social isolation. While more than half of the men surveyed attempted reconciliation after separation, only 7% of women bothered trying. Up to two years after divorce most men still felt they had been dumped, a third felt the divorce was a horrible mistake and a third still felt they would never get over the breakup.

Peter Jordan decided to conduct research into the effects of divorce on men after counseling his first 21 males involved in separation proceedings and discovering that 20 of them were bewildered, angry and often in tears.

"I was surprised because I expected the women to be

the ones who were distressed," he said. "Here were these men desperately wanting the marriage to continue, pleading, crying, offering anything, promising anything to persuade their wives to come back. I thought: 'What is going on here?' and went looking for research on male reactions to divorce and found very little had been done."

The research, involving 168 men between one and two years after separation, were contacted through the Brisbane registry of the Family Court. Most were in their late 20s or 30s. One respondent said: "I always considered myself a pretty independent guy. I have a staff of six under me at work and they know I'm boss. I never realised how much I miss my kids and my old house and even the arguments with my wife. I feel like I'm falling apart."

Another said: "The turmoil made me sick. The self-hate ruined my appetite and sleep. The ghost of the relationship lived on in the inanimate objects around me. I wanted to run away but felt trapped... I wanted to be alone but felt lonely. The same rotten unanswerable questions kept coming up over and over. Was I really that bad to live with? What was wrong with me or was it her?"

Arndt wrote that it was only when the marriage ended many men realised the extent and intensity of their attachments to the marriage, their wife and their children. The man was often confused to discover the depth of his feelings and searched blindly for an explanation.

Jordan's research found men experienced a range of problems in coping after separation, from difficulties at work, financial and domestic problems – house cleaning, washing, shopping and so on. And most of all, social isolation – difficulties in making new friends, developing and maintaining new relationships, finding people to talk with and feel close to.

There would be no policy response from the Australian government. Parliament paid no heed whatsoever to the mounting evidence of the family law system's consequences on fathers. The stories of father's treatment by the Family Court and concern over the impacts on children of losing the male parent from their daily lives were ignored.

In 1989 the Hawke Labor government launched the Child Support Agency with accompanying legislation, based on the motherhood argument that parents should support their children post separation and amidst exaggerated claims separated dads were not supporting their children after divorce. Overseeing the introduction was Social Security minister Brian Howe, a member of Labor's Socalist Left faction. It was introduced following Bob Hawke's much ridiculed claim that by 1990 no Australian child will be living in poverty. Father's representatives of the era were not consulted or involved in its creation. As DOTA had noted, we had all been paying for Bob Hawke's stupid comment ever since.

Many separated dads struggled with the large imposts imposed upon them, the bureaucratic inflexibility of the Agency and the overt hostility of its staff towards fathers. Fathers regularly complained truth appeared to be of no importance to child support officers, who regularly took the word of the mother over anything the father said, just as did the Family Court. Many disgruntled fathers who have dealt with the Child Support Agency have noted its intrusive and communistic nature. It was no accident. The first child support agencies were introduced by the Bolsheviks in Russia to prop up their fight against the nuclear family, which they saw as the major barrier against true socialist reform.

Blind Freddy should have been able to predict that imposing an onerous level of additional taxation on separated parent's way in excess of Australia's already heavy tax levels would cause nothing but trouble. And that placing the state dead bang in the middle of a separated couple would exacerbate conflict. But no one paid any heed to what fathers thought, or showed any concern for their welfare. They were invisible in the public debate.

The Child Support Agency has been one of the great failures of Australian public policy, its maladministration and inept procedures legion. Stories abound. One father received seven different letters in one week, all detailing different amounts owed.

Richard Cruickshank, a well regarded researcher and director of Property Investment Research, did a study in 2002 on the financial impacts of the child support scheme as part of a community project by his company.

Rather than saving the taxpayer money, Cruickshank estimated that the Child Support Agency had cost the Australian \$28 billion dollars since its inception in 1989 - that is \$2700 for every taxpayer - when welfare payments and lost tax income was calculated. He estimated that the direct cost of child support welfare payments was in the order of \$1.74 billion per year. This cost was spiraling. He estimated the scheme would cost the community a further \$40 billion over the next decade.

"There is no doubt the schemes promote welfare dependency from both the mother and the father," Cruickshank declared during a Dads On The Air interview. "The unemployment rate for paying fathers, at 39%, is more than six times the national average. Male payers make up 76% of the unemployed nationwide. The unemployment rate amongst recipients is also extremely high. Payers are more than 92% male, a figure that is rising, not falling, putting the lie to the claims that more men are gaining custody of their children. The CSA has refused to release the percentage of female payers who are in default of their payments, believed to be close to 100%. "

Cruickshank said the Agency, at that time a \$200 million plus bureaucracy with more than 2800 staff, had clearly failed in its objective. The average take per child is now \$26; less than the average take in the mid-1980s of \$35 per child.

He said on the latest figures available suggested that 41% of child support payers did not lodge a tax return. The percentage of males on welfare or extremely low incomes was 45%.

Cruickshank said for every dollar transferred between parents - \$1.4 billion for the financial year 2000/2001 - it costs \$2.80. He estimated the indirect cost of child support, including loss of tax revenue if payers were employed, was \$3.7 billion for the same year.

Cruickshank described co-operation from the CSA while conducting his research as "non-existent". He said it took months for the Australian Tax Office to provide the figure on the number of payers not lodging tax returns. Centrelink were also unhelpful. As a result of the lack of co-operation he filed a formal complaint to the Australian National Audit Office.

He said: "The Child Support Scheme was primarily introduced by women's groups and passed through parliament without any broad community support from fathers, or even many thousands of women who have since partnered these fathers into second families. It is therefore not seen by most men as providing necessary support for children, but more as never ending vindictive action by women against former partners.

"To add insult to injury the men have no choice as to the level of ever increasing mandatory child support and the continuous scrutiny into their financial affairs provided to the other party, who has no accountability for money or access. The Act provides for no privacy or any rights for payers, including mandatory disclosure of financial affairs, garnishees, seizure from bank accounts, seizure of tax returns, child support debts that endure bankruptcy, even restricted travel rights are just a few of the undemocratic examples of the tactics frequently used by the CSA.

"The review process is primarily utilised by payees. It is mandatory and judgmental, it is free to payees and based on one pubic servant's subjective evaluation of income earning capacity and assumed ownership of assets. The appeal process via the Family Court, already perceived as biased against men, is expensive and beyond the resources of most payers. It is common knowledge right across the nation that many thousands of men have been forced to resort to unemployment as their only defense against the excessive demands of the CSA. Yet the CSA adamantly denies the problem exists and at the same time refuses point blank to obtain independent research.

"The number one driver of unemployment is the Government's own Child Support Agency. The disincentives to work enshrined in the Child Support Scheme need urgent review."

DOTA continued to argue that the Agency was harming thousands of parents, destroying businesses and father's motivation to work.

There was little acknowledgement of the problems from parliament. As the Bulletin story demonstrated so well, knowledge of the harm being done to fathers, and consequently to their children and to the community at large by the Family Court of Australia through its religious adherence to sole-mother custody and mistreatment of fathers had been well known for decades.

Yet politicians and political parties ignored their pain. How different this country would be if politicians took the same oath as medical practitioners – "do no harm".

Back in 1985, 21 years before the Howard government chose to act on child custody, Arndt recorded that many men felt unfairly treated by the court system. "Men often resent decisions made about property and alimony, are frustrated at their inability to prevent an unwanted divorce and are particularly bitter about that most difficult of issue – care and responsibility for their children>"

Far from the image of distant and uncaring fathers painted by feminist lobby groups, Jordan found 98% claimed strong feelings for them and 91% did not want to be separated from them. Interestingly, Arndt quoted novelist Al Alvarez, who I had interviewed in London during the 1980s. He was a lovely writer, author of that classic of my youth, The Savage God, a study of suicide and Sylvia Plath. As he wrote so perceptively in his early 1980s book Life After Marriage: "To leave a husband or a wife whom one no longer loves may be sane and natural but there is no easy way to divorce a child and, until shared custody becomes the standard practice, no marriage counseling or social reform or enlightened legislation will cure the breaking of the heart."

The problems with family law and the widening gulf between the government and the court were increasingly evident as the twentieth century came to a close. A recent murder-suicide in Western Australia, involving a father and his children following a custody case had provoked criticism of Family Court delays.

A war of words over legal aid funding erupted between the then Attorney-General Daryl Williams and Chief Justice Nicholson. "I just don't feel he has a great understanding of family law," said Nicholson.

Williams countered he hoped they were progressing to a stage where there was a smaller role for courts, judges and litigation.

There were reports that dismantling the Family Court was one option under serious consideration by the government .

The argument between Nicholson and Williams reached a peak when the pair "took their battle" to the national family law conference in Tasmania that October, where genteel fur was said to have flied between the pair, allegedly "appalling" international visitors.

Nicholson suggested Williams had made the debate personal. Williams responded in kind by rejecting Nicholson's allegations of government cuts.

One conference guest recorded: "I was in the audience in Hobart and I was sort of ducking and weaving for the skin and bone flying - it was all very genteel but in the context of the Chief Justice of the Family Court and the Attorney-General of the Commonwealth, it was pretty heavy stuff in terms of vitriol."

According to guests, the mood of the 600 invitees was substantially behind Nicholson.

Central to the debate were ideology and economics. Nicholson wanted to expand the Family Court's role while Williams did not support its social functions.

"The core function of a court is to hear cases, not to run a social service," Williams said.

Defenders accused the Attorney-General of removing control of the counseling service from the Family Court "and once that happens it won't be too far before the whole thing is dismantled." While critics saw the lack of independence and objectivity of the courts counselors as a major issue and the pro-mother anti-father bias of their reports well established, Nicholson did not. For any father who had been the subject of one of these reports and found themselves losing contact with their children on the recommendations of a Family Court counselor, this was a significant dispute.

Throughout the late 1990s the Court remained in the news.

In 1998 then legal affairs reporter for The Australian Janet Fife-Yeomans reported that the Family Court was to investigate whether mothers or fathers were more likely to win custody of their children as its Chief Justice, Alastair Nicholson, defended his court against unprecedented claims of bias from men.

Justice Nicholson rejected claims that men were being "taken to the cleaners" in decisions by the court.

He said he was concerned that there was a perception of bias, but when the court produced figures to counter that perception "some people don't want to believe them".

Fife-Yeomans reported that the court, which was then dealing with 24,930 custody applications a year compared with 9286 in 1977, had come under attack from large numbers of men and men's groups lining up as candidates in the federal election with the Family Court as their target.

One candidate in John Howard's seat of Bennelong called himself Prime Minister John Piss The Family Court and Legal Aid.

Another candidate faced contempt proceedings in the Family Court in Melbourne after using a loud hailer and handing out allegedly offensive leaflets outside court.

"One of the problems about it is that making a lot of noise often gives people the impression there is a problem where there isn't," Justice Nicholson said.

"I reject the claim that people are biased against men in this court. It is a fairly extraordinary proposition when you look at the gender make-up of the court where two-thirds of the judges are men. Why a male-dominated judiciary would either collectively or individually set off on a campaign of bias against men is hard to understand."

In the fight over the counselor service, the government was to get support from an unusual source, a Family Court judge. Justice Alwynne Rowlands warned that having an in-house counseling service put the independence of the court at risk and went beyond the primary role of the court to hear and decide cases.

"Given its umpiring role, should a court employ and control these social science experts?" he asked in the NSW Law Society Journal. "And does democracy, the division of powers, really allow in-house witnesses?

"After interviewing family members, court counselors often give evidence in cases that involve children. A disgruntled party might believe judges give extra weight to these witnesses because they are court officers."

Removing the court's "internationally acclaimed" in-house counseling would be "disastrous" Chief Justice Nicholson claimed, dismissing Rowlands' views as unrepresentative of the majority of judges.

"Rowlands' statement that counseling and mediation should be conducted outside the court system reflects an outmoded view of modern courts," he said. "Most of our main courts now have mediation services; it is difficult to see why only the Family Court should be excluded.

"His reported views would indicate resistance to best practice developments and an inability to understand the role of a continually evolving counseling and mediation service that puts a premium on quick, cheap, user-friendly solutions to family disputes."

Justice Rowlands also backed the conservative Liberal coalition government on other issues, expressing support for a new federal magistracy in family law, kept separate from the Family Court, so magistrates did not "ape" the more formal, lengthy and costly ways of judges on superior courts.

"Prompt and affordable justice is the best kind," he said.

Control of the proposed magistracy had developed into a major source of tension between Justice Nicholson and then Attorney-General Daryl Williams.

Rowlands' article was evidence that Family Court judges were as divided about the future of the court as was the community and the industry. Nicholson had a vision for a "one-stop shop" for family services while the Government's view was that much of the non-judicial work should be done outside the court.

Rather than increasing the Family Court's power, influence and funding, the Attorney-General wanted the Family Court pared back by diverting less complex and interim cases to a new cheaper federal Magistracy, independent of the Family and Federal courts.

The proposed Federal Magistrates Court would be more flexible and help remove cases from the "panoply" of the Family Court's set-up, the AG said. In essence it was the government's way of circumventing the Family Court's manifest failures.

Nicholson said he first proposed a magistracy in 1994 and "common sense" meant it should come under the Family Court's umbrella.

"To have to negotiate with some outside body in relation to that would make something of an administrative nightmare," he said.

In late 1999 Daryl Williams stepped up his feud with Nicholson over the future of the court by taking a swipe in parliament at him and other judges over extensive delays. It could take months and even years to hear a case.

Williams said the problem deserved "better attention than it's been getting from some of those involved in the system". "It now takes, for an average children's matter - and the issues concerned there are simply what is the residence of the child, which parent, and what contact the other parent had - it takes an average 3.3 days for that in the final hearing before a judge," Williams said. "If you can knock one day off that you'd have 50 per cent more judge-time available. I think the legal practitioners and the judges who are dealing with those cases need to have a look at that."

At this time the hostility between the Howard government and the Family Court was running on several different fronts: levels of legal aid funding, in-house counselors, extensive delays, the lack of new judges and sharpest of all, the shape and function of a proposed new Federal Magistrates Court.

In a feature published by The Australian, Chief Justice Nicholson wrote: that the differences he had with the Attorney-General about the Government's proposal for a federal magistracy have been misconstrued.

"In fact, the idea emanated in large part from the Family Court. For years I have been urging successive attorneys-general to accept there is a need in the family law area for a method of summarily resolving certain types of disputes."

He argued that "because of procrastination by the Government and increasing delays in trials, the judges of the court have endorsed a proposal to delegate the power to make interim parenting orders to a specially selected group of experienced family lawyers to be employed by the court. Because of constitutional difficulties, judges are unable to delegate the power to make final orders in cases that could otherwise be determined summarily.

"My proposal to the Government, which was rejected, was that these people should be appointed as magistrates and so have the power to make final orders. This could have been achieved within the court's existing budget or at minimal extra cost.

"Instead, the Attorney-General intends to set up a separate magistrates' court, with all the bureaucratic panoply that this involves, presumably at considerable additional cost. One of the problems about this approach is that family law cases are not readily divisible between different courts because the complexity of a case is often not initially apparent. It is difficult to see how a new Federal Court exercising jurisdiction under the Family Law Act, dealing with the same families, could as efficiently case manage disputes as does the Family Court, with its established procedures, centralised computer systems and other mechanisms to track matters filed all around the nation.

"Opportunities for duplication of activities, difficulties in transferring orders between the two courts, misplaced files and other mishaps multiply with the addition of another court. It is difficult to see what advantages there could be for families in adding another forum."

Nicholson compared Australia's Family Court with its 56 judges to New Zealand, where there were more than 30 for a population less than a quarter of Australia's. "In New Zealand, you can get a final hearing of a children's matter in four months," he said.

In the absence of a Magistracy, Nicholson wanted the immediate appointment of nine extra judges. The Chief Justice claimed government cuts meant that in 35 per cent of contested cases, at least one party now had no lawyer – thereby prolonging cases and compounding delays. Williams denied there had been any cuts. The policy of Legal Aid to only fund one side of a dispute meant the struggle over self representation and the cost of lawyers would continue to bedevil fathers.

Nicholson said he had no regrets his spat with the government had spilled into the public arena. "I feel it's my duty when I'm faced with a situation where the court is not being given proper support by government, to draw attention to that fact," he said. He claimed his relationship with Williams was "perfectly civil" and he remained "hopeful" their differences could be resolved. "We can disagree in public and negotiate and agree in private," he said.

On April Fool's day 1999, the same day Justice Rowland's countervailing views on inhouse counselors were published, The Australian ran a lengthy editorial about the competing visions for the Family Court over the future of a "sometimes troubled institution".

"Few would disagree that the court has its problems - delays, complaints of inefficiency, and doubts about public confidence. But too often the argument about the court has been heated, personal and uninformative."

Nicholson dreamt of a "one-stop shop" for a wide range of family services, including the in-house counseling of which he was proud. There was little wrong with the court that more judges and Legal Aid funds would not put right.

The contrary view, articulated by Attorney-General Daryl Williams, was that judges should be restricted to the core task of hearing and deciding those cases that must go to trial. A new, cheaper and more flexible magistracy would do much of the simpler work now preoccupying the judges. Those magistrates would be insulated from the Family Court culture.

The paper concluded that by implication the government's reform proposals suggested the Family Court had failed to fulfill its promise to be a user-friendly alternative to the adversarial system and instead had been "overtaken by judicial formality and lackluster administration."

Later in the same month the Family Court announced a pre-emptive strike to halt the decline in its public standing. Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson launched a reform plan for the court, Future Directions, reflecting "first-hand feedback" from meetings between court personnel and 100 litigants, family lawyers and welfare groups. He said the Family Court would bring a more human touch to its work after a round of face-to-face encounters between judges and people involved in family disputes.

He said litigants wanted the court to treat them "as individuals, not units to be processed in what some described as a sausage machine-like manner".

Criticism that emerged from the focus groups was different from the "second-hand" feedback of men's groups and the media. Cost, delay and anti-male bias did not figure as primary concerns, Nicholson claimed. Men's groups were not represented in the encounter groups but litigants were not screened, apart from security vetting. Those who used the court were asked to nominate positive and negative aspects.

"After all, the court is there for them," Justice Nicholson wrote in an article headed "A People's Court for Families". "In a manner unprecedented in Australian courts, judges have sat down in groups with past litigants, who have had the opportunity to tell them candidly what they think of our services and how to improve them. I suggest such initiatives are hardly indicative of a court that has been overtaken by judicial formality and lackluster administration. Rather, it is evidence of a progressive court that puts children and families first."

One judge, Sally Brown, said: "It was a challenging experience to listen to litigants' perceptions of the court process, lawyers and judges and to do so in silence."

Journalist with The Australian Bernard Lane reported the clearest message was litigants wanted respectful, personal service, not a timetable dictated by the convenience of judges and lawyers.

Nicholson said: "I'm still reasonably optimistic we can revamp our activities in a way that will make a difference."

He ordered changes to the court's case management system, allegedly to make it more user-friendly.

He said better use of computers would give litigants improved access to information and free up counter staff for more individualised service. Whether any of these announced reforms made the slightest shred of difference in practice is a most point.

Not exactly helping the reputation of fathers, In May of 1999 a man was convicted for murdering his wife outside the Family Court in Melbourne. During a lunchtime adjournment of a 1997 hearing, Robert Clive Parsons stabbed his wife, Angela Parsons, 48 times in front of stunned witnesses. As he killed her, he cried out: "It's over, bitch, it's over." The Supreme Court heard Parsons had buried \$400,000 in his backyard to prevent his wife gaining access to his money. She had cut off his access to the couple's children after Parsons refused to increase maintenance payments.

Despite the graphic nature of Angela Parsons's death, a men's group -Parents Without Rights - called for the murder conviction to be reduced to manslaughter. Their spokesman claimed Parsons was "provoked" and the Family Court was "biased against men". The court "allowed women to cry wolf . . . men are being pushed to their limits, it's like a rat caught in a corner" There was ample documentation to suggest that Angela Parsons had made her former husband's life difficult over a protracted period time. But there could be no excuse.

Also In 1999 the Australian Family Law Reform Commission, the government's chief legal adviser, handed down a draft report which found the Family Court to be a "beleaguered and defensive institution" with a history of failed reform and hostility to constructive criticism. The Commission urged an external review of the court, claiming lawyers who used the court had little confidence in its ability for internal reform.

The detailed report, conducted as part of an over arching review of the federal court system, contained many criticisms of the Court's operations. Solicitors interviewed agreed that demonstrating a risk of "serious violence" at an interim hearing was "dependent on your affidavit drafting ability". As the allegations were not tested the assessment of whether contact posed a risk to the child would often hinge on the nature, and the details, of the allegations raised in the resident parent's affidavit material.

One judge . . . indicated his dissatisfaction with these hearings by saying, `What we do in interim matters is highly artificial. We present it as a judicial exercise but it's more artful dodging'.

Amongst other observations, the Law Council noted `the perception of over servicing' derived from `the number of interlocutory processes and the degree of case management'. The Council noted the dilemma that once proceedings were filed, apart from the streaming into the direct track, standard track and complex track, there was no ongoing analysis of the nature of the proceedings. All cases were managed as if they would proceed to a hearing rather than as is the current position ninety five percent of matters settled.

"Now the Court must be involved at every stage and this has made the process less flexible. It seems the matters are fitted to the Court and not the Court to the matters."

Another solicitor observed: "Procedures are very bureaucratic. Even in urgent cases, to get an ex parte order you have to get past the filing clerk and the duty registrar, who sits at 2 pm. To get through the screening process I write on the form `I insist on seeing a judge."

Yet another solicitor observed that requiring a party to go to an information session, first directions hearing, conciliation conferences for financial matters, counseling for children's matters, a pre-hearing conference and so on caused enormous inconvenience and cost.

The Commission observed: Interim or procedural hearings are held to resolve matters arising during the case. Compliance conferences are held shortly before a hearing where one or both parties has not complied with directions. Comments made to the Commission indicated that some of these events are ineffective at narrowing or resolving issues."

"Simple solutions are ignored by the court," observed one solicitor. "For example, why isn't an information session video available for parties to watch? Most parties take a day off work to attend court. Most are now saying that they will lose their jobs if they take more time off."

The Commission noted a major issue raised by many practitioners and parties was the lack of continuity in the management of cases. Parties encountered a number of different Court officers presiding at successive appearances. Litigants and lawyers frequently spoke of their frustration that the Court provided repeated opportunities for all other processes, except the one they wanted -- determination by a judge.

The Commission considered "that many of the problems relating to case management in the Family Court arise from the lack of consistent overview of cases, and the related lack of attention to the particular needs and circumstances of the case... A minority of cases experience repeat case events and take significant time to be resolved. Because there is no continuity in the counselor or registrar assigned to a particular case, some parties are required to explain their circumstances a number of times to different court officers."

One litigant observed: "We have had the same judge a couple of times, but most of the time we have a different judge or magistrate, or registrar . . . If I had a judge who knew the history and knew what the girls had been through for the last three years and what I had been through for the last three years and all the rest of it, maybe it would have been easier for me ...to get final orders."

Another complaint was that the person on the bench did not read the material which has been presented in the case. "This fragmentation rankles many litigants," a solicitor observed. "Surely a person can expect a matter to proceed and all evidence be heard with continuity, which does not currently occur."

Practitioners and parties complained the court did not effectively or consistently enforce compliance with its own complex rules and directions. One litigant complained: "I was advised by my lawyer that in order to prevent a paper war only three affidavits were allowed. However, each time we had a scheduled hearing I would be given new affidavits, minutes prior to the hearing, necessitating a new hearing and contributing to escalating legal costs, for both parties. To date my legal bills have amounted to \$29,000. The value of the property settlement was \$120,000, and the amount of my former wife's legal bills must be at least \$30,000 . . . Where are the interests and welfare of the children in such a waste of money?"

The difficulties experienced by unrepresented parties was also an issue. One practitioner commented: "People don't realise they will get virtually no assistance from the Court with solving their problem. People need advice that is addressed to their specific situation."

One litigant said: "I found it very difficult in even finding out which forms to obtain, which direction to follow and what was expected from me. This was from counter staff or duty solicitor. When conducting my own case, the judge was not the slightest bit interested in my situation."

A person subpoenaed in Family Court litigation, in the following extract from a radio broadcast, said: "The lawyer, and then the barrister, admitted they had seen no documents, they had followed no line of research, so the judge said, 'Well you don't expect me to do your homework for you?' That day cost me \$5,000 for ten minutes in court."

Another litigant reported: "We went back and we arrived at 10 o'clock and the judge said `Come back at half past twelve'. We went back at half past twelve and one of the plaintiffs lobbed some more ad hoc affidavits onto his Bench. He said `I'll have to read these. Come back at 2 o'clock'. We got back at 2 o'clock, and we were on edge on our side. We were taken at half past three, and he said, `Oh, I'll have to read these. I haven't had time, I have had other matters to attend to. Come back in a fortnight'. That's cost me another \$5,000."

The Family Court never took criticism well and condemned the research, conclusions and reform proposals in the Australian Law Reform Commission paper, styling them as 'facile, insensitive, ill thought out, misguided, poorly researched and impractical',

`largely based ... on the remarks of persons who have no expertise in case management' and as `failing to appreciate the Court's true workload and the constraints on resources available to it'.

Chief Justice Alistair Nicholson characterised the Commission as `wandering the countryside talking to Uncle Tom Cobley' instead of `the people in charge of case management in the court', and stated `the contradictions, and at times facile observations, contained in the paper give little credit to the challenges that face separating families and those in the Court that support them'.

Nicholson claimed the ALRC had been ``snowed" by self-interested lawyers, had relied on outdated complaints and misinterpreted data, and had not given enough weight to the special nature of the Court's work, its achievements and reforms.

His press release on the subject was also critical of "selective and gratuitous report of comment of anonymous persons cloaked in the guise of 'research'."

"It is extremely disappointing that the Commission has chosen to include such gratuitous, ill-informed and wrong comments about a court whose task is perhaps the most sensitive and difficult in the country."

The Attorney-General on the other hand seized on the report as vindicating his proposal for family law magistrates to work independently of the Family Court.

Mr Williams said the finding that Family Court procedures were not tailored to a range of cases was ``particularly significant, given the Government's determination that the new separate federal magistrates service should be flexible and innovative".

Nicholson, once again in spirited defence of his court, claimed the proposal for a separate magistracy, with virtually the same jurisdiction as the court, was ``a bit like saying we don't like the Supreme Court so we'll open another Supreme Court. It's a deliberate attempt to downgrade the importance of family law."

By the end of 1999 the Federal Magistrate's Court had been established. Its jurisdiction covered the dissolution of marriage, property disputes, parenting orders and the residence of children.

Attorney-General Daryl Williams was to make it clear he wanted the Magistrate's Court to take up most of the running on family law. He described the Family Court as inflexible, over-formalised, fragmented, uncoordinated, unplanned and gave insufficient attention to the needs of children.

The following year the Family Law Amendment Bill 2000 was passed. The amendments sought to remedy one of the most contentious areas of family law: the enforcement of parenting orders. They aimed to do this via a three-stage process, in which the Court informed parents of their obligations under a parenting order and advised them of the services available to assist them, should they encounter any difficulties. If the order was not complied with, parents could be directed by the Court to attend a relationship program designed to resolve parental conflict. Should non-compliance continue, the Court would be able to impose a variety of sanctions, including imprisonment.

Australia was not the only country struggling with its family law system. There was often scathing media attention focused on family courts around the world throughout 2000,

the year Dads On The Air was born. The Observer newspaper in London, for example, conducted a three month expose into the British Family Court, concluding that custody evaluation procedures were utterly flawed. They found "a shocking culture producing routine misery on a vast scale for both children and parents". The paper continued: "We have found wide ranging inadequacies in the legal system, ill-trained professionals, badly prepared judges and decision making which is often a lottery."

The series opened with a quote from a father: "It makes more sense to forget I ever had a child."

Journalist Dina Rabinovitch, who died in 2007 of breast cancer at the age of 45, wrote that family law was a world of uninformed decision-making, impatient judges and rigid court orders. "In family law, judges have the widest discretion and are least restrained by precedent. The thinking is that there can only be loose guidelines within family law, no strict rules, to allow for the 'uniqueness' of each family. But this results in a 'complete lottery', says one barrister specialising in family law. 'With family cases - and this is different from any other area of law - the judge is given this excuse to be inconsistent, quite maverick in approach, or even outrageous."

Rabinovitch said she began taking an interest in family law following her own and friends' divorces, witnessing the reckless decisions being taken about families' lives. "At first, I couldn't believe what I was seeing. Some of the characters within family courts seem to come straight from the pages of Charles Dickens.

"Those going through the system are often rendered passive by it. They can see the problems but don't want their whole lives affected, so they choose to 'get on with things' rather than fight back. Or worse, they do fight back, and become manic, angered by the intricate injustices which, in turn, might result in them being seen as the problem.

"So much of what is going on in the family courts is secret. If family court hearings were open, bad practice could be exposed much earlier. We would also all have at least the chance of a clearer idea of what constitutes family law and what fashions are being followed at any time.

"In the early 1990s the Lord Chancellor's Department carried out a consultation about whether family justice should come out from behind closed doors, but the outcome itself was never published - a muffling of the secrecy inquiry worthy of a Blackadder script. But while the political shenanigans continue, parents - and children - carry on suffering."

In September of 2000 Dads On The Air began broadcasting. We were in place to document the latest attempts to reform the Family Court in Australia.

They weren't long in coming.

In July 2001 the Family Law Pathways Advisory Group handed up its report Out Of The Maze: Pathways to the future for families experiencing separation. The Group, originally formed in May of the previous year, was one of the Howard government's first fumbling attempts to reform family law. It was the subject of much speculation and at times optimism from reformers. DOTA criticised the makeup of the Group and the appointment of a senior bureaucrat, Des Semple, former head of the strife torn NSW Department of Community Services, as inappropriate in a push for genuine reform.

The Liberal government's move to consult "key stakeholders" in the form of the Family Pathways Advisory Group did not have a single father's group on it despite ample representation from heftily funded feminist advocacy groups, academics and institutional heavyweights. The makeup of the group ensured that no real action, change or reform would result. Members included Chief Executive Officer of the Family Court Richard Foster, General Manager

Of Child Support Agency Catherine Argall, Justice Linda Dessau of the Family Court of Australia, Professor John Dewar of Griffith University, Scott Mitchell, a NSW Local Court Magistrate dealing with family matters, Secretary of the Women's Action Alliance Pauline Smit and Winsome Matthews, Project Development Officer for Indigenous Women's Unit of the Women's Legal Resource Centre. Not one of these people represented the interests of fathers and not one had expressed any genuine desire to reform of Australia's family law system.

John Dewar's faculty had just received \$500,000 in funding and he was on record suggesting the broad push to shared parenting was detrimental to women's interests.

President of Lone Father's Barry Williams said the failure to include fathers on the Family Pathways group was blatant discrimination. "If this government was listening to the people who are hurting they would abolish the Family Court," he said. "It hasn't changed in a quarter of a century, it seems to be a protected species. It has to be replaced. The court is bringing the entire legal profession into disrepute. We get 22,000 calls a year. People are committing suicide as a result of court decisions."

Semple noted in his letter of transmittal that the inquiry canvassed "complex and diverse issues relating both to the family law system in all its parts and the experiences of families dealing with separation." Its activities had included inviting submissions from the public, consultations with consumers and service providers in every State and Territory, targeted consultations with interest groups, a literature review and commissioned research.

While still in its early days, DOTA was no great fan of the multi-million dollar Out Of The Maze report. Perhaps the lack of specificity in its Terms of Reference was part of the problem: "Vision: An integrated family law system that is flexible and builds individual and community capacity to achieve the best possible outcomes for families."

The bureaucratic nature of the language was also a problem, such as the purpose of the inquiry being to "provides pathways that are effective and appropriate". The Terms of Reference suggested the group should "consult appropriately", examine existing barriers to accessing services, including cultural and linguistic barriers, customer service issues and "best practice".

It was all a very long way from the raw anger existing in the community and DOTA editorialised it was an attempt to dilute or divert public outrage.

Out Of The Maze began: "It is always difficult when families split up." Oh you don't say.

The Executive Summary noted community concerns over the family law system taking too long, as well as being too hard and too expensive.

"The Advisory Group envisages an integrated family law system in which family members experiencing separation can easily and quickly identify and access help when needed. The system's primary focus would be to support family decision making and family nurturing. Such a system would be responsive and coordinated. It would provide appropriate assistance to family members as early as possible. It would treat all comers fairly. All those in the system would, above all, promote the interests of children and attempt to meet the needs of children."

The Advisory Group considered that a family law system should be one that acknowledged the value of family relationships and sought to provide families with a range of support services and information at various points in the family life cycle and valued and supported the ongoing capacity in families, whether intact or separated, to provide nurturing parenting to their children.

The Group recommended "that the family law system, in whole and in all its parts, be designed to maximise the potential for families to function cooperatively in the interests of children after separation. In doing so, it would ensure fair and equitable treatment for all, with particular attention to the ongoing parenting roles and support

needs of both parents. Wherever possible, family decision making would be encouraged, with parents making their own decisions about their complementary roles, with appropriate support from the family law system."

The Advisory Group heard that "a number of people are frustrated and discontented about how the family law system currently operates. Men, in particular, feel angry and frustrated, and believe that the system is biased against them."

It recommended helping all family members quickly, fairly, appropriately and without bias.

The government's response was also bureaucratic. It assured anyone who could be bothered paying attention that the government already provided a number of services to separating families, including Centrelink, the Child Support Agency, Legal Aid Commissions and the Family Court. None of these organisations served the needs of fathers.

In launching the Out Of The Maze report Attorney-General Daryl Williams and Minister for Family and Community Services Senator Amanda Vanstone said it demonstrated that the effects of family separation were far-reaching, costly and, when families experienced a lot of conflict, children could suffer long term effects.

The Attorney-General said of key concern to the Howard Government was the finding that lack of coordination in the system made things worse for family members already struggling to manage emotionally and financially difficult issues.

Family members often found themselves on a slippery slope, with disputes about issues such as parenting arrangements and child support getting out of hand. They faced costs they could not afford, because they did not know their choices or understand the consequences of advice given to them.

"It is also clear from the report that a number of people feel they are treated with disdain, disrespect or bias as they attempt to sort out their separation issues," Wiliams said.

The report also recommended Increasing access to services for men to help them effectively co-parent their children after separation.

In a supportive release the Joint Parenting Association of Australia said the report acknowledged the destruction caused by the current system of family breakdown administration.

Association Secretary Dr Shane Kelly said: "While extra family and support services, especially for men and fathers, are long overdue, unless these initiatives are coupled with a statutory regime of a rebuttable presumption in favour of joint residence orders, it will be a cruel hoax perpetrated upon the children of divorce and their parents.

"The sole custody model has been shown to place children at an unacceptable risk of losing important familial relationships. The latest research evidence shows that children raised in fatherless homes are significantly more likely than average to have problems in school, run away from home, become delinquent, develop mental illness and drug dependency, commit suicide and experience other serious problems.

"In marked contrast the American Psychological Association has reported that following parental separation children in joint residence fare better in all areas of child well being. United States surveys also indicate that joint parenting laws have had the effect of lowering the divorce rate by up to a factor of 8, lowering litigation and increasing child support compliance to around 95%."

The Joint Parenting Association encouraged the Government to provide an early response which included "legislative change to enshrine in law a child's fundamental human right to an equal relationship with both their parents following separation or divorce."

The Family Law Pathways Advisory Group's Out Of The Maze report sank with barely a trace. Two years later the Howard government would embark on yet another attempt to reform family law. Perhaps having learnt its lesion, this time around it ignored the family law industry and the so-called experts to whom it had previously turned.

CHAPTER THREE: THE FIRST DAYS

After the wave of largely supportive media following the Prime Minister's announcement of an inquiry into joint custody, child support and other matters media attention began to wane. But still in August 2003 there was a steady spattering of both positive and negative perspectives in a number of major newspapers, on radio and on television.

The most prominent opponents of a rebuttable notion of joint custody were Chief Justice of the Family Court Alastair Nicholson, Elspeth McInnes of the National Council of Single Mothers and Pru Goward, Sex Discrimination Commissioner. All paid for by the taxpayer.

Ms Goward played a spoiler role throughout the inquiry, culminating in comments at the October Hearing at the small town of Wyong on the NSW Central Coast that fathers could hardly expected joint custody when they needed an auto-cue in order to remember the names of their own children.

Goward was heavily criticised from within and without the fatherhood movement for abuse of her office. It made no difference to her conduct.

The Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission of which she was such a well known member put in a submission to the inquiry arguing against joint custody, adopting almost identical positions to the women's groups and claiming that the Child Support formula was "fair". The ridiculous claim was made at a time of heightened condemnation of the scheme.

Pru Goward, herself a single mother who the media had always found easy to report, was fresh from a failed bid to convince the government to implement a paid maternity leave scheme; running a tax payer funded campaign which in the end damaged the very government from which they sought support. Once close to the Prime Minister, the relationship between Howard and Goward was rumoured to have cooled.

From the beginning Goward was hostile to the joint custody inquiry, making numerous put-down remarks about fathers.

In July 2003 said: "Equal parenting is not the 16 minutes of child play a day that is the average amount of time men spend with their children." By the time of divorce "one parent by then has invested so much more time and energy in the relationship with the children".

On another occasion, during a speech at a women's employment conference, Goward complained about the "unattractive face" of the men's movement focusing on rights rather than responsibilities. "There are men working very long hours, apparently by choice, not accessing family-friendly provisions, but then concerned that their sons have no role models.

"In theory there is nothing stopping men from accessing part-time working arrangements or flexible work hours. In reality, we do not live in a society which tolerates or venerates men who do part-time work or leave work early to pick up a sick child from school."

One letter writer, Colin Smith in The Daily Telegraph, responded: "The reason most men have to work long hours is because their wives or partners do not wish to do so. They would much rather be home with the children and not have to travel, put in long hours and put up with the daily pressures of work. A survey a few years ago indicated that more than 60 per cent of women did not even wish to work part time if they had a choice. Why? Because they would rather be home, thanks very much."

But Goward warned of a possible new gender war unless men shared more of the burden of child rearing, and more of the career sacrifices needed to raise a family.

"Shared caring has to start before the divorce," she said. "It could drive exactly the change that the women's movement wants if it's done wisely. +Equality between men and women has hit a brick wall, and only the engagement of men in the struggle for work and family balance will move equality closer."

Goward said the parliamentary inquiry into joint custody should explore the question of whether "men should have to put in equal parenting time while the marriage is intact" if they wanted to be more involved after separation. She said the men's movement wanted 50/50 care arrangements post divorce, "without any suggestion that men will

have to put in equal parenting time while the marriage is intact, or that they will need to rearrange their lives if they want to be more involved after separation."

A Herald letter writer, Colin Anderson, wrote in response: "A child who thrives on the presumption that her father is an equal part of her life before marriage breakdown, whatever the work-family balance, is entitled to the same presumption after marriage breakdown."

But it was the "auto-cue" comments that provoked the most affront.

Due to its proximity to Sydney, Goward travelled up to Wyong to present her evidence. She said believed introducing a presumption that child-sharing arrangements should be 50-50 would "make no difference at all" to the outcome of custody disputes, because "in the end a guy who is working 60 hours a week does not want the kids. He just can't. He sees his primary responsibility as earning money. You will not be able to impose this..."

Goward said it was unrealistic to expect a father to step into an equal custody arrangement when he might not have been fulfilling such a role prior to separation. "You can't expect a person to step into that role when the child's ten, having never seen them before, needing an autocue to remember their name."

Sydney's leading talkback station 2GB reported a "meltdown" over her comments.

On The Daily Telegraph's website feedback section one man labeling himself "Alan in July" asked: "How many fathers have to go to court just to see their kids? Most men work hard and long hours. This is for the family."

Another, Brett Kessner, described Goward as a "hypocrite" and said "we live in a society that does not value fatherhood". Another, Wayne Smith, wrote: "Pru Goward has not walked in my shoes, I have three children 2x11yrs 1x10yrs and have paid maintenance for many years... It's about time that men had equal rights... So Pru Goward, there's only one attitude that needs changing, yours."

One woman writing in support of joint custody said just because society expected men to be the breadwinner didn't mean they should be punished by the courts.

Another correspondent Shane said he thought it amazing the Sex Discrimination Commissioner continually grouped all men into a single stereotype and offers her sagely advice. "Could you imagine what she would say if any man grouped all women into a single stereotype, then proceeded to explain why they are ALL not up to the standard of the other?"

Luc van Uffelen wrote: "Prior to divorce as a father whilst being on shift work I contributed enormously to the children's welfare. After divorce the Family Law Court deems that I now can see the children every weekend. I have lost that role as a parent by not being there for them. Divorced fathers are certainly being DISCRIMINATED against. The upcoming changes being reviewed in Parliament hopefully will give equality back to fathers that so rightly deserve it."

But at that Wyong hearing, as at many others, there were moving tales of Family Court disasters to provide some counter-balance to the tax-payer funded mandarins.

One non-custodial woman told the five hour hearing she had spent \$230,000 in legal fees and had still not been able to gain reasonable access to her children.

The committee and other politicians were quick to seize on the evidence of non-custodial mothers, whose issues were in many ways identical to non-custodial fathers. Local Federal member Ken Ticehurst said: "It proves the case that this is not just an issue for fathers, which is the public perception at the moment."

But despite the mounting body of evidence in favour of change, it was once again the Sex Discrimination Commissioner who got all the mainstream media coverage following the Wyong stop.

In a letter to the Sydney Morning Herald Ian Tuit wrote that Goward's office should be renamed the Sexist Discrimination Commissioner.

"At a time when people in Australia are working harder and longer than at any other time in our history, it is a very poor effort by the Commissioner not to support and encourage fathers trying to balance work and family commitments. The Commissioner's remark that working fathers 'need an autocue to remember their children's name' is ludicrous and sexist beyond belief.

"Her statement that separated fathers 'don't want the kids' is patronising and ignores recent research by the Australian Institute of Family Studies, which shows that 74% of non-resident fathers would like to have more contact with their children and 41% of resident mothers reported that they would also like to see more contact between fathers and their children.

"How can anyone make these kinds of statements and remain Sex Discrimination Commissioner?"

The Shared Parenting Council of Australia put out a press release saying:

"The evidence given by Ms Goward, in reference to the true wishes of men and fathers in Australia, is unsupported by any research and describes the complete opposite position of those fathers who put submissions forward to the current inquiry. Every father's group, church group and grandparent organisations have clearly and unequivocally said that they want to share the care of their children - regardless of the implications to future work patterns.

"Many family law 'experts' and feminist contributors to the current custody inquiry have universally opposed the introduction of shared parenting in family law matters, with spurious and weak arguments against its operation, yet when confronted with the appalling outcomes of the current system, they have failed to provide any guidance or solutions that will alleviate the waste, despair and destruction caused by the Family Court's handling of child custody matters in family breakdown situations."

The public hearing phase of the inquiry had begun on the 28th August 2003 in the Centenary Hall in Greater City of Geelong, an industrial but often scenic centre west of Melbourne. The hearings ran for three hours from 8.30 am. Later that same day the committee moved on to Melbourne.

At first no one knew what to expect. Fathers groups remained sceptical from long experience.

The guest list for the first public hearing did not bode well for fathers and family law reformers, kicking off with the Women's Information and Referral Exchange, followed by

Family Law Working Party, Federation of Community Legal Centres and the Domestic Violence and Incest Resource Centre Inc and No To Violence, Male Family Violence Prevention Association.

DOTA commented that it was hard to believe that the committee could not find a single fathers group or family law reform advocate in the whole of Geelong.

This disparity however was balanced to some fair degree by previously selected witnesses and community witnesses chosen on the day. In the end, as the inquiry progressed, there was a significant body of evidence to support change.

The National Council for Single Mothers and their children was one of the most vociferous complainers over their treatment at the inquiry. Kathleen Swinbourne of the Sole Parents Union was also off to a frosty start. On the other hand fathers and family law reform groups who appeared as witnesses before the inquiry were generally positive about the experience, saying they were treated with respect, asked intelligent questions and given the opportunity to put across their views.

In her opening remarks Chairwoman of the Inquiry Mrs Kay Hull said: "This inquiry addresses a very important issue which touches the lives of all Australians. To date the committee has received over 1,500 submissions. This is a record number for an inquiry by this committee and amongst the highest ever for a House of Representatives committee. We are grateful for the community's response.

"This is one important way in which the community can express its views.

"From the outset of this inquiry I want to stress that the Committee does not have preconceived views on the outcomes of the inquiry. Accordingly, throughout the inquiry we will be seeking to hear a wide rage of views on the terms of reference.

"While at any one public hearing we may hear more from one set of views than another set — for example, more from men than from women — by the end of the inquiry we will have heard from a diverse group and thus received a balance over the range of views.

"The public hearings the committee is undertaking are focused on regional locations rather than just capital cities. At these regional hearings the focus will be on hearing from individuals and locally based organisations. Later in the inquiry we will hear from the larger organisations, such as the Family Court and Child Support Agency, in Canberra or via videoconferencing."

Outlining the process that she would repeat for more than 20 public hearings right around the country, in both rural and metropolitan locations, Kay Hull said:

"I remind everyone appearing as a witness today that the comments you make are on the public record. You should be cautious in what you say to ensure that you do not identify individuals and do not refer to cases before the court. Aside from that, you should feel free to speak without any fear of reprisal or intimidation."

Although the inquiry became more focused and more searching as it went along, many of the themes were established or hinted at on that first day, in the morning in Geelong and in the afternoon in Melbourne.

The domestic violence industry, which had ballooned over the past 15 years, was amply represented and played a significant, some would say disproportionate, role in the inquiry.

Some of the taxpayer funded groups making submissions included the Women's Legal Service Victoria, Women's Information and Referral Exchange, Centre Against Sexual Assault, Hornsby Women's Domestic Violence Court Assistance Program, Armidale Domestic Violence Steering Committee, Australian Coalition of Women Against Violence, Taree Women's Domestic Violence Court Assistant Scheme, Albury Wodonga Women's Refuge, Tweed Shire Women's Service, Hume Domestic Violence Network, Domestic Violence Advocacy Service, Victorian Women's Refuges and Association of Domestic Violence Services.

All argued against joint custody.

There was no countervailing tax payer funded industry representing the opposite views, of which there were many, on behalf of men and their supporters.

Yet with the wonders of the world wide web, any disaffected bloke could get on the internet and in five minutes find ample research to indicate that domestic violence was an equal opportunity employer and discover that internationally there were numerous voices raising concerns about the operation of the domestic violence industry, particularly in its pernicious role during custody disputes.

Later in the decade the one in three campaign run by Men's Health Australia and using DOTA's own researcher Greg Andresen began to insistently and successfully call government bodies to account for their misuse of domestic violence statistics.

In Human Events, a US public policy newspaper, Dr Stephen Baskerville wrote: "Men's groups are beginning to fight back, pointing out decades of unchallenged research establishing that domestic violence is perpetrated as much by women as men. Most of the domestic violence hysteria is generated for one purpose: to gain advantage in custody battles."

In Australia the size of the domestic violence networks and funding apparatus was on parade throughout the inquiry. The groups mounted very similar arguments, essentially that shared parenting is not a good idea because it exposed women and children to greater risk of violence at the hands of men. There was never any suggestion that women could also be violent and abusive.

First up at the Inquiry was Ms Louise Mitchell, Development Coordinator with the Women's Information Referral Exchange.

She took little time to get to her point:

"Each year we hear the stories of thousands of Victorian women. From our own experiences in working with women, WIRE contends that joint residency is the optimum outcome for separating families but is not universally achievable.

"We further contend that a presumption of joint residency will expose children and women to violence and abuse.

"The Family Court is currently given discretion to make orders for the residence and contact of children, looking at the situation of each family with reference to a number of

factors. It therefore deals with each case that comes before it on its individual merits. WIRE believes that this is the correct approach. It is important to note that it is entirely possible for separating couples to negotiate joint residency under the current Family Law Act. Less than five per cent of couples currently do enter such arrangements voluntarily. We believe that this small proportion, as well as the likelihood of women being awarded custody, stems from women still doing the vast majority of caring for children during relationships and prior to separation and structuring their lives around their children by not working or working only part time, for example.

"The evidence available does not support the idea that men do not fairly obtain access to their children, as the majority of child custody matters are settled independently with the consent of both the mother and the father. Of the cases that are referred to the Family Court, only five per cent are decided by a judge..."

There it was, minutes into the inquiry and one of the great furphies of family law had already been floated.

The Committee including the Chairwoman Kay Hull became progressively clearer in their public rejection of the claim, made repeatedly by apologists for the status quo, that 95% of separated parents settled their differences amicably. "We haven't bought that one," Hull told one media outlet. Within minutes of the claim it was under attack from the committee member Roger Price; who knew from his previous roles in advocating for reform of family law and from his own electorate that the claim was preposterous; that most matters settled unhappily in the shadow of the law, with interim orders made on scant evidence soon becoming permanent as people gave up in frustration or were bullied into settling.

The violence card was played for all it was worth; it would not be the last time.

Ms Mitchell said: "One, if the presumption is of joint residency, children may be forced to live with a violent or abusive parent while the rebuttal proceedings are under way.

"Two, it puts the onus on women to prove domestic violence exists despite the underreporting of domestic violence as a crime, particularly non-physical forms of violence or abuse. If a woman has not made reports of domestic violence to the police or other agencies, she may not be able to prove her claims that domestic violence is occurring.

"Three, women earn disproportionately lower incomes than men and tend to be worse off financially than men following separation. Given that the vast majority of victims of domestic violence are women, we have grave concerns as to whether women will be able to finance the legal proceedings around rebuttal and that this inability will result in women and children being exposed to violence.

"WIRE believes that it is in the best interests of children that there is a presumption of no contact with a parent where there is any evidence of domestic violence or child abuse until a thorough risk assessment has been undertaken and it is shown in the individual case that that child is safe from abuse and that contact truly is in their best interests."

Ms Mitchell seemed flabbergasted when Committee member Harry Quick appeared to brush aside her speech and immediately asked what she meant when she said the inquiry itself had arisen over a misconception from men that they do not fairly obtain access to their children.

"I think there is a perception in the community that Family Court proceedings are unfair to men and that men are disproportionately denied access to children," she said. "We do not believe this is supported by the evidence."

But she soon became lost for words. Harry Quick asked her about the ability of families to afford two separate households that are completely set up for their children and the impact this might have on second relationships and second families.

Right from the start there appeared little doubt in which direction the committee was heading. Mr Quick proceeded to say:

"We have this concept of equal time and shared custody. There is an expectation, I guess, that you have two separate households so the children go one week to one and one week to another and that both houses are set up as ideal homes. That is assuming there is not a second relationship and a second family being introduced. The idea of two identical houses excludes any concept of another relationship and another family. Do you have any views on that?"

To which Ms Mitchell replied: "I do not have any particular views on that."

Committee member Julia Irwin followed up: "Could you comment on how we manage shared parenting or equal time? What strategies does your organisation feel are needed to assist parents who are in an ongoing conflict to manage shared parenting or equal time?"

Mitchell replied: "I think it is very difficult for families that do feature a higher degree of conflict to enter into genuine joint residency arrangements."

The gravel voiced Jenny George asked: "Have you thought about ways in which all of this process might be taken out of the litigious area and having some kind of mediating process before parents avail themselves of the court process?

The reply: "WIRE is not an expert on family law proceedings."

And so it went.

Next up were Ms Belinda Nanfern LO, a member of the Family Law Working Party for the Federation of Community Legal Centres and Ms Helen Yandell, a member of the Federation of Community Legal Centres.

Ms Yandell also took little time to get to her point, noting that there were some concerns that the terms of reference themselves were in contravention of article 31 of the Convention on the Rights of the Child, which required the best interests of the child to be taken into consideration at all times.

"Because the terms of reference of this inquiry refer to a rebuttable presumption, it is that presumption that is actually contrary to the best interests of the child and the best interests of the child would need to be looked at in each case in detail.

"We believe that each child's circumstances are unique and each family's circumstances are unique, and that is what needs to be taken into consideration when

there is family breakdown. In 95 per cent of cases, family breakdowns are sorted out amicably by agreement between the parties and we believe that that right of families to make that determination needs to be maintained. The presumption of share care of children would remove the right of families to make that determination and we believe that would not be in the best interests of children."

Ms Lo backed her colleague: "It is in the children's best interests that they be provided with stability and security in an otherwise traumatic situation that occurs upon relationship breakdown. In order to ascertain what is in the children's best interests in terms of security and stability, normally the court looks at what the parents' relationship was and roles were prior to the breakdown. Because of the way that society is at the moment, mothers generally are considered the primary caregivers..... I again reiterate Helen's point that only five per cent of marriage breakdowns go to the Family Court and these situations are such that the parties are so conflicted and so divisive that the only way that they can have decisions made in relation to the children is to have a third party's intervention, that being the Family Court."

Roger Price expressed himself shocked at the claim of a breach of UN conventions and said: "I cannot see how the presumption of rebuttable joint residency is inconsistent with anything in the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child."

The Committee was hot on the trail of the 95% myth almost immediately; with Roger Price saying: "You seem to place a great deal of weight on the Family Court's much touted five per cent success rate conforming to international standards of best practice for family courts. As a community legal centre, do you get approached by women—and men, for that matter—who believe they have matters they wish to pursue in the court but for which you do not get funding and have to decline? Is that very many? How does that get caught up in the five per cent?"

This was followed by the following exchange:

Mr DUTTON — Can I take you back to a statement that you made—I think I am quoting you correctly—when you said 95 per cent of cases were resolved amicably?

Ms Yandell — Yes.

Mr DUTTON — Where is the evidence of that, or how do you base that statement... Would it be fair to say, though, that there is a vast number of people, and it could be men or women — I am sure five per cent of people would not be adequate to cover them — who opt out of the legal process because it can go on for up to two years in the Family Court.

Ms Yandell — But that is those five per cent.

Mr DUTTON — Let me finish. It can cost tens of thousands of dollars and sometimes people believe it is best to quit not whilst they are ahead but before they get any further behind and they really accept a position that they would not otherwise accept, and it is anything but an amicable situation.

Ms Yandell – I would agree with that within that five per cent."

Even Labor diehard Jenny George weighed in: "I want to query on what basis you make the assumption that, if you do not end up in court, it is all sorted out and things have moved on. I deal with a lot of people where the animosity and the non-resolution of the parents' responsibilities are still very entrenched."

There was however one note of accord. All parties appeared to agree that the adversarial system was an inappropriate way to deal with children. Ms Lo said:

"We are talking about an extremely emotional situation. We are talking—no matter what—about their being no winners or losers; children will be suffering at all times....

"Unfortunately, there are going to be situations where parties are not able to agree, where parties are not able to come to any type of arrangement for the children without the intervention of a third party. That is why, unfortunately, it seems we have the adversarial system for a situation which is probably quite unsuitable..."

Next up were Ms Alice Bailey, who ran Training, Development and Consultancy for Domestic Violence and Incest Resource Centre and Mr Anthony Kelly, who represented the Men's Referral Service, No to Violence and The Male Family Violence Prevention Association.

In what was quickly becoming an established pattern, Ms Bailey said: "In cases of family violence, we are concerned about a presumption of shared residency because children should never have residence with a violent parent and because victims of violence are not in a position to equally negotiate with a violent ex-partner about parenting arrangements."

Amidst frequent, and what critics would see as exaggerated claims of the extent of domestic violence in the community, Ms Bailey went on to say: "Research also shows that perpetrators of violence do use children as tools in the legal process as a means of continuing control over families post separation. Litigation as a form of abuse is not only unaffordable for mothers but also very costly to the community.

"All of these issues that impact negatively on children we believe would be exacerbated by a rebuttable presumption of joint residence. This is because a rebuttable presumption creates a climate of acrimony. It will force parents into an adversarial position and therefore place children at a greater risk of violence and abuse."

The first of the individual witnesses ended up giving evidence in camera, as his matter was before the courts. Kay Hull said: "I am not prepared to muddy the waters for you, so in the interests of fairness we should not make anything difficult for you or for anyone else."

Both the Family Court and the Child Support Agency made extremely adverse findings against critics of their systems during the course of the inquiry. While the Chair had assured witnesses they could speak freely, there was no parliamentary protection from decisions of the bodies that were most under investigation.

In previous years debate had often been characterised by a prevailing fear of criticising the Family Court for dread of what vindictive action it could take. The fears were well founded, with an established record of the court serving up hostile judgements to its critics. During the course of the inquiry one prominent advocate received a stinging judgement from the court which removed his children from a shared parenting arrangement which had been in place for a number of years and gave custody to the mother – causing enormous distress to the family involved.

The judgement was little more than a sustained character assassination. Around the same period the same judge made a number of attacks on litigants for their involvement in fathers groups.

The Shared Parenting Council of Australia called for immediate legislative action to protect Family Court litigants giving evidence to the House of Representatives Child Custody Inquiry.

"There is a widespread perception that critics of the Family Court, many of whom are publicly

giving evidence in the current parliamentary inquiry, have been targeted by the Court in unreasonable custody decisions made against them," President of the SPCA Matilda Bawden said. "In the Adelaide registry alone, there are numerous court transcripts where repeatedly the fact that a father may have sought help or assistance from a men's information and resource organisation or men's group, is directly being used as a tactic against the father's case and his

fitness to continue parenting their children. The Family Court's reaction against litigants, particularly fathers that may have any association or membership of men's or father's help groups, is an appalling application of bias.

"Arguably, litigants before the Court could be frightened to speak out or give evidence to the

inquiry for fear of consequence on their children."

The very first voice to be raised in support of fathers was Witness Two, whose evidence was significant because it illustrated a shared parenting arrangement where there was no love lost between the parties. One of the most common arguments against joint custody was that it would not work without cooperation between the parties.

Witness Two was to appear in the mainstream press more than two and a half months later in a sensational story in the leading Melbourne tabloid The Herald Sun under the headline Divorced Dads Pay To See Their Kids. The paper reported that a Geelong father gave his ex-wife \$10,000 to ensure she signed a court order giving him five days a fortnight with their child.

"Other frustrated dads are paying between \$40 and \$80 a fortnight in exchange for the honouring of court-ordered contact visits. The money these dads pay is on top of compulsory child support payments. Family Court Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson described this 'cash for kids' as appalling. 'One party should not have to pay the other to make children available,' he said.

Witness Two told the inquiry his daughter benefited it a "huge way" by the shared parenting arrangements that were in place:

"You were talking before about how children could be transferred in situations that are not amicable. My situation is not amicable. It has not been for a year, but it works very well. I have good clear orders and the transfers, in my case, are at the school of my daughter. So she is transferred on a school day. My ex-partner will drop her off and I will pick her up. So we do not have to have detailed or involved contact. As a result that works very well.

"We both still have the best interests of our daughter at heart. But it is very easy to be coerced when you are stressed and upset into going down a legal path that is detrimental to any future relationship or anything from that point on.

"In my environment, I have realised now that to have five days in my case of time with my daughter is extremely unusual in a shared care environment. It is extremely unusual. I cannot believe that, because to me it works fantastically. It is in the best interests of my daughter because she gets time with both parents. She settles in very well. There is less contact. There is less friction, if you like. We do not have any issues. If there were, we could have grandparents who are more than happy to take time with their granddaughter in terms of transfer and things like that. It is very distressing to see some parents having very limited time with their children. The grandparents really get very little at all, either, because they are reluctant to take time with their grandchild away from their own son or daughter."

After questioning he reiterated he had residence of the child five nights a fortnight. He said: "It is classified as shared care under the law. To me to have such a block of time in a row — not a night here and a night there — makes the biggest difference. I can get involved with her school, with her friends, with her teachers and with what is going on—dropping her off at school, picking her up from school. Doing that with your child means everything to a child. It is routine. You are involved in their day-to-day life as opposed to being just a weekend parent. Although you can provide a lot in a weekend, you can provide a lot more when you can be involved and grandparents and others and family and friends can be involved with school...

"What is the alternative? To have a home where you spend only two days? From my point of view, surely a child sleeping at your house for them is reassuring and for them is part of the day-to-day routine. They get up and who do they see? That parent. It is all about being involved. Most of the people who I have talked to, those who are older as well, tend to say that it is about time. You do not necessarily even have to be totally involved all of the time. Kids just love the fact that you are there sometimes. But of course being part of the routine makes it even more beneficial....

"In my case, I would argue with the figure mentioned before in that five per cent go to court. I mean, 95 per cent are not successful and are not agreeable even. Many people drop their cases prior to going to court because it just takes too long. That can impact children in a massive way. In my case, I basically paid for more time...

"I would have loved to go to counseling or some sort of agreement where there is practical and realistic means with which to proceed. I did not have that."

A third, highly lucid witness, said he appeared as a "father of a wonderful 10-year-old son and as a man who carries with him all of the hopes and dreams that accompany parenthood. Sadly, my expectation of occupying a meaningful place in my son's life has been shattered by the outcome imposed upon my son and me by the Family Court. The normal order of the court whereby a non-resident parent is afforded two days contact with their children out of every 14 offers meagre opportunities for that parent to fulfil their crucial role in ensuring that their children develop as happy, healthy and confident members of the community.

"The unique and valuable contribution of grandparents, extended family, friends and significant others also falls victim to the court's normal order. Obviously, it is the group

of people surrounding the non-resident parent of whom the children are largely deprived the benefit.

"The precedent in the Family Court that the resident parent has primacy all too often results in a situation where that parent can dominate aspects of the lives of other family members, often for base motives. Absolute power corrupts absolutely, as they say, and the Family Court seems too ready to vest almost absolute power in the hands of just one of the parents.

"In producing the outcomes that it does, the court frequently cites the need to reduce the deleterious effects of conflict upon children. Whilst not denying the negative impact of that conflict, I believe the court is wrong-headed in its approach, because it can encourage some parents to create an environment of conflict in order to secure an outcome favourable to them. The court is thereby fuelling conflict, not lessening it, and this is the fatal flaw in its philosophy."

He said he was desperate to have more of a role in the caring of his son and was particularly offended by the much bandied concept of one parent being the primary carer, a notion inevitably used against fathers in the court.

"I do not see that we should be put in boxes, as it were; that one parent should be encouraged to have more of the responsibility for the hands-on care of the child. That certainly is consistent with what my son has said right from a very early stage, that he craves and aches for both of us to look after him, but that has been frustrated to no end in my case."

Repeating the complaints of other fathers, he said he was very critical of the Family Court counseling service which he thought was "particularly bad" in respect of the process that was used most recently in his case to produce a family report.

DOTA has always maintained the systemic abuse of family reports and psychiatric "evidence" by the court is endemic. "I am, I would have to say, disgusted at the way that took place. It was a very selective report that was produced. It ignored large, prominent parts of my response to the mother's application that was brought before the court. That was pivotal in the outcome. The trial judge placed a lot of emphasis on that family report and I was very disappointed at the selective nature of that report."

Committee member Jenny George asked what reason had been provided to him to deny him extended contact hours so he could take his boy to school on Monday mornings after having moved to be closer to his son. "On the face of it, I would think that is a terrible thing for the Family Court to do in terms of the principles they are supposed to operate under," Ms George said. "I was staggered," the father replied.

He also relayed his negative experiences with community legal centres, where he said the women had been more interested in talking him out of taking out a contravention order on his ex-wife rather than listening to him or helping.

Then came the community segment where witnesses were encouraged to put their case in a brief three minutes.

First cab off the rank was a family law barrister and mother of three Anna who seemed at odds with the idea of rebuttable joint custody, but at the same time was involved in a shared parenting arrangement herself. "We do have equal time," she said. "But the basis of our shared parenting befits the nature of our jobs. I am able to work very hard in the week I do not have the children and then devote my sharing and parenting role to the children to a very high degree in the weeks that I do have them. Not many jobs allow you to do that. Things have got to be considered in relation to the practicalities of shared residence.

"I have a certain socioeconomic status. My children have two sets of school uniforms and two sets of casual clothes. We do not have the trauma of packing up the car with everyone's bags. The changeover for my children is extremely clean cut... It is about going to 'our other home'"

Another woman Kerry, who had been a family law solicitor for 15 years, said she understood the frustrations of many people in the court system and had "long felt that it is very unfair, particularly to fathers of children, and I have represented both men and women in the Family Court and the Federal Magistrates Service."

While she raised doubts about rebuttable joint custody she was in a position "where my husband is the primary carer of our five year old and four-month-old baby. When things have been rough in my marriage, I have been more than aware of the situation that I have put myself into as far as I would hate to be in a situation where I was reduced to seeing my children two days out of 14 because I have taken that responsibility for financially supporting my family. My husband can parent just as well as I can, if not better. Hopefully we will not ever separate, but I am sure that if we do we would work something out where I spend as much time with my children as I do now and it would not be two days a fortnight."

Representative of the many people who were dissatisfied with the operations of the Family Court and the Child Support Agency, Barry said the present presumption was the fathers would got every second weekend and described himself as "a typical example of how the system has been operating for far too long. Personally I have witnessed and resemble what this process creates for families involved and the community in general. The children, in particular young boys — and it is well documented — are not getting sufficient male role modeling or bonding whether from the father or even the father's extended family such as uncles, grandparents, cousins and other long-term male role models. How can these brief periods of contact adequately establish and maintain important relationships?"

Max, the father of three children, one of whom subsequently died, told the inquiry that at the time of separation his solicitor said: "Don't go to the Family Court because you won't get custody of your children. It's just a waste of time.' Thankfully I had a truthful solicitor for a change. He said, 'It'll cost you about \$10,000 to \$30,000 to go to the Family Court but you won't get custody so don't bother about it.' I thought that that could not be right and I then attended a Family Court counselor who basically told me exactly the same thing—it is virtually impossible for a man to get custody of his children... I believe that had we had shared custody in the first place things would have been much easier for us."

He also raised concerns over the way domestic violence issues were being discussed, asking: "Is this just an avenue to get custody of the children?"

Another father, Graham, said he was just one of the thousands, maybe millions, who had been negatively impacted. "I feel that the present presumption in law is a horrible

case and it does not help the children. "Ask a child and a child will say, 'Half with you; half with mum.' I always had a positive view of the legal system. I thought it was about safety. These days I am extremely disillusioned by it. All my ex-wife had to do was just resist and throw a few stories into an affidavit. I am still scratching my head a few years down the track as to why my children just cannot have quality time—just a shared time, for me to be a father. We seem to negate the whole purpose of fatherhood. People do not seem to know what a father is today, what the role of a father is... How did we get ourselves into this rotten mess in the first place?"

Another dad supportive of shared custody, Greg, said he had just spent the previous year in litigation in the Federal Magistrates Court over his five year old son, which he had found very expensive and frustrating.

"The welfare report strongly supported my application and heavily criticised the mother. We went to court on that. It was in Geelong with the Federal Magistrates Court. They only come down four times a year and sit for one week. The system is very clogged up. It took me a year to get to court. In the end, just back at the beginning of August, they had 100 cases listed for a week. So we asked the magistrate to give us her thoughts on the case, like a preamble so we can negotiate.

"The magistrate, after reading the welfare report which strongly supported my case, said that, no, it would be too disruptive. So we ended up with a compromise...

"I cannot see any reason why I cannot spend more time with my son rather than him being in family day care. We live only half an hour apart. All the allegations she made in her affidavits were disproved... I have come to the end of my tether. I do not know where to turn next to obtain more time with my son."

With the government funded industry, its solicitors, judges, bureaucrats, academics and domestic violence propagandists, giving evidence to the inquiry, all opposed to joint custody, it was the individual tales of devastated fathers that helped balance the equation.

Christos, a single dad, said: "There are no winners here. When things go wrong between two people and there is a child involved, there are no winners, and the Family Court cannot help us. The rebuttable joint custody idea I think is a good one because it will take away the slanderous affidavits that so-called once lovers throw at each other. They are mostly lies and hurt the kid — the one we both should really focus on. I do not think we can be helped here. I went through the odyssey — like the rest of us. I urge everybody to be kind to each other for that child's sake. The Family Court cannot help you."

A woman known only as Individual A, said she believed the Family Court, Centrelink and child support needed a major overhaul and sympathised with the fathers who had spoken because "what happened to them happened to me only I am female."

The woman had lost custody of her children and was particularly upset she was ordered not to take her children to the doctor except in an emergency, an order commonly made against fathers. "The joke is that I am living in a country where we are creating a very poor society with poor relationships with our children. They need their mother and they need their father."

It was tales such as this, the same tales these politicians had heard in their own electoral offices, which had led to looking seriously at gutting the child custody functions of the Family Court. The cumulative weight of these stories led inexorably, one might have thought, to the conclusion that the Family Court could not be allowed to continue to devastate the lives of parents and children alike.

A second wife and stepmother Jackie spoke movingly of her situation and how it impacted on her and the children. She said the Family Court needed to realise that 50/50 could work and that men "just become resigned to the fact that that is the way that the courts are, that is the way life is and there is not much else they are going to get."

There were other contributions; for and against. Many raised issues of child support. Already there had been a kaleidoscope of issues and emotions. And this was just the first hearing on the first day. Many of the recurring themes of the inquiry were already in play.

The members of the House of Representatives Family and Community Affairs Committee then travelled to Melbourne, an hour's drive away, for another public hearing that same afternoon.

It was held at the Hungarian Community Centre in Wantirna, in accord with the Committee's deliberate wish to hold the hearings in working class areas.

Once again the Committee heard from three organisations, the Youth Affairs Council of Victoria, Australian Family Support Services Association and Australians Against Child Abuse, along with two individuals and an hour of community statements.

Both Ms Georgie Ferrari, Executive Officer and Ms Paula Grogan, Policy Officer spoke on behalf of Youth Affairs Council of Victoria

In line with so many other government funded bodies, Ms Grogan said: "While we certainly believe that it is preferable for all children and young people to have frequent and positive contact with both parents after separation if that is appropriate, we do recognise that that is sometimes very difficult, given the often acrimonious situations that arise from relationship breakdowns. For this reason we do not support the presumption of joint residence. Such a presumption we believe offers a simplistic one size fits all model, and you certainly cannot impose a one size fits all model on the difficult relationship issues that we are talking about here today..."

The group got a good grilling from Committee member Cameron Thompson; witness the following string of questions: "You are the Youth Affairs Council of Victoria and you are talking about what is in the best interest of the child. What numbers and what proportion of children are telling you that they do not want to spend 50 per cent of the time with either parent? You are the Youth Affairs Council. How important is this issue to children? I am putting to you that if it is that important shouldn't you be able to tell us more emphatically just what children themselves are thinking? Shouldn't it be part of your responsibility to tap into that?"

They were not having an easy time of it.

Committee Member Dutton weighed in: "I understood your evidence to say, at least in part, that we do not need a rebuttable presumption because already in the act we

speak about shared parenting, and that is one of the desires; therefore, we do not need the presumption that we are speaking about.

"For whatever reason, that part of the act is not working, either because of the costs of court or people saying, 'I'm fed up with this process and I'm opting out' — and I suspect that they are a large proportion of the 95 per cent that we were speaking about before. We are saying that, even though it is there in legislation, we acknowledge it is there and you have said that it is there as part of your evidence, it is not coming through in some of the outcomes or the decisions that the court makes."

Next up was Mr Joseph Tucci, Chief Executive Officer for Australians Against Child Abuse. This led to the following exchanges:

Roger Price asked: "With regard to your earlier comments about the Family Court, isn't it a disgrace that it takes so long in the court to get those cases heard? Without wanting to lead you, isn't it the case that at your level both in the Family Court and in the departments we are spread so thinly across so many children and that we need to spend a lot more money on the severe cases?

Tucci: "It is disgraceful that children in cases that involve child abuse and family violence have to wait for long periods. It is not unusual for children in those situations to wait four, five or six months, in our experience."

and

Price: "I take issue with one aspect of your submission. You say that a presumption of equal time focuses on parents' rights, rather than on the best interests of the children. As a general proposition, isn't there a presumption that children are going to benefit from both parents? Let us put aside an abusive situation. Why can't equal time be the starting point for those considerations? It does not have to be the template with which you force all situations through, but what is wrong with that as a starting point?"

Tucci: "The way you have put it, there is nothing wrong with it. You want to leave aside the issue of child abuse and family violence..."

The first witness from a father's organisation in support of shared parenting was Geoffrey Brayshaw of the Australian Family Support Services Association who said the point of his organisation was to give men, in particular, the tools to network and meet other people in similar situations. "We believe that joint parenting or shared care—whatever you want to call it these days — should be the starting point," he said. "As we have heard, there are obviously times when this is not necessarily the right way to go, but the feedback we get from fathers, grandparents and second families, in particular, is that if we start at the middle, with shared care, we can then go either way."

Brayshaw argued strongly against the costs of litigation in the Family Court, saying: "We heard that only five per cent of all marriage breakdowns actually go to litigation. Well, I can tell you that 95 per cent of them would love to go to litigation. However, they do not have the spare \$30,000 in their pockets to do it — and that is both parties."

He was also, like so many others, critical of the child support system and argued for the encouragement of flexible working hours to facilitate shared parenting.

During the community session in Melbourne that late winter day a number of women spoke strongly against a notion of rebuttable joint custody. But just like the fathers who addressed the Committee, they were almost universally unhappy with the operations of both the Family Court and the Child Support Agency.

Witness Two, a single mother with a five-year-old boy, was one of the many women who would appear before the inquiry who expressed their utter frustration with "the Family Court thing".

"It is my experience at this point in time that child custody and contact time with both parents are not handled very efficiently, not very effectively, nor truly in the child's best interest," she said.

"It was my belief that the Family Court was set up as a fair and economical way of settling contact issues, and this has not been my experience at all. It has been my experience that this process has been horribly expensive and that lawyers, solicitors and barristers are the only ones to gain from this process.

"I hope that separated parents can learn to replace the hatred, the accusations and the allegations with communication. This is what is missing from the system. The lawyers — the solicitors and the barristers — should not be speaking on our behalf. We need to get more mediation and, considering the number of people we are talking about, perhaps a bit of education so that we can get some good old-fashioned values back, starting with communication between the two parents no matter what the ill-feeling is. That is my hope."

Fathers also spoke strongly in support of shared parenting and against the present system. Lindsay described himself as a a deserted single working father with shared parenting that has been working for six years quite successfully with school transfer Friday nights with before and after care, which a lot of mothers avail themselves of. "That has given me the opportunity to have a great deal of input into the relationship with my daughter," he said "A lot of sharing, caring, teaching, shepherding, listening, being an advocate when things go wrong at school, spending time together, doing activities together, sharing experiences, laughing together..."

Richard, a father of four boys, three from his first marriage and the one from his second marriage just three weeks old, began by saying he wanted to apologise if he sounded venomous. "But I have been distilled through the system and the system creates venom and it creates a lot of heartache and pain, so I do apologise if I come across strongly. I am a father who lives in a house 600 meters away from my children. I have flexible work arrangements. I was very involved in bringing up my children. When they were crying at nights, when they were sick, when they needed food, I was the one who got up and still worked a 12-hour day.

"My children have been neglected. They have been to doctors who have said, 'I have never seen medical conditions this bad before.' This is a mother who supposedly loves her children.

"Today's children will be termed the stolen generation of Australia in years to come. My three boys say to me, 'Daddy, why have I been taken away from you? You have put me in jail.' They are in an emotional jail, these children. I have three sons—eight, 11 and 13—and they cannot understand why the system has done this to them when both their

parents supposedly loved each other and were good enough at one stage to be parents.

"I am also the victim of unproven claims of physical abuse of my children. They have not been proven. I am a police-checked member of the scouting association; I take children away on scout camps. I am a Sunday school teacher. I have never ever physically abused a child. Yet every time some move is made to get more access or to change the access rules this is thrown in my face on a regular basis. Sadly, it does not only happen to me; it happens to many, many fathers—not just physical abuse allegations, but sexual abuse too."

The hearing was adjourned at 5.04 pm. It had been a long day. It would be the first of many.

The first day's hearings received little press coverage. But the debate was still running strong. Both The Sydney Morning Herald and The Age in Melbourne ran a feature by Bettina Arndt respectively titled "If courts won't change custody parents should" and "After divorce, kids need both parents".

Arndt had served on the previous Family Law Pathways Advisory Group, and was known to have despaired at the lack of progress from the Out of the Maze report. She wrote that the chance of shifting attitudes in the Family Court on these matters was slim and a better strategy "is to encourage couples to rethink their own approach to post-divorce parenting. Parents should be encouraged to start a different conversation – without ever going near the court – a conversation that might sometimes lead to shared custody or at least children maintaining close relationship with not only their fathers but other key people such as grandparents."

She concluded that the present system resulted in distressed children, particularly young children, missing out on the comfort of attachments vital to their sense of security. "We have to find a better way," she wrote.

CHAPTER FOUR: TALES FROM THE SUBMISSIONS

Combined with the people who appeared before the inquiry, the volume of submissions from individuals, a record for the Family and Community Services Committee, showed the depth of feeling surrounding issues of child custody, family law and child support.

There was a battery of more than a thousand government funded bodies, bureaucrats, the judiciary, the numerous representatives from the domestic violence industry, the academics, the women's groups, all making representations on child custody and almost all opposed to shared parenting or joint custody. And almost invariably the individuals involved had been paid to write their contributions.

On the other hand volunteers in the various unfunded groups spent countless hours preparing submissions in favour of shared parenting. In the blizzard there were also many hundreds of submissions from individuals.

Some women and even a few men argued against shared parenting, but the majority of mothers, fathers, grandparents and sympathisers were in favour. A number of politicians made private submissions. And many other professionals, including doctors and teachers, wrote in passionate support.

Some of the submissions, naïve in tone, were little more than pledges of support for shared parenting or joint custody.

Elvira Martin of Toowoomba in Queensland wrote: "I know a father in this type of situation, that was going through a Family Court matter, in trying to get some visitation to see his daughter. And for a number of times the mother has breached the order. It is very heart breaking to see this guy, in the state he's in. There is not a day goes by when he says to me that he wishes that he can see his daughter more often and to even have her stay with him just on the weekends... I feel that fathers should spend more time with their children no matter what the case may be, as children need a father as well as a mother."

Glen Gordon of Bellbird in NSW said the proposal for joint residency arrangements for children in separated families was long overdue and there was no incentive in current family law practice for cooperation between parents. He said in his own experience his legal advice was basically "forget it, you are the father and the courts will always side with the mother".

"I thought that this was an appalling approach giving no consideration for the past relationships and bonds that I had forged with my children. I look forward to the development of a family law system that recognises the importance of fathers in their children's lives."

Others were bitter in their condemnation of the system.

Dennis Brown of Calala said there should be an

inquiry or Royal Commission into the Family Court/ "That to ostracise me in an illegal separation from my own flesh and blood and I will always believe the family law court is a very high profile criminal activity and whether right or wrong it would seem that child abuse and drugs, prostitution, street kids all stem from it."

Errol Hunt of Manly in Sydney wrote that since he had first contacted the government on the issue "the male suicide rate has accelerated due in no small part to the utter helplessness felt by the dispossessed party, as I prefer to call the poor male who inevitably loses his children to the occasional contact offered.

"He is required to pay the bulk of the monies he earns to the ex-wife, save for that obligation to the tax department of 50%. This woman now inevitably has another 'partner' in tow. He also has no idea as to how his funds are even spent, if such monies are indeed spent on his children. The ex-wife's income does not seem to be taken into consideration, nor the live in lover's finances.

"The Courts are a graveyard for hopes of equity in an inequitable situation. Costs of action to attempt a modicum of fairness are prohibitive. The result is utter hopelessness, depression and often suicide."

Evan Carson, from the fishing village of Ulladulla on the NSW south coast, said he would have loved to have equal care of his children but was strongly advised by his solicitor that there was no point in going for anything but every second weekend and half the school holidays and if he did he could be up for costs. "This news was fairly devestating as I was not in a financial position to go to court and all local anecdotal evidence suggested that my solicitor was correct," he wrote.

"The Family Court should be removed from making as many decisions as possible. Bearing in mind that almost 50% of marriages end in divorce, local institutions need to be established that look at a fair and prompt closure to the most complex of decisions. All relevant information can be heard in the local environment and decisions made.

"It has been apparent that the Family Court has never been able to make fair decisions regarding custodial arrangements of children. When the Family Court is forced to make decisions, the mother almost always wins custody. Mothers know this. Fathers know this. Solicitors know this. This understanding does not make that decision correct. What it does, is to keep many people out of the court system because decisions are costly, time consuming and predetermined."

Mr Carson said he had remarried but as a second family they were struggling to cope with the imposts of the system, particularly with the combined operation of the Department of Social Security and the Child Support Agency. "This means that we can hardly afford to live together on what remains of my salary after my own child support payment is made. The laws at present and the anomalous regulations of both Departments concerned contrive to make our lives extremely difficult and are unfair and in equitable...

"It is hardly surprising that so many second marriages fail when you weigh the negative financial situation against the stressful dynamics involved with establishing a new family. The desire for success in a new family situation can easily succumb to financial stresses despite the best efforts of all concerned."

Carson, like so many others, was also highly critical of the administration of the Child Support Agency, saying information received from them is often incorrect or misleading, and that one frequently has to make several phone calls to find someone who can provide support and more importantly, correct information. "I feel that I am burdened with an emotional and financial cost that I have no option but to pay."

He said throughout Australia people were battling with what appeared to be a raft of unjust and inequitable regulations that were the cause of much desperation.

He concluded: "It is no surprise that teachers spend a large part of their day addressing social issues, many the result of baggage brought to school by children from broken homes. It is no surprise that many men feel that current laws are biased in favour of the mother and these laws have created a large body of angry and distressed men. It is no surprise that so many mothers walk out on marriages when they know that current laws support them in regard to child access and support. It is no surprise that in anger, distress and confusion so many men create further problems for themselves by the non payment of child support or violence towards an ex partner. It is no surprise that there has been a dramatic rise in male suicides."

Other contributions, as with the public hearings, also condemned the Child Support Agency. Harold Craig of Bellambi said the existing child support formula "does not work

and is in fact preventing non-custodial parents in many cases from being able to practice and enjoy access to their children. It is far too rigid with little or no consideration of extenuating circumstances. It is unfair that two children of the same parents can have very vastly different opportunities in life... It is my personal experience that the children are nothing more than a source of income and opportunity to most custodial parents and a very spiteful way to destroy the other parent."

A number of politicians made personal submissions to the inquiry, some in camera. Government Whip Joanna Gash, member for Gilmore centered around Nowra on the NSW South Coast, said amongst the issues being raised in her office by fathers included paying child support while not being given access ordered by the Family Court.

Paul Neville, the Federal Member for the rural seat of Hinkler around Bundaberg in Queensland and National Party Whip, said he saw a constant pattern of abuse, especially on the part of the custodial parent.

"Frequently, vindictive custodial parents will place as many hurdles as possible in the path of the children having contact with the non-custodial parent," he said. "For example, 'the child is in the grand finals and shouldn't miss their chance', 'I can't afford the warm clothes needed for your climate' or, 'the child is sick'.

"I see many non-custodial parents, deprived of contact with their children, becoming extraordinarily stressed. In many instances they cannot afford legal redress and the custodial parent, for want of a better expression, 'gets away with it'.

"When eventually some nine, 12 or 15 months later the non-custodial parent obtains legal aid (most infrequent), or raises the money for a legal action, the custodial parent is invariably given a caution or rap on the knuckles."

Ken Ticehurst, Federal Member for the NSW Central Coast seat of Dobell, was one of the figures who had for months been urging the Howard Government to acknowledge the outcry around the country over child custody.

In his submission he said that in the previous year, after having many mothers, fathers, grandparents, aunts and uncles approach him with their painful experiences of the current family law system, he formed a discussion group of politicians to address the need for family law reform.

He described the inquiry as good news for many people in the Central Coast region who had expressed to him their frustration with the Family Law and Child Support Acts and their administration. He said he had been bombarded with congratulatory messages since the inquiry was announced.

Ticehurst detailed common themes brought to him:

- Lack of enforcement of Family Court rulings with respect to access, further legal action by non-custodial parent is too expensive
- More support needed to encourage self-represented litigants
- Perceived bias toward custodial parent in the Family Court
- Not enough emphasis on mediation

- · Family Court delays in interim access orders
- Calculation of Child Support Agency payments far too onerous, formula is unsuitable
- Non-custodial parents' living arrangements not fully considered when determining child support payments
- Non-custodial parents' children not considered in child support assessments
- Child support payments made to custodial parent while children in care of noncustodial parent
- No progressive review of custodial arrangement as child grows
- Grandparents and great-grandparents not recognised formally in custodial arrangements.

A significant number of professionals made well argued contributions.

Dr Brian Ronthal, a doctor in a country general practice with experience in managing families going through separation, divorce and custody battles, wrote: "A retrospective law allowing equal custody needs to be made for the thousands of children who currently already have court orders restricting access with their fathers to fortnightly or less. These children cannot be left out. Existing court orders restricting paternal access to fortnightly visits needs to be annulled without having to go through a court case. This ought to be achieved by filling out an application form

"The presumption of equal custody needs to be achieved without court judgements... The extreme adversarial nature of the Family Court adds dramatically to family conflict with children being the ultimate casualties. Families which manage separation with minimal Family Court interaction fare best. Equal custody needs to be presumed with as little Family Court interaction as possible... The 50/50 custody arrangements between both parents need to be made law by default without requiring Family Court assessment first because there is little chance of changing the current mindset of the experienced professionals already running the system...

"Adversarial Family Court proceedings have a severe impact on the developmental psyche of children, which cannot be blamed on the parents but rather on the system itself."

In one of the best argued of the submissions Angela Dreibergs from Katherine in the Northern Territory said she was writing as a woman, teacher and someone who considers child custody to be one of the most important issues of our time. She said as a primary school teacher she had come across many instances of children who have no contact with their fathers. "This has not been as the result of a Family Law Court ruling but has been something decided upon by the mother," she wrote. "This failure to allow contact is often accompanied by snide comments about their father and general putdowns regarding his character. I have seen first hand the doubt and confusion in the hearts of these children who for one reason or another wonder about their fathers and think that the father doesn't care about them because they are not around.

"I have a boy in my class who lives with his father as his mother is an alcoholic and abandoned her son. The father does very well with his sons' care and is a proud parent. Another boy will be going to live with his father at the end of the year. He has difficulties

with his stepfather and his older brother is already living with his father. The boy is incredibly excited and pleased by this.

"I am definitely in favour of custody to be shared equally with both parents. This would give the children a sense of belonging and to have the opportunity to actually know who their parents are and where they themselves have come from. There would be balance for the child. It would also be a fair and equitable system for both parents as they should both be able to see their children grow and develop...

"Many women decide, for whatever reason: jealousy, nastiness, power, revenge etc that they will make the lives of their ex-partner difficult by refusing any access to the child. This is not because of any direct order from the Family Court. It is something that these women implement as a result of manipulative behaviours.

"Over 41% of all fathers have been denied access to their children in this way. As a woman and a teacher I find it reprehensible that a child can be used like this..."

In amidst the wide variety of material there were even some stabs at black humour. Matt Shields of Armadale in Western Australia had given much thought to the idea of shared parenting and decided it should be prohibited entirely.

"Non-custodial parents have parental responsibilities, specifically to pay child support to their former partner; but these responsibilities do not extend to include any further contributions to the lives of their former children whatsoever.

"The relatively few shared parenting decisions made in court is proof that we just don't need it. In the future those judges who attempt to make shared parenting decisions should be horsewhipped for their stupidity and then sacked.

"The Chief Justice of the Family Court has made it clear that the concept of shared parenting would make the whole process of family law unworkable. This makes sense because the notion of shared parenting is alien to the spirit of the family law act. We should take the advice of the Chief Justice and ban shared parenting right now. In fact anyone who attempts this obscene practice should be fined, incarcerated and perhaps horsewhipped with the errant judicial officers as mentioned above.

"Many people have suggested that shared parenting has the potential to cast children into harms way. I don't know who these people are, but they are obviously right. Anyone with half an eye can see that those persons who struggle to get contact with their kids are really desperate individuals who only want to cause their kids a serious physical injury.

"Children who are denied contact with the non-custodial parent become emotionally enmeshed with the custodial parent and this is good because it makes the custodial parent feel important...

"Denying a kid contact with the other parent is obviously good for the kid. Ban shared parenting!"

Others were more learned in tone. Paul Johnston, a 31 year old computer software engineer in Canberra, said: "The time that a father forsakes with his children so that he may provide as best he can for the family he is supporting is grossly undervalued by society at large. Indeed, fathers find separation a particularly galling experience for the

following reasons: "The time a father spends with his children is reduced to being negligible, because of the roles he and his wife assumed during the marriage, as the courts, and legal profession in general, assume the mother will retain residency, and persuade the father that the idea of "fortnightly fathers" is a fair compromise,

"The father retains as little as 20% of the matrimonial property, because he has a demonstrated earning capacity that the courts expect to be met indefinitely,

"The father is compelled to work to continue support his child and his wife to within his demonstrated earning capacity.

"I argue that by working, at the expense of time with children, particularly young children, the father is indeed caring for the child, and indeed for the mother of the child, in the most practical way, but at great personal and emotional cost... The sacrifices of the father has made in working at the expense of time with his family are not ignored by courts, but rather used against him to ensure that those sacrifices continue into the longer term."

A number of academics arguing on both sides of the fence put in submissions independent of their institutions.

Family law provided a study in the power of the distribution of grant money to academics and researchers to define the debate and to confirm and validate agendas. There were rich pickings to be had.

A history of the Family Court of Australia titled The Counsel of Perfection – you couldn't make this stuff up - received ample funds from the taxpayer to bring it to fruition, but author Leonie Star did not think it appropriate to talk to litigants who had survived the experience. Australian academics and social researchers had largely ignoring the country's entire fathers and family law reform movement. Academics go where the money is.

The Family Court had repeatedly funded academic projects with sympathetic researchers and used the results for its own advocacy purposes.

Professor of Law at Sydney University Regina Graycar had been a determined critic of fathers groups. Her investigation into shared parenting was used by the Court to support its stance.

She told columnist Catherine Lumby, writing in the magazine The Bulletin, that fathers' rights groups had been tremendously successful at gaining the ear of senior politicians but their major claims had no empirical support.

Lumby, never one to miss the ideology in a point, asked: "But is greater parenting equality really what this proposal is all about? Scratch beneath the surface of Howard's rhetoric, and much of what is said by fathers' rights groups, and it becomes clear that the real agenda is about reasserting a patriarchal model of the family, not replacing it with a contemporary one.

"Uppermost in Howard's mind, as he told parliament, is the concern that 'far too many boys are growing up without proper male role models'. It's a concern which distinctly echoes the rationale behind Howard's opposition to lesbians and single women accessing fertility services. The only "proper" family in Howard's view is a heterosexual nuclear one."

Academic apologists helped provide the props justifying the present family law regime. The government, or at least politicians, embraced them because of a neat trick of mind. Academics could absolve them for the private and social disasters they had legislated into being. Like the Family Court itself, some academics blamed the social phenomenon of rising divorce rates and the poor conduct and unrealistic expectations of the battling litigants for the community's intense unhappiness with the system the politicians had created. The heroic and expensive legal battles of parents trying to do the best by their children led them to be denigrated for their inability to reach agreement with their often Legal Aid funded ex-wife.

But the inquiry, far more public an exercise than its predecessors and made more so by the internet, provided a chance for those outside the taxpayer funded cliques to put their views.

Dr Robert Kelso, from the Faculty of Business and Law and Central Queensland University, said it was 28 years since the creation of the Family Law Act and 13 years for the Child Support legislation.

"The deleterious effects upon Australian families and children and the economic destruction associated with those pieces of legislation and practices are increasing at an exponential rate.

"Despite the damning evidence presented to two parliamentary inquiries and numerous reviews, and the overwhelming rejection of the legislation by ordinary Australians, the reaction to date by the legislators, judiciary and bureaucrats has been to strengthen the punitive and regulatory mechanisms in the hope that crude force will prevail over morality and common sense. The greatest immediate losers in this process have been children and fathers; the long-term destructive effects upon Australian society have been evident for more than a decade and the time for the parliament to either radically overhaul or abolish those institutions is long overdue.

"Current government policy approaches to marriage and divorce have been driven by ideology rather than the best interests of children. Recent attempts by the parliament to improve the situation have been worse than ineffectual, in many cases they have contributed to or exacerbated the very problems which they were designed to prevent."

Kelso had taken a particular interest in the operations of the CSA from the standpoint of his specialty, public sector ethics. He said administrative decisions by child support officers were in effect final determinations and there was no proper appeal mechanism, for example where public servants deem an individual's income. He said the courts refused to charge the CSA Registrar with contempt when the Registrar or a delegate blatantly ignored court orders.

"Child Support officers also know that despite overwhelming evidence of illegal activity presented to the Joint Select Committee which reported in 1994, that the parliament refused to refer that criminal activity by public servants to the Director of Public Prosecutions or Federal Police. That refusal to address illegal activity by CSA officers has legitimated the contempt for payees' legal rights and entrenched a culture of systemic corruption within the Agency. Any doubt about these issues can be easily

dispelled by asking front counter staff in parliamentary offices about the complaints received.

"It is this blatant contempt for the parliament's intentions in legislation and the rights of payees and their children which lead to more than 20 years of complaints and charges of bias and corruption against the Family Court and Child Support Agency. Until now it has been the federal government's practice to ignore those obvious breaches of the laws in the hope that the money collected will balance the evil it has perpetrated. It is obvious now that the strategy is both morally corrupt and economically bankrupt. All we ask is that the government have the courage to confront the vested interests which have constructed the current systems, and that you act in the best interests of children and their families, assert your moral authority and remove this evil source from our children's future."

He recommended that all deaths of "clients" subject to the Child Support Agency be recorded on those institutions respective files and reported to the relevant minister and the number be published in Hansard, the parliamentary record, each year.

The suicide rate of child support payers was a topic raised by numerous witnesses and fathers groups. But at the end of an inquiry, which was supposed to determine amongst other things the fairness of the child support system, we were no closer to being able to answer one simple question: how many child support payers die each day?

In its submission to the inquiry Dads On The Air wrote that the issue of the death rate of child support payers would not go away.

"These schemes are being associated with high death rates amongst separated men wherever they operate in the Western world," the submission read. "Family law reform groups around the country have all claimed that it is likely that around three clients of the Agency suicide each day. The official suicide statistics do not rule out the feasibility of the claim. The government has acknowledged that there is no documentary evidence to contradict the claim. Others suggest that the death rate is likely to be higher than the mere suicide rate suggests because of the poor health outcomes for separated men, exacerbated by poverty, depression and loss of children.

"The government through the responsible Minister Larry Anthony has acknowledged that it does not know how many clients die each day. This is an extraordinary admission. The government needs to take immediate action to monitor the death rate of child support payers so that it can be compared with the general population. It needs to immediately release the figures on how many clients are dying. This is a fundamentally significant indicator of the health of family law in Australia.

"The Child Support Agency needs to be either totally reformed or abolished. It is a clear case of good intentions gone savagely wrong. The take per child is now less than when it was created. The CSA is one of the most deeply hated of all government institutions. There are numerous very well-documented tales of the CSA's destructive impacts on people's lives, including on second families. One interview we conducted at an information night, a second wife lamented that her husband had been stressed out of his mind and had a brain tumour. We asked if the cancer had made the CSA lay off. "Are you joking!?" she asked. It made good radio. It doesn't make for a good society.

"The Agency creates massive conflict between separated couples and between itself and its clients. It acts to discourage co-operative parenting after separation. It promotes welfare dependence and is the driving force behind the extremely high unemployment rates of separated fathers. It needs to be reformed or abolished to encourage productive and co-operative joint custody arrangements to become the norm."

At the inquiry, just as they had done since the CSA's inception, the government, or more precisely the public service bureaucracy, dodged the issue of how many child support payers were dying.

Here is the Hansard transcript when the question was finally popped to the head of the Child Support Agency Cathy Argall and the head of the Department Mark Sullivan.

"CHAIR - Do you keep records and statistics on deaths of child support payers?

Argall - On individual records, we would record information that became available to us about the death of either parent or the children.

CHAIR - I ask that question because it has been raised, as you might note, in submissions, particularly from the Lone Fathers Association, that indicate that there is a significant proportion of male payers who suicide over the issue of child support and contact - and I understand that child support is not associated with contact and that that is not your issue. But it has been raised time and time again in these submissions that there is a significant amount of despair happening, particularly in male payers, in relation to child support, when they cannot particularly afford it or they cannot see a light at the end of the tunnel with respect to their financial circumstances and maybe if they are in a new relationship. If there have been deaths or suicides, can the Child Support Agency extract this type of information? I do not how we can refute the claim that is constantly being made. Is there an ability to extract that sort of information?

Mr Sullivan - There is no doubt there is an issue of increased suicide rates amongst separated males. I think some of the best material that we can provide in support of that is that we, as a department, managed a set of trials of men's relationship programs. There is an evaluation of those trials. We will make sure that we give you the evaluation document.

CHAIR - That would be very helpful.

Mr Sullivan - There is no doubt that separation, and everything that goes with separation, does influence suicide rates in males. One of those factors is child support. It does not provide evidence for or against those who assert that the child support aspects of separation are the issue that drives men to suicide...

The interesting issue that came out of the evaluation is that, with good counseling and good support services, you see a decrease in the suicide rate of males who are maintaining their child support payments. That is not conclusive but it is more suggesting that it is the issue of separation and the trauma of separation which probably needs to be addressed most significantly. We are seeing, out of those 10 or so services, significant positive results and certainly enough for the government to decide to now put in place continued funding for those services.

I will get you copies of the evaluation of the men's relationship programs and anything else we have in the family relationship program area.

CHAIR - That would be very helpful. "

An evaluation of a family relationship program did not answer the question of how many of their clients died each day. If the claim by fathers groups that at least three payers suicided each day was true then the government had a very serious problem. The death rate of child support clients is a crude but fundamental indicator of the health of family law and child support in Australia today. It should be public knowledge.

Dr Kelso told DOTA unemployment was one of the few safe havens for fathers, with up to 40% of CSA clients in this category. "The loss of productivity and diversion of welfare dollars to what should otherwise be a productive individual is significant. These practices and outcomes are not in the best interests of children; they are not in the best interests of the nation...

"In order to restrict the Australian public's access to the complete data and the effect of their practices, the Family Court and Child Support Agency resort to secrecy, official misinformation (lies) and refusing to collect critical information on the number of suicides. Section 121 secrecy provisions, jailing CSA defaulters and measures to increase the collection rate from struggling non-custodial parents are signs of a system in crisis. The root cause of that crisis is a lack of legitimacy, the most obvious manifestation is the systemic corruption of administrative systems and legal procedures designed to manufacture consent...manufactured by coercion and exhaustion, emotional, physical and economic... Tearful consent and the subsequent denial of contact with their children in many cases ends in suicide and violence...

"Every day across Australia men suicide as a result of their treatment by the CSA or the Family Court and neither of those institutions will acknowledge their part in the process. The Family Court separates children from their parents. A new stolen generation of children is being created. Civil libertarians who would normally be allies in the fight against injustice are more concerned with fathers and children in detention centres or in overseas countries but are deaf to their neighbours' cries..."

Chairwoman of the inquiry Kay Hull said the suspected death rate of child support payers showed that the difficulties with the CSA go well beyond the hot topic of the suicide rate of paying fathers.

"Without doubt the Agency is causing many personal and social problems and that was reflected in the evidence we took," she said. "In many cases there was a very poor attitude within the Child Support Agency.

"The issue we wanted to deal with is how to do we stop not only suicides but mental health issues, emotional breakdown, physical incapacities. It is not just the suicide rate."

The submission from the team at Dads On The Air pointed out that for there to be a genuine and effective introduction of joint custody there needed to be fundamental and sweeping reform of the institutions responsible for the welfare of separated families.

"We are aware of a number of scandals circling the operations of family law and child support in Australia which have the potential to seriously embarrass the government," the submission said. "It is unlikely that the mainstream media's traditional reluctance to broach these issues will continue. We believe if the government does not take action it will ultimately be propelled to do so.

"The disenchantment with the operations of the Family Court are broad and profound and extend to the operations of the family law units of Legal Aid.

"We believe a proper external audit of the court would reveal much utterly inappropriate conduct by the judges of the Family Court and there is much anecdotal and documentary evidence to support this claim."

All the material going up on line was immediately available from the Committee's website. This was in stark contrast to the comparatively secretive public meetings of the government's previous inquiry culminating in the Out of the Maze report, where the input of witnesses was heavily interpreted and the will to do nothing apparent to many suspicious participants.

In its submission to the inquiry the Shared Parenting Council recommended:

"That the Family Law Act be amended to require parents to jointly and equitably share the rights, duties and responsibilities of parenthood.

"That the Family Law Act be amended to include a statement acknowledging the fundamental rights of children to maintain frequent and continuing contact with both their mother and father following parental separation or divorce and to experience and enjoy, the love, guidance and companionship of both their parents in an equal and shared manner.

"That the Family Law Act be amended to establish a rebuttable presumption in favour of both shared residence and shared parenting responsibility with the burden of proof to rebut the presumption being placed upon the party seeking to impinge upon the rights of the child, a parent or other significant person, in specified circumstances where there is a clear and imminent risk of harm to the child.

"That the burden of proof that a shared parenting order ought not be granted falls upon the party requesting alternative custodial arrangements."

There was no tradition or history of easy co-operation between the various fathers groups, despite the fact they were largely campaigning for exactly the same things. Previous attempts to make Lone Fathers the peak body had failed. Keeping them together in even loose alliances was like herding cats.

The creation in February 2003 of the Shared Parenting Council of Australia, with close to 30 affiliated members, was an important step forward in the campaign for family law reform. It gave the media an easy moniker to hang an idea around. As Federal Director Geoffrey Greene, a single father of two with close ties to the Liberal Party, brought to an often politically and media-naïve movement a new and articulate voice due to his experience both as a lobbyist and Liberal Party staffer.

The fathers groups, which had virtually never had any funding or resources of any kind, functioned purely on the good will of volunteers and were borne largely out of personal grief, rarely put out press releases and rarely had members with even the most rudimentary experience of the media. As a result they always had problems establishing a media profile. The veteran of them all, Barry Williams of the Lone Fathers Association, did not, despite all his good heart, present as the most articulate or well educated advocate. He was easily snowed by Canberra's femocracy.

While Michael Green QC, author of Fathers After Divorce, was a reasoned and educated voice, he had not until recent times shared the same profile as Williams.

Malcolm Mathias, former President of the Victorian Branch of Lone Fathers and later President of the defunct Fathers For Family Equity, was another who toiled nobly in the field over many years trying to provide an articulate voice at a time when fathers groups were routinely parodied as right wing red necks.

In 2000 Mathias, a school principal with responsibility for hundreds of children during the day but who the Family Court had decreed could not be trusted with his own children, produced a detailed report Family Breakdown In Australia. Using material from the Australian Bureau of Statistics and the CSA it attempted to provide a statistical analysis of what was happening to separated families. The report demonstrated that many child support payers were not being left with enough money to survive, thereby making work pointless.

Finally, in the days before there were any hopeful signs of a change to the family law regime, he gave up his activism and writing. He told me by phone he felt completely broken by his own situation and that of so many others. And that the government knew perfectly well what was being perpetrated against its own citizens, they just chose to ignore it.

In Family Breakdown Mathias wrote: "The feeling of isolation which the non-custodial parent feels after the forced separation from the children is intensified by the apparent lack of statistical data, and the lack of community concern. The non-custodial parent often feels forced to fight a lone battle against the Family Court, the Child Support Agency, the Child Support Review Office, Federal politicians and an ignorant community.

"However, far from being alone, the number of non-custodial parents caught in this trap is increasing rapidly, but the Family Court, the Child Support Agency, and the Federal Government attempt to keep the magnitude of the problem a secret. The "non-disclosure" provision in the Family Law Act (Section 121) denies the 'media democracy' which is available to other community issues, thereby maintaining community ignorance of details about the magnitude of, and factors contributing to, family breakdown."

While Fathers For Family Equity, along with a number of other small groups, had gone by the wayside by the time of the 2003 inquiry, with the confusing array of groups and their vilification over the years, the Shared Parenting Council gave the media someone else beside Barry Williams they could turn to for a quick quote; a detailed backgrounder or a bit of gossip. Many other groups operated only part time and their volunteers were people who had never written a media release or been on radio or television in their life and who were caught up with their own jobs and lives and children. Often it came down to the simple fact that Greene was readily available when the media needed him.

The unity of the SPCA in putting a respectable mantle onto a disparate group of family law reformers and fathers groups had been a significant factor in breaking down the demonisation of fathers groups. This demonisation had picked up pace since the appearance of a fringe group the Black Shirts in Melbourne in 2002, a group whose paramilitary style outfits and extreme tactics led them promptly to court accompanied by lurid headlines; none painting a redeeming picture of separated fathers. With a cosy fit between left wing journalists, a predominantly female work force in the nation's

newsrooms and feminist ideology pumping from numerous taxpayer funded bodies, getting journalists to look beyond stereotypes or to bothering ringing anyone besides Barry Williams had long been difficult.

The Shared Parenting Council's submission read in part: "There are numerous research studies available that specifically look at the issues of child adjustment following parental separation or divorce. There is no valid empirical research available that justifies the current Family Law policy of making sole-custody orders in the ordinary everyday case coming before the Family Court in Australia.

"It is therefore surprising that the Family Court itself has failed to improve its 'client' outcomes by facilitating 'shared parenting' orders for families, and accordingly it has now become necessary for the Parliament to act to rectify the escalating problems experienced by children of divorce. In a recent 'meta-analytic' review by Robert Bauserman, published in the American Psychological Association's Journal of Family Psychology, Bauserman assessed that: "Children in joint physical or legal custody were better adjusted than children in sole-custody settings, but no different from those in intact families. More positive adjustment of joint-custody children held for separate comparisons of general adjustment, family relationships, self-esteem, emotional and behavioural adjustment, and divorce-specific adjustment. Joint-custody parents reported less current and past conflict than did sole-custody parents, but this did not explain the better adjustment of joint-custody children. The results are consistent with the hypothesis that joint custody can be advantageous for children in some cases, possibly by facilitating ongoing positive involvement with both parents.

"Research evidence demonstrates that children from divorced families are not as well adjusted as those from intact families. However when looking at all the custody options available at the time of parental separation or divorce, the option that is most likely to

result in emotional harm and increased maladjustment of children is the sole-custody model currently practiced by Australia's Family Court.

"There is no doubt that the available research indicates that joint physical custody (Shared Parenting) outcomes after parental separation or divorce has the least harmful impact on children, and provides the best child adjustment outcome when compared to the intact family."

In their submission The Lone Fathers Association's noted there had been a large increase in children growing up in fatherless families over the previous 30 years, very few children were receiving the type of care they would prefer, that is equal time with both parents and boys were growing up without appropriate male role models while girls suffered without appropriate adult male figures which would be important to them in later life.

"Empirical evidence clearly indicates that children raised by a divorced single parent are significantly more likely than average to have problems in school, run away from home, develop drug dependency, and/or experience other serious problems.

"Prima facie, the community should, in the interests of children, avoid having them living in sole custody arrangements wherever practicable. In a large proportion of cases the alternative of joint physical custody would be practicable, if it were not discouraged by the legislature and/or judicial authorities. The greater cooperation between parents which necessarily occurs under a shared

parenting model improves parental attitudes, in many cases out of sight, and results in great benefits to the children.

"The adversarial model, by causing both parents to fear that they will lose the children, effectively compels many parents to fight hard, where they can, through the legal system. This then tends to give the judicial authorities the appearance of parents in sharp conflict — although this conflict would usually subside when the more natural arrangement of shared parenting was granted.

"There is also a serious problem in the philosophy and approach of the Family Court of Australia, which has the main responsibility for dealing with these matters. The Family Court effectively encourages and implements a model ofsole parenting. This creates a "win-lose" mentality on the part of parents. The "loser" often becomes a mere transient in the lives ofhis/her children, and this is almost invariably bad for the children.

Lone Fathers went on to note that the Family Law Act stipulated that "Children have the right to know and be cared for by both their parents". The Family Court could make shared parenting orders even without parental consent now. But it has largely ignored this opportunity. The Court has, in fact, gone in the reverse direction, as the proportion of shared parenting orders granted has steadily declined over time. There have also been major problems with the accuracy of advice given to the Government on shared parenting by the Family Court and the Family Law Council.

The submission from the Men's Rights Agency noted: "Since the Prime Minister expressed interest in the concept of rebuttable joint custody – where the court presumes a child should spend equal time living with

each parent unless there are strong reasons against it – there has been an incredibly positive reaction from the Australian public. Three media polls, albeit

straw polls, indicated substantial support for change and for the proposal in particular."

News Corporation asked its readers, Do you think joint custody should automatically be awarded when parents break up? 62.68 per cent answered

Yes; the Melbourne Herald Sun asked, Should Australia's custody laws be overhauled? 86.9 per cent said Yes; and the Sunday program on Channel 9 asked, Should divorced parents be given equal shared custody of their children? 82 per cent answered Yes.

The MRA also observed that despite the introduction of no fault divorce in 1975 "unfortunately, for a variety of reasons that need further exploration, it is questionable as to whether "fault" has been erased or not. Father's emerge from the Family Court being allowed to see their children only 26 times a year, ordered to sign over up to 70 or 80% of the family assets to the mother, who retains the day to day care of the children. If a man told you this is how he had been treated by the Court one would think he must have been an awful husband and father to be punished so. If one takes removal of children and

loss of assets as a sign of punishment, fault has not been removed, just transferred to the father in most cases.

"Perhaps the removal of 'fault' has failed because of the nature of the court system needing to find a winner and therefore a loser; perhaps it became easier to award

custody of children to the mother, together with inequitable amounts of family assets when believing the father to be a scoundrel, despite any allegations of domestic violence or child abuse being unproven and unlikely.

"The benefits to be gained by Australian families and society in general from the introduction of legislation that will reduce the loss of fathers from family life will be untold. A rebuttable presumption of joint custody and/or equal shared parenting is a standard that will presume that the best interest of children is promoted by having two divorced parents share equally in all aspects of child-rearing."

The Joint Parenting Association, particularly utilising the work of Juri Joakimidis, had produced an impressive volume of material on the subject of shared parenting, including the monograph Back To The Best Interests Of The Child: Towards A Rebuttable Presumption of Joint Residence. This was used as the organisation's submission.

The paper argued that "current family law pathways seem to be wrong with only limited attention given to the emotional, social, and financial well being of all members of the defunct family system. Even a cursory look at the evidence documents that children are

victimised by sole custody decisions in at least three ways: emotional victimisation, economic victimisation, and increased risk for child abuse.

"Research results on joint custody have changed and consensus has emerged in the psychological literature, which suggests joint custody should be a rebuttable presumption of the Family Court. The available literature also supports the following conclusions:

- Children adjust much better to divorce in joint custody compared to sole custody;
- Children's attachment bonds to both parents are essential for healthy development, and those bonds should be protected by the Family Court;
- Non-custodial parents are often intentionally victimised through contact denial, and children are hurt when the relationship with either parent is broken in that manner;
- Joint custody leads to much higher compliance with financial child support;
- Mothers are much better adjusted and supported more in joint custody situations;
- Fathers are much better adjusted in joint custody arrangements;
- Litigation and re-litigation is lower in joint custody situations;
- Divorce rates are much lower in jurisdictions which have a presumption for joint custody;
- Joint custody is the preferred option in high conflict situations, because it helps reduce parental conflict over time—and that is in the best interests of children;
- The current winner—loser system is irrational. The typical custody dispute involves two fit and loving parents who each want to avoid being cast out of the

role of parent and into the role of visitor."

The Joint Parenting Association said it did not believe that government officials should delay legislative action in anticipation of future research findings. To do so would jeopardise the well—being of at least 50,000 children who experience either divorce or unwed motherhood each year, as well as countless others who are currently struggling to cope with the confusion and adversity foisted on them by misguided adults. We now have had the advantage of approximately 25 years of research studies to inform our legislative decisions. It is time to act on this accumulated wisdom. "

Outside the often repetitive submissions from the hundreds of taxpayer funded industry groups, all with a vested interest in the sole custody regime and all opposed to shared parenting, many of the individuals making submissions had clearly thought long and hard about the subject.

Michael Sobb of Rydalmere in Sydney said his reading of a variety of research reports over a number of years had confirmed to him there were a significant number of adverse consequences over the lack of a father. "It is a highly undesirable situation where one parent provides financial support for the children but then is not involved at a commensurate level with respect to the other aspects of parental responsibility and the children's development," he wrote. "There is no doubt that the children become aware of this and can readily conclude that perhaps they are not deserving of all the shared parenting responsibilities they constantly witness amongst their friends."

CHAPTER FIVE: THE WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE

It was always going to be an emotion drenched inquiry. While the government funded domestic violence industry, along with the entire bureaucratic and judicial edifice, all united in their opposition to shared parenting, was well represented, there was also a solid body of evidence taken from fathers, grandmothers and non-custodial mothers to indicate the enormous private distress that existed in the community around family breakdown and separation issues. The poor reputations of the Family Court of Australia and the Child Support Agency were clearly on display. The government inquiry, the most publicly open and comprehensive of the many inquiries held into family law, heard numerous tales, in some ways very similar in some ways very different, right across the country.

The Committee kept up a cracking pace. From the first day in Geelong and then Melbourne it travelled to Launceston in Tasmania and in the following week moved several thousand miles up the east coast, taking in Wollongong, Sydney, the Gold Coast, Brisbane and Cairns. In a second dash mid-way through the inquiry it took in Adelaide, Darwin and Perth and in the final stages of the inquiry it took in three regional locations, Wyong, Coffs Harbour and Gunnedah.

Despite the poor quality and specious logic of the final report Every Picture Tells A Story, the committee had appeared committed to change from the beginning. In the Launceston hearing, during an exchange with the Tasmanian branch of Relationships Australia Committee Member Chris Pearce said: "We have had quite a lot of evidence, and our own practical experience demonstrates to us as members of parliament, that in fact the system is not working very well overall. It is quite clear, in my experience anyway, that we need to make some significant changes."

Committee Member Harry Quick chimed in:

"We are hearing from the fathers. We are hearing from the mothers. We are hearing from Relationships Australia. I want to see the judges come before us so we can ask them some really important questions because they are, in my mind, one of the contributors to this stupid foul-up."

To which Witness One responded:

"From my point of view, I will hold you to that because time is running out with my children. They are growing up and I would like to spend quality time with them, so I will hold you to that."

The emotional swings and roundabouts of the inquiry were also there from the beginning.

lan Hickman from the Tasmanian Men's Health and Wellbeing Association was particularly intense:

"On my way up here today from Hobart, I was just overcome by the emotion of the whole thing. I was thinking, 'I want to say this. I want to tell them that story.' I want them to feel the pain of the children and of the fathers and the mothers too. My contact has been mostly with the fathers. I want them to know that this is an issue right now. No more research. The research is out there. This is an issue right now that needs to be dealt with before we lose too many lives or wreck too many more lives because too many people have already gone under."

Chairwoman Kay Hull concluded that part of the morning with the words: "We really do understand that it is a very difficult and emotional issue..." There would be more tears.

The first main individual witness in Tasmania, a school teacher, was cogent in his condemnation of the system:

"Even though the law of this nation allows and permits males through the law—men who have the capacity, I might add, to care equally as well as mothers—to have dual custody rights, a judge or magistrate in the Family Court, if this decision has to be made by such a person, will not allow dual custody to be a reality for fathers. If you are part of that five per cent, you often come away badly. But that is unless the father can afford the most expensive lawyer or can prove beyond a shadow of a doubt and then some that the mother is an unfit person. This second option only helps to undermine future mother-father and family relationships.

"The adversarial nature of the Family Court is the wrong way to settle such personal disputes," the school teacher continued. "This common knowledge is not just privy to this room. All separated mothers, greedy lawyers, Family Court registrars and Family Court counsellors are also aware of it, thus forcing less well off separating fathers to settle for far less contact than what they or their children would have wished. After being a teacher in a low socioeconomic area high school, I can definitely attest to witnessing the problems that teenagers of separated families have. This is especially evident for boys, who suffer from a lack of contact or regular contact with their fathers."

He said of changes ordered in his case by the Family Court: "I cannot tell you the distress it caused to our situation. I could not—you know how I feel, so you can see

that. This caused considerable emotional distress to them, and the adversarial nature of the court caused irreparable damage to myself and the boys' mother. We are three years hence and it still exists. The conclusion I came up with as a citizen, a father, a businessman, a teacher, is that I am expected to have and demonstrate an equitable moral point of view to participate in the modern world and especially within Australia. I am just asking this committee to recommend to the federal parliament that this equity point of view be legislated into the Family Court structure. As a male, I feel that I am not equal. In the words of my sons, 'Dad, we want to see you and mum fairly.' "

A clearly moved Julia Irwin said: "I hope that there can be changes made and I am sure when your beautiful boys grow up and you keep a copy of this Hansard, you can say to them, 'Well, kids, I tried to make a difference."

What weasel words they turned out to be.

Kay Hull wound up by saying it was a difficult hearing for the committee because each and every one of them had a role as a parent and as a grandparent. "I think the issues we are confronting are daunting and difficult, and a lot of times it is not made easier by the very difficult circumstances that we hear people are in."

The next witness was as equally strong, intelligent and articulate.

She spoke from the perspective of having been the spouse of a weekend contact father for the past five and a half years. In her submission, which related to both the Family Court and the Child Support Agency, she said she talked of the huge financial burden imposed on parents who use the Family Court system.

"In our case, we had no choice but to either give up on contact or fight through the court. Costs and the long delays, which also add to costs, mean the current system of resolving disputes over custody or contact between parents is not proving effective and nor is it available to those people disadvantaged financially or socially... The current system is inequitable in its treatment of fathers' custody rights... The court system creates further animosity between parents where they cannot agree by making parents adversarial rather than encouraging negotiation and mediation from the outset...

"If I had not agreed to assist him to pay the legal fees and assist with providing for his child he would not even be able to have contact now. Legal Aid was not a possibility as means tests factored my wage into the equation. Our first bill for initial contact arrangements from 1999 to 2001 we have only just paid off, at the rate of \$100 a fortnight. I raised the issue of the huge financial burden this has placed on us. We are about to receive a bill for the period going forward from 2001. I encouraged my husband to pursue, perhaps naively at the time, what I saw as his right and his child's right to have a relationship going down the track. At the time I encouraged him I had no idea of the effect this would have on our ability to have a different sort of lifestyle or even to consider a child within our own marriage.

"For many people who do not have this financial or emotional support, to even contemplate court is not an option due to the prohibitive costs. The Child Support Agency does not factor in legal fees as a valid cost associated with contact in its current formulas, and this is a further deterrent for parents choosing the Family Court route."

She said gender inequality was evident in the system and for any father to get beyond the standard contact arrangements to a dual parenting situation required costly litigation for fathers "to prove themselves worthy or, worse, the mothers need to be proved unworthy, causing parents to come into further conflict over the issue of custody contact, rather than there being an expectation of continued dual parenting of the child or children beyond divorce."

Her submission also gave details of the poor administrative processes, lengthy delays, errors and poor computer systems of the Child Support Agency, which she said in her case had created confusion and immense distress.

She called for reforms to address these imbalances and to ensure all the structures — the Child Support Agency, the Family Court and all the support mechanisms — were in line with current community values and norms.

This was important evidence because it demonstrated that many women, often highly articulate in their denunciations, were as equally upset as men with the operations of the Family Court and Child Support Agency.

Committee member Jenny George said that as a feminist herself she was interested in how the system was promoting the model of the primary care giver as a stay at home mum. To which "Witness Two" replied:

"Certainly in our case the presumption all the way through, both in the courts and with the Child Support Agency, has been of the mother as the primary caregiver at home. The reality was that my husband's former wife worked and she earned a lot more money than my husband — three times his salary. That just did not fit into any of the equations where the CSA was coming from and where the court was coming from."

First of the community witnesses, confined to three minutes each, was an impassioned father Justin who told the committee he believed every parent had the obligation to care for their children 50% of the time, as they were 50% parents, which fitted in with what "you guys" were proposing. He said: "I do not believe that any legal process is needed, unless there is molestation and everything else going on. Why do we need lawyers to figure out the shared proportion of a parent's obligation to care for the child? For me, child support is a punishment on a parent."

Many grandparents across the country spoke passionately to the inquiry. Thus our on air quip: it's a brave government that ignores the grannies of Australia!

In Launceston Maria said: "I have a question. We have been everywhere, to lawyers and all, trying to get some kind of legal advice on behalf of the grandchild. The girl ran off with him two years ago. We have not seen him since. My son cannot get any help. I do not know who to turn to. We do not know where to turn to. Nobody really gives us any advice. How can we get in contact with him? My son is paying the child support, but he does not know if his son is alive or dead. I really do not know what to do about it."

The previous day in Melbourne a string of grandmothers had also given evidence, already establishing one of the significant themes of the inquiry.

Grandmother and member of Grans Victoria Margaret Moder had said: "I can see where grandparents and other family members could be a part of helping this new system to work. We could be there as a backup to both parents. As somebody pointed out, there are four grandparents in most cases. We would like to be able to see this system work. I think it would work in being more equitable in the costs involved in

rearing children. I think it would reduce a lot of the costs and the need for government personnel to police infrastructures like the CSA to try and retrieve money. I think it would reduce the waiting list times for family law court hearings, because parents would then have to accept the responsibility of the care of their children. That covers all aspects of their care."

She was followed by another grandmother, Ann, who had two divorced children, including a son who rarely even got to see his kid on Fathers Day. "Children in marriage and partnerships are the emotional and financial responsibility of both parents. Both parents should have joint input into their children's lives. Both parents are responsible for their children's care, wellbeing, education, health and upbringing. Both parents have the need and emotion to give their love, affection and time to their children. Children need this love, affection, contact, discipline and time from each parent equally. If joint parenting was mandatory at divorce or separation, in most cases all these needs would be met and a huge disruption in lives, as experienced in the current family law custody orders, would hopefully be minimal."

The following week in Cairns, thousands of miles to the north, another grandmother, known only as Witness 3, said:

"We have a grandson who is 3½ years old. We love him dearly and he loves us, but we are not allowed by the mother to see him, speak to him on the phone or have any contact with him whatsoever. Up until eight months ago we played a very big role in this little boy's life, even up to the point where the mother left him in our care for five days while she went on a trip to Bali. Then one day the mother decided she had had enough of the lifestyle she was living in Cairns and took our grandson away...

"He was taken away from his father—our son. It has taken our son six months to access some rights through the legal system to enable him to see his son. But these rights do not make any allowances for us, as grandparents, to see our grandson. It is quite the contrary. If the mother knew that we were seeing our grandson at the times that his father had access, she would undoubtedly put greater restrictions on the father's access."

Another heartbroken grandmother in Cairns told the story of her son:

"Last month he had occasion to take the truck down to Gympie with some horses for somebody that we had sold them to and he was to have two days of access. He had not had access since January or February because of the hospitalisation of the child. In the agreement that they have stamped by the court he cannot have him a month either side of major surgery, so he had not had any access. But there is no catch-up mechanism in that for him to make up for the access he lost in the first six months of the year and he begged her for a second

lot of two days, giving the child two days rest in between, and she refused. She said if he kept pestering her she would bring a domestic violence order against him."

In Darwin, midway through the inquiry, a grandfather said: "First of all let me say that, while most people seem to think the Family Court functions very well, it does not function at all. Firstly, people tell lies and, while the magistrate says such things as 'If the wife is proven to be telling lies, she will be severely punished', the wife can be proven to be telling lies but there seems to be no punishment for perjury.

"They say to us, 'We would like mummy and daddy back together.' This is not practical, but they would like to see more of daddy."

Weeks later, at Coffs Harbour, Bev Pattenden, co-founder of a group called Grandparents in Distress at Grafton, said it had been founded "after we realised that we were not alone in our anguish over our grandchildren being separated from us and from one of their parents, usually the father—our sons. We felt we were powerless to make changes unless we formed a group...

"We found that we were just part of a system where members of a family had lost their rights and that lawyers, psychologists and the court had taken over the role, causing suffering, hardship, dismay and suicide. We found that mothers now had all the rights and fathers had none until such time as the court decided otherwise, that in most cases the fathers had been pushed aside as being irrelevant and unworthy of fathering their children and that it could cost thousands of dollars to prove their worthiness to be included in the child's life."

"The child support system was enough to cause the non-custodial parent to sometimes live in desperate poverty. We found that the word 'violence' had been twisted to mean even an angry word. After much anguish and research, we found that we were fighting a powerful and secret government authority that had been instigated in the days of the federal Labor government and had not been changed in the days of the coalition."

She said many grandparents would not speak out for fear of creating further problems.

"As you will have gathered by now, this is a worldwide problem in Western societies and so it is no use trying to correct the problem unless we know how it started, who the actual enemy is and why it continues to this day," she concluded. "Unless we realise that it is part of social engineering, based on the socialist-communist manifesto to destroy the family unit and religion, we are wasting our time and will bring even further anguish and sorrow upon our society."

The evidence of non-custodial parents was often gut wrenching.

Back in Launceston, where the tapestry of pain first began to take on force, one father, Brett, said: "Only recently my little boy came up to me and he said, 'Dad, why didn't you ever want me?' I said, 'What do you mean?' He said, 'I've always wanted to come and spend more time with you than every second weekend.' I said, 'That's true, and I wanted to spend more time with you.' He said, 'But now I think it's just good to leave it the way it is.' I said, 'Why do you think it's good to leave it the way it is?' He said, 'Because mummy showed me some court orders with your signature on it to say that you never wanted me."

A non-custodial mother Jo, amongst the first of a number of powerful speeches by non-custodial mothers, told the committee she let her son's father acquire full custody to allow him a stable life and to avoid bickering, arguing and fighting. She said of the father: "He has avoided any sort of allowance for me to have contact with him over the years. At every stage he has travelled the country extensively with our child and created for himself a status quo that will allow him to be able to continue to do this throughout the course of our child's adolescent life. Currently I have to somehow find the funds just to correct the wrongs. The injustice is that he has 100 per cent custody. My child is now 12 years old. Again, as one other person said, he believes that I abandoned him."

Before spending the afternoon taking in camera evidence the Chair Kay Hull thanked the audience and witnesses and described the morning as "an awakening".

"Certainly every day we hear further and further evidence which means that we can perhaps look to having a bipartisan outcome that perhaps can make the position better for the children and for the adults in the children's lives," she said.

With a short break for the weekend the committee resumed again on Monday morning in the traditionally industrial city of Wollongong south of Sydney, committee member Jenny George's seat. In the afternoon they were to travel to Blacktown in Western Sydney, another working class area.

Once again it was the community statements which provided some of the strongest evidence to the inquiry of the dysfunctional nature of the system and its destructive impacts on people's lives.

One father, Stephen, reported: "I came to a conclusion with my ex-wife only after we lost a house in legal costs fighting it in the Family Court and then, after four years, they decided to start back at square one and we were both broke. Then we had a mediation session and we sorted it out. I now am a non-custodial parent under the family court act and under the decision of that court, but I am a shared parent: I have two children; my ex-wife has two children. We have alternative weekends. And this was sorted out after we lost everything, after we sat down. I was not the one - my ex was told by her lawyer she would get everything. So for four years I fought her to prove that she was not going to get everything. That was between us. Our children suffered. Now our children are better adjusted."

Another father Dennis described the CSA as "harsh and unfair" while John said: "There is a financial inducement because of the amount of support that I have to pay which prevents me from seeing my son on some occasions. I find it absolutely abhorrent that the system is set up in such a way that it can be used to prevent fathers from being able to have contact with their children."

In something of a rarity one father Robert didn't use up his full three minutes. All he said was: "I would like to spend more time with my daughter. Meanwhile, she is stuck in day care because the mother is worried about her pension being reduced and her family payments being reduced. To go through all this she has wasted taxpayers' money through legal aid and day care."

One separated mother Barbara, whose ex was a Qantas pilot with an irregular routine, spoke strongly in support of the shared arrangement they had evolved, saying children were very adaptable.

Shelley, who was engaged to a father who pays child support, said they had been in court for a year and a half and spent \$30,000 on court and legal fees. She said the process was drawn out and expensive.

"Without the presumption of shared parenting, there is the presumption that both parents are not equally important and not equally capable, which I think is not fair," she said.

The hearing in Wollongong ended with Andrew Thompson, secretary of the Non Custodial Parents Party, saying: "Please, it is very important for our children that we do

something about the system. In relation to lawyers, it is a disgrace. Why do we spend \$120 million per annum on the Family Court?

"Why do we spend millions of dollars on the Child Support Agency when they do not do their job? I am sure you know that they are not efficient. I have had my wages garnisheed and I have had my tax return taken from me. I have a second family now with three children under eight years of age so I know what it is like from both sides. I have not seen my first two children for the last nine years. My oldest boy is 21 and my daughter is 14 and I do not even know what they look like.

"I have done nothing wrong. I have got no criminal convictions whatsoever. I was led astray by my own solicitor and barrister. I took them on as well. You have got lawyers investigating lawyers. You have got barristers investigating barristers. It is an absolute joke. I lost \$50,000 to \$60,000 of money which I did not have. I had to get a mortgage to pay for it. I lost my property outright at the court hearing. I was told to pay for her costs as well. I have done nothing wrong. I am just here for justice for all of us, and we have to do something. Please do something."

To which Kay Hull, in closing, responded: "This is a hugely emotional issue, not just for yourselves but actually for the committee members as well. We are hearing some significantly difficult issues that we need to come to terms with and be able to understand completely so that we can, hopefully, put forth recommendations that will try and redress the problems that are out there at the moment."

By 3pm the committee was once again facing a crowded room, this time at the Blacktown civic centre deep in Sydney's west; once again a working class area where the problems of family law and child support impacted significantly on people's lives.

The first of the individual witnesses was an aboriginal woman who spokes about domestic violence and read the committee a poem: "If a child lives with acceptance and friendship, he learns to find love in the world."

Witness Two, a registered nurse, argued for mediation and said: "Sometimes ordinary people can strive to do extraordinary things."

Witness Three was a psychologist and researcher at the University of Western Sydney with an academic interest in the area. He said his own shared parenting arrangement had worked well for his children but he was concerned about the lack of shared parenting in Australia, given the social changes of the past 30 years.

He said his own ex partner, also a psychologist, only agreed to a trial run of shared parenting 12 years ago because he was threatening to drag the matter through the courts.

"At the end of that year she was satisfied that it was good for her, too. She was also interested in her career. That was one of the things, during that year, which really helped her to realise, 'Hey, wait a minute. I've got some freedom. I can look after my career interests now, too. I don't have to try to juggle everything. I've got someone I can call on if I am sick, when I have special times or when I have to go to meetings.' All those things became clear for her in that intervening year of the trial and at the end of that year she said, 'Fine.' He said if separating couples were obliged to enter shared parenting trials for a year "a lot of them would realise that it is not only for the benefit of their children but for their own benefit to do that."

"The experience of fathering for me has been very powerful in my life," he said. "If I had been deprived of that experience it would have been a terrible loss. I only know about it because I have been through it. I would never have known about it otherwise. Looking back, 12 years ago, if I had gone to the Family Court I would have lost. I would not have had my kids; that is very clear. I know too many dads—and they were good dads—who did end up in the Family Court and did lose; they lost the opportunity to have the sort of input into their children's lives that I was lucky enough to have."

Fathers were particularly strongly represented among the community witnesses at Blacktown. These parts of the hearings were inevitably intense.

One father, Ryan, said he was the primary carer of his daughter before she was abducted to the United States by her mother more than two years ago and pleaded with the committee to introduce not just a rebuttable presumption of joint custody but to ensure that such abductions could not take place. "I have slept little since my daughter's abduction. I have not been to bed since, waiting every night for the phone to ring. I do not know anything about my daughter. I do not know whether she is well. I do not even know what she looks like. I spent over two years fighting to get this matter into the Family Court of Australia, whilst my now ex-wife is allowed to frustrate the process. The Hague Convention does not work."

A Dr Monaem, who had two daughters aged ten six years old who strongly supported joint custody, said as a Muslim man and an ethnic person he was fearful of the court system. He said since his wife left three months previously he had been allowed to see the children only a couple of hours a week.

"My problem is, as an ethnic father, should I go to the court? As I have heard from so many people around here, I am very sceptical about family courts—whether I can get a proper hearing. Coming from an ethnic background and also as a Muslim person, I am more sceptical. In a way, I am very scared of the current political situation: how will my case be heard in the court? I understand from various sources that my wife is preparing something for court so that I can be demonised as a bad Muslim, as a violent Muslim man. That really scares me to go to the court. Before the separation, I calculated that I spent about 60 per cent of the kids' time going to the school, piano lessons, swimming lessons—all of this—but now I can only see them for a few hours a week."

One divorced father, Mr B, condemned the court as an adversarial environment without "the best interests of the children at heart" while another from the Lone Fathers Association in Newcastle said he went through "a very nasty, savage and brutal hearing" to get access to his three daughters aged eight, six and four. He said after a spate of false accusations he had not seen them he had not seen them for two years, "so the four-year-old will not remember me."

Another father, Robert, said his strong attachment to his children was ignored by the court. "I found that the words 'the best interests of the children' were mentioned in nearly every single page in my hearing, whereas nothing whatsoever in the hearing was to do with the best interests of my children."

Not for the first time, and certainly not the last, one of the most powerful speakers was a grandmother Rhonda, who's son, a high profile advocate of joint custody, had, during the course of the inquiry, just had an extremely negative judgement in the Family Court, losing the shared parenting arrangement that had been in place for three years. The

government had done nothing to protect the children and parents from the institutions they were criticising.

She said after her two grandchildren had been abducted into a cult by their mother it had taken a great deal of money and effort to try and get some normality for the two children involved, costing more than \$50,000 to get a shared parenting arrangement in place.

"I had to sell my house as my son could not afford litigation," she said. "This resulted in a shared parenting order for my grandchildren, which was working well for the children for about three years. Unhappy with lack of control of the children and her ex partner—my son—the mother filed a further application for sole residency. At the directions hearing my son was refused to allow bringing evidence of the mother's previous conduct of abducting the children and her involvement in the cult. Subsequently the court went ahead with no evidence of material harm to the children by the current shared care arrangement.

"The Family Court subsequently sided with the mother and criticised my son for his desire to stay at home and parent his children. All evidence brought by my son was completely ignored, notwithstanding the children were thriving under the current arrangement.

"Last Friday the Family Court in Adelaide took the children from my son and they have now exposed my grandchildren to further psychological and emotional harm by disrupting a well-established, equal and fair residential arrangement.

"The Family Court takes little or no consideration of the permanent harm caused to children by having their relationship with one of their parents terminated. The Family Court has demonstrated, in my son's case, its absolute opposition to shared parenting."

The hearings adjourned at 6.25 pm. It had been another long day.

The next day the Illawara Mercury carried the story on page eight with the headline "Parents plea for custody fairness".

The paper quoted Committee Chair Kay Hull as saying: "Primarily what we're seeing is a cross-section of issues – dads who are paying child support and who don't appear to be getting contact with their children, and mums who are in the same position. There is strong concern that the cost of family law and the cost of fighting for your rights is just so almost insurmountable that they don't have a choice."

The Daily Telegraph also reported Hull saying they wanted to remove the law and adversarial focus from the process as much as possible. She floated the idea of children having their own legal representation. The idea ignored the very poor reputation of those already practicing this craft.

By Thursday morning the committee was in Robina on the Gold Coast; later the same day they would travel to the Brisbane suburb of Keperra.

Witness One, a divorced father of two, said the whole point about 50-50 contact is that it is fair: "It is fair for the father, the mother, the children and the extended family. The public—those who are not involved in divorce or have not been touched by it—do believe that the present system is fair. Only when they enter a divorce or are touched

by this do they realise how unfair the present system is. The Australian ethos is based on fair play. This is what the public expect and this is what they want."

He said 50-50 contact would empower the father to give emotional support to the children. "It will empower him to be more financially responsible. It will also allow him to be practically involved in the day-to-day care and upbringing of the children. The education system is continually crying out for more male influence in the system. This will also encourage him to be included and valued in and throughout the schooling life of the children. This sort of parenting will also allow a balance of religious views to be imparted to the children from both the mother and father.

"The mother will also benefit from a 50-50 parenting arrangement as she will be given more time to better establish herself in the work force. She will also be allowed to share the pressures of single parenthood with the father."

Committee member Julia Irwin stated: "For that to work you would have to be close to their schools and their sporting activities, for example."

To which he replied:

"Bring it on. I am living here. I am staying close. I am doing everything I possibly can to be close. I am stopping promotion. I am not moving back to Sydney. I am doing everything I possibly can to be there. We want to make those decisions. We want to live close.

We want to deny ourselves climbing the corporate ladder to be with our family and kids. That is what we want.

"I spent \$100,000 to get every second weekend. I could have walked in off the street, put my hand up and said, 'I am the father,' and I would have got every second weekend."

Witness two, a father of four children aged 24, 14, 12, and 10 said:

"All the wake-up calls that have been given to anybody have never been taken notice of by any political party, by any committee or by anyone in the Family Court. You people have the chance to make a very fundamental statement - not for the next few years, not as an experiment. You have to look at the principle involved here, and that principle has to be enshrined so that it will stand the test of time, forever.

"The Family Court, with respect, have failed in their application of the act of the 70's. There is no performance criterion that can be used that says they have been successful.

"They have failed and you have got to accept that. If you do not accept that, the solution that is going to come out of this will not be a good one for the future of our children. You have got to attack that legislation and ask, 'What is right for the children?' What is right for the children is an equal right of parenting for those kids by the mother, the father or whomever — an equal right to both of the parents for the children. How that is worked out and drafted I do not know...but I know it was not drafted properly in the first place."

Witness Two said he had avoided the Family Court "because it was a fruitless, pointless, prescribed route".

In response to questioning he said he believed the court should be opened up to greater public scrutiny. "You need only to go into that temple in Brisbane to see that it is not a family court — that is a shrine of intimidation. It is a venue that is not family orientated. It is not user-friendly. It is a very frightening experience to go into those so-called hallowed chambers and people are not friendly—everybody. It is not a family court. I find it to be misnamed. I agree that they have to open it up. It has to be made accountable; it has to be open and transparent."

The committee then moved on to the Brisbane suburb of Keperra.

It was here that committee member Peter Dutton gave the clearest exposition yet of the idea of a tribunal to replace the Family Court, a window into the evolving thinking of the committee. It was an idea that once understood by the media would go on to make repeated headlines.

"One of the suggestions that has been made is that we should take this whole matter out of the Family Court, that we should exclude lawyers from the process and that we should have people speaking to each other through mediation. One of the suggestions, as I say, that has been made is that we set up a tribunal where we have, say, a three person panel that people deal with—it might be a child psychologist, somebody who is a trained mediator and somebody who might have a legal background."

At one point the Chair asked of one of the apologists for the system: "My question is: if people legitimately believed that the odds were not stacked against them - for various reasons the perception certainly is that the odds are stacked against people in the family law courts - and they knew they did not have to go through the huge cost and the trauma of going there, don't you think that would take some of the angst, anger and aggression out of the whole debate?"

As always, in Queensland the community statements provided some of the strongest material. One of the novelties of this inquiry was that the material was all available on the net within days:

John said: "I am here today because I feel that my role as a father has been trivialised and nebulised by the current laws and the family courts. I feel that both boys and girls need a father in their lives. From birth to the age of two, I was denied contact with my daughter by her mother. After paying to go to the family courts, they said I could have contact for four hours a week under supervision of the mother, because she was bonded with her mother. How she was supposed to bond with me if I had not seen her, I am not sure.

"For two years, I had contact with my daughter on the driveway in fine weather and in a rubbish bin enclosure when it rained. When I asked for a cuddle from my daughter she said, 'Mummy said no."

One working mother, Jennifer, who's ex husband did not work, had waged a long legal battle for shared care. "I was forced back to work because my husband lost his job and as I have no other way of supporting my son and myself," she said. "If I had thrown myself on the mercy of the social welfare system, my position in the family law court would have been entirely different. Working parents, whether they are mothers or fathers, are extremely disadvantaged under the current Family Law Act."

Echoing the concerns of many fathers, she said:

"No mother can establish a relationship with her child, particularly with one as young as my son, every second weekend. This would not allow me to be a mother to him, to play with him, to bath him or to have any sort of meaningful input into his life."

She said fortunately her family had provided sufficient financial support to obtain an interim order for shared care, which her husband continued to resist, and the the next round in the Family Court was expected to cost in excess of \$20,000.

"While it is clear that shared care will not work in every case, it is the best starting point to negotiate a fair and equitable outcome for children," she said. "Currently family law court mediators do not even consider shared care as an option."

The evidence simply continued to mount.

In Cairns, a week after the committee had begun its sweep up the eastern seaboard, Witness One declared:

"In my situation I worked the hours and made the money by mutual agreement and my ex-wife stayed home. When it came to the separation and the court proceedings, I was told that I had no chance of even going for custody of the children because she spent most of the time with the children. Therefore, she was most likely going to get the children. That is what happened in my case.

"If we have joint custody, I believe that this will certainly ease the pain of children upon separation. It certainly will ease the pain of the parents and grandparents. Hopefully, it might even make people try to work their marriage out a little bit better before they do separate. I believe that it will decrease any suicidal risks or suicidal thoughts that pop into people's heads upon separation. Grandparents play a big part in the children's lives before separation so I

believe they should play a great part post separation, and that is on both sides of the family."

Witness 4 was one of a number of concerned citizens without a personal grievance who made representation to the committee. He was expressing concern over a workmate: "I have seen what it has done to him and how it has affected his health. He is absolutely financially destitute and he is on the verge of selling his house. The Family Court does not care — it says, 'Sell your car as well, as long as she is getting her payment'. I have seen what it is doing to his life and what a mess it is making of him. His health has suffered and he has got to the stage where he is passing blood. He is just a nervous wreck. Something has to be done. He does not know where to turn for help."

A Mr Pearson, 26, said he was about to go to court to fight for access to his son, "but the thing that pushes me away is that it is going to cost me thousands. I am going to send myself bankrupt in order to see my child."

James said emotional and spiritual support were difficult for a non-residential parent to offer "when courts, agencies, society in general and ex-spouses, male or female, insist on using children as pawns in a game of revenge, which is never conducive to helping the child achieve their full potential.

"Emotional support is difficult to offer when these external influences insist on depleting the non-residential parent's finances—and, ultimately, their esteem and chances of recovering and bettering themselves.

"Often when separation occurs, to avoid rocking the boat, non-residential parents will forgo their legal status and rights with regard to contact. Finances are often settled to their detriment, they are emotionally distraught from loss of contact with their beloved offspring and they have few avenues open to them to address the trauma and grief. The emotional issues are compounded by the insistent pressures of financial stress. Without any doubt in my mind, the ultimate twin losses are the non-residential parent's inability to live their own life properly, prosperously and fully and the children's lack of much-needed and desired stable emotional support from the non-residential parent."

Another father, Mr A, described his expensive court proceedings as absolute madness and the results devastating.

"At my son's first birthday, I would get 12 hours contact per week and, at 18 months of age, I would get 16 hours per week. In January 2004, when my son is two, he will get his first night with dad. At 2½ years of age he will get alternate weekends with his dad and at five years of age he will spend half the school holidays me. At no stage is shared residency implemented.

"The mother immediately swore, 'You will never have him overnight and I will gather as much evidence as is necessary and spend every last cent to ensure that."

The Cairns session ended on yet another highly emotional note with a father of an eight year old girl presently in a 50/50 shared parenting situation speaking of his fears of the situation breaking down and having to go to a court he could not afford.

"To date I have spent about \$15,000. Where I am going to find the money for the rest of it, if I have to go to court, I don't know. I don't know if I will be able to. If I can't find the money, I guess I will just have to walk away. The only way I can get her mother to budge is to do it through the court with the order of a judge.

"They talk about a child's best interest. We have a little girl here, who is eight years old, who wants to see her mum and her dad. In a lot of ways it appears that no-one is really listening to what she wants. I just hope at the end of the day we end up with a system that is more workable, that makes things more equitable for all members of the family — not just one person. If you did put some sort of arbitration system in place, it could achieve more results, rather than put families through a mediation system that often does not work or through a Family Court system that no-one can afford and where the money spent could better be spent in the interests of the child."

After a hiatus of ten days the "industry" in the form of the Attorney-General's Department, followed by the Department of Family and Community Services and the Child Support Agency, faced their first grillings at a committee room in Parliament House in the heart of the nation's capital, a room the bureaucrats perhaps learnt to dread.

The role of these agencies in the present debacle was under intense scrutiny. The starting time of 8.30am was indicative the committee meant business.

Nine days later the committee was once again clocking up thousands of miles of air travel as it moved in successive days from Adelaide to Darwin to Perth.

As with other locations, some of the most powerful and damning evidence the committee took was from individuals.

In Adelaide the atmosphere was already heightened with the appearance of a bristly Elspeth McInnes from the National Council of Single Mothers and their ideological opposites, the Joint Parenting Organisation and the Shared Parenting Council of Australia. While most people were arguing for a rebuttable presumption of joint custody, McInnes was arguing for a rebuttable presumption of no contact in cases of domestic violence.

Once again, too, it was the volatile Tasmanian Labor man Harry Quick who provided some lively exchanges. In grilling yet another representative from the domestic violence industry Mr Quick commented:

"The 'best interests of the children' is bandied about at will.

"How do you do that in an adversarial setting where Family Court lawyers are reaping in money hand over fist and not having anything to do with the interests of the child — just their own self-interest?"

He went on to declare "This whole issue of separation, family payments and child support and the Family Court is a bit like cancer or AIDS — if it does not affect you, you do not want to know about it."

In Darwin he compared the system to a sausage machine where "the lawyers are reaping untold wealth and there is this adversarial, dog-eat-dog situation."

It was also here that Quick quizzed "Witness 2" as follows: "We hear 'in the best interests of the child' bandied about ad nauseam. If we got your son here and said to him, 'How do you feel about the shared care arrangement?' what do you think he would say?"

"Witness 2 — I asked him that question and he said, 'It's good.' He likes it as it is and he said that—in his words—he gets to go fishing twice as much."

It was here, too, that the notion of a tribunal to replace many of the functions of the Family Court was first enunciated with a suggestion by the committee: "Some of us are of the view that before it gets to that, before you start spending some money, there ought to be some sort of tribunal where parenting plans are put forward and all the people involved in the children's best interests are somehow coerced or forced to sit down and work out a parenting plan in the best interests of the children."

It was also in Darwin, in yet another exchange with the domestic violence industry, that Chair Kay Hull quizzed a representative as to why a father that had been prepared to spend \$180,000 in the Family Court should not be allowed to share the care of his child.

To the by now familiar arguments from the industry that there would need to be good communication between the parties Hull pointed out that "the majority of individuals who have come before us who have shared care have basically no relationship — they are unable to get on with each other as individuals — but they still have a successful

shared care relationship. That has been the norm in the individuals who have come before us who have shared care."

Back in Adelaide, the torrent began with Witness One: "At no time has the system taken into account the care I have given to my child or the relationship I have with my child... I am of the view that the current system has developed a culture where it encourages further disharmony between parties, in particular where children are involved, from lawyers who inflame already emotional situations — I believe so that they can earn more fees—to the Family Court itself.

"All I ever wanted to know was that my child was going to have the best upbringing that she could receive and that I would play a part in it. I am of the opinion that the system fails to ensure that this happens.

"Everyone who has been involved with the Family Court or the Child Support Agency has had a painful experience. The system simply must change, as it does not work."

Like many another, Witness 2 condemned the Child Support Agency.

"I work a lot of hours and it is very annoying

on a Sunday when you know you are only getting 24c of your dollar," he said before the following exchange between him and committee member Chris Pearce.

"Do you think that your former wife would say to you that that is too much?

"She has said it. She laughs about it.

"She laughs about it?"

"Yes."

Later in the day another father, Martin, said men were killing themselves daily and if it had been women there would have been an inquiry years ago. He says the Child Support Agency "does drive you nuts." I pay 80 per cent gross income, I pay for their sports, full doctors and medication, full rent, rego and movies, but nothing is taken into account by the CSA. All the while my ex-wife is sitting home, having a beer, watching Foxtel with her pension card with all discounted, subsidised fees."

In Perth one of the major witnesses spokes passionately against the CSA. He seemed particularly incensed by the word "their" in the organisation's logo "Helping Parents Manage Their Responsibilities" and mirrored the name of one of DOTA's shows: "Helping Government Manage Their Responsibilities".

"It is only to be wondered at what sort of person works for the CSA. Everyone—all the despots in the world — needs someone to back them up in order to support their regimes. How can this exist in Australia in 2003?," the witness said.

"I have a stack of letters to the editor there, with people complaining about it. Everyone can read these things, including Labor politicians, but what has been done about it? Isn't that the reason we are here, so that something is done?"

Like others, penalty payments imposed the moment a person falls behind, also incensed him.

"I have a friend in Kalgoorlie whom I spoke to just yesterday. He owes \$1,000 in penalty payments. Where do these go to? How come we cannot find out? It seems to have little consequence that the child is not being looked after, as long as this person pays that penalty first.

"Why is it that I cannot find out whether my child exists? Why is it my responsibility to find this out at my expense? Why is there no-one to turn to in this country?"

In finishing up, Kay Hull asked of Witness 4: "So primarily it would be a distance factor that would prevent you from seeking to go to court to get some contact with your daughter?"

To which he replied, "I am reluctant to do that. Why should you have to go to court to have access to your flesh and blood? Why should this be?"

In Adelaide one child of divorce, Chantel, described the consequences of sole custody after her mother made false allegations of abuse against both her father and her paternal grandparents. As a consequence she did not see them for ten years.

She said although the accusations of abuse were proved to be false "when my mum went to court for sole custody, she still won due to the fact that she accused my father of being abusive. Little did I know that it was shown in court that my mum was the abusive one and he was just defending himself and me.

"Part of the reason the court said to my father and his family that he could not see me was because I said so, but little did they know that the reason I said the things I did was because of my mother and what was going on behind closed doors...

"For the 10 years that I was living with my mother, I do not recall one week that my mother did not pressure me into talking to her and listening to my so-called sexual abuse story.

"I have lived 10 years of hell and have been deprived of a childhood with a family that loves me — which I now know — and had to live a life full of lies and pain. If it had not been for my father keeping the papers in the hope that I would one day return, I would never have known the truth and would not have had the chance to finally be with my family. My case was also the longest Family Court case in South Australia, to my knowledge. It went for 54 days; not to mention the amount of taxpayers' money that was spent on my case, money that could have been spent on a case based on truth rather than on a case full of lies; not to mention the money that my family spent fighting for me — money which they needed to survive.

"Once the case was over, that was it. No-one checked up whether I was okay. Nothing ever happened. I was just alone with my mum for 10 years."

Amplifying the theme of false sexual abuse allegations, in the Adelaide community session Stephen said: "I would like to tell you that in no way, in no arena - whether it is the Family Court or the child welfare agencies or the Youth Court - dealing with the best interests of the child, is there any way in which a person accused of any type of child abuse, particularly sex abuse, can demonstrate their innocence.

"In my case, my children were removed and my case went from the Family Court to the Youth Court, because my children were then in foster care. I had to represent myself but all other parties had their representation paid for by the state government."

He records that on the first day of the trial "the barrister supposedly representing the children stood up and said, 'I object to the return of any child to this man on the grounds that he's never admitted to anything he's been accused of.'

"I have not seen my son now for two years and I have not seen my daughter for three years."

Other witnesses came forward. Mark said he went to jail for 42 days after false domestic violence accusations were made against him.

He said his cell mate was known as the Samurai sword killer and other inmates were laughing at him for simply being there on a domestic violence order.

"There were people in there wanting to go over and get my wife fixed up," he said. "Can you tell me how jail helped anybody in any way in that case? I have been the subject of several police raids. They have raided me for drugs, which they have never found; they have raided my parents' house for drugs, which they have never found. They even raided their own police force up at Aldinga looking for drugs that they never found, all on the accusations of my ex-wife."

He said he was charged with 37 different domestic violence orders and found guilty on two. "Those two were me writing a love letter and the other one a poem. The gist of the matter is now that I have not seen my children in $2\frac{1}{2}$ years; my wife has a \$400,000 house on the esplanade at Silver Sands; she has my grandfather's stamp collection and my stamp collection. Everything I have ever owned since I was a child, she has. She had no house, she had no car, she had nothing when we entered the relationship, yet she moved away with everything. I was left with a 1992 Honda and \$8,500 after 14 years.

"Where has the Family Court helped me in any way, shape or form as a male? It is not necessarily male against female, but I have not seen my children in those 2½ years. What about their rights to see me? They have no rights. You have a woman making up any bullshit under the sun and getting away with it. She had me locked up, with no evidence, no proof, nothing at all and I spent 42 days in Yatala. I had to spend 42 days covering my rear end. That was the most horrible thing about that place. I doubt whether any of you have ever been in that situation."

Pauline, a grandmother who says she was falsely charged with sexual abuse of her grand-daughter, said there was no evidence to support the claim but the child had suffered enormously through repeated interviews and internal examinations while she and her husband had been targeted at work.

"There was no checking up," she said. "There was no communication between the Family Court and the criminal courts. Hearsay evidence was taken as being true evidence.

"Hearsay evidence from the mother was quoted as being from the child. Perjury and collusion were also involved; perjury with the mother saying that I had committed these offences and collusion when friends of hers said the same thing. Witnesses were never

told at the end of the trial that we were cleared by the judge in the Family Court. They still believe that we are sexual abusers. My mother and my brother have not spoken to me for 13 years, because they believe I am a sexual abuser."

In Wyong another grandmother, Rosemary, said they had been subject to Apprehended Violence Orders being handled willy-nilly.

"Our son has had it done to him," she said. "It is a horrible thing, isn't it? It is a horrible thing to have put on you when it is absolutely false. She pleaded with the committee to "get to the bottom of all these matters, because there is a terrible lot of injustice. Men are just as loving as women. There are some loving men out here, and grandparents as well."

In Perth yet another father said the current situation in the Family Court is that an allegation is almost as good as a conviction.

"Allegations are made at a very strategic point during proceedings," he said. "It is never investigated, it is never disproved and it immediately works against. Many people, once they are issued with a restraining order, wonder: 'What's happened? I've been a responsible citizen. I've never been in trouble with the law. Suddenly, a restraining order presumes that I am guilty.'

"The restraining order is heard ex parte. The husband does not know about the proceedings until he is served with a restraining order. He is immediately judged guilty until he can prove himself innocent — if he can. It is a reversed onus of proof, and it may be three or four months before the ex parte restraining order is heard in court."

He said there was very high level of strategic use of restraining orders within the context of family law proceedings.

"The reason that restraining orders are so successful is that they need to alienate contact with one parent," he said. "It bumps up the property percentage. That, to my mind, is the saddest condemnation of our family law system as it stands."

The words corrupt, criminal and hypocritical were used to describe the family law system on a number of occasions.

One father, Dennis, said: "As far as I am concerned, based on my experiences over the years with the Family Law Act and the people involved - including politicians, certainly the police force and others - I regard it as a corrupt faggot-ridden system and it has been that way for a very long time."

In Darwin the next day a Mr Kennedy talked of the "corrupted role taken by the Family Court of Australia".

"I know of a father who had 42 per cent contact with his child after separation. They had a private agreement. The mother was sleeping over with the boyfriend and sandwiching the other child in with his children, and he did not like that. It does not sound satisfactory. One of the days of the week she was putting the kid in a creche. He went to the court to ask if he could have that extra day and the extra night.

"The federal magistrate, without argument from the other side, said, 'You're going to get the fathers package,' and he was cut back to 19 per cent. So the child spends another day and God knows how many more nights sardined in with other kids. "To me that is absolutely corrupt. They say it in the child's best interests; that is not in the child's best interests."

He said the court, by routinely placing the child in the statistically most dangerous environment of single mother households was "corrupt and hypocritical".

In Adelaide a string of aggrieved fathers told of their disgust and horror at the present system.

Witness "Peter 1" described a common scenario of coming home to find his wife and left and taken their young children, leaving a note to say they had been taken away.

"She played hide and seek with the children for several weeks, denying me contact. I sought legal advice. Her lawyer never got back to us, prevaricated and it was only in the week before it finally got to court for an interim hearing that I was granted two hours access to my children.

"I say to the committee that the experience of having one's children taken and kept away from you and being legally unable to do anything about it is extremely distressing. I would not wish that upon anyone and I can understand why there is a high suicide rate in these situations."

Reflecting broad dissatisfaction with the court processes, he said: "When it finally got to court the system seemed to rely a lot on affidavits. It appears to me that one can write anything they like in an affidavit, sign their name to it and it is considered to be fact. The judge or magistrate, who had supposedly read these lengthy documents, did not even know the basic details of the children's names and ages. He struggled to do some very basic calculations determining my capacity to pay child support and spousal maintenance. His opening statement to my solicitor when he was responding to my wife's offer of one night per week was, 'Well, that's a pretty reasonable offer, isn't it?' "

He was left paying \$554 per week in child support plus \$60 spousal maintenance and got to keep about 20c in every dollar that he earnt after tax and payments.

"I was successful in my work. I have now lost most of my possessions. I am back home, living with my family like a monk.

"My experience of the system has left me quite appalled by how it operates and I would urge you very strongly to do something to give fathers a fair go."

Roy, an RAAF officer was one of a number of servicemen and women who felt poorly served by the system.

"I have been in the system for four years. There are a lot of familiar faces here," he said. "It is a tragic venue to make acquaintances. I have paid \$80,000 over this divorce and subsequent custody issues. It is not just about the legal fees; there is so much more involved there. I pay \$900 a month for my daughter, who I never get to see because the court has allowed her to go to Canada on orders that they cannot enforce.

"I fought to keep my daughter in Australia so that we could see each other because it is beneficial for her and both parents. The judge basically said, 'You're wasting my time. You'll lose. She goes to Canada. I'm loading you with \$5,000 for the court costs because you're wasting my time,' and he would not allow me to see my daughter who was leaving the following week.

"The court system rewards the best storyteller regardless of truth or lies, as we have heard here today. I reiterate that. By lying in the court the custodial parent ensures that they are going to get financial benefits in most cases and definitely access to the child more than the non-custodial—parent.

"Clearly I have to say divorce is not a crime. There is no way in hell I should have been treated like a criminal. The punishment obviously is the loss of my daughter. Nothing I say here today is going to get my daughter back into the country, so I have no obligation to be here. I am doing this because I do not want to see anybody else suffer."

In Darwin another serviceman father, Brett, said he was paying for two children he loved dearly, one of whom was not biologically his, but his ex-wife "stops me from seeing my children at whatever opportunity she can, even telephone contact. I have my court orders here, which is the 80-20 that I am really happy with—not! So it is a bit of a farce. There are that many loopholes in the court orders that she gets away with, and she knows that I cannot take her back to court because of the money that I am earning. I cannot do it by myself."

Another witness, Tony, said he ran a children's program in Palmerston for children between the ages of five and 15. "Particularly in Palmerston, one of the things we do during the program is ask the children, 'What would you like to pray for?' Week after week the children's hands would leap up and they would almost dislocate their arms to say, 'We want daddy back. We want daddy back.'"

"The problems we see in our youth come back to the family. I guarantee you that if this fifty-fifty comes in there will be a lot of happy children and they will not be saying, 'We want daddy back,' because they will have daddy back. That is half the problem: the children are angry, hurt and bitter inside. They know the lying that has gone on; they know who is abusing whom and they are carrying a lot of hurtful secrets in their hearts. That is what is happening, and if you can bring this fifty-fifty in, it will relieve an enormous amount of pressure in the children."

Western Australia and the Northern Territory, with the existence of a number of small groups including Men's Confraternity, Reliable Parents, Dads Landing Pad, Ozy Dads and others, had always been a strong and lively outpost of the fatherhood movement.

Brett, a representative of one such group, said the current system did not work.

"In our experience, we have found that the majority of the people that approach us come to us having approached lawyers and sought legal advice. They have been told that seeking shared parenting is a fruitless exercise. They have been told that the only way they can achieve any reasonable amount of contact with their children is to show that the other parent is somehow deficient. This is the crux of the problem with the current system. It makes the system adversarial and it makes it so that the parties must fight each other - and the problem with this is that the children are the ones that lose..."

He was also upset over the use of the man's breadwinner status

"I think it is disastrous that the honourable sacrifice that a man makes in choosing to go out and work to provide for his partner and children can then be used against him in the event of separation so that he cannot continue to have a proper relationship with his children," he said.

There was a string of grievances over the court processes. Also in Darwin, Kevin said: "In the time that I have been representing myself, I have noticed there are more and more men representing themselves. The women have lawyers, because they get legal aid as they do not work. The men have jobs—most of the time—or have assets, so they do not get legal aid. So we are behind the eight ball right from the start."

Just as the internet has transformed the fatherhood debate around the world, it was clear at points in the inquiry that a number of the witnesses determined to give evidence in the community sections were well up to date with recent research and trends. Dave noted that it was soon to be the internationally promoted Equal Parents Week, dismissed the opposition to joint custody of the Family Law Practitioners Association and the Family Law Foundation as commercially based. He said:

"There are irrefutable reasons demonstrating the need for rebuttable presumption of shared parenting and a complete modernisation in family law reform. Statistical research confirms an incredibly baneful social trend for children who have a biological parent absent through separation and divorce.

"However, by far the greatest negligence of today's Family Court is the failure to address the insidious incidents of parental alienation—a prominent and destructive form of domestic violence. The non-residential parent and their families are continually obstructed, denied and quite often ostracised from their children because of the former spouse's selfish intention.

"I have been denied access from my only child for over three and a half years. It is because of nothing other than malicious intentions. I have found the courts not to be accessible. It is very restrictive for the greater majority of society, and it pains me each time I watch reports or read editor's comments that take for granted that the courts will be there to resolve these issues. That is far from the truth."

One father of two sons spoke strongly in support of shared parenting and told of his travails with the Child Support Agency.

"I feel that I would be better off in jail, locked away from the society which I can only view as I walk past, with my wallet never having any spare cash. Living like this I am on the edge of suicide. There is constant stress in not having enough money and not feeling or being able to start over again.

"The erosion for me of a fair society is such that while my ethics and morals do not allow me to become involved in illegal activity they are slowly being eroded as this goes on. That is my personal story and it upsets me."

Another father, who had driven hundreds of miles to be at the inquiry, said he had only achieved shared parenting by spending \$150,000.

Bruce, a divorced dad with two children seven and five years old, described the situation as a Pandora's box and the use of the "best interests" of the child phrasing as a complete cop-out - if anyone believed that was being reflected in the sorts of decisions and results that we get today. "As people, we have only two parents - a mum and a dad. Nobody will ever love us to the depths that they do, and I find it astonishing to suggest that it is in the child's best interests to remove them from access to the love of one parent to the degree that does happens. It is such an absurd piece of logic. The thought that a judge who will never know, never meet, never even see my children and

only be aware of their existence for one day can decide that it is in my children's best interests not to see me to the degree that they do not is quite astonishing. That is myth No.1—that best interests are actually being addressed right now."

The next month was hearing free after a bank of industry interrogations in the middle of October. But as October ended the committee took a sweep through three rural locations; Wyong, Coffs Harbour and Gunnedah. These hearings received sympathetic local media coverage, making the front page of the Coffs Harbour Advocate, and were, just as they had been a month before, emotion drenched.

There was compelling evidence from non-custodial mothers on this wing of the inquiry. At Wyong these women's voices made an odd contrast to Pru Goward's strident antifather auto-cue comments. Many of the non-custodial mothers had very similar issues to those of non-custodial fathers.

Witness One at Wyong said that as a result of my children living with their father she was not able to adequately share the parenting.

"This has arisen for a number of reasons. One is the constant breaking of court orders for which I believe there is no adequate enforcement, other than my returning to court to try to represent myself. This has been a costly exercise. Over the last five to six years that I have been involved in this, it has cost me in excess of \$200,000 with the legal profession to have orders put in place, then to go back to court to get orders reinforced, only to find at the end of the day that certainly the access orders are not adhered to.

"This occurs with physical access and telephone access—for instance, on a stated day when I was to speak to my children, the fax machine was usually on. The children do not come up to visit me very often, because in our orders I should go down to the South Coast to collect them and the father should come to our area to return them. But he insists that, if the children wish to see me, they have to be placed on the train—which of course is a disincentive for them."

Her complaints against the Child Support Agency were almost exactly the same as many fathers.

"Within a week of my children moving to the South Coast, my ex-husband put in an application against me to the Child Support Agency for child support," she recalled. He refused to come to an agreement with me on the day of the court hearing for payment in an ongoing way. Therefore, I was left to be assessed by the Child Support Agency at a cap income because of my profession. But he had not put in his tax return for four years, so he submitted to the Child Support Agency that he was in fact earning only \$35,000 per annum. Therefore, the Child Support Agency assessed him as having no child support income, and my child support income was assessed at the cap, which meant that I would have been paying \$36,000 after tax in that year."

She further complained, as so many men had done, that the onus was on her, the other parent, to provide all the relevant information to the Agency. "The custodial parent does not have to reply if they do not wish to, let alone provide documentary evidence," she said.

She also spoke of the enormous distress the Family Court and its processes had caused. She said in the final judgement, the judge suggested that he would "give" the

father her eldest son so that he would not be seen to be a resounding loser in the case and "anyway the child would grow up to see through the antics of the father".

"I am very concerned that if we have children in the sole custody of one parent, particularly at young ages, it will be extremely damaging to the relationship with the other parent. For the children, it means that for many years they are often estranged from the families of the other parent and are unable to get a good understanding and a feel."

There were clearly issues around the psychiatrist who had recommended she relinquish custody of all of her children. "His comment was: 'Even though I'm asking you to give these children to him, he doesn't love them, you know.' That was very distressing for me. He added: 'Other than the fact that he wants to be able to say, "This is my son, the doctor," or "This is my daughter, the whatever." He said: 'He cares about them, but he doesn't have the capacity to act in a way that is good for them.' I think that, if you are dealing with those problems, the only way you can deal with them is to legislate. Those people are not going to have the insight."

Chairwoman Kay Hull said they had received a lot of criticism because the inquiry was seen as being directed towards unfavourable results for particular men's groups.

"More and more throughout this inquiry we have seen women in your position who are non-custodial parents. There is a feeling in the community that non-custodial parents are all men, not women. The fact that this is taking place more often, as you have indicated, with women as well as men is constantly within the submissions and before us. It is really not a gender issue it is about the children..."

On questioning from Kay Hull Witness One confirmed, on that Sunday late in October, that shared parenting had never at any time been encouraged by the Family Court.

"The greatest grief for me is that it feels like a death. I feel like each child has died. There is no relationship because I do not know their friends, I do not know their interests, I do not know their clothes size and I do not know their latest music. The way this is occurring for the non-custodial parents at the moment is incredibly damaging to relationships and also for the children, I might add."

Speaking of her now 14 year old girl, she said: "Every time we see each other there is inappropriate time to educate ourselves mutually about what has happened in that intervening period. In other words, she has started to menstruate so she wanted to tell me about all these things and then tried to ask me what my experiences had been. She has looked to a girlfriend - excuse the frankness of this - to teach her how to put in tampons because her mother was not available. She was not going to ask her father and the relationship with her de facto mother is not all that great.

"There needs to be a lot more contact and a lot more legislation so that, irrespective of the agendas of either parent, for the sake of the child it happens...

"She told me recently that her life was — excuse the expression — shit, and she said, 'Oh well, I suppose you're just getting on with your life, are you?' looking to me. "I said, 'Darling, I miss you every day and I think of you every day.' But because of this win-lose situation—because we are told, 'You can have the children and you can be the accessing parent'—in my view the children are suffering."

Witness 2, another non-custodial mother, was equally as powerful in her condemnation of the system. It was unfortunate that the media chose to ignore this testimony, and instead to focus on the easy copy provided by Sex Discrimination Commissioner Pru Goward's insulting, offensive and absurd comments.

Witness 2 told the following story of the destruction wrecked in her own life and that of her children:

"Over a 13-year period, access to my child has been continually denied me by the custodial father. Over that time, due to lack of contact, I have been unable to explain the reasons behind my absence to my child. Consequently I no longer have what could be described as a good relationship with my child, who is now 15 years of age. Over the last 13 years, every effort I have made to have those original court orders enforced has been thwarted by the very court that instigated them in the first place.

"In these years, the father has received a social security pension and remains unemployed. I am at his mercy as he uses this situation to maximise his financial status through the welfare system. As a result of his actions, I have been ordered by the court to furnish all my financial and personal details, including bank account numbers. This is not only unfair; it is also dangerous. I have not adhered to these orders as that would allow this man to have access to my personal documents. Therefore, I am liable for prosecution. Also bear in mind that this man receives legal aid at the expense of the taxpayer.

"I also have four other small children and I receive minimum wages. I am trying to keep my home business afloat to be around my family. I now have to work the graveyard shift while my children sleep as the financial burden for us is too much. On top of that, I cannot apply for legal aid and cannot afford a solicitor — I represent myself.

"I believe the Family Court system is a destructive system and is contrary to fostering good a relationship between a non-custodial parent and their child. It works to keep them apart by supporting a parent who prefers to use the child as a weapon.

"The current legal system offers no motivation for custodial parents to take some responsibilities for themselves and promotes welfare dependency with the assistance from the non-custodial parent through child support payments. How can I get on with my life when I have to face a family law system that actually promotes vindictive behaviour due to the biased way it supports the custodial parent in the quest for revenge through welfare dependency and the denial of access for the other parent? As a non-custodial mother, I believe in the child's rights to have equal contact with both parents as well as with grandparents."

Witness 2 also said she had also been through the Family Court system in relation to another child and another ex-partner which had made both their lives miserable until they settled on a shared care arrangement. "The Family Court officers were of no help whatsoever," she said.

"It was not until a year or two later — when both of us grew up as adults — that we put what our child wanted first, instead of what we wanted. We now share everything. We share his life, his schooling, his grandparents.

"When he is in his father's care, what he decides is

up to him; when he is in my care, what I decide is up to me.

"We come half way between and that is only for him. We have had to do that so he could have a good life and a good future. But while we were in the Family Court system, it was horrible, especially for him. It does work but the parents have to grow up and be adults about what they want for their children — not what they want for each other—and it will work."

Provoked by Witness 2, once again we were to witness an enunciation of the evolving thinking of the committee in the words of the Chairwoman Kay Hull:

"The reason why we have spoken at length about tribunals is that, in our observation—after listening to all the witnesses who have come before us and certainly after reading over 1,600 submissions, most of which I have read, and I am sure most of which the committee have read—it has been indicated to us that the family law process, the adversarial process, creates animosity between partners. It can break down a fairly good relationship, rather than establish a better relationship. Once solicitors become involved in the issue of contact and residency orders, it tends to deteriorate significantly.

"As you have said, you can go through a family law court process, pay squillions of dollars, not get on at all and be unable to come to an agreement, and then come to some sort of sense after a lot of pain, expense and emotional trauma. You then sit down, grow up, and do the right thing and come to an agreement about your child."

In her interaction with Pru Goward that same day Kay Hull was providing even clear indications of the committee's thinking: "There are a lot of unhappy people out there. We are not just responding, as it has been put to us, to an aggrieved male audience who do not want to pay child support and who want to manipulate things. We do have a major problem: the children are unhappy because they want to see more of their individual parents; the women are unhappy because they want their children at times to be seeing more of their ex-partner; and the men are unhappy because they want to see more of their children. We have all these tools available to us. Why isn't that happening?

"There are people who are currently in shared parenting arrangements who are unhappy about the amount of time and the cost that it took to get there. They are unhappy with the Family Court system. There are people who have been outside the Family Court system and who have come to arrangements where they do not get on at all, they do not even speak to one other, but their shared parenting arrangement works very well because they have the interests of the children at heart. It works very well, even though they do not get on and they do not share a lot of things. We have also heard people, whether it be the female or the male non-resident, complaining that contact is denied them. They turn up to collect their children, the children are not there and the child has been told that daddy or mummy did not come. It is manipulated dreadfully.

"There has been concern and criticism about the Family Court, the adversarial process and the legal profession — that once they are involved it seems to go downhill and people move further and further apart. It is only when they leave that process that people finally come together. It is difficult not to say, 'Why did you go down that pathway?' "

But while non-custodial mothers got a lot of attention during this final swing through regional areas, once again there was a string of strong statements from fathers.

Andrew said the mother considered their child "her daughter, not our daughter. The consent order is not in our daughter's best interest, nor is it the shared parenting I prefer. I was advised I did not have a hope in hell of getting a court order to order shared parenting by a competent solicitor and barrister who, incidentally, is now a Family Court judge. The mother makes veiled threats of obtaining an AVO when I disagree with her and she starts yelling."

Alex, the father of one adult son and two girls aged 10 and 11, said his contact had been continuously sabotaged for eight years.

"To go to the court and show contempt of the court orders costs a fortune and is just impractical.

"I feel that it is in the best interests of the children that two parents look after them and physically spend time with them.

"I have seen today's hearing and I have seen a lot of submissions, particularly from the people who are funded by the taxpayer. For some reason, these people just do not want to have to change any existing arrangements. They are happy with the sole parenting concept, where the father has to go away, do the work and pay and sometimes gets to see the children. I do not find that very satisfactory, and again I stress that it is not designed in the best interests of the children.

"The money which the mother receives through the Child Support Agency does not go directly to the children. More often than not it just goes to support her lifestyle rather than the children's interests. Of course, the lawyers also have a vested interest, because they like their revenue to be maintained — not the children's but their own revenue. During this inquiry I had a conversation with my eldest daughter, who is 11. My daughter said, 'Hey Dad, why don't you go and talk to Mum and agree? Why don't we make an arrangement so we will be one month with you and one month with mum and so on, and that would continue through the year? We would go to the same school and have the same friends and the same lifestyle, but we would just avoid all that continuous uncertainty and pushing from one place to another.'

"So that is the children's wish. And never go through the Family Court - if you go to the Family Court it will go through a very corrupt process and the outcome will be antifather and anti-children.

"Find a way to actually get feedback from actual children and hear their voices and what they think. I think most of the children would say, 'We would like to see Mum and we would like to see Dad."

Gary, a non-custodial parent, said orders for access to his young daughter had been breached some 47 times. He said he was reluctantly about to go through the court process and was unable to get legal aid. Nor could he afford a solicitor and had to represent himself in court. "This is very unfair because the court system is very complex and affects normal people in a way that they should not be affected," he said.

He said due to his commitments and child support payments he was living on the breadline and he felt penalised by the Child Support Agency, which he regarded as very unfair.

"I think the system in its current form encourages non-custodial parents who are overcommitted in a lot of areas to go on the dole, to be dishonest and to work for cash, which they do not pay tax on. The system in its current form is letting a lot of people down - both parents and children - and it sets the wrong example for everybody in the community."

He said "if there was a fairer system available to everybody involved, you would find more men back in the work force, fewer people on the dole and more men facing up to their commitment of paying their child support and looking after their kids' needs. A fairer system would make it better for everybody involved. It might even stop some of the bitterness that the courts and the child support system produce."

A custodial father, Craig, said the Child Support Agency had made his life very difficult after his ex-wife's visitation had gone over the 109 threshold.

"I am bringing the kids up at home, trying to keep everything going, and she is getting child support for her visitation rights. It just makes it unbelievably hard. She has got on with her life, which is good. She has a partner and is getting married to him. He has his own business and there is no shortage of money for her to live off. It is getting to the point where my mortgage and support for the kids is getting near impossible, and the Child Support Agency cannot do anything about it. I have sent them all my expenses, telling them what is left at the end of the month and they say, 'Sorry, that is the formula. See you later."

The next morning, further up the east coast at Coffs Harbour, a tourist, fishing and commercial centre on the picturesque mid-north coast of NSW, saw yet another emotional roller coaster of a day begin, this time with a doctor with 20 years experience who was also a separated father with three children.

He said he had seen many people going in and out of the family law system.

"One thing is for sure: the current system is not working," he said. "There is a lot of pain and suffering that surrounds any form of involvement in the current family law system. In fact, some of the suffering is horrendous. Children are being told they cannot ever see their father again in some cases, and men are being accused of the most horrendous crimes against their own children, purely as a part of the Family Court system. Lawyers are using these techniques to win cases. There is often a callous disregard for the welfare of the families involved, in an effort to win a case in the Family Court.

"Currently there is too much that is unknown in the family law system, and it is causing absolute chaos. I think very few people who have gone through the system are happy with it."

He described the abuse of Apprehended Violence Orders as "horrendous".

"Here would be a father who loves his child, used to love his wife, has never done a thing wrong in his life, who is suddenly landed with some legal criminal accusation. It is appalling. All these violence organisations and so on are drumming it up; they have hijacked the family law system. Parents generally love their children; parents generally are good. You have got to get all these organisations away from them. That is criminal law - put it aside and leave it for the criminals. The family law is for everybody now. Parents love their children. They do not abuse their own children. It would be very rare."

Witness 3, another non-custodial mother, said the fact that she worked while her husband did not and that she had been the one to leave the house had all been used against her. She said she lived near her 10 and 11 year old but was only allowed to see them every second weekend. She disputed the assumption that someone who worked full time could not also be the primary carer of their children. She said that as the residential parent her husband held "all the cards".

But even she said she had no doubt a 50/50 split arrangement could work with certain provisos.

She said if she had evidence "they were not at risk, I believe that, yes, an equal residence arrangement could work. Certainly my children believe it would work. They see their friends living in shared arrangements and moving between houses, and they do not see any reason why it would not work for us.

"The other thing that astounds me is that, on the two occasions I have appeared before the deputy registrar, the children have not been mentioned. The first time I was absolutely astounded. I thought that finally somebody will ask whether my children are safe and well. All they said was, 'You'd better get a valuation of property. You'd better get a valuation on that. What's this amount here? Better go and look at that.' I was just dumbfounded. I wrote a letter of complaint.

"The person who handled it did not look at me. They had their head down. I was in there waiting for my children's names to be mentioned and the person I was appearing before did not even make eye contact with me or with my husband."

Exasperated, Chairwoman Kay Hull said the situation "always inflames my intestines because the Family Court process has continually indicated that all areas are always looked at for and on behalf of the children and that you go through all these processes first in looking at the parenting responsibility"; but while even the previous day taxpayer funded bodies had been declaring that no parent was disadvantaged in family law and the child's best interests were paramount, there hadn't been a single individual case before the inquiry where that had proved to be the case. She said she had not come across a single instance where "the Family Law Act works as it is written".

Witness 3 said she had been assuming that once they got before a judge then the children's interests and needs would be heard.

To which Kay Hull replied: "I am probably becoming sceptical, but do not hold your breath!"

Sadly, she described how she had to sneak around to have contact with her children and how they called her behind his back.

"I go there every day," she said. "I am allowed to sit outside the house and spend time with the children. They sneak away to see me. I take my children to doctors and dentists but, again, by subterfuge. If I ask permission, it is denied. So I am doing everything that I can to be actively involved and to influence choices."

Once again the father's statements from the community section were very strong.

David, a separated father, said: "My children were taken from me the day my ex-wife left our marriage. Since that day, nearly three years ago, I have been fighting her and the whole system for regular contact with my children. This is a system that has armed my ex-wife with money and the children, who she uses against me as weapons and human shields.

"This is a system that makes my children cry in anguish because they cannot see me. It makes me cry in anguish because I cannot see them. This is a form of child abuse, I think, and a form of domestic violence and I think it should be seen as that. This is a system that depletes so much of my salary in child support that I literally struggle to survive. I walk around with painful teeth, I avoid medical treatment, I have to sleep in cars at times, I drive unsafe vehicles and I shop at St Vincent de Paul. There is no light at the end of this tunnel. I will be 52 years old when I finish paying child support and before I can start saving again.

"This is a system that pretends that Family Court consent orders are working. They should be called blackmail consent orders or 'sign here or I'll take you to court' orders. I signed on the dotted line knowing that it was not in the best interests of my children. I had no choice, because I had no money. This is a system that pretends there is justice in the so-called Family Court. My experience so far is that this is not a Family Court. It should be renamed 'men's and children's discrimination court'. I feel that I am teetering on the edge at times. I struggle to keep fighting."

He said any decision by the committee short of shared parenting would not help his situation.

"Please do not be misled by the fear campaign that men are a risk to children. I am here to tell you that I have been beaten numerous times by an angry woman. My child alleges that he has been physically and emotionally abused by a woman. My understanding and experience is that children are at just as much risk from their mothers as their fathers. But we never hear this. There are already numerous services protecting children at risk out there - I have used them. As a health care worker I am mandated to screen women for domestic violence but not men. No-one is counting these abused men."

Another father, Michael, said he had four children in his care and was still forced to pay child support for one child that was with his ex-wife, said: "We should understand that the child is brought into this world in a partnership which is 50 per cent woman, 50 per cent man. That partnership endures past the separation. To see it as a 50 per cent partnership is the correct way. To see it as one partner having to battle to get the field level before they can have a normal arrangement with their children is wrong. To be able to have normal access to your child is a human right that is not available to most, unfortunately, after a family breakdown."

Yet another father, Matthew, said the majority of children wanted to spend time with both parents but his children had been denied that.

"I think it is ridiculous that I have not seen my children since January," he said. "If I am lucky, I will see them again next January.

He said he had been forced to cash in his superannuation, sell furniture and disconnect his phone in order to keep up child support payments.

"I know that my children are suffering now, and that is grossly unfair on them," he said. "I would love to have my children with me 24 hours a day, but that would not be fair on my children, because I know that they need their mother. It would also not be fair on their mother, because I would not want her to go through what I currently go through. I would not want to inflict that upon her. Please let me have 50 per cent of the time with my children. Please let me be a father to my children."

Another woman, Harriet, said she had always been encouraged to be proud of being a woman, but "lately I have been ashamed of the behaviour of some women in Australia who are causing much unnecessary grief."

"I, like most of my friends and family, have been oblivious to the unhappiness that is going on right in our own communities. Since I have become the partner of a divorced man with children, I have seen and felt his pain and his children's pain when the children are kept away from their father. I have seen and heard of the manipulation of many children which stops them spending precious time with their fathers, whom they love dearly.

"I have heard many stories highlighting the same patterns of behaviour, and all I can think of is: why on earth is this happening? What can make a woman stop the children whom she loves from spending a reasonable amount of time with the other parent? Once a fortnight, if it happens, is not enough time to continue a close relationship with a child. People in jail have more time with their families than my partner does with his daughters.

"It is critical that the government urgently stops encouraging and supporting parents to separate and use their children as a means to ensure their own financial security. Fathers are capable carers—I have seen it with my own eyes—and they want to be part of the day-to-day lives of their children. If anyone bothers to listen to children, they want their fathers to be there for them."

"This inquiry has the capacity to help the next generation of children in separated families, and it is not too late to help the current cohort of children who are suffering."

She said while feminism had produced many positives "when separation occurs, all the outdated clichés about men's role as the main breadwinner are resurrected to justify women being able to take away everything from the marriage, including the house and the children. No wonder men in this situation have absolutely nothing to live for. Men need representation and their rights recovered. Currently, separated men have a very poor standard of living. This inquiry has the capacity to help Australian men have a fair go. I hope that these men and their children will see positive changes in their lives soon."

Later the same day, in the agricultural centre of Gunnedah, the inquiry was to hear from the last of the individual witnesses. Once again the evidence was emotional and compelling.

Witness One said the announcement of the inquiry, with it being "broadcast that the government would be looking to have more husbands getting custody" halfway through

her hearing made it seem "almost as though the judge was doing his bit and making sure it did not go her way."

Chairwoman Kay Hull, once again clearly frustrated, said: "I do not know that the Family Court judges take any notice of governments, let me tell you. They do not demonstrate it in some of the things that they deliver. There is a clear intent in legislation and a clear intent in law but that does not appear to be what is out there, so I would relieve your mind of that."

Witness Three said there was absolutely no reason why joint custody would not work in his case and in the case of many other parents in similar situations.

"My son lives three kilometers away from me. He would attend the same school, his friends would stay the same and he would live in a house that he is very familiar with. Nothing would really change in his life. I see my son every day from a distance. I pass him on the way home from school and I wave to him. His grandparents pick him up—my ex-wife's parents. I am not allowed to speak to him. The only time I can see him is on my allotted weekends each fortnight. I think that is extremely unfair. My son and I were always extremely close; we still are. He wants to spend more time with me."

"I have to return him home at 5 o'clock on Sunday afternoon or all hell breaks loose. I have often said, 'We'll come home a little bit later. It'll be all right,' and he says, 'We can't do that; Mum will blow her head.' So I get him home.

"He constantly emphasises to me that he wants to be with me more. He still loves his mother and he wants to be with his mum but he wants to be with his dad too."

Wayne said: "I am a loving and committed dad who, after separation, simply wants to share in and carry on with the upbringing, welfare and schooling of my little boy, now aged 4½. I separated in October 2001 and, from the first day of separation, the mother maintained an absolutely cruel and vindictive campaign of a zero contact regime. The mother simply deemed that no contact would be in order, and that position has been supported in the last two years that I have been involved in the Family Court. The mother filed for sole residence orders in the Family Court. After huge amounts of exchange between our solicitors, still my son did not get much contact with his father.

"Not a single shred of evidence supporting the current sole custody model has been presented to this parliamentary inquiry by the array of family law industry participants. The reason for this is simply that none exists."

Ben said he was a recently separated father of two young children he loved dearly. "I want the opportunity to be there as a good role model to my children and a positive influence in their lives without robbing my children's mother of the same opportunity, and to have a situation where we accept that our rights and responsibility are shared equally, where we both work together to further the interests of our children, putting aside our own differences. The reason I want this is because I genuinely believe that it is in the best interests in the long term of our children. It enables them to maintain strong relationships and bonds with both parents and overcomes the need for parents to be adversaries in court over the kids, greatly increasing the likelihood that they will remain on speaking terms."

Rex, father of an eight year old boy, said he had been to the Family Court. "I have no contact on Christmas Day, no contact on his birthday, no contact on Father's Day, and

no contact on my birthday because the court has granted the mother discretion on those occasions...I do love my children. I want to see more of them.

"Who has been to Family Court? It is not tennis; it is like football: the parents are the captains of the team and the child's best interest is the football. Hopefully, when you go to Family Court, the playing field is level—you think it is going to be. You hope that you can score a few tries that you think are worth trying for for the child; you hope the goalposts are not too far away. And, by the way, whatever you do, never argue with the ref and put on a good public show."

There were many other voices, both in the public hearings and in the submissions, which added powerfully to the volume of evidence before the government.

Chairwoman Kay Hull, who had admitted to the emotional strain and intensity of the inquiry, nonetheless wound up the Gunnedah hearing on that mid-Spring afternoon in late October 2003 by saying the public hearings had been valuable.

"It is important that everybody is exposed to other people's experiences," she said. "I think that this is why the public hearing process is good. If you think that you are the only person with a problem or the only person who is experiencing a certain issue, you start to understand that other people are experiencing them as well. If you think that men are the only ones who experience this problem, it is also very good for you to recognise and hear that there are women who are experiencing the same problem.

"In the last 24 hours we have had people come in and say, 'When I came in this morning I was just coming to be abusive and disruptive. I wanted to scream at you and tell you that you didn't understand. Having sat and listened through the whole day, now I want to come up and say that, because of everything that everyone has said here today and the questions that you sometimes asked, I feel confident that you do understand.' That lady also indicated that she had not realised that there were others in her position. Some of the gentlemen came up and said, 'I didn't realise that there were women non-residential parents as well. We thought it was all us blokes."

In the end all the witnesses who had poured their hearts out to the Committee members were dismissed in the final report Every Picture Tells A Story with a single sentence which suggested they were more concerned with their own problems than their children. It was offensive, insulting and patently untrue.

CHAPTER SIX: THE FINAL DAYS OF ALASTAIR NICHOLSON: CHIEF JUSTICE OF THE FAMILY COURT OF AUSTRALIA

The appearance of Chief Justice of the Family Court of Australia was classic Nicholson. He was talking to his favourite media outlets, The Age and the ABC, virtually to the doors of the inquiry at Parliament House in Canberra. His appearance at the parliamentary committee on the 10th October 2003 was accompanied by a spate of media stories reporting his opposition to joint custody. On that day The Age newspaper in Melbourne ran a front page story headlined: "Family judge warns MPs on custody."

The paper suggested the Family Court would sound a strong warning against the introduction of formal joint custody arrangements between separating parents, saying it could lead to an increase in both violence and litigation.

The story quoted the Court's submission, signed by Nicholson, at length: "If separated parents are expected to share their children equally...the legislation will create a normative standard which will be unattainable in practice for many, and which may jeopardise the best interests of the child. A parent who has been living in a violent or oppressive relationship may be persuaded to 'agree' to a shared care relationship in inappropriate circumstances... Counselors and judges are also aware that increased contact may provide some parents with opportunities to control and harass their children and former partners."

The Age also recorded that in a personal note concluding the submission Nicholson cautioned the committee to beware of the submissions made by interest groups. "The court's experience is that there are usually two sides to the story in family law matters and the situation is rarely black and white, but rather various shades of grey." The Family Court submission also suggested that the inquiry itself was creating problems. "The raised expectations which accompany inquiries and the amendment process inevitably produce a groundswell of hostility towards the Court and the Parliament, because in many cases the expectations cannot be met."

Barry Williams, the founder of Lone Fathers and one of the country's most long term campaigners, was one of those family law reformers who long had a hostile relationship with Nicholson. He told The Age he didn't think Nicholson should be allowed to give evidence. "I think it's a breach of the separation of powers," he said. "He is a judge, not a law-maker and he had made it quite clear in the past that he does not believe men to be capable of looking after their children."

But since the 1980s, nothing had ever stopped Nicholson speaking out on his numerous hobby horses. In the year or so before the inquiry began Nicholson had created a series of stirs; one of them by calling for the removal of the common-law defence of reasonable chastisement. He supported the call for laws banning physical punishment of children so that smacking would become "socially unacceptable".

Next, he declared, after a retrial of an unrepresented woman in a case where there were accusations of domestic violence, that the lack of legal aid appeared "to infringe the practical enjoyment of rights" under international conventions. Never mind the numerous self represented men who struggled every day to get a fair hearing in the court. More debate was stirred when he suggested decision making about asylum seekers "ought to be properly understood as an aspect of family law."

And on DNA testing, an increasingly hot topic amongst men, he argued against discrete testing without court orders, saying: "I think there's a considerable element of invasion of privacy involved in one person unilaterally going off and getting a DNA test for a child."

Appointed as only the second chief justice of the Family Court of Australia, Nicholson had been in power since 1989. Approaching retirement, there were many signs he was trying to establish his legacy. With a clear eye to the future, Nicholson had overseen a string of appeal judgements in the preceding years, the impacts of which defined family law and which critics said could take legislators years to undo.

Some of the precedents the Shared Parenting Council described as counter-productive and discriminatory included: The fact that children might wish to live with their fathers is not sufficient reason to let them do so, property settlements could be made 90% to the wife and financial hardship of the father deemed unimportant, shared parenting or joint custody was not encouraged, litigants concerns over the efficacy of family reports should be dismissed, a judge need only have "lingering doubt" over abuse allegations to deny fathers contact with their children and stepfathers were liable along with biological fathers for child support.

The parliamentary inquiry, examining as it was the fundamental philosophies and practices of the court, was a threat to all that Nicholson was trying to leave behind.

In attacking the notion of joint custody Nicholson had been first cab off the ranks, claiming that joint custody or shared parenting was unworkable for most families. Nicholson had long appeared to regard himself as some kind of mystical saviour of children, fawned on by left wing journalists, feminist academics and some sections of the legal industry. The views of Nicholson often jelled with the views of the women journalists interviewing him.

The taxpayer funded Australian Broadcasting Commission, studiously ignoring community outrage, displayed extraordinary sycophancy towards Nicholson throughout his career, while he also had numerous apologists in the commercial media. But media personnel were not immune to the ravages of the system. The turning of the tide of public debate was assisted by the increasing number of separated men with raw experiences of the system who were working in newspapers, radio and television.

The currents running against Nicholson and the Family Court were ably assisted by developments internationally, where there had been a number of exposes of the ad hoc decision making of Family Courts. These essentially Marxist feminist courts, creations of the 1960s and 1970s, were in increasing disrepute wherever they operated. The intervention of public figures such as Sir Bob Geldof; along with American public intellectuals like Dr Sanford Braver, author of The Myths of Separated Fathers, Dr Warren Farrell, author of Father and Child Reunion and Dr Stephen Baskerville, author of Taken Into Custody: The War on Fatherhood, also helped turn around the debate at a time when the dissemination of information had never been easier.

Only the previous month Geldof had made another impassioned plea for fathers to be given equal access to their children at the launch of Children and Their Families, a collection of academic essays to which he had contributed. The rock star had fought a custody battle with his former wife Paula Yates and claimed he had been treated unfairly during the process. He declared: "The judiciary finds it almost impossible to take on the notion I should be with my children 50 per cent of the time. This law ridiculed me. Its implementer humiliated and belittled me and would not accept I was as capable of bringing up my children as a woman. I want to be recognised as the father of my children and I want to bring them up equal to their mother."

The previous year Geldof had declared that at the heart of family law was a grotesque injustice: all women were angels, all men were ogres. "At Day One I was handed this piece of paper saying 'You may see your children on this day and every second weekend'.

"Why? What had I done? I saw them every day. I took them to school. I bathed them. I fed them. I cooked for them. I read their stories. I cuddled them before going to bed. I listened to them in sleep. Why now was the state and all its instruments of justice - but in this case I call it discrimination - why were they all aimed at me?

"As I was just about to enter court and was very nervous and trying to look neat, a well meaning person came up to me and said: 'One tip Bob - whatever you do don't say you love your children'. I said 'Why?'. The answer was as shocking as it is illustrative. He said: 'Because the courts will deem it unhealthily extreme if a man articulates his love for his children and they'll vote you down'.

"I waited for a long while and I got tired of hearing how much Paula loved her children - which she did - she did endlessly - as did I. And I eventually said: 'I have to say this - I have been advised not to, but your honour I am here - I am bankrupting myself - because I love my children. And all I want to do is to be their dad'.

"The law does the very opposite of what it intends to do. When it denies that the love of a man for his child - which is the real love that dare not speak its name - the love of a man for his child - a father for his child - is equal to the love of a mother for her child. It is precisely equal. It could be expressed in different ways but it is equal, and the law will not recognise that and therefore it is discriminatory and unjust and should be scrapped."

Geldof's comments were widely circulated.

The world had changed around Nicholson. Once revered, he was now far more likely to be reviled. He was appointed in an era before the world wide web transformed debate on family law. The internet proved all over again the old adage that knowledge is power, turning once secretive courts on their head and transforming the father's movement into a savvy force empowering individuals with legal know how and survival strategies, but also giving scattered groups more cohesion and more influence through chat lines and internet sites.

The Nicholson who appeared before the inquiry was a diminished figure in an argument in which he was being relegated to a bit player. Long used to being king of his domain, with all the deference paid to him as Chief Justice, he was now offside with the government, sections of the media, many in the legal profession and as the 2003 inquiry had already demonstrated, many in the community.

The 25th anniversary celebrations for the Family Court of Australia in 2000, where Nicholson played a prominent part, garnered virtually no positive coverage.

Shared Parenting President Matilda Bawden said she doubted if there was one individual in any of the family law reform groups who would argue that Nicholson was a fair or just judge.

"The mere fact that there has been such a large explosion of anti-Family Court lobby groups which have sprung up in the last few years should be sounding alarm bells," she said. "The Family Court is perceived by many as a secretive court that is an impenetrable quagmire of corruption. It is truly hated.

"Nicholson has made it absolutely clear throughout his reign of terror that he hates fathers. What else can you say?

"How can he oversee the Family Court when he has such a myopic view of family life? Under Nicholson, the Family Court has become an example of everything a court, and we as a community, should never be."

Nicholson, never one to show the slightest respect for fathers or their role, dismissed out of hand one of their greatest grievances against the court, the failure to enforce its own orders in regards to access to children. Many of these men had paid large sums of money to obtain such orders, which were ignored with impunity. Nicholson, as he did so often, blamed the litigants for the court's failings, suggesting it was the father's fault they could not get the mothers to follow the orders.

Nicholson declared: "I think very often the marriage, or their approach to a marriage, may have been conditioned by older ideas. And I think there is very much a power factor comes into this. And I think the loss of that power that stems from the breakdown of the marriage is something that some men just cannot cope with. They in fact expected to control

their wives, they expected to control their children, and they expected that they would do what they were told by them. And once that ceases to happen, I think they find that almost unbearable from the point of view of their ego...

"The ones that I've observed, anyhow, that seem to have the greatest problem, are the ones who are in access situations where they are, for one reason or other, unable to get their former partner or the children to comply with the access orders that have

been made. And they then come to the court and expect the court to solve the problem for them. And the court can't always solve that problem for them."

This was patent rubbish, as his critics noted. But just like that, a father's unconditional love for his children and his desire to see and have contact with them were dismissed by the Family Court's Chief Justice with an outdated feminist theory on power. Hundreds of thousands of dads pining to see their children were as nothing.

Three years before The Australian had declared in an editorial that Nicholson was the wrong man to lead the court into the new millennium and he should step aside, an almost unprecedented stance for a national broadsheet to take on a superior court judge.

But each passing day proved that opinion correct, Bawden claimed.

"The Family Court has ignored or subverted the progressive legislative reforms to the Family Law Act enacted in the mid-1990s which promoted joint or shared parenting after divorce, the outcome ample research clearly shows produces the best outcomes for children of separated families.

As such, said Bawden, the court was failing to comply with the legislation requiring it to act "in the best interests of the child" and ignoring the will of parliament.

But fathers and their supporters were far from the only critics.

There were also many questions about the Family Court's profligacy and poor administration since previous governments had allowed it to become self administering with control over its own budgets.

Nicholson had been well known since the 1980s for spending much of each year touring the world attending conferences. To his critics it—was self-evident that this luxurious first class lifestyle was of no benefit to the taxpayers footing the bill.

During an 18 month period at the turn of the millennium when DOTA began broadcasting Nicholson attended conferences in England, Hawaii, South Africa, Scandinavia, Port Moresby, the Great Barrier Reef, the Gold Coast, Sydney, Perth, even his home town Melbourne. There was no publicly available list of all these conferences or of their cost.

Lawyers who use the court complained that it is "overloaded with bureaucrats" and Mason examined the complex structures which had been allowed to evolve, including various committees and a bureaucracy of judges within its bureaucracy of administrators.

Senator Brett Mason said complaints about the administration of the Family Court came from many quarters. "It was widely acknowledged within the court itself and in the legal community that some Family Court judges were not pulling their weight," he said. "With the Chief Justice seemingly unable to address this issue the Court's morale was affected."

The persistent questioning of a recalcitrant Court by former barrister, Liberal Senator Brett Mason, through the Senate Estimates Judicial Committee, was the most detailed examination it had ever undergone. Mason exposed extensive and needless delays and the low number of sitting days for many judges, including the Chief Justice himself.

It also exposed the practice of providing numerous grants ranging up to the hundreds of thousands of dollars to various consultants with little apparent benefit. "Specialised and unique expert knowledge" was often provided as the reason for the projects not going to tender. The Court's first and only Deputy Chief Justice the Honourable Alan Barblett received two such grants in one year for a total of more than \$70,000 following his retirement in 1998.

While Nicholson never ceased complaining about the government's tight fisted conduct in allegedly starving his court of funds and slashing legal aid, all of this rhetoric clashed with the truth of the Court's extravagant travel budgets. Questions were also raised over the use of Commonwealth cars.

But his questioning also exposed the limits and flaws of Australian democracy. The Court's refusal to cooperate or answer many of the questions about areas of its operations demonstrated its ultimate lack of accountability to the parliament and to the people it allegedly served.

As a small sample of his travel expenses, Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson was forced to report that he and an adviser spent \$24,753 on a May 1999 "work trip" to South Africa, while a "work trip" to Hong Kong and Canada with his wife in May and June 1999 cost \$19,842.

Nicholson's "consultative council" of judges and managers spent \$158,403 on travel and accommodation in less than two years.

But the court claimed it was "not appropriate" to give details of travel budgets for the so-called "judge administrators" and refused to do so.

In refusing to answer a number of questions posed by the Senate, Nicholson claimed that the independence of the judiciary was being attacked.

Nicholson refused to tell Senator Mason and the Senate Estimates Committee the salaries of his personal staff, whether any judgements had been written by persons other than judges or which specific judges sat on cases or had leave.

In 2000 Nicholson had refused to reveal the names of judges responsible for long overdue judgments and warned that their ``public shaming" would only increase the stress they suffered.

The Court acknowledged that as of June, 53 trial and appeal judgments had been outstanding for more than three months and a further 24 outstanding for more than six months.

The Court's own time standard was a maximum of three months. "It's very unfortunate for the litigants and the reputation of the court," Mason commented.

In a letter to then Attorney-General Daryl Williams, Justice Nicholson he would not name names because it would ``draw personal information about judges into the public domain".

He said stress was ``a very real factor" for judges with outstanding judgments and if they were ``publicly shamed", it would only increase the pressure on them.

In his paper "Rescuing FOI Rescuing Democracy Dr Bill De Maria of the Centre for Public Administration at the University of Queensland described the Mason incident as one of the most disturbing attempts to cut the potency of parliament by illegally turning off information. "This is an organisation with a 25-year tradition of secrecy and minimal accountability," he said. "The parliament has finally lost patience with it."

Senator Mason said that despite the Chief Justice's protestations, the Family Court must be accountable," Senator Mason said. "Judges are paid by the public and are accountable to the people's representatives - that is the Parliament. It is pompous posturing to say that parliamentary scrutiny of the Family Court has amounted to an attack on judicial independence."

An editorial in The Australian in August 2000, written by the paper's High Court writer Bernard Lane, who had followed the Mason investigation closely, declared: "The Family Court is the last court that should be resisting public accountability. Its work can have profound personal and social consequences for Australians. Chief Justice Nicholson... is wrong to resist an attempt by the Senate to scrutinise the efficiency of the court under his management.

"Not so long ago, Coalition MPs and Justice Nicholson rarely rose above mutual recrimination. But the argument about the court was transformed last February when the Australian Law Reform Commission published a report on federal justice. It gave detailed evidence of basic failures of management. Taken together, these suggested a dysfunctional culture at the highest levels of the court -- for which the Chief Justice must take ultimate responsibility. The culture appeared to be inward-looking, defensive and hostile to constructive criticism. Its priorities seemed distorted. It encouraged judges engaged in bureaucracy and committee work, while giving less attention to the core business of a court: the hearing and deciding of cases."

Dr Robert Kelso, editor of the now defunct academic journal on gender issues Nuance, said, the inquiry clearly showed the Family Court's failings, not just in the eyes of the general community but also for influential sections of the legal community.

"Nicholson leaves the court in a very vulnerable state," he said. "It has been politicised and has become utterly dysfunctional.

"The Family Court's philosophies have never reflected general community understandings of family or of probity in public life. It is secretive and resistant to change. It is one of those social experiments that has diminished the rule of law, not improved it. It has diminished the understanding of courts as places where justice is dispensed in the best interests of the country.

"The effects of the Court on second wives and their children have been particularly harsh. These are the people the Family Court, the government and the legal system refuse to recognise in an equitable way. Rising suicide levels among excluded parents and extremely poor outcomes for children has created broad antipathy within those sections of the community which have been adversely affected by the Family Court and related government agencies.

"Nicholson's very public approach to judicial activism has led him to imagine he has a duty to change community standards on a whole range of issues, on everything from DNA testing to social parenting and the importance, or as he sees it unimportance, of biological fatherhood, even if that means confronting the parliament and the legislation in ways which clearly overstep the separation of powers."

Numerous scandals circled the court. A once sycophantic media was proving far less compliant. The wails of discontent which had been relegated to right wing talkback in the early hours of the morning were now running prime time. Sydney's leading talkback host Alan Jones received more than 6,000 emails when he raised the issue of child support and the treatment of non-custodial parents, more than he had ever received on any subject.

Nicholson had spent much of the previous 15 years immersed in the radical feminist analysis of power. He was now forced to watch as his own power ebbed inexorably away.

While even during the inquiry the Court continued to comment adversely in judgements on fathers who were politically active, largely gone were the days when the Family Court of Australia was not just hated but feared; when fathers frightened to speak out or become politically active for fear of the consequences for their children.

Nicholson did not just attempt to suppress criticism of his court by denigrating those who dared suggest the Family Court had major problems - including the country's national daily The Australian, the country's primary legal adviser to government The Australian Law Reform Commission and one of the nation's leading academic historians John Hirst. The Court had long been in the habit of bringing contempt charges against its critics. It was one of the reasons we at Dads On The Air had been so nervous when we first began.

On the 14 June 1990 father Charles Jensen was arrested and charged by the Australian Federal Police after he sent four letters of complaint, three of them addressed to the "Chief Justice of the Anti-Family Court of Australia Mr Nicholson".

The letters suggested the Court should be located at the Eastern Creek dump "considering the garbage that issues from the present building". Jensen was convicted for sending offensive material through the post.

Now, from the learned to the profane, far worst terms of abuse and allegations of corruption than a mere suggestion the court belonged on a rubbish tip flashed across the net everyday. Fathers regularly shared their disgust over the perceived bias and idiosyncrasies of various judges and family report writers and plotted ways around them. The government inquiry itself had posted submissions on the web which label the court as "criminal" and referred to the "hated" Nicholson.

Former President of the NSW family Law Reform Association Max King told DOTA that as a whistleblower he himself had experienced similar attempts to silence him.

"Fathers soon discovered there was no such thing as free speech in Australia," he said. "There was an enormous fear generated by the court, with trumped up criminal charges leveled against fathers, and

the constant threat they would never see their children again."

In the Sunday Telegraph in Sydney, under the headline "Disorder in the courts", Sarah Harris wrote that the Family Court had consistently pursued its critics by instigating contempt charges. But lately these citizens had been beating their powerful foe.

"We can't show you his face or tell you his real name. Yet, ironically, he recently won a major victory for free speech."

Harris went on to report the man's win came when a charge of 'contempt' by scandalising the Family Court was dismissed and a judgment for costs made against its marshal. His alleged crime was to stand on the footpath outside the court handing out leaflets and hollering through a megaphone his protest about the court's handling of his children's custody arrangements.

Harris noted that as one of a group dubbed the "Family Court Four" he faced an unlimited fine or jail term under an arcane 18th century law. Now, as the losers in this extraordinary case of several "Davids" versus the Family Court "Goliath", the Family Court faced a legal bill estimated to be upwards of \$100,000.

Court research showed up to 40 per cent of cases now involved an unrepresented litigant. The Chief Justice himself had claimed that the lack of legal aid could be "killing people" – while at the same time, as the ALRC had revealed, the Court had refusing to provide detailed accounting which might prove his case.

"There is a serious problem in family law involving violence between the parties," Nicholson claimed. "If you increase the frustration and parties don't have the benefit of legal advice you increase the chance of violence being perpetrated."

Harris noted: "For a senior officer of the court to then criminally charge these very same frustrated and disadvantaged parties - who, left with little other avenue, took to the streets in protest - seems a somewhat inflammatory response."

Ultimately the bills incurred by the court in retaining at least two, senior silks to prosecute the charges of "scandalising the court" would be picked up by the taxpayer. It was the second such case the Family Court had lost that year. In March 2000, a man

who spent two years stridently voicing his frustrations at being denied contact with his two children outside the Family Court building in Melbourne had contempt charges against him thrown out. Actions against another man were dropped as the Family Court beat a tactical retreat.

To Gabriel Kuek - whose firm represented the first three of the four defendants either privately or under limited legal aid the issue was clear-cut.

"As we have said again and again, Australia is a free, democratic society which ought to be able to withstand robust debate and criticism by people against the arms of government," he said. "The Family Court is part of the judiciary which, under the Westminster system, is one of the arms of government."

The Sunday Telegraph also observed that Justice Nicholson had previously categorised the courts most vocal critics as dysfunctional misogynists who regarded women and children as objects who have no rights.

"The most strident critics of the court emanate from groups of men who regard themselves as having been badly treated by the family court system," he told a national conference in 1998. "There is a more sinister element at work. I have absolutely no doubt that there are many persons associated with men's groups in particular who have an agenda to change the law to the disadvantage of women.

"Many demonstrate in strident terms outside the court. Some even stand for Parliament, with signal lack of success."

Federal Labour MP Roger Price from Western Sydney doubted the wisdom of painting the court's critics as mad, bad and dangerous. "Is it impossible, for example to conceive that some of them may have been driven to extremes and wrongly penalised because of false accusation made by no less bitter partners?" Price asked.

Disgruntled clients, journalists and fatherhood activists were in the company of the Australian Law Reform Commission when it came to being targets of withering statements from Nicholson.

But under Section 121 of the Family Law Act, it is an offence to publish or disseminate anything which may identify any party to the proceedings in the court.

The only exemption to this was the Family Court itself, which allowed publication of cases complete with names on the Internet in the interests of the legal profession.

Unable to show identifying photographs, use names or even identify occupations meant media accounts were restricted to using these very same "anonymous persons" to whom the Chief Justice objects.

Such anonymity may perhaps protect children but also encouraged the making of outrageous claims without the threat of defamation or the burden of proof required of other courts.

Roger Price, now a member of the very same committee interrogating Nicholson, argued that suppression of reporting about the Family Court had given rise to suspicion and distrust. He had proposed in a private member's bill to lift reporting constraints and vowed to continue his crusade to open up the court to greater public scrutiny.

"My proposals are not about tilting the Family Court in favour of men, or women or children," he said. "They are about accountability."

In his crusade for greater openness Price, had found a surprising ally in Ian McCall - the former Chief Justice of the Family Court of Western Australia.

Harris recorded that the Attorney-General Daryl Williams asked McCall to re-examine section 121 after The Sunday Telegraph first revealed the Family Court had breached its own rules of publication by allowing judgments to be posted on the Internet.

McCall found the stringent rules on reporting had a negative impact on the court.

One judgment McCall quoted said, in part: "Publicity is the very soul of justice. It is the keenest spur to exertion and surest of all guards against probity.

"It keeps the judge himself, while trying, under trial."

In another example, media coverage was said to: "provide a safeguard against judicial arbitrariness or idiosyncrasy and maintain public confidence in the administration of justice."

The Attorney-General initially embraced the report, saying it gave "compelling reasons" to drop the Family Court ban on naming people.

His views were echoed by others who believed it would counteract flourishing conspiracy theories about the court.

But, in the end, the Howard Government backed away from the reforms recommended in the McCall report.

After a considerable number of submissions from community and welfare groups the Federal Government decided in August 1999 not to amend section 121.

"It was felt on balance that the potential risks to children outweighed the benefits," a spokeswoman for Williams said.

This was once again a failure of courage by the Howard government when presented with an historic opportunity to reform this most troubled jurisdiction – a jurisdiction already doing substantial harm to children.

The nature, style and substance of family law in Australia was at this time almost entirely dominated by one man. In more than a quarter of a century no Chief Justice of the Court, either its founding head Elizabeth Evatt or Chief Justice Nicholson, who came to power in 1988, had ever, that DOTA could find, said a positive public word about fathers or fatherhood. To fathers and family law reform groups Nicholson was Public Enemy Number One.

For them, his reign had seemed interminable, as if he was the beginning and the end of everything that was wrong with family law; and to his increasingly vociferous critics on the country's ballooning men's internet news and chat lines he was the focus of blame for everything that had gone wrong in their lives. His numerous pronouncements were followed with a kind of lurid fascination. With more than a \$100 million budget, Nicholson had a great deal of public largesse at hand to build an empire in his own image. Amongst bureaucratic feminists Nicholson was seen as a hero promoting

women's and children's rights. But to his many critics in government, the legal profession and the community, Nicholson's legacy was a destructive, dysfunctional and discredited court.

The Nicholson who presented himself to the inquiry, far from being the enlightened intellect once so admired, had made many enemies. His performance at the inquiry was watched with a good deal of curiosity.

Nicholson enjoys lifelong immunity from civil suit that is enjoyed by all judges of superior courts in Australia. He has no immunity from the processes of the criminal law for acts done in the exercise of his judicial functions.

Former President of the NSW Family Law Reform Association Max King, describing the impacts of the court, said In the Association meetings shell shocked fathers would arrive unable to believe what had happened to them and their children. "The story was always the same: the false allegations, of violence, of child abuse, the loss and alienation of their children. It is no wonder so many thousands of fathers have committed suicide."

Dr King launched a \$1.4 million dollar compensation test case against Nicholson in the NSW Supreme Court in 1994, seeking redress against him over his administrative role in the Family Court at the time of his own complaint. He hoped the case would expose the practices of the Family Court and the nature of the family reports to public scrutiny. Whilst the action was dismissed on technical grounds, Dr King said there ought to be other similar actions in the coming years as "the true history of the Family Court becomes apparent".

Nicholson was the unsuccessful Labor candidate for the seat of Chisholm in Victoria in both 1972 and 1974. But for the man who was to become the face of such a divisive jurisdiction, and who 15 years later was about to leave it in disarray with its public reputation in tatters, there was little beyond being a loyal Labor man in his background to justify his elevation to Chief Justice. There was nothing DOTA could find to suggest any prior interest in family law.

Nicholson graduated in 1960, became a QC in 1979 and during the early 1980s acted as Chairman of the Town Planning Appeal Tribunal and Land Valuation Board of Review in Victoria. He was a Judge Marshall with the RAAF just prior to his appointment to the Family Court, and a Judge Advocate General with the Australia Defence Forces right up until 1992. None of these fitted very well with his later façade as darling of the left, alleged champion of oppressed and disadvantaged.

From enlightened progressive to brutal Stalinist, the views circling Nicholson and his court had hardened as he aged. As one former Family Court judge said: "I started off as a fan of Nicholson, but he has turned the court into a disaster."

On the other hand, to his supporters within the family law industry Nicholson's impending, although utterly confused, departure into retirement was a matter of consternation. For the first time since the Family Court's creation the appointment of a Family Court Chief Justice would be in the hands of a conservative government. Just as former Prime Minister Bob Hawke's appointment of Nicholson fifteen years before was one of his most significant, so Prime Minister John Howard now had the chance to remake the Family Court; and thereby considerably alter the country's social agenda.

Once again he was to blow the once in a lifetime opportunity. While not seeking the same profile, Nicholson 's successor CJ Diana Bryant has done little to differentiate herself from her predecessor or to fundamentally change the Court's style of custody orders or nature of judgements.

Nicholson was a staunch defender of his court and its practices and an equally vocal critic of father's groups, which he dismissed as "sinister" and "dysfunctional". He had been appointed by the Hawke Labour government until the age of 65; August 19th 2003; slap bang in the middle of the inquiry.

Family law reformers saw the Chief Justice as the single biggest impediment to reform. If there was to be proper implementation of joint custody it would be impossible without a clean broom through the Family Court.

In July 2002 Nicholson announced via media release and on the Family Court web site that while he had greatly enjoyed his time as Chief Justice he would cease hearing cases on 1 February 2003 and take accrued leave until March, 2004. As it turned out, these statements were false.

The announcement of Nicholson's departure led to headlines ranging from "dark legacy" to "the man who loved children" and illustrated the spread of opinion about him.

A fortnight before he was due to stop hearing cases, Nicholson announced he now "took the view it wasn't fair" to step aside and didn't "want to let anyone down". He blamed in part the Federal Government's tardiness in appointing new judges for being forced to soldier on.

DOTA suggested that this was rich coming from a man who, as exposed by Senator Brett Mason in hearings of Senate Estimates Committees, sat less than 45 days a year and headed a court where some judges sit even less than that.

August the 19th 2003 came and went and Nicholson did not retire. There had never been any public announcement of any kind to suggest that he would serve beyond the date of his appointment.

Why, fathers and family law groups around the country asked, was he not retiring?

There was no explanation coming from either the government or the Family Court to explain the mysterious vagaries of the retirement schedule of Nicholson.

Critics argued that his failure to retire on schedule raised issues of conflict with the constitution in relation to Family Court judges and their retirement ages. Both the Shared Parenting Council and the Men's Rights Agency put out detailed statements on the issue.

This intriguing scandal of Family Court judges resigning en masse and being recommissioned, all in apparent secrecy in order to alter their retirement dates, was originally brought to my attention by a former Family Court judge who had become disgusted by the excesses of the Nicholson court.

Sue Price at the MRA put out background notes to the story, which was fulsomely covered by DOTA.

She noted that when the Family Law Act was created in 1975 there was no set retirement age for judges, who were appointed for life. Following a referendum in 1977 a retirement age of 70 was set for most judges; while subsequent changes set the retirement age of Family Court judges at 65.

In 1977 the Constitution was changed to read in part: 'The appointment of a Justice of a court created by the Parliament shall be for a term expiring upon his attaining the age that is, at the time of his appointment, the maximum age for Justices of that court and a person shall not be appointed as a Justice of such a court if he has attained the age that is for the time being the maximum age for Justices of that court.

"Subject to this section, the maximum age for Justices of any court created by the Parliament is seventy years. The Parliament may make a law fixing an age that is less than seventy years as the maximum age for Justices of a court created by the Parliament and may at any time repeal or amend such a law, but any such repeal or amendment does not affect the term of office of a Justice under an appointment made before the repeal or amendment."

Later the same year, 1977, an amendment to the Family Law Act 1975 was introduced by Prime Minister John Howard, then a senior figure in the government of Malcolm Fraser, to lower the retirement age for the judges of the Family Court to 65 years of age.

His argument detailed in Hansard suggested that: "It is generally conceded that in family law, more than in most other areas of law, judges adjudicating over disputes should be aware of and keep abreast of current social values and attitudes. For this reason, and also because of the demanding and arduous nature of at least some of the disputes - notably, defended custody disputes - there seems to be goods reason for requiring judges of the Family Court to retire at least by the age recognised as the maximum retiring age for most other occupations in the community."

The Parliament accepted this bill and the Family Law Amendment Act 1977 was assented to and commenced on 11 October 1977.

No more changes to the retirement age for judges of the Family Court were made or suggested until the first report of the Joint Select Committee on Certain Aspects of the Operation and Interpretation of the Family Law Act in 1991. The Report recommended that the Family Law Act be amended to fix a maximum retirement age of 70 years for Family Court judges in line with other courts. That legislation was enacted and commenced on 25 October 1991.

The Constitution states quite clearly:

"The appointment of a Justice of a court created by the Parliament shall be for a term expiring upon his attaining the age that is, at the time of his appointment..."

Those few words were enough to raise questions about the retirement of current Family Court judges.

As a matter of interest, when the Chief Justice of the Family Court Alastair Nicholson expressed his views to the Joint Select Committee on Certain Aspects of the Operation and Interpretation of the Family Law Act in 1991 he wielded considerable influence that resulted in the recommendation to extend the age to 70 years.

MP Ian Wilson in his second reading speech, said: "I note the views of the Chief Justice of the Family Court, the Honourable Justice Nicholson, who queries whether the job of a Family Court judge is necessarily more stressful than that of a judge in any other court or the jobs of many other people who are aged between 65 and 70."

Wilson quoted from Justice Nicholson's submission to the Committee from whose recommendations the Bill emanated. His Honour said:

"The work of Judges in all such Courts is stressful. There is little to choose between the emotional strain of conducting a criminal trial and arriving at an appropriate sentence, for example, than there is in conducting a trial of a custody or access issue. Matrimonial property disputes frequently require Judges to display the same skills and learning as is required of a Court of Equity."

On the face of it, Nicholson appeared to be one of those who should, according to any straight forward reading of the Constitution, retire at 65. Certainly that was the view of the former Family Court judge who had alerted us to the story. A small number of judges, to DOTA's knowledge, took this course or prepared to do so.

To others, too, it appeared clear that Chief Justice Nicholson should retire.

The Shared Parenting Council of Australia put out a statement that in accordance with Section 72 of the Constitution of Australia, the Chief Justice, having reached age 65, must retire from the bench, and leave the Court, contrary to his own decision to stay until February 2004.

The SPCA said: "The Family Law Act, at the time of Alastair Nicholson's appointment, was unambiguous about the retirement age of a judge appointed to that Court - and they must retire once attaining the age of 65 years. The constitution is also unambiguous."

Rod Hardwick, President of Dads Australia, also lent his support to the calls for Nicholson to retire on schedule.

"Family law is in complete disarray in this country," he said. "That is in no small part the responsibility of the present Chief Justice, Alastair Nicholson.

"The massive harm that the Family Court has done to hundreds of thousands of families and to the community at large cannot be underestimated in financial, emotional or legal terms. The government should take the opportunity of his retiring to completely reform or abolish this institution. That the Court is failing to comply with its legislative obligations to act in the best interests of children is self evident to every objective observer of the court. Nicholson's claims that the court is not biased against fathers are simply preposterous.

"How can fathers possibly have faith in a court where the judges cannot even retire when they are supposed to?"

As it turned out, without fanfare or any public announcement, but clearly prepared for potential controversy, the Attorney-General Daryl William's office placed a statement on their web raised as many questions as it answered, but was remarkable in several points:

* It was the first public admission that Family Court judges had, in apparent secrecy, resigned their commissions and been recommissioned to extend their retirement ages. * It sheeted home blame to the former Keating government. * It failed to offer any legal argument or any legal explanation to rebut the claims by the Shared Parenting Council and others over Nicholson's retirement.

Here is the statement in full:

"Talking points by the Attorney-General for the media in response to a news release by the Shared Parenting Council of Australia:

"Consistent with the relevant provisions of the Family Law Act when he was appointed to the Family Court in 1988, Chief Justice Nicholson was originally appointed until he turned 65.

"In 1991, a Parliamentary Committee recommended that the Family Law Act be amended to increase the retirement age for Family Court judges from 65 to 70.

"Legislation to give effect to this recommendation was passed by the Parliament and came into effect in late 1991.

"Subsequently, Chief Justice Nicholson and all other Family Court judges who had been appointed until age 65 were offered the opportunity to be appointed until age 70.

"On 28 October 1993, Chief Justice Nicholson and a number of his colleagues were each appointed until they attained 70 years of age.

"Any suggestion that Chief Justice Nicholson's appointment is unconstitutional is misconceived."

But just exactly how the claims were misconceived was never explained.

The Shared Parenting Council of Australia requested from both the Family Court and the Attorney-General's Department the full list of judges involved in the resignations and recommissionings, the resignation letters of the judges to the Governor General of the day, Bill Hayden, and copies of the Government Gazette Notices and Media Releases of the AG and FCA that advised the public of these re-appointments.

The SPCA put out a statement suggesting that the groups they represented awaited the information with interest.

"The Question that now remains is: What possible reason was there for a number of judges resigning and being reappointed other than to defeat Section 72 of the Constitution?

"Where are the Gazettes and the Media Releases of the AG and FCA from October 1993 that proves this to be the case?

"The basic principal of law, arising from the English Law and inherited into Australia, is that a Court cannot do indirectly, what it cannot do directly.

"In other words, if the parliament cannot directly alter the terms of office of a judge directly, it cannot do it indirectly - by a contrived resignation and reappointment.

"The next legal question is - how can this appointment be upheld as constitutional if the purpose and only purpose of the resignation and recommissioning is to defeat Section 72 of the constitution?"

The government refused to provide any evidence that the recommissionings were conducted through the Governor General in Council, as required by law, the legal advice his office relied on to determine that the resignations and recommissions were not a breach of the constitution, the names and number of judges who took part, the legal advice arguing that the moves were illegal circulated by a dissenting judge within the court, our whistleblower, the resignation letters of the judges, or indeed any documentation at all.

The Attorney-General Daryl Williams invoked the 30 year cabinet secrecy rule to explain why he would not release any basic documentation to demonstrate that Nicholson's secretive resignation and recommissioning in 1993 was in fact legal.

Here's the exact wording of his rejection: "Chief Justice Nicholson's October 1993 appointment would have been considered in Cabinet by the Keating Government. Subject to the 30-year rule, Cabinet documents are not available to governments other than those which created them. Under the Archives Act 1983 Cabinet documents are generally open to public access only after thirty years."

Dads Australia, attempting to turn up the heat, said the Criminal Code of 1995 is applicable to the judiciary as well as each and every member of the public.

Dads Australia called for an inquiry into the resignations and recommissioning of the Family Court Judges. "If their recommissioning and/or term of office past the age of 65, is found to be unconstitutional we demand that appropriate criminal proceedings be commenced. This is potentially the greatest constitutional crisis in Australia since the 1975 sacking of the Whitlam Government by the then Governor General Sir John Kerr."

But nothing happened.

Nicholson continued to hear cases, he continued to give speeches and he continued to write and make public pronouncements against joint custody.

Having weathered many storms, on that day in October 2003, as he entered Parliament House in Canberra, there was little doubt Nicholson would weather another.

Chief Justice Alastair Bothwick Nicholson appeared before the House of Representatives Family and Community Affairs Committee inquiry into child custody matters in the company of Family Court Justice Richard Chisholm, Chief Executive Richard Foster, Principal Mediator James Cotta and General Manager of Client Services Jennifer Cooke.

He used his appearance to maximum effect to propagate his views.

The committee took the unusual step of releasing a summary of the Family Court's contribution:

"The submission explains the major provisions, philosophy and effect of the changes made to the Family Law Act in 1995.

"In particular it notes that the change of language (removing terms implying children as property) in that legislation has changed neither behaviour nor language in the community. It also is critical of the lack of clarity around the terms in the legislation and submits that this has exacerbated disputes between parents.

"The submission provides information on several previous parliamentary considerations of the issues

before the committee since the Family Law Act was first enacted, and discusses the diversity of clients who seek assistance from the Court and how this would relate to a 50/50 presumption in the best interest of the child. The submission explains the Court's approach to case management and resolution of disputes, interim applications, the voices of children and enforcement, including how the

Court's non-judicial processes encourage on-going involvement of parents.

"The Court itself is questioning the impact of the traditional adversarial model of litigation in disputes over children. It takes the position that the problem with the current family law system does not lie in

the legislation but in the procedure. The submission refers to the possibility of increases in litigation

from the proposed amendment, based on the experience of the impact of the 1995 reforms, and the need to manage disappointment when expectations are not met because of the complexity of family

situations which do not fit the 50/50 template.

"The Court will be providing information from a statistical survey of court files in order to provide the

committee with more detailed information on outcomes, which is not generally available."

Nicholson opened with these remarks: "Chair, as a matter of form, I would like to indicate the way in which both Justice Chisholm and I are here, and I do so simply for the record. As you know, judges are not normally summoned to parliamentary committees but both Justice Chisholm and I took the view that we wanted to be of assistance to the committee and felt it appropriate that we should attend. The first time I appeared before such a committee, I took advice from the then Chief Justice of the High Court, who was of the view that that was an appropriate course. I mention that simply for the record."

Throughout the day Nicholson showed no self doubt. One of the first questions he faced was on the issue of perjury in what DOTA routinely called "The Palace of Lies".

Committee member Julia Irwin noted that the committee had heard complaints, particularly from men's' groups, about perjury in family law proceedings and that the courts do nothing about that. "This is most often raised in the discussion of false allegations of violence or child abuse, as you would be aware," Ms Irwin said. "Given that perjury is a criminal offence that requires police action and a decision to prosecute, what can the Family Court do to address this problem?"

Chief Justice Nicholson responded that "allegations of perjury are thrown around very freely in family law matters, and understandably because two people often have two very different views about sets of facts. Undoubtedly, there are some people who do tell lies in court - there always have been. The court is not an investigative agency. If a judge feels that there are particular concerns about the evidence of a witness all they can do is refer that matter to the Attorney-General's Department. They cannot really refer it to the DPP. My experience of having done that is that nothing happens. Very rarely someone might refer it to the Australian Federal Police and they go round and make some investigations, but that is quite uncommon."

This response attracted a prompt denial from the Attorney-General's Department. The Age on the next day, a Saturday, reported that Family Court Chief Justice had accused bureaucrats of failing to act against those who lie in court during custody disputes. It said a spokesman for the Attorney-General's Department rejected the claims saying the department received "no more than three or four referrals a year" of alleged perjury from the Family Court, and the Department took the claims very seriously.

That the Department no longer appeared to be protecting Nicholson was perhaps indicative of the change in Attorney-Generals, from the mild mannered Daryl Wiliams to the harder edged Philip Ruddock.

On the question of a rebuttable notion of joint custody he said if there was a presumption there was evidence "that judges sometimes get a bit lazy in relation to a presumption like that and tend to find it easier to apply it than to not apply it. I would hope that would not happen here."

Following further questioning he said: "I do not think it is a workable proposition in the Australian community. I do not think that is going to fit very many families. We are dealing not just with middle class families who are involved in a split; we have serial families. There might be three children of three different fathers in one family - there are constellations in those families. To start imposing this kind of concept of equal sharing is so inappropriate to most Australian families that it is just not going to work.

"I think it is so inappropriate to most Australian children to say, 'There is a presumption that you have to spend equal time with your father and mother.' You are not talking about quality time, you are talking about equal time. It seems to me that quality is the important thing about the relationship between parents and children, not the measure of time. Try to tell a 14-year-old that they have to go to dad's next week because that is the rule. That kid is going to say, 'I have this on and that on and I have to see my friends.' It just does not seem to me to be a realistic concept...."

Nicholson denied that there was already an existing presumption that the court had an "80-20" presumption where fathers were given a standard every second weekend and half of school holidays for men.

"From my point of view as a judge — and, I am sure, for all my colleagues — the most horrible decision we ever have to take is to say that someone should have no contact with a child. That is something that is extraordinary stressful and very difficult to have to do - and it is very rarely done. We try and produce the best contract arrangements that we can. It is not question of just simply applying a formula."

Labor MP Jenny George from the working class seat of Throsby south of Sydney, asked: "So is it just coincidental that, in the statistics that you give us, contact agreed to

in consent applications is 40-odd per cent in that 51 to 108 days, contact agreed to in settled applicants as high as 50 per cent and in judicially determined matters around the 70 per cent mark? Is there a mind-set that the system has perpetuated that we need to understand or try and break?"

To which Justice Nicholson replied: "I do not believe so..."

What the committee failed to note in its frequent questioning of this so-called 80-20 presumption was that this was "if you're lucky" and if the custodial parent complied with the court's orders; for which there was almost no enforcement. Or that prior to reforms in 1995/96 one in four fathers had no contact with their children after leaving the court; and almost 50% of fathers continued to lose almost all contact with their children within two years of separation, often because of the enormous road blocks put in their way by the court and the mother.

Nicholson said: "I think that what is happening here when you talk about 80-20 is that the court is being 'blamed' in effect for what is a societal expectation in relation to young children. The court does not have any 80-20 rule, for the reasons I have been explaining. It deals with matters on the face of them as they happen. I do not sit there, count it up and say, 'Who's this way and who's that way?' You have got to realise that quite often there is no issue when we are talking 80-20. There are a lot of cases where there is absolutely no issue - that is, the father does not want the children on terms other than those being discussed. As I said, there are occasions when our counsellors have to actively persuade the father that they ought to see the children. There are many cases where the father does not turn up when such an arrangement is made.

"So it is not a presumption. If you have a proper case on residence to place before the court, there is absolutely no presumption against you at all and you are dealt with in the same way as any other litigant: you have either got a case or you have not. The interests of the children are what we are concerned about, not the interest of the person. It seems to me that the presumption has this problem: you are saying that there is a legislative expectation that the children will be shared equally, and that just is not the reality of Australian homes. That just is not the reality of life at the moment; you just do not have people who can comply with that sort of a presumption. I think it will cause a lot of difficulty."

Committee member Pearce asked what would, given that the court already had to discretion to make shared parenting orders, actually change if the legislation was shifted to a rebuttable presumption of joint residency.

Nicholson responded that "If you are talking about

actual hearings before judges, the effect would be much less than would be the situation prior to

that time because, as you correctly say, the issues would all be before the judge and it is subject

to a best interest test anyway. The judge would, I expect, proceed to examine the evidence and

probably come to a decision in much the same way as they now do...

"The real effect comes at the earlier stage because we know it is an expensive business to go to court, we know how difficult it is to go to court without representation and we have got a situation where the legislature is saying there is a presumption of fifty-fifty. Parents may be more inclined to simply give in on that without regard to the fact that it might have a detrimental effect on their children.

"There is plenty of evidence already, with the legal aid difficulties, of people not being prepared to pursue litigation simply because they cannot. I am not prepared, as a matter of principle, to say that in general it is better to have an equal sharing of time of children between parents; I think each family has to be looked at in its context... I get concerned when we start to say that, for people who are in conflict, there is a presumption that they ought to share their children equally... I just have great concerns about it.

"I have great concerns when I look at the differing ages of children and their development, too. One thing might be good for a three-year-old. It is a sort of one-size-fits-all suggestion that does not take into account the effects on individual children. I am concerned that it will be forced on people. Also, I am concerned about aspects of violence in relation to it. When there has been, for example, a history of violence in the family I am concerned that a controlling type person may well say, 'I want my half share,' and the other party may well not be able to withstand that."

While CJ Nicholson did not get the grilling that some family law reformers would have liked to see, the Committee appeared at the time to be fairly sceptical of many of Nicholson's pronouncements. Committee Chair Kay Hull queried Nicholson's assertions that there could be a significant increase in litigation if rebuttable joint custody became law; saying she thought the presumption of joint custody could mean fewer cases going through the Family Court "simply because we will have put in an intervention pathway".

Committee member Pearce said they had heard time and time again that when it came to enforcement of orders, particularly in relation to child contact, the court was "a toothless tiger".

"That is the classic, I would think; dad has shown up to pick up the children on Friday afternoon and mum has done every single thing possible to stop the contact-for example, she has gone away for the weekend. It happens time and time again and the court does nothing in relation to enforcement."

To which Nicholson responded: "I had one of those cases before me recently. I said to the father, 'You've proved all these breaches and I gave her the complete dressing down; what do you want me to do? Do you want her to go to jail? I'm prepared to send her to jail if you want me to.' That was a bad one. He said no. So what is the next step? It is not as simple as saying the court should get tough. Quite often the parents do not want that sort of result either."

Asked over the question of the possibility of juries in Family Court cases, in order to eradicate the bias of a single judge, Nicholson said it was "an appalling suggestion" which would constitute a "leap back in time" because it would encourage cases being conducted "on quite irrelevant issues about sexual mores and all sorts of matters that would normally now not form part of family law proceedings."

Pearce noted in the Family Court's submission the statement: "A well planned family law system does not exist in this country and has never done so. Why hasn't it ever

existed? What has the Family Court of Australia tried to do to establish a family system that does work?"

To which Nicholson once again repeated his dream of a unified Family Court system that dealt with everything to do with children with professionals working in a "holistic way".

"So far as the Family Court is concerned, if I were asked about our difficulties, I would say that our primary difficulty is the ability to provide swift and reasonably inexpensive justice to people," he said. "I think that is one of the areas that we still need to work on. We are working on it, as I have indicated, but there are problems. You have to have the resources to do that - and resources have been and remain a problem. I suppose that applies to any institution but, nevertheless, it is a significant problem. There are areas of Australia, for example, that I do not believe we can service as well as I would like to service them or as well as they should be serviced."

The next day a number of media outlets ran the story of the Chief Justice's stance on joint custody. The Sydney Morning Herald headlined theirs: "Family Court chief at odds with PM."

The wire service AAP produced copy which was widely used: "The head of the Family Court has lambasted the Prime Minister's proposal for shared custody of children from broken homes, saying it would never work. Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson was scornful of any suggestion the Family Law Act be changed to presume divorced parents received equal access to their children."

Nicholson also suggested that joint custody imposed major difficulties in cases where children were conceived through IVF using donor sperm or eggs or through rape.

Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson was back in the news a mere four days later, once again espousing a single court to preside over all child matters when he delivered the John Barry Memorial Lecture at Melbourne University. Quixotic, perhaps, considering the number of critics of his court, Nicholson said reform of the Family Court system was overdue, saying the current system was compromising the welfare of vulnerable young people. He argued for a unified or single Family Court which would have jurisdiction over juvenile crime, child abuse, adoption, child support, guardianship, divorce and paternity. He said one court handling all child matters would provide a unified response to the families. The concentration and aggregation of yet further power into the Family Court realm met with little enthusiasm.

During his final months CJ Nicholson continued to speak out, on bullying at school, particularly bullying of ethnic and indigenous children. The previous year 2002 he had become chair of the National Centre Against Bullying. The irony that his own court was seen as amongst the nation's worst bullies was not lost on some of DOTA's guests. The government continued to refuse to release any of the details of Nicholson's secret resignation and recommissioning a decade earlier. The mainstream media continued to report his pronouncements with deference. But surrounded by enemies, with few supporters or apologists in the government and serious concern from elements within the Opposition, reviled by disenfranchised fathers and their supporters, his final days were not comfortable ones. The shadows on the ancient regime appeared to be falling fast.

CHAPTER SEVEN: DESCENT INTO CHAOS

After the House of Representatives Family and Community Services Committee wound up its public hearings on 3 November 2003 media coverage of the inquiry into joint custody lapsed into silence for a good fortnight.

The evidence was in. There was nowhere to go.

Amongst family law reformers there was an odd disquiet; was it all another hoax? Would anything really change?

In a moment of surreal and in retrospect naive optimism Dads On The Air expressed surprise that one of the most vexed issues of the era, child custody and the appropriateness of the sole custody model, along with the operation of child support, could be about to be solved. The silence did not last.

Later in November controversy began to pick up once again with a string of stories from Melbourne's Herald Sun, the first kicking off with the headline "Divorced Dads pay to see their kids". The story provoked another eddy of talkback.

"Desperate dads are secretly paying former partners to buy time with their children," the paper reported. "A Geelong father gave his ex-wife \$10,000 to ensure she signed a court order giving him five days a fortnight with their child."

The paper declared that frustrated dads "are paying between \$40 and \$80 a fortnight in exchange for the honouring of court-ordered contact visits. The money these dads pay is on top of compulsory child support payments."

The yet to retire Family Court Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson described the case as appalling: "One party should not have to pay the other to make the children available." Surely that was exactly what many court cases boiled down to?

The paper's Paula Beauchamp followed up with several strong stories, including "Desperate dad pleads to see kids", about a man who's children were taken overseas: "The thing I loved the most was stolen from my life." And "Second Wives Worse Off" which began: "Child support number crunching is tearing second families apart, family law specialists say. And some second wives are better off leaving their husbands."

Geoffrey Greene of the Shared Parenting Council of Australia then appeared on the ABC TV's Lateline program debating Kathleen Swinbourne of the Council for Single Mothers. Greene said: "The first principle is that it's about recognising that every child has a fundamental human right to an equal opportunity and relationship with both their mother and father when they separate. And the second principle about this inquiry is establishing responsible parenthood and for Australia to say to the people or to parents or prospective parents, that we expect you both, jointly, to raise your children and to share the care, the duties and responsibilities of the upbringing of those children.

"We believe that we need a system or a structure in Australia to cope with family breakdowns that in the very first instance upholds that child's fundamental right to that relationship with their mother and father and to act in the best interests of the child, which all sides of this debate believe is crucial, we say that you need to uphold that right first.

"And once you've done that, once you've protected that right ... and these are children who can't protect them themselves ... once that's acknowledged, then it's about looking at each individual circumstances of each family and coming to an arrangement that suits the parents and children."

The weekend edition of the Sydney Morning Herald carried as its front page "Parents face custody overhaul". It was framed around a photograph of father Greg Cairns with his three daughters run across five columns pointing to the front page of their News Review Section, which also ran across its entire front page a long feature by Lauren Martin called "Middle Ground". The front page spilled to stories on "How father shares the care", "Robbed by the System", on grandparents, and "The Children: What it is like to be Shared". In SMH terms, it was impossible to get more prominent coverage.

Flagging the gutting or removal of child custody matters from the Family Court, Martin wrote: "All separating couples with children would have to lodge 'parenting plans' before a new tribunal under proposals to reduce the trauma of custody disputes.

"Unless violence or abuse was at issue, custody disputes would be removed from the Family Court and dealt with by tribunals or even an administrative agency..."

Inquiry Chairwoman Kay Hull said she was 'very keenly' examining the idea, but could not confirm that it would be recommended in their report.

Committee Member Peter Dutton said a compulsory tribunal could comprise a child psychologist, a mediator and a family law expert who would be able to draft the conditions of any binding agreements.

The Family Court remained in the news with a report from the Law Institute of Victoria that delays between the time proceedings were initiated and the time cases were heard now stretched beyond two years.

The Institute's family law section painted a grim picture in a submission to the Australian National Audit Office. Average delays Australia-wide were up to 23 months to complete the Family Court process. In Melbourne the delay could be up to 27 months.

The Law Institute of Victoria found that: "Despite the best efforts of judges and administration...the court is in a 'parlous' state, causing enormous stress to litigants and children. Neither the Family Court nor the Federal Magistrates Court are fulfilling their charters."

Institute president Bill O'Shea said he wanted the Federal Government to halt the crisis by providing more funding to both courts.

Pleas for more money were not likely to be met with much enthusiasm from the Howard government, long critical of the court's overly legalistic pomp and circumstance and its' excruciatingly complex, expensive and time consuming procedures.

On the 25th November 2003 The Australian ran a story titled "Prison and fines to enforce family law" following a leak of the draft report, allegedly from within the Committee. One rumour was that the leak had come from the Labor side in order to help ensure that Howard did not get all the credit for family law reform.

"A three-strikes plan, which uses the threat of fines and jail to force parents to meet their parental obligations after divorce, could be introduced under a draft proposal from the parliamentary committee charged with reviewing the Family Law Act," the paper reported.

"Non-custodial parents, mainly fathers, who for example fail to pick up their children at the time dictated by Family Court orders would face 'reasonable but minimum financial penalties' the first and second time they breach conditions. If the parent breaches the conditions for a third time and shows a 'pattern of deliberate defiance', then all access rights could be withdrawn. The parent could also face imprisonment if consistently continuing to breach court orders."

The news was met with incomprehension within the ranks of family law reform advocates. Was the government really going to jail the very same parents who had just appeared before their parliamentary committee, some shedding tears as they told of the tale of destruction that the Family Court and the Child Support Agency had wrecked in theirs and their children's lives?

Why weren't they going to prosecute those who had created and protected this fiasco; the suspect psychiatrists and family report writers, the lying child support review officers, the judicial officers who conspired to ignore a father's every cautionary word about the welfare of his children while allowing ideology to rule, the public servants who continued to ignore and were therefore complicit in the high death rate of child support payers and the scheme's disastrous social impacts?

In a difficult interview on the Australian Broadcasting Commission's "World Today" program the Shared Parenting Council claimed they reports they supported a three strikes and your out proposal for breach of court orders were misinterpreted. The recommendation contained in the leaked draft provided a range of penalties: losing access, being fined and being imprisoned.

Amidst claims the Committee would not recommend rebuttable joint parenting a concerned Geoffrey Greene said the right to an equal relationship with both parents "must be a starting point for any custody determinations coming out of these reforms."

The leaks created consternation within the Committee but were not to stop. By the time its report was handed down virtually all its major recommendations had been published or broadcast.

The hope that shared parenting offered to so many separated parents and the heightened sensitivities surrounding Christmas, boosted by positive media coverage, all took a great lurch backwards.

So many witnesses had appeared before the inquiry in tears. So many people had worked so hard on so many submissions; and in making sure they were heard at public hearings. The committee had appeared to understand.

It was a brutal slap in the face.

On the ABC's Law Report that week author and mediator Michael Green QC described shared parenting as "a necessary revolution, because we know and all professionals and all people in this area, apart probably from some judges and lawyers, believe that the present system is simply not good for children and parents, and it's not working and it's not giving children an adequate opportunity or a very good opportunity to bond with both parents in a realistic way.

"Certainly not with the separated father. Because of the shortness of time that he has with his children, it's very difficult for him to develop a meaningful relationship with the children, one that will be for their good and welfare and development. And on the other hand, for the mother, places an unnecessary burden of the responsibilities of raising these children, economically, socially, developmentally, and that's not a good thing either. So what we need is a revolution, and the joint rebuttable presumption I believe is the only way that we'll obtain that revolution."

The battle over the future of the Family Court grew nastier, the court more defensive, its' Chief Justice more insulting of his and the court's many critics.

A front page story in The Brisbane Courier Mail headlined "Top judge hits family law plan" reported that the Chief Justice of the Family Court had berated Prime Minister John Howard's plan for reforming family law in a major attack on Government policy. He had been speaking to a forum by the Domestic Violence and Incest Resource Centre in Melbourne, his natural surrounds.

Alastair Nicholson described Howard's plan for automatic 50-50 child custody after divorce as "unworkable" and "detrimental to the interests of children. "It is far too simplistic to change the law and expect parental behaviour to change as a consequence," he said.

In positive tones the paper reported that the government was considering automatic dual custody, where "even estranged and warring parents would continue to share access and responsibility".

"In cases where there was entrenched dispute, the onus would shift to a parent to legally justify why the other parent should be excluded from the shared arrangement."

Nicholson said separated families needed more information and services, not legislative reform "which is more adult than child-focused and which puts unnecessary pressure on parents and children alike to rely on a `one size fits all' arrangement'.

"Our experience strongly suggests that a proposal of equal time would be detrimental to the best interests of children and would increase disputation and litigation."

At the same Melbourne conference on intimate violence he poured scorn on the idea that men were often victims of domestic violence.

The next day The Age's well known cartoonist Ron Tandberg portrayed a man being attended to by a doctor. "Your knuckles are badly damaged," the doctor said. Ridiculing female victims of domestic violence would have got the cartoonist sacked.

Nicholson said the mythology that portrayed men as victims was driving debate over domestic violence, child custody and child support issues. He said the myth was at its most extreme with claims that men were as often victims of family violence as they were the perpetrators of it.

But in the days of broadband and the miracles of Google, it took only seconds for anyone to type in the words "abused men" and find references to a substantial body of international and some Australian research to contradict the Chief Justice's claims - or at the very least to demonstrate there were seriously held views amongst some heavy hitting researchers and academics to the contrary.

Nicholson said a renewed emphasis on men's rights was fostering an environment of encouraging paternal contact after separation at all costs. He detailed a case of alleged sexual abuse where the experts had encouraged contact but he had refused to order it.

Justice Nicholson said he favoured children having contact with both parents, but the proposal for a presumption of equal joint custody of children after family break-ups would lock couples into maintaining relationships that had ended often because of violence. The question of why children were losing contact with their fathers cried out for research rather than a parliamentary inquiry with a life of less than six months, he said.

The next day The Courier Mail followed with another front page story reporting that the Family Court would be stripped of its powers to decide child custody arrangements for separated parents.

The paper went on to say a new mediation tribunal would instead make determinations on how child custody should be shared between the parents. Lawyers would be removed from the child-custody process, potentially saving tens of thousands of dollars for parties involved.

Government members of the Committee returned fire on Nicholson, accusing him of being out of touch with widespread community concern over the operation of his court. It was unprecedented. Peter Dutton MP said the committee had taken evidence from thousands of Australians who were unhappy with the current process.

"There are obvious problems with the Family Court and the way it deals with matters surrounding children at the time of their parents' separation," Dutton told the Courier Mail. "My view is that Justice Nicholson's comments have been completely unhelpful and I see Justice Nicholson as part of the problem, not the solution."

Cameron Thompson, the Member for Blair, said Nicholson was "kidding himself" if he believed the system worked properly. "If there was some hypothesis out there that the Family Law Court and the current system was out of touch, then Alastair Nicholson has proven it," he said.

Thompson said the Family Court Chief Justice was "probably starting, after years of insulation, to feel the winds of change that are blowing through the community over the issue. He's probably getting very defensive, and with very good reason."

Two wings of government were at what turned out to be an entirely phoney war.

The first day of summer, and the kitchen just got hotter.

"Judge should go, says MP" was the headline in the Herald Sun on 1 December 2003. The paper reported the "bold call" for "the resignation of controversial Family Court Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson" by Victorian Liberal MP Chris Pearce, who claimed the judge has tried to interfere in the outcome of a Parliamentary inquiry into child custody.

"It is Justice Nicholson's role to administer the law, not make it," Pearce said.

The Shared Parenting Council of Australia rushed out a supportive press release overnight and by early morning the story was on the AAP wire service and was widely disseminated.

Citing undue influence and inappropriate public comment on the Federal Parliamentary Inquiry into Child Custody, Geoffrey Greene, Federal Director of the Shared Parenting Council of Australia said the Chief Justice had brought an entire judicial institution and arm of government into disrepute.

"We support the claim made by Federal Member for Aston, Chris Pearce that the Chief Justice has attempted to pervert the course of a Federal Parliamentary Inquiry through his constant attacks upon the committee, its reference and its members," he said.

"Clearly the Family Court under the stewardship of Alastair Nicholson, has now degenerated into a failed institution with little or no respect from the general public, in either its administration of justice or in its capacity to hear matters before it without bias or prejudice.

"The public attacks upon the parliamentary inquiry, and his direct opposition to the rights of children of separated parents to continue their relationship with both their mother and father has effectively prevented any party seeking a shared parenting Order in the Family Court from ever receiving a fair trial.

"This is an intolerable situation that the Chief Justice has created and leaves the Attorney-General and the Federal Parliament with little choice but to act immediately, to restore some faith to a judicial arm of government."

The fathers groups, growing slowly more media savvy, chimed in with supporting releases. In an open letter to the Prime Minister Men's Confraternity in Western Australia also claimed the Chief Justice had attempted to pervert the course of the parliamentary inquiry through his constant attacks.

Reliable Parents described the calls for Nicholson's resignation as "not without foundation". The group said the Family Court system was unworkable and the Chief Justice had undermined public confidence in the court's ability to administer the will of the Parliament, and in doing so, also the will of the people.

Chairman Tony Borger said "the ingrained bias that exists within the Family Court and its' agencies has clearly influenced the Chief Justice and rendered the entire Family Court system unworkable. The Parliamentary inquiry and the steadfast determination of its' Chairperson Kay Hull can be credited with having bought to public light the extent to which fathers and their children have been callously disregarded".

Even Fathers4Justice International weighed in with an open letter to the Prime Minister claiming the Family Court had the worst reputation of any court in Australia.

Pearce continued to make comment, saying the following day that Nicholson's attacks showed a "total lack of regard and respect for the parliamentary process and the parliament's role in developing and legislating the laws of Australia.

"There are clear and distinct roles for the parliament and for the judiciary. It is important that both parliamentarians and members of the judiciary respect that distinction. Justice Nicholson's comments demonstrate a clear and worrying failure to respect this important principle."

Not surprisingly, Nicholson refused to resign ahead of his planned retirement in March of the following year.

"I have no intention of resigning over comments I made during a speech at a family violence forum on the needs of vulnerable and abused children," he said. "I view calls for my resignation by the Victorian MP Chris Pearce, and the Shared Parenting Council of Australia, as an attempt to intimidate me in the carrying out of my duties."

In mid December 2003 there were reports that the minimum \$5 a week child support payment extracted from the unemployed would be doubled as a result of Committee recommendations. Shuffling money between welfare recipients was blind bureaucratic insanity and didn't go down well.

There were a quarter of a million fathers in this situation. The money represented \$20 a fortnight they could be spending on their kids or on maintaining their last shreds of dignity. Even the National Council of Single Mothers criticised the move, referring to the "groundswell of opposition to child support" and saying the proposal would trigger disputes between parents.

The froth on choppy seas created further in-fighting and shadow boxing in an always disparate and geographically scattered family law reform movement filled with strong and often obsessive characters. Healthy egos and personal encounters with the system led to sometimes difficult and almost always pointless division.

As the deadline grew closer a squabble broke out in the Shared Parenting Council over the question of whether a Tribunal should replace the Family Court, a spat which led to the departure of the Men's Rights Agency.

Sue Price put up a public notice on the Men's Rights website saying they did not see the tribunal as a workable solution. She said the issue would divert attention from the crux of the matter, a rebuttable presumption of joint custody. She claimed debate on the issue had been stifled within the SPCA and that the same people who worked at the Family Court would simply make the dash across the road to the tribunal.

She wrote: "The problem is so much greater than just bringing in a new quasi-legal level of adjudication. The solution lies in ensuring the rebuttable presumption of joint custody 50/50 (shared and equal parenting) becomes the accepted norm. Once that is in place we can then start to introduce programs to elevate the status of fathers to ensure all those with a misandrist outlook come to understand the importance of both parents raising their children."

In a separate public statement she claimed that "the recently formed Shared Parenting Council of Australia this week lost the support of a major Australian men's organization."

In announcing her organisation's withdrawal she cited "procedural difficulties".

"The SPCA Executive had not even discussed the Family and Community Affairs Committee latest recommendation to introduce a tribunal system to replace the Family Court's handling of children's issues, yet the Federal Director Geoff Greene was obviously promoting this concept without the authority of the Executive", said Price. "Not only did he attempt to stifle debate, but tried to silence criticism of the proposal for fear of upsetting the Committee".

She claimed that "it felt like we belonged to a branch office of the Liberal Party. We do applaud the Government's initiatives, but we feel we must remain non-political in our

approach to achieving a better result for parents and their children if their relationships fail."

Greene denied the claims. The rupture did not receive mainstream media coverage. In the end, after much debate, the tribunal never got off the ground anyway and was criticised by some strategists for diverting attention away from simpler solutions.

Politicians and lobbyists were on holidays for Christmas but the media retained its interest in the shared parenting legislation.

The strongest piece appeared in Queensland's high circulation Sunday Mail on 21st December, when emotions surrounding children were already high. It was titled "Children Caught in the Crossfire". Like other pieces now beginning to appear, it was written with the assumption that the Family Court was about to be substantially demolished.

Reporter David English began: "Christmas is looming and millions of divorced Aussie dads are dreading it. It's not creeping credit card debt or even monster hangovers that loom large in their minds. It is the stark realisation that time with their children will be brief and in many cases non-existent...

"The animosity between the Family Court and the 10-member committee over possible change is palpable as anyone knows who has followed the exchanges of fire in the media between Family Court Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson and committee members in recent weeks."

The Shared Parenting Council of Australia said any rearguard attempt to save the Family Court was doomed: "There is no place in Australian society for an institution that operates in the way the Family Court operates. What an indictment it is of the court that the vast majority of Australians want to take it apart."

English also quoted Sue Pric: "Whatever comes next has got to be better than what we've got. I know from the myriad of women mostly second wives we've dealt with that most mums agree that the court has gone overboard against fathers."

English went on to say the Committee had been told loudly and clearly that lawyers and judges should have nothing whatever to do with the process of separation and that "most certainly the Family Court should be stripped of all its powers over custody considerations."

"It has also been given ample evidence that justice in Australia comes at a very high price, usually \$100,000 to \$150,000 for a case to go through court and even then a final decision may not be made."

Liberal committee member Peter Dutton said: "The overwhelming message is a need for change. We have had it put to us that the system does not work."

To the end the women's groups were defensive of the court which had for so long reflected their ideology. Yvonne Parry of the National Council for Single Mothers said: "We think the court does a wonderful job in very trying circumstances."

She dismissed the push for change as coming from "a vocal minority who've been pressing the backbenchers for change". She said she saw some of that minority as pretty nasty.

"We've had death threats here since the inquiry was announced. People have sent emails saying they hope we die and they hope our kids die and stuff like that. It's not nice."

Significantly in terms of the Australian push for reform, there were also major breakthroughs in the international campaign for equity in family law. These events demonstrated that the push for shared parenting from Australian fathers was by no means an isolated event.

One of the world's most powerful newspapers, the downmarket tabloid The Sun in Britain, launched a national campaign in mid-December for 50/50 child custody after separation. While it might not win on intellectual clout, with its multi-million circulation and brash attitude The Sun was one of the few newspapers that could single-handedly influence election outcomes and public attitudes.

Declaring that more than one million children in Britain will not see their fathers for Christmas, The Sun called for dads to be given equal rights and announced that it was backing rock star and father-of-four Sir Bob Geldof - who had branded the country's family law system as "grotesque" for its failure to maintain links between children and their parents.

Writing for the paper to coincide with the launch of the campaign Sir Bob said: "For those divorced men with children, Christmas is a travesty, a repulsive contradiction of a family holiday, of a loving celebration, of a special children's time.

"These are the men who will be forced to be alone without their babies, who will commit suicide most frequently at this time of year in an age when male suicides are already 300 per cent greater than women's. These are men who, in the eyes of what is sickeningly called Family Law, committed the greatest crime - of being divorced. Men who are guilty of the worst sin - of being fathers - because dads, to the great dismay of the secret elite who sit in secret judgment in these secret courts are, shockingly, ALL men!

"This Christmas Eve...there will be many fathers forbidden by the savagery of our laws to be with their children, standing broken, as I have, outside their old homes, the keys still in their pockets, weeping and whispering goodnight as they watch each child's bedroom light switch off before turning away, maddened with grief, to the pointlessness of a lonely Christmas Day.

"What have we become? In whose name is this brutality done? Who are they who do this and why do they not account to us, the people? What unthinking fools perpetrated these unlawful laws?"

Also in the days before Christmas a Sydney University study "Adolescents' Views on the Fairness of Parenting and Financial Arrangements After Separation" by Judy Cashmore, Patrick Parkinson and Judi Single from the faculty of law, added weight to suggestions children were better off spending equal time with both parents after divorce.

The study was one of the first in Australia to look at how children feel about spending time with their parents and canvassed the views of 60 teenagers.

When asked how parents should care for children after divorce, the most common answer was "equal" or "half and half". Half also said they wanted more time with their non-residential parents.

Professor Parkinson said the results were striking. "It suggests that adolescents are willing to move between homes, at least in principle," he said, adding that the research suggested the 1970s custody model in which children saw one parent "every second weekend and school holidays" was outdated. The study also found children had an acute sense of fairness in money matters. They did not like it if one parent appeared to have a better standard of living, or if the children from another relationship received bigger Christmas presents.

Parkinson had previously said, "In the past 30 years, we have sown the wind in the revolution in attitudes to sex, procreation and marriage. We are now reaping the whirlwind. The societal problems which this has caused are problems that no law can resolve."

The mix of Christmas and the impending conclusion of the inquiry propelled The Australian's conservative columnist Janet Albrechtsen into the debate. She had long been an outspoken critic of the Family Court and its Chief Justice, suggesting Nicholson's frequent international conference hopping made him a fully paid up member of "the international judicial jet set".

She had condemned the court as ideologically driven and as having overseen the bastardisation of the best interests of the child test. Despite the legislative reforms of 1995 intended to promote shared parenting fathers were continuing to be stripped of a genuine relationship with their children, "all in the name of ideology".

She had previously written: "Sadly the Family Court is caught downwind of the more illogical parts of feminist thinking that sanctifies the womb as soon as a marriage is over. The real victims are children, who may miss out on the best custody outcome because there is no level playing field."

Nicholson's views on virtually everything, from domestic violence to shared parenting to the disciplining of chidren were on the record and she condemned his ceaseless public statements and his obvious desire to change the law to match his own views. His behaviour frequently raised the question of how any applicant applying, for instance, for a shared parenting order, could get a fair trial.

Under the headline "Fathers given raw custody deal Albrechtsen wrote: "Tomorrow, thousands of children will celebrate Christmas away from their fathers. Next week the Standing Committee on Family and Community Affairs will deliver its report on child custody.

"The juxtaposition of these two facts is a stark reminder that restoring fatherhood could be John Howard's finest legacy to us. But it will require a very clear, very loud message to the proverbial men in white coats - the judges of the Family Court - to end the experiment, to start over, to welcome fathers back into the lives of children.

"The social experiment began with the best of intentions. The Family Court, established in 1976, promised a revolutionary system for dealing with family breakdown - one that sought outcomes in 'the best interests of the child'.

"But the 1970s were feminism's heyday. And so that message - the best interests of the child - was filtered through a feminist prism where the denigration of men refracted into the belittling of fathers."

She said the statistics showing the court making a paltry number of shared parenting orders, 329 out of a total 13,000 orders in the financial year 2000-01 for example, "translated into thousands of fatherless children and childless fathers. One million children live with only one parent, usually their mother. Less than half of these children see their other parent, usually their father, at least fortnightly. More than a third see them rarely - once a year or less. Less than half of the fathers have their children stay overnight. And yet 72 per cent of non-resident fathers want more contact and most children want to spend more time with their fathers."

Albrechtsen said Nicholson was claiming shared parenting to be unworkable where there is parental conflict yet he knew the legal process based on the victor and the vanquished promoted the very conflict to which to which he pointed.

"There is now too much evidence to ignore the positive outcomes for children who maintain genuine loving relationships with their fathers," she wrote.

"There is another reason for restoring fatherhood. Every young boy needs to know he is important and that society treats fathers with respect. If fatherhood matters, every young boy matters. A simple message that we ignore at our peril."

After so much hard work so many fathers had voluntarily put in to fighting for reform, including many detailed submissions to the inquiry, confronting perhaps the saddest and most private aspects of their own lives, some felt sick to the stomach over what could or could not be about happen.

How many fathers dreamed that next Christmas, unlike this one, they would be spending with their children after the government changed the law and gave them their children back?

Prior to the report's release stories based on leaks from the report culminated in Sydney's leading tabloid The Daily Telegraph's front page headline "Access Denied" – a bitter follow up to the campaigning "Give Dads A Go" front page only months before.

The story reported that separated parents are unlikely to get automatic 50/50 joint custody of their children as parliamentary committee was likely to unanimously reject ordering that a child's time be automatically split evenly between separated parents.

The paper accurately reported that the inquiry would propose significant changes to the Family Law Act which could include the introduction of a special tribunal to decide custody matters outside the court system. There would be other suggestions for involving both parents in a child's upbringing, including overhauls of child support and the consideration of grandparents in 'parenting plans.'

DOTA's editorial stance was singularly unhappy with these developments, and we opined that it was "the same unworkable platitudinous rubbish everyone had seen before. It means, in cold blood, that without a rebuttable notion of shared parenting nothing will really change. The government has just spent millions of dollars stirring up passions over child custody and child support, encouraged countless thousands of

fathers who did not get to see their children to hope that things would change and was now not going to improve the lot of them and their children."

The media leaks were all correct, adding in the end to the impression of chaos, confusion and un-professionalism which began adhering to the Committee once the first stage of the inquiry, the public hearings, was completed.

The day before the launch of the report and the Canberra press conference Labor Party's Opposition spokesman on Family and Community Affairs Wayne Swan came out declaring his party would adopt all of the report's recommendations. Their delight at having such a difficult issue for their party apparently neutralised was clear. The following year was an election year and to be fighting with parenting groups of either gender was political suicide. There had been a 12% swing to the Coalition amongst males over the past three elections.

Lone Fathers' Association president Barry Williams said he would be "very unhappy" with anything less than "shared parenting". Others were in equal dismay. "I don't think anything but compulsory shared parenting is acceptable."

And so Monday 29th December 2003 finally arrived. Unusually for a committee report it was released at 10.30am exactly, with a press conference called for one hour later. It was to be a day of judgement and despair.

What so many had hoped would be an historic day when the nation's children were given back their fathers turned out to be bureaucratic and political obfuscation at its very worst.

Optimistically, just before the release of the report we had labeled our shows The Family Court Faces Dismissal, Fundamental Reform Coming Your Way, The Weight of Evidence and before the report's release, Fathers In Waiting: History In The Making,

All misguided. All to no avail.

The idiotically named report Every Picture Tells A Story did not recommend a rebuttable presumption of joint custody but advised creating "a clear presumption, that can be rebutted, in favour of equal shared parental responsibility, as the first tier in post separation decision making." There would be "a clear presumption against shared parental responsibility with respect to cases where there is entrenched conflict, family violence, substance abuse or established child abuse, including sexual abuse."

The Committee defined shared parenting responsibility as involving a requirement

that parents consult with one another before making decisions about major issues relevant to the care, welfare and development of children, including but not confined to education – present and future, religious and cultural upbringing, health, change of surname and usual place of residence. This should be in the form of a parenting plan."

Separating parents would be required to undertake mediation or other forms of dispute resolution before they were able to make an application to a court or tribunal for a parenting order. As part of this there was a recommendation to create a "shop-front" information and mediation referral service for separating parents readily accessed at Centrelink offices or in major shopping malls.

The committee recommended that the Commonwealth government establish a national, statute based Families Tribunal with power to decide disputes about shared parenting responsibility with respect to parenting arrangements that were in the best interests of children and property matters by agreement of the parents. The Families Tribunal

should be child inclusive, non adversarial, with simple procedures that respect the rules of natural justice. Members of the Families Tribunal should be appointed from professionals practising in the family relationships area, should first attempt to conciliate the dispute and should be conducted by a panel of three members comprising a mediator, a child psychologist or other professional able to address the child's perspective and a legally qualified member.

The committee also recommended that an investigative arm of the Families Tribunal should be established to examine allegations of violence and child abuse in a timely and credible manner.

Some recommendations simply incensed fathers, such as the one advising that the Child Support Agency be given additional enforcement powers, including enhancing Child Support Agency garnishee powers; compulsory notification to the Agency from insurers re settlements; collection from superannuation; the power to access joint accounts; the cancellation of drivers and other licenses and giving CSA officers the power to deem the transfer of assets.

Another recommendation suggested the Child Support Agency, in conjunction with the Commonwealth Ombudsman, "undertake a review of its strategies for communication with individual clients and the effectiveness of information flow to clients; and take whatever steps are required to ensure that clients fully understand all the options available to them in meeting their child support obligations and are enabled to act upon them."

Baloney to any one who had ever dealt with the Agency first hand.

Committee chairwoman Kay Hull said the committee was unanimous that each separated parent should start with an expectation of equal care and responsibility, and substantially shared parenting time. But children should be put in any circumstance where their safety and wellbeing were at risk.

"The goal for the majority of families should be one of equality of care and responsibility, along with substantially shared parenting time," she said. "The committee agrees that, all things considered, each parent should have an equal say on where the child or children reside. Wherever possible, an equal amount of parenting time should be the standard objective, taking into account individual circumstances. However, the committee does not support forcing this outcome in potentially inappropriate circumstances by legislating a presumption - rebuttable or not - that children spend equal time with each parent. Every family has its own unique set of circumstances during their relationship breakdown, and we realised you cannot have a one-size-fits-all response that will please everyone. Governments cannot legislate for people to like each other or to act reasonably or rationally in the best interests of their children."

This presumed a court system which actually functioned appropriately, in a fast, fair, considerate and gender neutral fashion in assessing and taking care of the needs of separating families – who were often, mothers, fathers and children in the depths of a distressing personal crisis, the dissolution of everything they had known. In imposing its

elaborate legal procedures and lengthy delays upon these families, the court barely functioned at all. It certainly didn't meet their needs.

The forums on Dads On The Air's old website went ballistic.

Dads Australia's public statements garnered 6,111 comments. They read in part: "DADs Australia condemns the recommendations of the Parliamentary Committee into Shared Parenting as a blatant act of betrayal against separated fathers, grand parents but most importantly, the one million children from separated families. The committee caved into pressure from small, self-interested letter head groups. The Prime Minister should step in to implement the equal-time parenting proposal to stop the suffering of fathers and their children.

"Of all the 29 recommendations made by the Committee there should have been only one, that is that 50/50 Equal Parenting is to be accepted as the rebuttable presumption at the time of separation. The failure of the Committee to implement Equal Parenting in the light of overwhelming evidence that supports such a policy, is especially the children who devastating not only for both parents, but would have gained the most benefit?"

The reports recommendations, to which DOTA posted a link, garnered an extra 2,631 comments, almost universally hostile.

Dads On The Air was the only media outlet to broadcast the morning's press conference live. Our editorial, headlined Betrayal, began: "Dads On The Air has been a significant supporter of the government inquiry into child custody which reported today. Our support was clearly misguided and we apologise to our listeners."

The editorial garnered 3,717 comments.

After all the alleged hostility, In the end Family Court Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson was one of the few supporters of the Committee's report Every Picture Tells A Story, demonstrating its true nature. He declared the plan for equal time shared care was always doomed to failure, said many of their recommendations "had merit" and congratulated the members of the Committee on their courage and foresight. "I think the Report is a very good one," he said. "You can't have a one-size-fits-all arrangement because children and families are too different. It just did not seem to me to have any sense about it."

Writing in the Fairfax press Nicholson said: "Thankfully, the committee has resisted the simplistic argument that a presumption that children spend equal time with both parents would ensure better outcomes. Such an approach was always more likely to benefit parents than children.

"The report also sensibly suggests that shared parenting is inappropriate in situations of high conflict and where there are serious concerns about violence, substance abuse and child abuse, including sexual abuse. These cases will remain with the courts. Such cases already form the bulk of children's cases that go to trial so in this regard the committee's recommendations are unlikely to reduce the workload of the court. This is as it should be."

However Nicholson did not support the notion of a Tribunal, saying he was deeply concerned that parties before the tribunal would not have access to a lawyer, which he

believed to be unconstitutional "You shouldn't have a decision-making body where people have no right to a lawyer, which is the present proposal," he said.

"I think the committee may have fallen for the line that lawyers necessarily promoted adversarial litigation."

Nicholson's overall praise for Every Picture Tells A Story guaranteed that it would receive no acceptance amongst fathers' groups and advocates for reform.

Also backing Nicholson were the elements of the family law industry the Howard government had judiciously attempted to bypass. The acting chairman of the family law section of the Law Council of Australia, Martin Bartfeld, said the report was an attack on the Family Court and the justice system. "The tribunal is going to have some sort of investigative arm and they are going to conduct some sort of inquisition," he said. "Why should children be the ones on whom this experiment is conducted when we have a system that has been around and developed over a very long period of time? It's hard to imagine the Government will have the money to set up this new system. The Family Court is not excluded. It is just put to one side temporarily.""

Another officer from the Law Council Shanna Quinn said that even the committee's view about equal shared parenting responsibility was "naive". Not all parents might be able to, or want to, participate in their children's upbringing. "That is predicated on the assumption that both parents are equally capable, competent and willing to take on that responsibility," she said. "It also is predicated on the assumption that neither parent is a threat to the other."

The Shared Parenting Council of Australia issued a statement that the House of Representatives Committee Report into Child Custody had left children, fathers and grandparents with little change to their current status after family breakdown.

"A majority of our Affiliate Organisations feel 'bitterly disappointed' that the Committee's report has failed to recognise every child's fundamental right to experience the love, guidance and companionship of both their parents in an equitable arrangement," Federal Director Geoffrey Greene said.

"The most common complaint made to us is that the Parliamentary Committee appeared more interested in compromising principles to achieve a bipartisan report - rather than doing what was right for children of separated parents.

"We essentially agree with Sole Parent's Union president Kathleen Swinbourne that many of the recommendations seek changes that already exist in the current Family Law regime – this is also evidenced by the Chief Justice of the Family Court's approval of these recommendations."

Not a common occurrence, DOTA also agreed with Swinbourne. In a piece for the SMH she asked: "Is that the sound of champagne corks I hear as fathers' groups celebrate their victory in obtaining shared custody of children following divorce? Well, hold the champagne, the Government's long-awaited report into a rebuttable presumption of joint custody following divorce or separation is not quite what it seems."

Swinbourne noted that the notion of shared parenting was already in the Family Law Act: "What it means is that all parents, whether they live together or not, continue to have responsibility for their children. They must support them financially, emotionally

and physically where it is in children's best interests that they do so. Parents should work together to make decisions in their children's best interests, including what religious upbringing they will follow if any, where they will go to school, health care and so on. What it doesn't mean is that children will necessarily spend equal amounts of time with each parent - that's joint custody. And the committee has stated that it is not in favour of a rebuttable presumption of joint custody."

The Shared Parenting Council welcomed recommendations for mandatory mediation and an end to the adversarial, lawyer based system.

"However, we are particularly concerned that there is no legislative provision that will take more than a cursory look at shared physical custody by either Courts or Tribunals."

The Shared Parenting Council called on the Prime Minister and Federal Cabinet to put some meaning to the recommendation requiring courts or tribunals to at least examine a parenting arrangement with substantial time to both parents by ensuring that the child's right to experience both their parent's care and affection be enshrined in the objects section of the Family Law Act.

"Whilst this recommendation would not result in a rebuttable presumption in favour of joint physical custody - it would at least ensure that practitioners of family law would be required to address this 'right' before any determination to overturn it is made", Mr Greene said.

Demonstrating that the claim the Howard government was hostage to or influenced by father's groups was nonsense, Barry Williams of Lone Fathers was also quick to condemn the report: "The main failing of the report lies in the apparent inability of the committee to realise that most of its recommendations involve 'recycling' the same people (psychologists, social workers, departmental officials) who currently dominate the divorce industry and who regularly, in practice, impose their politically correct views on separating families to the disadvantage of fathers and their children.

"It is these people who, more than anything else, are responsible for the now already pronounced trend in Australia towards a fatherless society.

"These people are to be found in the court system, but also in such organisations as Relationships Australia and departments stuck on the status quo, who oppose shared parenting in spite of the overwhelming view of the general population in favour of it (70-90 per cent of people in recent public opinion polls). The establishment of a Family Tribunal would inevitably lead to a rapid influx of these operators, and the last state of the family law system in Australia could even, as a result, end up being worse than the first. One can keep running the same horse on new and different racetracks. But if the horse isn't any good, it's not going to win any races.

"Reforming the family law system involves much more than replacing existing systems with new ones. It also critically involves changing the attitudes of the people working in the system. The recommendations by the committee sadly fail to include this all-important element."

Ray Lenton, who had gone on from his early roles in Dads On The Air to advocate for self represented fathers through the Family Court system, often sitting at the bar table with them, said: "We've got to enter a new world where men and women are seen as equal contributors to the world of children. I felt like a weirdo for wanting significant

involvement in my children's lives when I was going through the Family Court process. I'm a nurturer - many men are, and that's why shared parenting should be supported. It's terrible when there is an assumption that men are emotionally distant. There should be a clean sweep of the system."

The Men's Rights Agency declared the report would do little to ensure to ensure that both parents would be involved in their child's upbringing post separation.

The intellectually sloppy report did not even bother to give a logical explanation for its rejection of a rebuttable presumption of joint custody. With its lack of depth or coherent argument and the punitive nature of many of its recommendations, Every Picture Tells A Story pleased almost no-one but the high priests of the industry.

It was in contrast to the conduct of the public hearings, where many participants reported positive experiences. Witnesses left saying they had not only felt they had been listened to, but that by baring their souls and their personal struggles they had helped to bring about historic reforms.

The public hearings, held at a cracking pace from one end of the country to the other, had been well run by the Chairwoman Kay Hull; with certainty and compassion. She gave numerous interviews suggesting significant change was on the way. The mainstream media had also been convinced that family law was about to be substantially reformed. The committee had shown every indication of understanding the issues.

Deeply disappointed by the results of the inquiry, which had appeared to hold so much hope in resolving what had been an intractable problem in Australian society for so long, the tone at Dads On The Air turned cold towards the Howard government.

Our show and accompanying article immediately after the Christmas period was labeled "Collusion and Corruption in Family Law". It garnered over 29,000 comments. It read in part: "One of the sickest jokes of the whole fiasco of the government inquiry into child custody, which reported on December 29th, was the sight of the Family and Community Services Committee members warning the Chief Justice of the Family Court Alastair Nicholson to accept the report."

"In the end Nicholson was one of its only supporters, that fact alone ensuring the hostility of fathers.

"And why wouldn't he embrace the report?

"It set out, with clear collusion between the major political parties to protect the appalling legacy of the hated Family Court of Australia.

"It ignored the personal and social consequences of the conduct of Family Court judges. It ignored the massive bias in the system. It ignored the many moving tales of distress from fathers, second wives, grandparents and non-custodial mothers."

Collusion and Corruption in Family Law went on to say that the focus of the inquiry had consolidated the belief that the only way for parents to protect their children's interests after separation was to remain fully involved in their upbringing in joint custody arrangements. During the process fathers and family reform groups, while still lacking

the power and funding of the women's groups, had become mobilised and better able to conduct campaigns.

"This government committee, by first inviting fathers to be heard and then completely ignoring everything they said, has created its own worst nightmare, inflaming sentiment and outraging reform advocates. The report is clear political insanity on the part of the Howard government, which is only eight seats away from losing control.

"The Prime Minister John Howard raised the hopes of millions of people affected by family law and child support in Australia and led them to believe that long over-due reform was on the way. The report essentially spat in the face of the hundreds of thousands of pro-family men and women, many of them more naturally aligned to the Labor party than to the conservatives, who had drifted to the Coalition in the hope that they would reform family law.

"The report not only told the hundreds of thousands of people currently adversely affected by family law and child support that it would be inappropriate for them to do anything to improve their situation, it told fathers now and into the future that they are second class parents who do not deserve to be treated equally.

"The hopes of fathers and family law reformers were dashed by the report, which not only used completely spurious non-arguments to reject the proposal of joint custody, a popular and common sense idea, but made numerous recommendations, such as the taking away of driver's licenses, which would criminalise fathers and clearly make their lives worse.

"It was open to the committee, on the evidence before it, to adopt shared parenting or joint custody as government policy. Its rejection of joint custody relies on an extremely selective choice of arguments. It would have been much easier to make a cogent argument in favour.

"There was obviously a deal done between the parties to reject a rebuttable joint 50/50 custody after separation in return for bi-partisan support. As such, the report demonstrates clear collusion between the political parties to protect the corruption in the family law and child support systems. It failed to recommend exposure of the biased and dishonest conduct of family law experts. It failed to recommend a scrapping of the Family Court as a failed social experiment. The report did not recommend the abolition of the secrecy clauses of the Family Law Act, the notorious Section 121, and it failed to even recommend the counting of the death toll of the Child Support Agency.

"Without a rebuttable notion of joint custody, which is so clearly supported by the community, the committee's recommendations for a tribunal to try and take the heat out of the adversarial system of Family Law, fell more than flat.

"The idea that they would recommend a tribunal with a child psychologist and family law experts on it, when every man and his dog in the country knows how utterly dreadful the experts infesting family law are, was simply preposterous. Without a rebuttable notion of joint custody such a tribunal would not be helping separating couples to achieve co-operative parenting arrangements after divorce. Instead it would be replicating the same practices that exist now; but making things even less accountable than at present. Does the country really need another secretive, corrupt and ideologically driven tribunal mucking with people's private lives?"

One of the more strident attacks on the committee report came from the eccentric speaker for the SA parliament Peter Lewis, who slammed the House of Representatives' Report Into Child Custody Arrangements.

He declared: "Of course, the existing 'Industry' would say the kind of complimentary things they have said about this report! It's business as usual for them, with a cursory slap on the wrist for the crook, abusive, sexist, racist, biased, criminal things they have been doing, all still permissible under the new regime.

"At present, a vindictive parent of a broken marriage can still go into 'the system' and lie their heads off under oath, thereby destroying the reputation of their innocent exspouse and get away with it! And worse still these liars, perjurers, will most likely get custody or residency of the children and prevent the other parent from reasonable or any access.

"Taxpayers will continue to foot the bill for many more years for all the problems which caused the Family Court's rotten reputation to come under the Parliamentary Committee's spotlight in the first instance; namely, anti-father bias and false allegations, including perjury, accusing one or other of the parents of violence and abuse."

Lewis said the Committee's first recommendation should have been to make perjury in the Family Court processes a criminal offence. Such a recommendation would then have allowed an additional charge of Criminal Defamation to be brought against the liar. They don't address this major problem anywhere in the Report.

He also condemned the vagaries of "shared parental responsibility" as already being in the Act and in practice meant one parent got custody and the other got the bills.

Lewis also said making shared parental responsibility dependent on the absence of violence or abuse would simply aid, abet and encourage liars and cheats to an even worse degree than the current practice of the Family Court allows. They seem to me to be shamelessly stupid, or insensitive, or ignorant, or all three.

The failure to recommend an abolition of Family Court case law and the precedents flowing from it would continue to effect and determine its future deliberations unless they were abolished by Statute.

"The only people who will view this Report as progressive will be those who weren't around at the time of the 1992 and 1995 inquiries, and those who depend on the existing injustices of the system to make their living," Lewis said.

"I am angry that this will do nothing to reduce the suicide rate and mental illness which has arisen in consequence of the practices in the Family Court system.

"The Family Court system and the publicly paid servants in the processes which hang off it are racist, sexist, abusive, biased, crook and often criminal in their impact on too many parents who have to go through it.

* "They are racist because too often, they assume Anglo Saxon cultural mores". * "They are sexist because too often, they assume that a woman will be a better parent than a man". * "They are abusive because too often, they assume that a man should earn the money and support the children, after the former wife has lied about and vilified him and obstructs his lawful access to children". * "They are biased because too often, they

assume children don't need their father". * "They are crook because too often, they allow perjury without penalty in their processes and actions".

"The Committee has wimped out in its duty. The basic reason for its establishment was to discover the causes and eliminate the injustices of the current Family Court system. It was told by the Prime Minister to work out the changes to the Family Law Act to fix the problems with the Family Court system. It has not done that.

"The major parties were represented on this Committee and had their chance to get it right but failed. They have even recommended things which will compound the felony of the system and which are probably un-Constitutional. The Prime Minister must now kick butt and fix the problem himself".

By March of 2004 tempers had cooled a little. Our editorial for a show titled We Stood At The Turning Point noted: "The Howard cabinet is likely to look at the child custody inquiry in the coming days. There is a massive schizophrenia in the debate; with rekindled mainstream media interests. Comments coming from politicians have been stronger on the need for family law reform in preceding days, but exactly how that will progress is a matter of much consternation. It seems churlish to mention that the report, while it had some moments of reason, was on the whole a shocker when there is so much apparent good will and determination to enact reform."

This was followed by a show Tough Choices In Tough Times, in which we interviewed the Minister for Children and Youth Affairs Larry Anthony over the release of a survival guide for separated men in conjunction with Mensline and Relationships Australia. Once again the issue of the death rate amongst separated fathers; and therefore amongst child support payers, was dodged.

On March 2004, under the headline Never Again Never Ever, we noted that newspapers around the country had reported that cabinet be considering changes to child custody laws, with particular focus on a Families Tribunal. The issue of the Tribunal not only preoccupied various people in government with views for and against, it also took up a lot of attention on various chatlines and separated dad networks.

Despite initial opposition to a new body from senior ministers including Treasurer Peter Costello, Attorney-General Philip Ruddock was believed to be making a last-minute bid for the tribunal.

An article in the Sydney Morning Herald later in April reported that a new Tribunal would encourage separating parents to agree to joint custody of their children under a two-year trial endorsed by federal cabinet.

"The tribunal, which aims to reduce the adversarial dimensions of the Family Court, will comprise child experts, psychologists and a judge or senior lawyer.

"During the two-year pilot study, it will complement the Family Court. If found to be successful, it could ease much of the court's workload.

"Cabinet has been considering for two months plans to encourage shared custody after Government MPs were inundated by claims from aggrieved fathers that the current system discriminates against them."

Some cabinet ministers doubted the Tribunal would work, but cabinet had authorised the Attorney-General, Philip Ruddock, to consult backbenchers on the trial.

"But the pilot may face resistance from some Government backbenchers who believe the tribunal does not go far enough.

"Many of them want to throw lawyers out of the divorce process and replace them with a shopfront - within Medicare or Centrelink offices - where separating parents could get advice, paperwork and referrals to mediation if they could not agree on arrangements for the children. Only after all these measures failed would they go to a Families Tribunal."

Indicative of the confusion following the custody report, and vindicating DOTA's editorial line that Every Picture Tells A Story created more problems than it solved, four months later Cabinet had still not fully debated its recommendations.

Ms Hull met with the Attorney-General Mr Ruddock in early 2004 but said no one has contacted her Committee about a pilot scheme. "I'd be asking them to explain," she said. "There is an absolute commitment to this. We are not going to lie down."

Ms Hull said keep separating parents from going straight to a lawyer was critical to avoiding the acrimony that had such devastating effects on children. She said if the Family Court administered a pilot of the Families Tribunal, "that's a total duplication".

The proposed Tribunal would be informal, with little documentation and no lawyers.

The paper reported that lawyers have lobbied against the tribunal scheme, arguing it will leave people vulnerable without legal representation - and that it was outside the committee's terms of reference.

In the end, despite all the talk, the Tribunal never got off the ground.

In the DOTA forum it was noted: "Without the abolition of the precedents in Family Law, the corrupt psychologists and the corrupt lawyers that infest family law we simply do not see how a Tribunal will work. Nothing in the disgraceful report by the inquiry suggested that it will be anything but another scandal ridden department in the style of NSW DOCS. We're happy to be proven wrong."

But with cabinet split on the Tribunal and other solutions such as the shop front and mediation and the government gearing for a re-election fight later in the year, family law reform was left in limbo. Nor was there any immediate action on plans to fix child support.

In April 2004 DOTA noted that at long last Chief Justice of the Family Court Alastair Nicholson had retired after 15 years in the position. At a ceremonial sitting on 2 April 2004 his service to the law and the people of Australia was honoured by judges, members of the legal profession, politicians and other citizens. DOTA provided a link to the Family Court publication Courtside, which carried a lengthy interview with Nicholson. But we also pointed out that less flattering views were not hard to find.

One of Nicholson's last actions before retiring was to release one of his recent judgements allowing a 13 year old girl to begin gender reassignment therapy to become a boy. It was an Australian first. Critics said the judgement demonstrated everything that

was wrong with the court. Some transsexual voices were raised in support. The case got worldwide coverage.

In an interview published in the legal newsletter CCH Nicholson said that when he came to the court he was of course interested in the development of family law and in particular the law in relation to children but had also become interested in court administration and in technology and what it might offer modern courts. "At that stage you had to write out all your own judgments by hand in the Supreme Court because the dictating machines were hardly worth using. There was no modern equipment and systems had barely changed in 100 years. It was just ridiculous. It struck me that the Family Court had an opportunity to come into the electronic age."

Nicholson said unfortunately the Family Court did not get good press and when he came to it in the 1980s morale was low.

"The thing that struck me before I came to the Court was that everyone was prepared to throw mud at the Court and no one was doing much about defending it. I determined then that I wasn't going to take that sort of attack and as far as the Court was concerned I was going to be pretty noisy, and quick to defend it from public attacks. I was also trying to get on the front foot to an extent to get some reasonable media coverage of what we did do right. Certainly, I've never regretted having spoken out on the Court's behalf. People know if they do have a go at the Court they're going to get a strong response.

"Another belief that I hold strongly is that judges and particularly chief justices have not only a right but also a duty to speak out on human rights issues or those that detrimentally affect people using the court system. Accordingly, I have made public comment on indigenous issues, issues affecting the rights of children, and issues such as the reduction in legal aid for family law litigants. I have no regrets about having done so."

Nicholson said their strategic plan Future Directions published in July 2000 "was the first time we were really looking at a client focus. The consultant interviewed clients as well as us. We listened to these interviews and got rather a nasty shock when we heard what clients were saying. We'd regularly consulted with representative organisations but I think they tend to tell you what they think the users' concerns ought to be. It's very different and, in a sense, guite raw information when you hear it direct from real people.

"This is something we have to guard against - getting filtered information. Actually, that leads me to comment on another notable change. When I first came to the Court the women's groups were more strident in their approach to things than now. Men's groups have become more so and I am very concerned that the men's lobby, which is not just confined to Australia, is going to really affect the position of women to their detriment in family law proceedings. That's something we've got to be very careful about. This is in no way to denigrate the role of fathers in families. That is and remains very important and, contrary to popular belief, fathers are often successful in contested proceedings."

There were a number of tributes.

Principal Family Court Judge of New Zealand Judge Pat Mahony said Chief Justice Nicholson was one of the great international figures in family law. "In an era which will be remembered for the development of children's rights, he has been a powerful advocate for children in fearless public statements and in his contribution to a

developing jurisprudence building on the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child.

"He has been closely associated with three World Congresses on Children's Rights. He has been an outstanding leader in his own Court in Australia, generously sharing educational opportunities through conferences and seminars with judicial colleagues from New Zealand, United States of America, Canada, United Kingdom, Pakistan, Japan, Singapore and several Pacific countries.

"Behind this profile is a man of imposing stature, benign and kindly, generous and outgoing, even-handed, loyal and protective but with a powerful intellect, strong willed and always the courage of his convictions."

Len Glare, Chief Executive Officer of the Family Court of Australia between 1990 and 2000, said: "For about six years we 'suffered' the attentions of various Parliamentary Committees enquiring into the Court's administration. This was a great distraction from our work and a serious diversion of scarce resources. The Court generally, and Alastair particularly, had to deal with strong attacks from a wide variety of critics. However, he remained fiercely protective of the Court and fought battles on many Parliamentary and media fronts. I think he did it well and the critics had relatively few successes."

Justice George Czutrin, President of the Association of Family and Conciliation Courts and a judge of the Family Court in Ontario, Canada, said few leaders of the AFCC have had as profound an impact as Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson. "While I am limited by the words allotted to me, it seems that there are nowhere near enough words to adequately do justice to Justice Nicholson's contributions.

Justice Nicholson served as AFCC's first President from outside North American in 1997/98, and during his term his accomplishments were extraordinary:

He said in 1998 Nicholson presided over the largest AFCC Annual conference ever, in Washington, DC. His participation influenced the way family courts are run in North America, as he introduced the work of the Family Court of Australia to AFCC members.

At a special function in Melbourne a portrait of Nicholson by the award winning artist Robert Hannaford was unveiled. The portrait hangs in the Melbourne judicial chambers of the Court.

Hannaford observed: "Alastair was a delightful sitter and most importantly, I found him a wonderful man. I developed a deep sense of someone who is a very balanced person, someone who has great convictions about his responsibilities and concerns for families, especially for children and for Indigenous people, and also someone who has many and varied other interests."

The forums on Dads On The Air, as one might expect, were less positive.

"Fab" wrote: "Yeah right... Nicholson go and tell your pathetic story to all the children that long for their dad that You and your evil court have ripped away from them. Go and tell all the men that have been physically abused by their wives that all men are violent. Go and explain to all these people in jail now that come from fatherless homes. Go and tell the men that have been falsely accused and the penalty of being involved with a greedy lying bitch is the loss of their children thanks to your looney courts that allow perjury to be freely practiced in them..."

Another, signing himself as a "Caring and Loving Father", wrote: "I no longer have contact with my children because of Nicholson's Family Court and because of the Labour Party agenda of social engineering. For me, a one time Labour supporter, I will never vote for the Australian Labour Party again because they caused me to be separated from my children."

On 15 April 2004 High Court Justice Michael Kirby, the first openly gay High Court judge and a hero of the Australian left, gave a valedictory address to the University of Melbourne's Faculty of Law.

Kirby said: "The retirement of most judges passes without notice, outside the cloistered world of the legal profession. This cannot be said of Alastair Nicholson, a distinguished alumnus of this Law School. An insightful essay on his long service observed: 'Nicholson has been a spectacular judge; perhaps appearing more extraordinary as the society around him has grown increasingly conservative.'

"In person, Nicholson is genial, and quick to talk about issues. He is a journalist's dream in one sense - never failing to answer a question directly and with a candor unusual in public life. But he is slow to delve into the personal, and seems almost puzzled when asked about the effect on him of his work - all the pain, love and hate he has seen pass through his Court.

"It is fitting that I should be called on to honour him. In a dark moment, his was a rare judicial voice publicly lifted to defend me and the independent courts when so many other voices fell silent. Such conduct was typical of the man. Brave, forthright and valiant..."

Kirby was referring to the scandal that engulfed him in 2002 after Senator Bill Heffernan, on a crusade against child abuse, made claims he had used Commonwealth cars for inappropriate purposes. Kirby never hid the fact that he was gay but denied the allegations, which turned on reports and documentation by a Commonwealth driver subsequently demonstrated to be false.

Kirby continued: "Alastair Nicholson has known from an early age that to endure, great institutions must be defended but also must change and adapt. From the start, his court because of the nature of its duties was a target for criticism and calumny, most of it undeserved. He could have ignored the attacks and the personal affronts. Yet that was alien to his upbringing and character as a child of the Enlightenment. He wanted to engage with critics and supporters and with the Australian community whom he served. Not for him to preside over a court sailing in a sea of dispirited morale. He led from the front, for that was his nature. This made him controversial in some circles. He was more candid and forthright than most judges. This brought him into difficulties with successive governments, ministers, legal personalities, media pundits and civic groups."

Kirby reported observations that Nicholson CJ wore his battles with successive Attorneys-General as a "badge of honour". "Even in his own remarks at his farewell, he took the occasion to criticise a proposal to establish a new Family Tribunal, limiting the representation of participants by lawyers, as "a serious attack on civil liberties of Australians, smacking more of totalitarian regimes than of a democracy". It was not his style to leave office otherwise than with all guns blazing.

"The law and liberty in Australia will lose a devoted judicial servant at the head of a great national judicial institution."

In a piece expanding on his speech and published in the Australian Journal of Family Law Kirby concluded that different writers would emphasise different aspects of Chief Justice Nicholson's contributions to the Commonwealth. "His engagement with the media. His attention to the better administration of his large, national court. His loyal support of the judges of the Family Court as they performed their difficult, stressful work under great pressure. His acceptance of large burdens in participation in judicial tasks at home and abroad. His engagement with the practising profession from which he had come. His outreach to global organisations concerned with the universal issues of family law and the law relating to children. His determination to fulfil a full working load as a sitting judge: not for him management by remote control. As a human being, a lawyer, a judge, a chief justice and an officer of the Commonwealth, Alastair Nicholson served the Australian people with admirable fidelity."

Not everyone thought the same.

Brian Taylor from the group Reliable Parents said Nicholson's constant deferments of his retirement date, culminating in his announcement that he would sacrifice his own holidays to continue sitting through till March 2004 had dismayed groups seeking reform of the Family Court.

He said Nicholson was widely seen by opponents of current Family Law structures as having institutionalised a bias against men in the Family Court. "As Chief Justice for the last fifteen years, he has been in a position to make and influence judgments which form the basis for interpreting laws that give judges and magistrates wide-ranging discretion," Taylor said. "The Full Court, under Justice Nicholson has also defined the intent of the legislators who framed the laws, an exercise that some claim as judicial activism."

Taylor said critics of the Chief Justice cited his frequent use of the media to attack men in general and fathers in particular. They claimed that he never made any positive comments about men in all his time at the court. In recent months, Justice Nicholson had lambasted fathers who seek private paternity tests and had claimed that men only sought more contact with their children in order to lower their Child Support costs.

"With statistics linking juvenile crime and drug taking with a lack of contact with fathers, the entire area of family breakdown and support needs urgent review," Taylor said. "If this is the legacy that Alastair Nicholson is leaving the country, then many would applaud his departure."

With heightened sentiments within the fatherhood movement throughout 2004, there was at this time a brief flirtation with an Australian branch of Fathers 4 Justice, the British group which had been so successful in attracting attention to the plight of fathers. We carried an interview in April with Trevor Arthurson, the Australian coordinator, who had organised demonstrations outside Perth, Brisbane and Melbourne Family Courts with the theme of decontamination.

With a lot of good will towards the government having evaporated as promised reforms failed to eventuate, later in April 2004 we interviewed Tony Miller of Dads In Distress under a program titled Thousands Die Government Does Nothing. We editorialised on a theme we persistently pursued: "Fathers and family law groups around the country have long claimed there is a direct link between the high death rates amongst

separated fathers, with male suicide now at century high levels, and the operations of the child support and family law systems.

"If, as they claim, some three clients of the Child Support Agency suicide every day; that makes some eight thousand payers since John Howard came to office as Prime Minister of Australia.

"We don't know if the claim is true. Official suicide statistics suggest it is well within reason. What we do need out of this government is a direct and published audit of the death rate of child support payers. Anything less is an abrogation of their moral obligations to govern in the best interests of the people and borders on criminal negligence."

The titles of subsequent shows all signaled a high level of disenchantment: Calumny and Hope, Reform Failure, Missed Opportunity, Howard Duds Dads and The Failure of Parliament.

Forum guest Matthew's comments were fairly typical: "I have recently been the victim of a malicious and vindictive Woman's attempt to not only leave me but take the children along with her. She is now using the LAW to hide behind and achieve her objectives. The NET losers are the Children and I (Ten year old Daughter and THREE year old son). They are so innocent as to see how they are being USED... To REMOVE only the Father from the children is CRUEL. In an age where FEMINISM and EQUALITY is the order of the day, why is it then that MALES who are otherwise contributing in all aspects of family life, being EXCLUDED only in the event of a separation? The Government and the Judicial system must HELP!!! Healthy children are the lifeblood of social continuity and for our country this is a paramount issue as we prepare to engage and shine in the 21st Century economy."

In the lead up to the election later in the year the Howard government promised everything from life style support payments for Centrelink clients, mostly women, a domestic violence campaign which supporters claimed the government had delayed implementing and which critics condemned as vilifying men, lying about the nature and extent of DV in the community and promoting public hysteria. Against the wishes of many of its own socially conservative constituency Howard also announced a \$1.5 billion maternity payment in the May budget, beginning at \$3,000 and rising to \$5,000. Critics claimed the money encouraged unmarried teenage mothers to have children outside of a stable relationship and choose a lifetime on welfare as a single parent.

To DOTA it appeared obvious that the Howard government was embarrassed by claims of being influenced by men's groups during the family law inquiry and was bending over backwards to sell itself as attune to women's concerns. Treasurer Peter Costello declared he wanted to make Australia the best country in the world for women to live in.

Not, DOTA noted, the best country in the world for all its citizens.

The Shared Parenting Council claimed the maternity payment demonstrated that the Howard Government

had completely ignored the cry of fathers to have their existence recognised in law.

"The Howard Government is intent on rewarding only one gender for having babies," spokesman Ed Dabrowski said. "It had failed the simple test of fairness by not matching paid maternity leave with paid paternity leave.

"More so the Government was showing its' contempt for fathers and their dignified role in nurturing their children by ignoring urgently needed Family Law reform to put noncustodial fathers back into the lives of their children. "It is astounding that after all the rhetoric of family friendly and inclusive language the Howard Government has espoused over recent years, they have engaged in an act that is only likely to further support irresponsible parenthood." "The Howard Government has ignored the plights of fathers and in particular the needs of children to have two parents in their lives, by compounding and developing a further bias supporting motherhood over the recognition of children's and fathers' rights."

In the same month three condoms filled with purple powder hit the British Prime Minister Tony Blair in the House of Commons, and if they didn't already the world then knew about Fathers For Justice. It was clear the issues facing Australian fathers were very similar to those of their British cousins. We interviewed F4J founder Matthew O'Connor over his escalating campaign of civil disobedience. The group's spectacular series of super-hero stunts and protests, targeting courts and solicitor's offices in particular, had attracted sympathetic and often searching coverage.

June 2004 saw the arrival of a new Family Court Chief Justice in the shape of Diana Bryant.

The appointment was generally welcomed and she was praised for being "a brilliant lawyer, unpretentious, with an innate sense of justice and fairness."

Bryant had headed the Federal Magistrates Court since 2000. While it was regularly criticised for failing to differentiate itself from the culture of the Family Court in terms of personnel, procedures and attitudes towards fathers and shared parenting, it was also regarded as on the whole delivering simpler, faster and fairer judgements.

Bryant had left her mark on the Federal Magistrates Court, which began as a controversial initiative to simplify, demystify, speed up and lessen the expense of procedures for family law litigants, many of them unrepresented.

It became the preferred court of many lawyers and the majority of family law cases were now filed there.

Sue Price at the Men's Rights Agency said Bryant had to be an improvement on Nicholson and at least she appeared to have a good grasp of the problems presented by the Child Support Agency.

"Hopefully, she might bring some realism to this situation," Ms Price said. "She is by no means the worst possible appointment."

The Age newspaper commented: "The new Chief Justice will need to maintain internal morale in the face of external attacks, funding vagaries and fast-changing family dynamics. Lawyers say Ms Bryant is the ideal person for the task.

"The outgoing Chief Justice, Alastair Nicholson, has spent much of his 16 years at the court publicly defending it against litigants, lawyers, men's rights groups, conservative family groups and politicians.

"Ms Bryant has made no notable public comments as Chief Magistrate and is not expected to be outspoken like Chief Justice Nicholson. 'She is apolitical really, not someone like Alastair Nicholson, say, with a sharply delineated social justice agenda,' a family law specialist said."

Subsequently Bryant said she was uncomfortable with the notion she might have some influence on shaping society. "I don't think that is the role of Chief Justice to the extent of the decisions of an individual court or the full court," she said. "I interpret legislation. I suppose that's influence, but we have a lot of legislation and Parliament itself takes a much more active role in shaping how they want things to be than in the past. As for my own place in history, it's too early to tell."

On 29 July 2004 Prime Minister Howard, as part of his electioneering, released a discussion paper outlining proposed changes to the family court system in Australia. The government rejected proposals for a Tribunal and the calls for fathers to be given equal time with their children. "Every Australian in different ways is touched by, whether directly or indirectly, by family or relationship breakdown, the impact it can often have of a very serious kind on young children and an impact that can last with them for the rest of their lives," Howard said. "I think most people regard the present system as too adversarial and too costly and increasingly unreceptive to the warmth and the interests of many people who are touched by these breakdowns."

Howard announced the introduction of a nationwide network of family relationship centres that would act as a first shock absorber when people's relationships broke down. "And it's designed further to cement the concept that the natural parents of children have, each of them, the mother and the father, an inalienable right to be involved in the raising of their children, to have a say in their future. This is a government that is not only interested in economics and the benefits that flow from good economic prospects, it is a government that is interested in the long term social health of our nation."

On the same day Attorney-General Philip Ruddock said one of the key changes would be an amendment to the Family Law Act to entrench equal-shared parental responsibility as the starting point in disputes.

"We will be amending the law as the committee recommended to accept that the starting point in relation to any matter involving children is equal-shared parental responsibility ... and that parents should share the key decisions in relation to the child's life regardless of how much time the child spends with each parent," he said.

"So we will be amending the Family Law Act to refer to the need of both parents to have a meaningful involvement in their children's lives and the children have a right to spend time on a regular basis with both of them."

He said most cases would be handled by the national network of 65 family relationship centres to be operated by churches and community organisations, but the option remained open for trickier matters to go to court.

"The centres will offer assistance to all separating couples whether or not they've commenced any legal proceedings," Mr Ruddock said. "It will be focused on providing practical assistance and it will help those couples resolve those disputes promptly and before, hopefully, relationships deteriorate and conflict becomes entrenched.

"We see it as a very substantial change and a very beneficial change."

The Age newspaper asked its readers what they thought, garnishing a range of responses from God help us to JB's: "The family law act is a joke. The best interests of the children are never considered. The woman uses the system to get her own way and uses the children for financial gain. The father is nothing more than a sperm donor and bank account. The child support agency is nothing more than another form of revenge for women. The law should state, if a woman intends to claim child support she should have a job herself, instead of expecting the x to support her while she claims a taxpayer funded pension. DNA testing should be made compulsory at the time of an application for child support. Child support shouldn't be based on taxable income either, some men are paying over \$300 per week in support, yet the mothers claim pensions and are not required to work, how unfair. No wonder so many men are angry."

Also, following recommendations from the parliamentary inquiry, the government announced that a Child Support Task Force would report on possible changes to the child support payment system by March the following year. The Committee had made a number of recommendations in relation to the child support scheme, including a comprehensive re-evaluation of the scheme focusing on contemporary work, parenting and family structures as well as the income profiles of child support payers and payees.

Having lost patience, in August, on a show titled Mounting Outrage, DOTA editorialised: "There's barely a separated father or fair minded person in the country who isn't frustrated by the Howard government's callow, shallow and completely pathetic response to family law and child support reform after eight years of government and a trail of wrecked lives a mile long. Anyone who is going to vote for Prime Minister John Howard thinking he will reform child support and family law is living in pixie land."

Discontent with the Child Support Agency remained a live issue. Commentary on the DOTA forum suggested that one of the central themes running in Father groups is the lack of penalty upon payees who withhold contact in order to blackmail payers into paying exorbitant child support. "CSA are an accomplice in this process for they garnishee payers wages regardless of contact issues. The Constitution is meant to protect citizens from abuse of power by the State but CSA and the Family Courts are in clear breach of this duty. It has become apparent that the State is actively engaged in manufacturing consent of child support payers in order to implement the State approved solution. This is an abuse of power and is wrong, very very wrong."

In August 2004 the then Minister for Children and Youth Affairs Larry Anthony announced the Terms of Reference for the child support inquiry, reiterating the aims of the scheme. Beyond the litany of complaints about its "Gestapo like" tactics and insatiable demands, the Agency had clearly failed in areas such as ensuring incentives for both parents to participate in the workforce were not impaired; and and ensuring "overall arrangements are simple, flexible and efficient".

Previous programs on Dads On The Air highlighting the child support fiasco were under unsubtle headlines such as "Child Support Agency to cost taxpayers \$40 billion" and "Child Support Agency a National Financial Disaster".

We wrote: "The justification for the CSA was based on very poor research and followed the American fad at the time of introducing similar schemes - with elaborate justifications from left-wing academics.

"The first child support schemes were created by the Bolshevicks after the Russian revolution as a way of providing for children outside the nuclear family. They were a way to fund the Bolshevicks war on the traditional family, which they saw as the major stumbling block to social reform. Just as the Bolshevicks introduced them as a way of protecting children while dissolving the nuclear family, in the west they were sold to governments as a way of funding sole mother custody and the style of orders normally made by the Family Court. They were introduced as a way of protecting the taxpayer from the cost of the spiraling number of single parent families. Similar child support formulas as operate in Australia persist to this day in the Russian Family Code. They are believed to have been a major factor in the once massive Russian black economy. But just as in Russia the schemes have backfired. In Australia they are now being attributed as a major cause of unemployment and welfare dependency."

The Child Support Task Force was charged with paying particular attention to the Government intention to support the involvement of both parents after separation when examining the costs of raising children and relooking at the formula.

Patrick Parkinson, professor at the Faculty of Law at the University of Sydney and Chairman of the Family Law Council was appointed Chairman of the Inquiry.

For once there were several father-friendly figures on the Task Force. The included Michael Green, author of Shared Parenting, Tony Miller, founder of Dads in Distress, Barry Williams, founder of the Lone Fathers' Association of Australia and Bettina Arndt, social commentator.

Minister Anthony observed in his media release that there were now more than 1.3 million parents registered with the Child Support Agency involving 1.1 million children. In 2003-04, \$2.19 billion in child support was transferred between parents "for the benefit of their children". The claim was spurious because there was no guarantee how any of the money was spent. Its main rationale from a government's point of view had been social security claw back, mitigating the cost of separated parents on the tax payer.

"The paramount concern of the Government is to ensure that the child support scheme operates in the best interests of the children of separated parents," Anthony said.

Finally, after the Howard government was returned to office in October 2004 and a year after the inquiry into shared parenting finished taking evidence, there was something that resembled action. The Attorney-General Philip Ruddock and Community Services Minister Kay Patterson issued a discussion paper titled A New Approach to the Family Law System on 10 November 2004. The paper suggested that three hours of mediation could be provided free of charge through the new Relationship Centres for people trying to sort out their situation upon separation.

The Government sought comments from the public with submissions closing on the 14 January 2005.

DOTA editorialised in a program featuring the Attorney-General: "This is your last chance to have any direct input into what the government is calling the most significant changes to the family law system since 1975 after a long period of inquiry, delay and uncertainty.

"In this interview the Attorney-General of Australia Philip Ruddock appears well aware of community discontent around the issues of family law and child support. He has called on community input into a discussion paper which promotes wide-ranging reforms to the family law system to be introduced by the middle of next year.

"Our editorial position is that the reforms will fail unless there is more determined approach to entrench shared parenting as the most common outcome post separation, accompanied by bureaucratic and judicial reform, along with community education and fundamental changes to the welfare, child support and child protection cultures."

While DOTA did not usually make written submissions to inquiries, seeing our role as simply reported the actions of others, in this case we felt compelled to contribute:

"We do not believe the current proposals by the government go anywhere near far enough to solve the quagmire of family law and child support which is causing so much harm in this country, both in financial and human terms. Family law is every Australians most common experience with lawyers. The experience leaves virtually all of them with contempt for the law and for the government which allows this farce to continue.

"The government has been slow to come to the issue of family law reform and while it should be congratulated on finally responding to the level of community concern over family law and child support issues and the high level of public support for shared parenting, and congratulated on the aspects of the proposed changes which encourage shared parenting, we believe the government is wrong to have rejected the idea of joint custody.

"We believe the government should immediately legislate for 'shared care and responsibility' and all arms of government should work to entrench joint custody and shared parenting after divorce as the result in all but the most extreme of cases.

"We believe this would genuinely comply with the government's determination to act in the best interests of children. While the move might be all too simple for the family law experts who have made such a spectacular hash of the present situation, conveniently for the government it would also be popular amongst voters. At present the judiciary, the welfare bureaucracy, the legal profession and politicians all work in cohesion to achieve the opposite end and to prop up the discredited sole mother custody model.

"Much of the verbal and written evidence gathered by the House of Representative's Committee inquiry into child custody was a compelling argument for change and provided emotionally charged and again compelling evidence of the massive harm being done to parents and children alike by the present system.

"The government was in our view correct to ignore the recommendation for a Tribunal, which would in all likelihood have turned into a bureaucratic nightmare within nanoseconds. The arbitrary and extremely poorly argued rejection of joint custody,

which studiously ignored virtually all the research presented, should also be reexamined.

"Every Picture Tells A Story arbitrarily rejected the notion of joint custody without any proper examination of the evidence. It was poorly written and poorly argued.

"The notion of 'shared responsibility' is at best dangerously vague and at worst means absolutely nothing. It allows far too much room for disputation between separating couples and far too much room for the parasitic multi-billion dollar industry that surrounds separation to continue on its disastrous way."

DOTA reiterated its skepticism over the Relationship Centres but argued that they could help establish shared parenting arrangements immediately after separation.

"The family law changes need to be accompanied by welfare reform which, rather than encouraging the chronically high level of welfare dependence amongst separated mothers and fathers, spreads the benefits equally and encourages both parents to be self supporting and actively employed.

"We also believe that the government should introduce a new charge of administrative manslaughter so that those child support and child protection bureaucrats knowingly administering policies which lead to high death tolls of fathers and children can be brought to account. Such a move would prevent such disasters as the present child support and family law developing again in the future.

"The conduct of the Family Court has not changed since the Howard government came to power more than eight years ago. During that period hundreds of thousands of children have been arbitrarily ripped off their fathers.

"With the advent of the internet, the debate over the conduct of the Family Court and its judges has changed dramatically. Few fathers entering the court now expect to be treated in a fair and reasonable way for the sake of their children.

"Our editorial position is that the reforms will fail unless there is more determined approach to entrench shared parenting and joint custody as the most common outcome post separation, accompanied by bureaucratic, institutional and judicial reform. For the sake of children, who need both parents, this needs to be accompanied by a sustained community education program on the benefits of cooperation after separation and fundamental changes to the welfare, child support and child protection cultures."

In a press release John Flanagan from the Non-Custodial Parents (Equal Parenting) Party referred to the Government's new Family Relationship Centres. He said that if the family law and child support system were equitable in the first instance, less than three hours of the free counseling being proposed by the government would be required. However as the system is now, 300 hours of counseling would not be enough! The Party, later to add the words "Equal Parenting" to their title, was another organisation which shared a largely concurrent history with DOTA. Formed in 1998 it had fielded candidates in every Federal election since, increasing its votes each time.

"Real reform needs to be first considered by the Government. This all requires legislative change on the part of the Government. The Family Court needs to be restructured into mediation centres. At the same time, a rebuttable presumption of 50:50

shared parenting has to be introduced through legislation as a starting point after separation. Children are not the personal property of any one parent.

"Any reform needs to be looked at as a complete package. In that respect, the Government's Child Support Agency has to be abolished. Both parents have to be put back into control of supporting their children after separation. Property settlements and superannuation splitting need to be made fairer and equitable after separation. What is brought into the marriage should be taken out of the marriage.

"These necessary reforms would have the added benefit of reducing the divorce rate. There will be no monetary benefit for one parent to seek a divorce or a separation as it is now.

"The present family system was created by people and can be changed by people. Success will come with vision, hope and determination. There are many separated parents throughout Australia seeking the path of social and legislative reform."

In one of our final shows for 2004 we once again interviewed Michael Green, emphasising his description of shared parenting as "the necessary revolution".

We concluded the year with the following editorial: "It began with great hope that Australia would finally be seeing genuine reform of family law and child support; followed by great disappointment. But in a strange way, the reform and the broad community push for shared parenting to become the norm post-separation just kept on moving despite all the bureaucrats, lawyers, so-called experts and politicians who stood in the way. For the distress over these issues has reached critical mass. And of course the spectacular progress of F4J in England - who could forget Buckingham Palace and Tony Blair's purple condoms for instance - added a new dramatic edge to the debate."

In January 2005 the new Family Court Chief Justice Diana Bryant came on to Dads On The Air in a show we titled "The Future of the Family Court". She denied any problems with family report writers or any systematic bias in her court. In the interview she appeared to be in favour of shared parenting as a common sense outcome for separating couples.

In March, under the heading Old Soldiers, we interviewed Barry Williams, reiterating the general discontent: "Family law and child support is an unmitigated mess in this country, doing massive harm to parents, children and families alike. Yet the Howard government, after almost nine years in office, has been prepared to watch and do nothing as hundreds of thousands of people's lives are damaged by the dysfunctional and discredited family law industry. While the scene has changed dramatically in recent times, for many years the media treated Barry Williams as if he was the only separated father in the country. He was the sole voice for destroyed dads."

Also in March we interviewed academic historian John Hirst, whose monograph Kangaroo Court was a compelling and intelligent analysis of the courts conduct and procedures. His voice added depth to the many voices raised in concern over the court's mistreatment of fathers. He observed that the Family Court was a progressive reform of the 1970s. Now it was perhaps the most hated institution in Australia. In closing, he considered how to reform an institution that has bred antagonism and extremism and too often entrenched paranoia and despair. "When Family Court judges talk piously of the 'caring court', I wish they could hear the roar of pain that their piety has caused."

Centre for Independent Studies scholar Barry Maley, also a former guest on DOTA, wrote in his review of the book: "You need to be a good scholar, a good writer, as well as brave, to launch a long-overdue critique of the Family Court. La Trobe University historian John Hirst fills the bill with this curial J'accuse probing the Court's injustices. The unending stream of anger directed at the Court since its inception has honed the public relations and polemical skills of its judges. So, on cue, they responded quickly to Hirst's analysis. The former Chief Justice of the Court is reported as describing the criticisms as 'emotional and unbalanced...grossly irresponsible, and just plain wrong'."

Hirst responded via the press to the usual personal attacks delivered to the court's critics, saying Nicholson had shown no evidence rebutting his central criticisms about the deficiencies of the Court and the family law it administers.

Maley credited Hirst with breaking the silence that surrounded the multiple injustices inflicted on so many of the 50,000 or more men and women who divorced each year. "It is a passionate book, but nothing more than the justified indignation of one who has seen wrongs inflicted and is driven to speak," Maley wrote. "Hirst focuses on the perverse results of using 'the best interests of the child' as an overriding principle in guiding judgements. He says that despite attempts by the federal government and committees of inquiry to induce the Court to ensure as far as possible the full involvement of both parents in the child's life, it had not done so. The outcome is social disarray, loss of respect for the Court, more human misery than necessary, impotent rage, and sometimes suicide among its victims.

"After 30 years of the Court's operations Hirst is surely right in pressing for reform to establish that balance of legal rights and obligations, and their just enforcement, without which the institutions of a liberal society, including the family, cannot thrive."

In the hiatus between the 2003 inquiry and the enactment of any legislation, there were many other signs of ferment and disquiet. While the government, well over a year after the parliamentary inquiry ended, had yet to formulate any response, community agitation continued.

In the lead up to a planned march on parliament house in Canberra mid-year, in early April 2005 an enterprising couple Michael and Tanya from the Hunter Valley in NSW organised a picnic day at Sydney's historic Domain for people interested in family law and child support reform. Their signs of protest were odd in the otherwise idyllic scene. It attracted about a hundred of the disenchanted and like minded, some waving banners. Their own dreams of happy family picnics had been shattered long ago.

In April, too, there were a number of leaks from the impending Child Support Task Force report. There were reports that single mothers would get to keep more of their welfare payments in exchange for fathers paying less child support. The Child Support Taskforce was also considering allowing divorced fathers who looked after their children for at least one night a week to pay less maintenance.

Under this plan, the taxpayer would foot the bill for the reduction in income that single mothers would face as a result of the lower maintenance payments.

In a press release, John Flanagan from the group Fairness in Child Support attempted to explain why it was all a bad idea. At least he managed to demonstrate how complex the whole system was.

He said that "The link between child support and Family Tax Benefit payment is being used as a de-facto child support registration system for separated parents. At the same time, it is also being used to contribute to the ever-increasing size of our government bureaucracy".

After family separation, the custodial parent normally registers with the Family Assistance Office for Family Tax Benefit Part A payments. According to the Child Support Agency this occurs after 93 per cent of all separations.

The Family Assistance Office has to then decide whether reasonable action has been taken This is before more than the minimum Family Tax Benefit Part A payment is approved,. This simply means determining whether or not custodial parent has registered for child support.

"No one explains to the custodial parent that once they have registered for child support and receive more than the minimum Family Tax Benefit Part A payment, they then lose some of these benefits back to the Government," Flanagan said. "That is, once the amount of \$1,149.75 is received in child support by the custodial parent, 50 cents in the dollar is then deducted from the Family Tax Benefit Part A payments."

This deduction adds up to hundreds of millions of dollars each year. These deducted funds are then used to totally finance the running of the Child Support Scheme - \$470 million in 2008-2009.

The family tax benefit payment was originally called child endowment. It was brought in by the then NSW Premier Jack Lang in the Depression years of the 1930's. Bob Menzies made it a national payment in the early 1940's.

Flanagan concluded: "The child endowment payments were meant to be for the kids. Neither Jack Lang nor Bob Menzies would have foreseen that these payments would have been siphoned off to provide employment for Government bureaucrats. This has occurred since the Child Support Scheme commenced in Australia in 1989."

Maverick Liberal MP for Hume Alby Schultz, one of the few members of parliament with the guts to consistently speak out about the Child Support Agency and a guest on Dads On The Air on a number of occasions, said while media coverage had hinted at some coming changes "simply decreasing a parent's liability based on the amount of time they spend with their child and increasing the payment for people on welfare is not going to solve this problem.

"The evidence quite clearly identifies blatant misuse of the legislation, bullying and standover tactics and bias against one party over the other.

"Just this week a mother of two has written to me because the Child Support Agency recently froze her ex-partner's bank account in an attempt to re-claim arrears owed to the other woman. This has left him with no money to fulfill his obligations to his other two children! When she contacted the Child Support Agency to complain she was told in no uncertain terms that they were not worried about her or her children because they were not clients of the Child Support Agency."

In addition Mr Schultz said he remained concerned about the Child Support Agency's ability to secretly intrude into the lives of third parties associated with non-custodial parents. Earlier the same month the West Australian newspaper had highlighted that

the "embattled" Agency had been secretly accessing the bank accounts of people not on its books in a bid to track down parents who refused to pay child maintenance. The CSA has for years had the right to glean information from bank accounts held by people who were not its clients, providing it was for the purpose of chasing child support..

"This legislated power given to the Child Support Agency to spy on people's financial affairs - people who owe no debt to anyone - is simply wrong and a blatant invasion of privacy. I can fully understand the Child Support Agency wanting to re-claim monies owed but this is not a police state, and people's basic right privacy should be protected.

"Allowing a police state mentality to permeate government agencies such as the Child Support Agency is irresponsible, undemocratic and un-Australian."

In June, after a month's delay, the Parkinson report The Best Interests of Children – Reforming The Child Support Scheme, was made public. It began: "To a considerable extent, the Child Support Scheme has achieved the objectives that successive governments have given for it. The Scheme has also been successful in promoting community acceptance of the idea of child support obligations. However, much has changed in the circumstances of Australian families since 1988. There is now a greatly increased emphasis on shared parental responsibility, and the importance of both parents remaining actively involved in their children's lives after separation has gained much greater recognition. Child support policy can no longer just be concerned with enforcing the financial obligations of reluctant non-resident parents."

How, DOTA wanted to know, could the report claim the CSA had fulfilled the objectives of successive governments? Had they really requested the level of conflict, anger and angst that the scheme generated, the constant accusations of maladministration and outright illegality?

As could be expected in Australia's parallel bureaucratic universe, no examination of the social consequences of the Scheme was recommended or undertaken.

Apparently immune to the hardship and disastrous personal and social outcomes produced by the Agency and so easily evident, the Howard government, keen perhaps not to be perceived as pandering to the fathers groups, announced that a hundred thousand fathers who had not lodged tax returns for the previous five years, allegedly to avoid paying child maintenance, would be targeted.

Senior Howard Government figures said "heavy compliance" to target maintenance dodgers was essential to ensure the Task Force proposals did not end up as a one-sided attack on mothers. They said "only" 500 men a year were currently investigated by the Child Support Agency because the CSA did not have the resources to investigate more." Every year handsomely paid politicians preened themselves as they announced yet another crackdown on separated dads - almost all of whom were on low incomes and many of them in debt to the Agency purely because of its bizarre accounting methods, relentless greed and excessive compounding penalties. All the punitive measures accumulated over the years had led to nothing but chaos. But here the government was at it all over again. And the Agency would not even count its own dead.

The report showed a system in crisis. Almost 40 per cent of parents paid less than a quarter of their child support payments, with previously unpublished data from the CSA showing only 13.5 per cent of people paid the correct amount in full and on time. Nearly

half of the non-custodial parents paying less than a quarter of their child support payments had annual incomes of less than \$25,000, substantially below average earnings. High-income earners were also failing to meet the Agency's demands, with 20 per cent of those with incomes of more than \$85,000 found to be in arrears.

The Task Force's first amongst 30 recommendations was that both parent's incomes be taken into account: "The existing formula for the assessment of child support should be replaced by a new formula based upon the principle of shared parental responsibility for the costs of children. The new basic formula should involve first working out the costs of children by reference to the combined incomes of the parents, and then distributing those costs in accordance with the parents' respective capacities to meet those costs, taking into account their share of the care of the children."

Never simple, child support was about to become more complicated. The often tumultuous lives of the parents they were dealing with, particularly around the time of separation, made it all the more complex.

And potentially more damaging.

The issue of how to reform the scheme attracted substantial coverage. Research released concurrently by the Australian Institute of Family Studies found more than 62 per cent of non-resident fathers and 45 per cent of resident mothers thought the system did not work well. Of non-resident fathers 74 per cent thought the system unfair. Mothers were evenly divided.

Taskforce chairman Patrick Parkinson said the perception that child support payments were more about the lifestyles of the parents than about looking after the children was the reason the issue had become so inflammatory, "The parents paying a lot are saying, 'I just don't think kids cost that much.' They want child support to be based on a reasonable estimate of what they cost."

One man's submission to the child support inquiry read: "It is my personal experience that children are nothing more than a source of income and opportunity to most custodial parents and a very spiteful way to destroy the other parent."

Judging by the DOTA forum this was not an isolated view.

Another father said custody arrangements had left men such as himself as "little more than visitors in their children's lives while still being expected to meet much of the financial burden". He said: "I have watched what was once a close relationship with my children gradually being eroded until the only contact I now have is when I visit them during their school lunch break."

Non-custodial fathers who felt they were paying too much inundated the committee and were matched by mothers who felt their former partners were trying to punish them by paying too little.

The Sydney Morning Herald observed that "the old arrangement was simple - and in a lot of cases, simply unfair. Its blanket provisions took no account of individual circumstances and life changes. Non-resident parents rebelled against its provisions and often refused to pay. Instituted in the late 1980s, it took no account of recent tax changes which now mean in effect that for many single-parent families, the taxpayer largely supports the children."

Under the previous system non-custodial parents paid 18 per cent of their gross income taken out of their net pay for one child, 27 per cent for two, 32 per cent for three, 34 per cent for four children and 36 per cent for five or more. Under the new plans, child-support payments were to be calculated on the basis of both parents' incomes and the time each parent spent caring for the children.

Among the recommendations was a formula that would set higher payments for teenagers; the exemption of overtime and second jobs from the assessment of a father's income for five years after separation; a discount in the amount fathers owed if their children stay with them at least one night a week; and a change that would see custodial parents, mostly women, keep all of the family tax benefits, unless a father has the child more than 35 per cent of the time.

The Task Force claimed the changes would result in an estimated 60 per cent of non-custodial parents - typically fathers - paying less child support.

President of the Lone Fathers Association, Barry Williams, predicted the changes would mean child support would no longer be about "socking non-custodial parents for money for their kids" and would benefit non-custodial parents and their children." "We never dreamt we would get so much," he said. "It couldn't have been fairer to men if they tried."

Tony Miller from Dads In Distress said: "The Taskforce has heard our complaints. Fathers will certainly be paying less than they are paying now." But the sweeping recommendations of the ministerial taskforce on child support will take time to understand, both men said. The proposed changes were complex and the amount of child support would depend on parents' income, the number of children, their ages and how much time children spent with the non-resident parent.

Elspeth McInnes of the Council for Single Mothers and their Children said overall less child support would be paid and many children would be worse off if the Government accepted the recommendations.

"The Taskforce did their job with goodwill but the social policy problem was seen as 'poor dads' rather than outcomes for children of separated parents," she said. "The evidence we have is that child support, when it was paid, was effective in relieving and reducing poverty in single-parent households. If you reduce the amount of child support payable, there's a risk that poverty will increase."

Parkinson insisted that children would not be worse off as a result of lower payments because the resident parent would also be able to claim all the family tax benefits.

"Child support has to be about the kids. It can't be about welfare, it can't be about maintaining the resident parent's living standards," he said. "That's what the Government does, that's what getting back into work does. Some of those payments will go down and some will go up. The majority will probably go down, but many, many resident parents will be receiving more as a result of our recommendations. We've tried to be fair to both parents and, above all, fair to the kids."

An appearance by DIDS founder and Task Force member Tony Miller, along with a group of dads on the ABC's Four Corners current affairs program, provoked an avalanche of emails and personal stories. Miller wrote: "Our website has exploded with hits and our phone system at our base has been unable to cope with the demand. This

isn't a boast but a sad indictment of our times. Far too many are suffering across the country from a flawed system."

One father wrote: "I am a wage earner and have not missed any payments over the past seven years. So unfortunately i am a loser. I have been fortunate enough to remarry and have a lovely supporting wife. We have just been through a year long court battle that cost us our house and almost our marriage because the ex wouldn't let me see my son, funnily enough after the CSA ruled against one of her endless reassessments. I now have access. The family reporter found that my ex had 'not given emotional permission' for my son to have a relationship with me and also that she had 'deeply influenced his decision not to see me'.

"So here we are. The experts say I am to have access. She is now playing the denial game again. My lawyer said I could go contempt of court but it was unlikely much would happen (and they say child support is not linked to access - she has me up before the CSA again because my son needs braces. I would love to help but we now live hand to mouth.

"She took out an intervention order because I wrote and advised her of my change of address and didn't go through the Mediator. I have lodged an intervention order against her because I am sick of her constant harassment of my family - telling my employer I am rorting the system. I simply can't afford a lawyer and am sick of laying in the darkness listening to me wife crying herself to sleep. I am starting to feel blame and guilt and it is only my two other kids that keep me strong enough. I feel the system sucking me dry and there is not a damn thing I can do about it. I have reached the point of resignation and don't feel I have any strength, financial or emotional, left."

Another, the second wife of a man who had just turned 50, said when she met her husband he was "what I can only describe as deeply depressed and definitely in distress over the mother of his three children driving away with all three kids to go to another relationship. He could not understand the reasons for her leaving with no explanation and moving straight into her new relationship. There was no discussion, no children's feelings taken into account, and no father's feelings mattered. The only thing that woman was focused on was establishing a relationship with another man and completely isolating the children's father in the process.

"After the court hearing to divvy up the money he was forced to sell the family home, a commercial fishing vessel and was left with a meager sum to continue his life with. She went on to use the money to assist her new partner in paying off his debts, secured a new home, bought a new car, and had two incomes, hers and the new partner. My husband on the other hand arrived on my doorstep with an old Holden station wagon and a bag of clothes. He was camping in a tent where he could. Time passed and access visits did not happen.

"I have encouraged him to take the mother to court for deprivation of rights to see his children, total deliberate alienation strategies, openly giving negative and damaging information to the children and for compensation for the loss, grief and associated depression issues he has had to, and still struggles with today."

Another father wrote that he had two children he hadn't seen for six years. "I pay \$380 a fortnight to the CSA, leaving me with a take home pay of about \$700 per fortnight. I am casually employed and my income fluctuates, One payday I was left with \$60 as,

according to CSA I was still able to pay the full amount being just over the threshold. My ex wife totally blocked all contact I had with my children for no reason and I have spent the last six years facing dead ends trying to recover my rights to no avail.

"I cannot afford solicitors, I'm frightened to earn more money. The CSA says I have a burgeoning debt of over \$7000 - due to a period of unemployment some years ago.

"I have never actively avoided my payment responsibilities. Yet I have no rights, no kids and little prospects of financial improvement. I can honestly say if it wasn't for my partner I would have ended it by now. The CSA has told me that they are only concerned with collection and if I was serious about seeing my kids I would appoint a solicitor - WITH WHAT?"

Then on June 20 came a march on Parliament House in Canberra in the name of family law and child support reform. Most reform movements are made up of a few activists and a silent, supportive majority. Nowhere was this more true than in the fatherhood movement, where their dispirited states, lack of resources and even embarrassment over their personal circumstances discouraged men from direct protest. In the lead up to the protest DOTA interviewed organisers Ken Parrington and Joseph Zammit.

The group of approximately 100 protesting fathers chanted: "What do we want? 50/50" and carried banners reading: "CSA will happen to you - it's just a matter of time", "Family Court steals children from fathers" and "I want to support my kids, not my ex's lifestyle".

Only fundamental changes to family law could provide the changes that were needed, the fathers claimed. One protester, Maurice Mok, described the child support system as 'a modern-day holocaust'.

"The bias against men and fathers is the greatest bias of our time," he said.

Reform the Child Support Agency spokesman Ken Parrington said family law marginalised fathers, meaning many were unable to see their children.

"The kids are suffering," he said. "They're used as weapons in the process. That needs to change."

He said mothers caring for children should have to justify their spending.

"There's no accountability under the current system and in the proposed system, there is still no accountability for how the money's spent," he said.

In material promoting the march the organising group said their key messages were that the federal government had failed to deliver on family law reform, children were being denied the love and affection of both parents following divorce due to a system that failed to recognise the overwhelming evidence that children are better off when both parents share equally in their upbringing. The group said proposed changes to family law did little to address current inequities and the federal government continued to pay mere lip-service to the concerns of the Australian public on issues such as joint residency for children, child support reform and male suicide.

Also highlighting some of the issues, in late June 2005 The Age ran an atmospheric piece on the counseling service Mensline, then three years old and established by the government in response to an obvious need. The high death rate amongst separated

men was not disputed. Spokespeople for Mensline had been appearing on Dads On The Air since its inception. The service had only been able to answer a fraction of the 200,000 calls it had received since it opened in 2001.

The story began: "Tuesday, 5.55pm: The phone beeps, and counsellor John Evans picks up the receiver.

"I'm very down in the dumps," says the voice on the other end. "My wife left me two years ago and I'm still very lonely." He works long hours and goes to the pub most nights.

"It's the loneliness, the lack of joy," he tells John. "I can't see tomorrow, that's the difficult thing."

On every six-hour shift, the counsellors usually get two callers who mentioned suicide. With separated men nine times more likely to kill themselves than separated women, many men needed someone to talk to. Most had failed to see the signs leading to the break-up.

"Men will be angry with themselves, they haven't seen it coming, angry if they can't have access to the children," he said. "The one big thing that keeps coming through is the loss of the dream. Men's identity often comes from the role in the family, the home they've built, the job they've had. During a separation they can lose all of that and that's when the suicide calls come in."

In late June 2005 the Howard government was embarrassed by revelations in the Fairfax press that they had wasted millions of taxpayer dollars on inquiries only to ignore them. It had not replied on time to a single public inquiry of the 62 it had ordered in the House of Representatives since December 1998. It had given no reply at all to almost half of them.

Politicians on committees in both houses had taken months - sometimes years - to travel the country, study submissions and hear from hundreds of witnesses. All for nothing.

Three days after the Fairfax revelations, and more than 18 months after the inquiry itself, the Minister for Family and Community Services, Kay Patterson, tabled her government's response. By the government's own rules this should have been completed inside three months. "The Government has listened and responded comprehensively - instigating the most significant changes to the family law system in 30 years," a press release stated.

Patterson said the House of Representatives inquiry's report "Every Picture Tells a Story" attracted more than 2000 submissions. "There were many tears shed by the general public, witnesses, their families and even by the committee members. It has been an emotional experience for everyone."

The Government released an exposure draft of the shared parental responsibility bill to the House Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs, with its report due two months hence.

The draft was available on line and submissions were invited. "The Government believes these changes will help separating parents sit down across the table and

agree what is best for their children, rather than fighting in the courtroom," Attorney-General Philip Ruddock said. "The changes to the law reflect the fact that parenting continues, even after a relationship ends."

Ruddock also released an explanatory memorandum with the draft which stated that the aim of the amendments was to "bring about a cultural shift in how family separation is managed: away from litigation and towards cooperative parenting".

The government said some of the proposed changes included introducing a new presumption of joint parental responsibility, aimed at encouraging parents to consult together on decisions such as where a child goes to school or major health issues. It also aimed to make one of the primary factors when deciding the best interests of children their right to know both their parents and be protected from harm; required parents to attend dispute resolution and develop parenting plans before taking a parenting matter to court and recommended parents, advisers, mediators and the courts consider substantially equal sharing parenting time in appropriate cases and to better recognise the interests' of children in spending time with grandparents and other relatives.

It was proposed to amend the legislation to include a new object: "To ensure that children have the benefit of both their parents having a meaningful involvement in their lives, to the maximum extent consistent with the best interests of the child" along with "a new principle to recognise that children need to be protected from physical or psychological harm, for example by witnessing family violence."

Clients applying to court for parenting orders were to first attempt to resolve their dispute using family dispute resolution services, such as mediation. The court would not be able to hear the application unless the applicant filed a certificate signed by a family dispute resolution practitioner.

There was no presumption that a child should spend equal time with each parent. However the court would be required to consider making an order that the child spend "substantial time" with each parent.

Other amendments included greater recognition of grandparents and other relatives, and an emphasis on consideration of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander culture and practices.

The draft exposure bill also suggested that a less adversarial, more inquisitorial process be implemented for children proceedings. The new regime would broadly reflect the Family Court's pilot Children's Cases Program. This included the court more actively managing the proceedings.

This style of proceeding left the running of the case and the determination of issues in the judges hands. They could be time consuming and more exceensive than normal trials. DOTA had criticised them for handing far too much power to Family Court judges. But the court's own evaluations indicated they led to greater satisfaction amongst parents, less hostility between the parties and less anxious children.

As well "Proceedings were to be conducted without undue delay and with as little formality and legal technicality as possible." Fat chance.

Once again the terminology was being altered. This time the terms "residence" and "contact" were to be removed and orders refer to who the child lives with and spends time or communicates with.

The release of the draft legislation for discussion attracted a vociferous response from the SPCA under the heading "Howard's Family Law Amendments a Cruel Failure".

Their press release read in part: "The Shared Parenting Council of Australia has rejected outright the proposed Family Law Amendments released by the Attorney-General as failing fathers, failing children and failing the broader community."

The Council said the Howard government had ignored massive community support from men and women alike to stop the Family Court's present disastrous bias against fathers.

"For years now, every time John Howard has suggested he and his government support shared parenting and a child's fundamental right to an equal relationship with both parents he has received enormous support from the public and the media," Secretary of the Council Wayne Butler said.

"Yet when we finally see the legislation there is nothing in it to guarantee shared parenting outcomes as the norm for separating couples. The one million children of separated families in this country, the hundreds of thousands kids who rarely if ever see their dads, the millions of grandparents, second families and the parents themselves all deserve better."

Despite the Howard government's rhetoric supporting shared parenting, there was nothing in the legislation to guarantee that fathers, children, second families, grandparents and new partners would be treated any better, or that children would grow up maintaining a good relationship with both parents.

The SPCA said the draft legislation had failed to address the fundamental problems in family law, a system which created chaos and bitterness while failing in its task of protecting children.

"The claim by the Attorney-General that this is 'the most significant reform to Family Law ever' - simply does not stack up with the draft bill," Butler said.

"The Family Law Amendments fail to protect every child's fundamental right to an equal opportunity with both their parents - instead it reinforces the outdated and repressive regime that the mother's rights are superior in the Family Court and that father's are unable to provide primary care.

"Not only has there been a failure to recognise and amend the inequality of the current system, but the amendments themselves will make the family law act even more legalistic and incomprehensible. Even the most urgent cases will experience significant delays and costs due to the increased requirement to get legal advice."

Butler said the reforms as they stood would guarantee a windfall to the legal industry and continued distress to parents and children alike. Further Court delays were inevitable and increased conflict between separating parents would also be assured by these reforms.

"Australian parents and children will mourn this lost opportunity for meaningful change to a system which has been found by several government inquiries to be totally dysfunctional.

"We are at a complete loss as to why the Government will not respond. The public will continue to demand an adequate response from the government to the most pressing social justice issue facing Australia today.

"These proposed amendments are nothing more than smoke and mirrors and a cruel hoax to separated parents who took the Prime Minister at his word that he would fix this system once and for all."

The Fatherhood Foundation was also quick to criticise, calling the proposed family law amendments a betrayal of the children of Australia. Warwick Marsh, convener of a recent Fatherhood Forum at Parliament House, Canberra said the Howard government could take credit for the economic growth Australia was enjoying, but must also take credit for the growth in fatherlessness that was destroying the future of Australia's children.

"Shared parenting after divorce is the first stage of stemming the tide of fatherlessness in our nation," he said.

The Fatherhood Foundation had just released a document "Fathers in Families" at the Fatherhood Forum held in parliament house. Marsh said It showed how fatherlessness was associated with many grave social problems including increased crime, poverty, drug abuse, physical and sexual child abuse, increased levels of teenage suicide and bad educational outcomes.

Marsh said fatherlessness costs Australia over 13 billion dollars per year, according to estimates by Dr Bruce Robinson from the University of Western Australia. An Office for the Status of Fathers, as recommended in the Fathers in Families document, would be the most cost effective investment the government could make. "Such an office could help reel in the out-of-control government bureaucracy that doesn't seem to understand the important contribution that fathers make to families," he said.

"Such an office could provide the necessary balance to ensure family law reform legislation is carried out correctly.

"If the government can show leadership in other areas of much-needed reform, why can't the present government reform the Family Law Court? The Senate majority, now held by the government, leaves no room for excuse regarding family law reform. The enshrining in Australian family law of Shared Parenting will show the families of Australia that the government actually cared. Common sense family law reform will encourage more men to marry. Stable marriages will encourage more men and women to have children. Only then can we begin to rebuild marriage as the bedrock institution of our nation. Strong marriages build strong families. Strong families build a strong nation. The government must seize the opportunity for family law reform and lead the way."

Dads On The Air also put in a submission on the proposed Family Law Amendment Bill.

It read in part: "The Dads On The Air team is greatly disappointed in the proposed Family Law Amendment Bill, which we believe fails children, fathers, second families and the broader Australian community in its current form.

"While making an initial and vague pretence, the failure of this Bill to treat both parents as equally important in their children's lives means that the disaster of family law in Australia will continue unabated.

"The notion of 'shared responsibility' is so vague as to be not just meaningless but dangerous.

"We have had the Attorney-General Phillip Ruddock on our program and not even he was able to explain what it means.

"What it means in reality is that fathers will continue to be ostracised from their children's lives and lawyers will continue to have a field day at the expense of separated families."

Our position could be summarised as follows:

"The Government proposal to make equal shared parental responsibility the starting point under the Family Law Act just simply does not go far enough in ensuring joint custody or shared parenting arrangements are the norm post-separation.

"The government should immediately legislate for shared care and responsibility to ensure that joint custody outcomes are the norm post separation and that conflict between separating couples is eliminated as much as possible. This would truly be in the best interests of the children.

"As a result of this legislative failure an ever growing body of disaffected fathers, second families and others will continue to criticise and protest against the government.

"The legislation as it is now framed will do nothing to ensure shared parenting outcomes. As we all know, the Family Court of Australia has been historically opposed to shared parenting despite the community support for this common sense outcome. This legislation guarantees that the court will continue to do exactly as it pleases.

"Even on the vague notion of joint responsibility the Court finds itself under no real obligation: 'The presumption may be rebutted by evidence that satisfies the court that it would not be in the best interests of the child for the child's parents to have parental responsibility for the child jointly.

"As anyone who has been through the Court knows, what the court considers to be 'evidence' and what a lay person considers to be evidence are entirely different matters.

"The Family Court, in secret, will continue to destroy families and treat fathers as second class parents with complete impunity. This institution is not complying with its legislative obligations to act in the best interests of children. It is continuing to this day to perpetuate its sole custody model and continuing to treat fathers like dirt. We believe the culture of this institution is beyond repair and as such it should be abolished."

DOTA's submission claimed the laudable aim that "children have a right to spend time on a regular basis with, and communicate on a regular basis with, both their parents

and other people significant to their care, welfare and development" was undermined by other sections of the proposed legislation.

The proposal for instance that "parents should agree about the future parenting of their children" will be used to ensure that no shared parenting outcomes are achieved.

"Intact couples do not agree on many issues and it is ridiculous to impose this requirement on separating couples. Nor is the fact that separated couples do not agree on many issues reason to deny a child the right to live with and be cared for by both parents. This requirement will be used as an excuse by lawyers and judges for fathers not to be given joint custody."

DOTA said the legislation's perhaps well intentioned pandering to the ideologically based domestic violence industry would also prove to be a disaster.

"While we can of course accept that children need to be protected from harm, the current hysteria over domestic violence and the epidemic of false allegations during litigation will ensure that rather than being protected they are more likely to be harmed.

"If there are accusations of violence then police and hospital records should be the only material relied on. Otherwise the centres will only be promoting yet more hysteria around the issue and perpetuating the use of false allegations in custody disputes. If there are genuine cases, then both parties should be sent to counseling and the matter reviewed after such counseling has occurred. A simple allegation should not be sufficient to deny a child contact with the other parent.

"In genuine cases the provision of counseling and other assistance in modifying behaviour should be resorted to in the first instance, rather than the blunt instrument of criminalising an individual on the basis scant evidence or nothing but a potentially malicious or tactical allegation or expression of fear.

"Violence and assault, of which both genders can be guilty, are in genuine cases a matter for the police and for therapists.

"By writing this into the Family Law Act the government will ensure that the current rash of false and exaggerated allegations of domestic violence which have become a standard part of family law will further increase."

DOTA also expressed concern over the rushed nature of the public consultation and the narrow range of views being sought. In Sydney the committee heard from the Law Society of NSW and Legal Aid, but was somehow incapable of finding a single father's group in a city of more than four million people.

The groups interviewed were all supporters of the status quo, from which they benefited.

A number of father's organisations, including ourselves, were not invited to give evidence; although we have all worked hard, and unlike the groups from which you are so willing to hear, without pay, to make submissions throughout the law reform process.

Our editorial position, while unsubtle, reiterated: "This legislation does not in any way guarantee that fathers will be treated equally before the law and does nothing to properly encourage, far less guarantee, shared parenting outcomes after divorce.

"This legislation does nothing to guarantee that the conduct of the Family Court is exposed to public view. It does nothing to stop the corrupt use of shonky psychs that has characterised family law in this country for almost three decades. It does nothing to ensure that kids have a right to see and be cared for by their fathers. It will perpetuate the harassment and abuse of fathers by both the Family Court and the Child Support Agency.

"The reforms will fail unless joint custody is the mandatory starting point. Allowing the Family Court as the final arbiter of these disputes is wrong. Nor does requiring the court to act in the best interests of children mean anything at all. There wouldn't be a separated father in the country who believes the Family Court acts in the best interests of children.

"It is a fudging of the damage done by the family law industry to claim that 'for a range of reasons some parents lose contact with their child, either permanently or while issues are fought out in the courts.' The reason why most parents, usually fathers, lose contact with their beloved children is because the Family Court forbids them contact or refuses to enforce its own contact orders."

Throughout July and August of 2005 the Attorney-General Philip Ruddock travelled the country promoting the family law changes. Under the headline "Ruddock Tours Australia Insulting Dads" DOTA claimed he was "peddling the bureaucratic lie that his government is implementing the most sweeping reforms to family law in 30 years. The government is doing nothing of the kind.

"By telling fathers that they are second class parents who do not deserve to be granted joint custody of their children after separation Ruddock has delivered an insult not just to fathers but hundreds of thousands of women as well, to grandparents, second partners, second wives, siblings and everyone who cares about dads, their children and the disaster that is being visited upon them by the extremist anti-male anti-father bias of the current system.

"In his tour of Sydney, Melbourne, Brisbane, Perth, Darwin and Adelaide, Ruddock has been confronted with furious fathers wherever he goes. What was meant to be a triumphal tour to champion reforms to family law turned rapidly into a fiasco. The government chose to take heed of the so-called experts and bureaucrats and ignored the voices of parents. They are now paying the price. What was meant to be an electoral plus has simply provoked more resentment. Media coverage has been luke warm at best.

"The relationship centres the government is establishing as a so-called first port of call after separation will operate under the draconian secrecy provisions of the Family Law Act and will perpetuate the same anti-father bias and the same discrimination as the Family Court itself. No father can expect to be treated fairly in these Relationship Centres. Those tendering for the running of these centres, including Relationships Australia, have all put in submissions opposing shared parenting; and have therefore declared their bias up front. No father who wants to share the care of their children will be given a civil ear or encouraged to do so..

"In the process of touring the country, Ruddock has made nonsense claims that the Family Court is not biased against men. It is outrageous to make these claims in front of

an audience of fathers and their families who know it to be a nonsense; and whose own children have been so savagely impacted by the serial bastardry of the Family Court."

Numerous individuals and groups were critical of the Family Law Amendment Bill. The flyer written by Sue Price from the Men's Right's Agency and handed out to audiences at the Ruddock meetings was headlined: "Proposed Family Law Changes will make little difference".

"Desperate parents have waited more than 18 months for the Government to respond to a report into family law and child support reform. The response released at the end of June is more than disappointing - it is deceptive and void of any understanding of what needs to be changed to achieve fairness and equity for parents and children in separating families. Now the draft Bill is being rushed through with interested parties given less than two weeks to respond and the Legal and Constitutional Affairs Committee less than six weeks to review the draft.

"The Committee has also been instructed not to "re-open discussion on policy issues such as the rejection of the proposal of 50/50 custody in favour of the approach of sharing of parental responsibility". In other words the government has made up its mind and there WILL BE NO DEBATE OR DISCUSSION ALLOWED!

* Shared parental responsibility will not deliver shared and equal parenting. * Shared parental responsibility does not imply more time with children * Shared parental responsibility is already included in the Family law Act and usually means Mum gets the kids and Dad pays the bills, with Dad being allowed just enough time with their children to ensure his interest in paying does not wane. * 65 Family Relationship Centres, operating in the shadow of the law, will continue with the current bias against fathers unless the Family Law Act is changed to recognise that both parents have an equal right to share in their children's lives. * A presumption against even shared parental responsibility if there are allegations of domestic violence and abuse presupposes the guilt of an accused party, thereby distorting the very basic tenet where a person is innocent until proven guilty. * Ordering parents to go to a Family Relationship Centre will encourage more false allegations being used to avoid attendance.

"An 'Inquiry into Joint Custody 50/50', as announced by the Prime Minister in 2003 was bound to be rejected because of the seeming rigidity of the terminology. The mention of 50/50 allowed the opponents of shared and equal parenting to claim the proposal was too rigid and unworkable, because the assumption became that shared parenting was all about equally sharing the time with the children. This was never the case, but people such as the retired Chief Justice of the Family Court, Alastair Nicholson and others were able to make emotive statements ridiculing the proposal by using examples where the children spending equal time with each parent was clearly impractical and impossible logistically.

"Shared and equal parenting is about far more than just time - it is about being regarded as equally important and essential in the children's lives. It is about the joys and duties, responsibilities and rights to be regarded as equally as much a parent as the other. To be consulted, informed and have input into the children's lives and to spend time with the children as much as can be arranged up to 50 per cent, but just because a parent is unable to spend 50% of the time with their children does not mean they should be regarded as any less of a parent, as happens now."

The Non-Custodial Parents Party's John Flanagan also produced a flyer to be handed out at the meetings: "The Attorney-General has stated at the end of the terms of reference for the Committee of Inquiry into the new amendments that 'The Committee should not re-open discussions on policy issues such as the rejection of the proposal of 50:50 custody in favour of the approach of sharing of parental responsibility'.

"This summarises what is essentially wrong with the current proposed amendments. The amendments should not be simply about 'sharing parental responsibility'. We have always had this term in the Family Law Act and it has not worked. In the terms of reference, the Attorney-General uses the term '50:50 custody'. The term that is more commonly and correctly used is 'a rebuttable presumption of 50:50 shared parenting'. It can be simply defined as: 'Both parents being consulted, informed and having input into their children's lives and to spend time with the children as much as can be arranged up to 50 per cent'.

"This concept does not exist in the Attorney-General's amendments. Therefore we can only presume that the status quo will remain. That is, the custodial parent will continue to be responsible for the day-to-day care of the child. The non-custodial parent will continue to be responsible for the child support."

The normally quietly mannered and apolitical Tony Miller at Dads In Distress expressed his disgust at the lack of representation of fathers during the government's brief two week public consultation on the draft bill. He claimed the Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs was deliberately excluding fathers from the debate. He was particularly incensed his organisation had only been informed of a public meeting in Sydney, several hundred kilometers south of their headquarters in Coffs Harbour, the day before it was held. He said they had been swamped with emails protesting the situation.

"Where is the representation from men's groups you ask? Easy, they obviously didn't want you there. Dads in Distress was not invited to give evidence.

"NOTHING short of EQUAL time should be accepted. Every father's group in the country simply wants that. I would implore as many of you as possible attend these hearings and have your say. I am disgusted that something as important as this, that concerns the future lives of our children, is dealt with so pitifully inadequately."

Miller quoted the chairman of the Legal and Constitutional Affairs Committee Peter Slipper announcing there would be two of hearings in Melbourne and Sydney expressing a desire to hear "as many different viewpoints as possible within the short timeframe".

"Thanks Mr Slipper, two full days to hear us," Miller pronounced. "Some of us have been waiting patiently for over two years to see our children. The biggest reform to Family Law in 30 years and we get two full days in Melbourne and Sydney and you say the committee wants to hear as many different viewpoints as possible.

"Who's kidding who?

"You know I honestly believed this Government was fair dinkum in its reform process. I honestly believed the Bill put forward with some minor adjustments was excellent legislation. I honestly thought you were delivering dads back to their kids. But when you

don't even want to hear from the very people this affects, your constituents, well you have lost me.

"The line has been drawn guys, You want war, you have got it."

Still more miserable stories kept appearing on the Dads In Distress website. Here's one: "Please help me! I live in Brisbane and up until 15 months ago, had regular fortnightly contact with my 5 year old daughter who then, lived on the Gold Coast. In March 2004, my ex-wife just up-and-left the Gold Coast and moved to Ballarat Victoria, taking my Daughter with her. There were no Contact Orders at this time. I have not seen my daughter since. There are the occasional phone calls but they are getting less and less. I am fast becoming just another voice on the phone. I cannot afford to go down there to visit, I pretty much can't do anything. Child support is killing me financially. I can't seem to get any answers from anyone about what I can do. I need to see my daughter, and she needs to see me and have her father as part of her life. We were very close before this happened. Please help me..."

And another: "I went to court today because the ex has breached the court orders 67 times we were in front of Judicial Registrar. He would not hear the case today because we are part the way through a final hearing which the ex keeps putting off. Even though my solicitor pointed out to him it is a totally different case and has nothing to do with the final hearing he would not hear it. He has put it in for the same day as the final hearing in front of the same judge and told me that if I don't drop it, it will hold up my final hearing and the judge is retiring.

"Today was a waste of time as I had to pay for my solicitor and the ex got legal aid and she is the one breaking the law, how is that justice? I have spent nearly \$40.000 in court and only have interim orders which are not worth the paper they are written on."

Amongst separated fathers, mobilised and alarmed at the turn of events, there was a considerable amount of rallying of the troops, urging of those who could to attend the meetings and lobbying of politicians as the committee examined the legislation. One father submitted: "A lot of men have these issues yet it seems that they are never addressed. I think people need to realise that ex wives/partners can be completely vindictive and hateful and stop fathers from seeing their children simply because they don't want them to."

To the Member for Hume Alby Schultz he wrote: "I ask that you please raise your concerns with your fellow members of parliament that men were simply not given the chance to be present. I miss my children and I want to see them and unfortunately until changes are made in Family Law, that is never going to happen.. The changes can not be made if fathers are not given the right to speak."

Fuelling the debate, in Melbourne's high circulation Herald Sun Kangaroo Court author John Hirst wrote a moving piece of a man falsely accused of sexually abusing his four-year-old daughter, a story that could have been told many hundreds of times over. Hirst was a respected academic historian, co-editor of the Oxford Companion to Australian History and author of a number of books including The Sentimental Nation: The making of the Australian Commonwealth. He wielded a credibility most could only dream of.

The story began: "I am watching a man being tortured. The torture is mental and is being conducted officially in Melbourne." Hirst detailed the doctors and psychologists who had found no evidence to back up the mothers repeated claims, which were now

progressing to a full trial in the Family Court. "We have assumed, wrongly, that only in totalitarian regimes are courts of law perverted into instruments for harassing people on false charges. Every inquiry shows this man to be innocent, but the accusation against him does not go away. But surely the Family Court will clear him when all this evidence or lack of it comes to trial? Not necessarily.

"He could well be subjected for the future to supervised access only in order to satisfy the wife. He would then carry permanently the official stigma of a being an abuser of his own child.

"The Family Court claims that it is always acting to secure the best interests of the child. In fact, by permitting these accusations to run unchecked the court is allowing the mother to poison a four-year-old girl against her father while subjecting him to continuous torment.

"The accusation never leaves his mind. So far he estimates that he has spent \$40,000 on lawyers. If the father is destroyed mentally and materially, how is that in the best interests of the child?"

The individual responses to the Child Support Task Force continued to flood on to the Dads In Distress website. These were in turn widely distributed. With the latest rash of sad dad stories, often perplexing, moving and confounding all at once, the issue of suicide was once again a hot topic. While there had by now been years of talk about reform of family law and child support, nothing had actually eventuated. It was by no means clear anything ever would.

People had lost hope.

Barry Williams, President of the Lone Fathers Association, wrote on the Dads In Distress site: "Some forces within government wipe these issues aside as nonsense and untrue. They are covering up and hiding the fact that men are committing suicide in this country at five men a day. Many of these men take their lives because they are frustrated by the systems that treat them like criminals because their marriage or relationship breaks down, then they lose most of their property and assets, and are made to pay child support that is really not child support, but spousal maintenance.

"Then to rub the wounds even further they are denied contact to their loved children. The system does nothing to help them unless they have thousands of dollars to pursue it, then the guilty party escapes Scott free. The law has no teeth, especially where men are concerned.

"The government throws a few measly dollars to men's groups, compared to countless millions to woman's groups. The money that is given for men's help go to the counseling services, yet these counseling services in most cases can't help the men, as its mostly not counseling that they need, rather they need help with their family law and child support problems at grass route level. They get this advice and help from Lone Fathers and Dads In Distress."

Barry Williams recounted an incident from a few days earlier, when he received phone call from a granddad asking would I assist him. "He was crying the whole time he was talking to me about his grandson who was being so harassed by the CSA, that he was concerned his grandson was going to be yet another victim of suicide. Fortunately I was able to convince this young man that we were there to help him, and use all our

resources to pursue his problems. How many more lives do we have to lose before the critics wake up and take note?"

At the end of the month Attorney-General Philip Ruddock announced the location of the first 15 of the 65 Family Relationship Centres that were one of the centerpieces of the new family law system. Ruddock claimed the family relationship centres, to open in the middle of the following year, would become a source of support and assistance for families.

"The centres will become an integral part of their communities by becoming the first port of call when people need help to make their relationships stronger or when relationships end," he said. "We have located the first centres in areas with high numbers of families with young children and high numbers of divorced or separated families and blended families."

The Family Relationship Centres would be the front door for people seeking to strengthen family relationships, prevent separation and enable parents to resolve conflict after separation.

"We are not just changing the system, we are changing the culture of family breakdowns," Mr Ruddock said. "Separating parents will be encouraged to sit down and work out what is best for the children rather than fighting in the courtroom."

DOTA once again expressed concern that the Centres would be staffed by groups such as Relationships Australia, declared opponents of shared parenting through their submissions to the inquiry. As such they would not encourage shared and cooperative parenting after separation and there are disturbing parallels with the counseling carried out by the various mediation centres of the Family Court.

A story in The Age in early August of 2005 by journalist John Elder was headlined "It's no kids' party as angry dads let rip". It brought smiles of recognition to many in the fatherhood movement because they had themselves witnessed similar scenes as Ruddock toured the country promoting the family law changes.

The scene was the Frankston Arts Centre and the Attorney-General Philip Ruddock was talking about the \$400 million being spent on changing the Family Law system.

Elder reported that the first couple of questions were almost whispered with deference. Then a fellow named Simon stood up. He wondered "where are the concrete changes" that will allow fathers - who had been stripped of their rights by the Family Court - to see their children?

Simon went on for a very long time about the destructive influence of psychiatrists, the high rates of suicide and the power of unfounded allegations by vengeful former wives.

Simon was something of a loose cannon within the fatherhood movement. Colourful, unpredictable. Likeable to some, certainly not to all. He was unable to see his daughter through orders of court. He never gave up the fight and was never afraid to let everyone know what he thought about the people who had done this to him and his daughter. He had been a guest on DOTA. Some minutes into this tirade, Bruce Billson began pleading, "Simon, come on mate, let the Attorney-General have a go." Eventually Simon sat down. In reply, Ruddock stood to say, "I have no truck with unfounded allegations."

Elder recorded how his companion, Mary Lewis, who worked for a service connecting estranged fathers with their children, whispered in his ear: "Look at how Ruddock's taking the fight up to him ... the way he's standing."

"It was true: with his suit jacket undone, a hand on the hip, the Attorney-General looked like John Wayne coolly staring down a bunch of gunslingers."

Ruddock had put on exactly the same performance when confronted by fathers at a similar function in Sydney.

A heavy sigh filled the room when a ponytailed man stood to say he had done all the right things when his marriage broke down, he had agreed to accept the orders of the court - "and I never saw my children again".

A man up the back then made angry claims that a Family Law counselor had abused his children. When he named the counselor, more than a dozen women got to their feet and shuffled out of the hall. "Where are all the women going?" Elder asked.

His companion whispered in his ear, "They're leaving ... because to stay would be to collude with violence."

At the same time sandwiches, cordial and party pies were being set on tables down the back of the hall - "just as if at a children's party."

The following day came the sad news that Lionel Richards founder, coordinator. convener of the OzyDads Network, had passed away from a heart attack.

If you were an insomniac separated dad cruising the chatlines in the early hours of the morning for a bit of company, gossip, intrigue or advice, you would come across Lionel. He seemed always to be there, full of cheer, outrage, friendship. He had done much for other separated dads; and for the cause of family law and child support reform.

Lindsay Jackel, who ran the internet chat and news lines Manumit and Nuance and had been a key supporter of DOTA, said Lionel Richards was known across Australia and indeed thanks to the internet across the world for his tireless efforts on the part of separated fathers and separated families. He was the bloke who would ring you up when no one else cared, a notoriously manic night owl with a heart the size of the rock. Women devastated by the notorious bastardry of the Family Court and the Child Support Agency were amongst his staunchest fans.

lan Windsor, a father from Canberra, summed up many people's feelings: 'I am not ashamed to admit that I shed a tear for Lionel Richards yesterday when I read of his untimely death. Lionel was a humble but great man with a passion for changing Family Law to allow good fathers to continue their responsibility of raising their children after separation on an equal basis with the children's mother.'

"Lionel loved his children and was passionate about them and their welfare, and often spoke of them. He worked tirelessly for them; and for many separated parents and their children, both locally in the Fremantle, Armadale and Perth areas and thanks to the internet around Australia and the world. He loved people and enjoyed helping them.

"Ozydads Network was a home away from home. A small piece of Cyber World is dedicated to addressing the Anti-Father bias in the Family Law arena and support network filling the gaps between sparse to non existent Father's Crisis facilities available. Lionel believed the Status of fathers had sadly sunk to an all time low, largely due to a vicious attack by radical Gender Feminists who have hijacked the Women's movement to further their misandrist agenda.

"Lionel ran a number of chat lines which provided comfort to many people during the long night hours. They included not just Ozydads but others dedicated to various groups, including victims of Parental Alienation with the StopPAS e-group. He believed PAS is Emotional Child Abuse. There was also the FamilyRules Exchange at www.FamilyRules.net The OzyDads network supported the Child's Right to both Parents, endorsing 50/50 Shared Parenting as the default position in Family Law. Lionel Richards was also a founding member of the Shared Parenting Council of Australia.

"One among many crucial points he raised was the commonality of good fathers being wrongly accused of child abuse and domestic violence post separation when their behaviour during the marriage had never been in question. Sadly, very few legislators, judges, lawyers and other experts shared Lionel's passion for fatherhood. None recognised his expertise in child custody matters and the importance of separated fathers being fully involved in their children's lives."

Tony Miller said Lionel had shared his personal struggles at a DIDS meeting and those of the men he had been fortunate enough to meet and help along the way. "Dads in Distress everywhere send their sympathy to family and friends and we want you to know that Lionel has made a difference to our lives and that of our children's lives."

One woman wrote: "I want to thank you Lionel Richards for making my husband and I stronger, to believe in ourselves, that we have rights, that our children have rights and that together all of us in the groups can make a difference if we believe in what we are fighting for and believe in each other. I promise this, to keep up the fight and to help empower others going through the same things. I promise to help as many people as humanly possible to empower themselves and stand up for their children and their rights."

Mid-August found Alby Schultz maintaining the rage against the Child Support Agency, confirming what most separated fathers already knew. "Over the last 12 months I have compiled 4,500 submissions from all round Australia on the body that I refer to as the national shame of Australia - that is, the Child Support Agency. Out of those 4,500 submissions I have, with the able assistance of a researcher, sifted through and compiled those submissions which carry detailed evidence of the way in which the Child Support Agency operates. Let me inform the House of a case relating to one of those submissions, which is the tip of the iceberg with regard to the problems associated with this government agency."

Schultz related the story of a 14-year-od runaway who ended up living with his aunt; who promptly applied for child support from the boy's biological parents.

"The rights of the parents are violated by the bizarre actions of the Child Support Agency approving the aunt's application for child support from the parents of this child. The CSA then advise the parents in writing that they have calculated the amount of child support the parents must pay the aunt.

"There are a number of questions that need to be asked about this particular Child Support Agency case.

I can assure the minister of the Crown on my side of politics responsible for this agency in this parliament that they are going to be hearing a lot more about the illegal activity of the Child Support Agency."

While father's groups were overlooked or had little time to present yet further submissions on the draft shared responsibility bill, the Family Court's submission claimed the Howard Government's family law reforms might encourage women to raise allegations of violence to stop former husbands gaining access to their children.

The court said the new legislation would place "great pressure" on mothers to "find something" to raise against their husbands, to stop them gaining greater access to the children.

"For example, in an ordinary case, of the kind that is often litigated, a father might seek more involvement with the child," it read. "If the father has a record of occasional fights in bars, the mother would be very likely to bring this up, even if it had only moderate relevance to the child's safety."

It said the new laws might also worsen relations between already warring spouses and lead to longer, more costly litigation.

The submission said "an unintended consequence of the new law might be that the formula will encourage allegations of violence".

While fractionally less demented in tone under Bryant than under the previous incumbent, the Family Court was still playing an active role in its fight to cut fathers out of their children's lives.

The court said 30 per cent of cases included allegations of abuse or violence, and few of those people would "want to sit down with the other party and talk about violence/ abuse issues".

Chief Justice Diana Bryant said while many people resolved their disputes without going to court their remained a question over whether the Family Relationship Centres would divert others.

"There would be an unquantifiable number of applicants who do not want to go down the path of attending a Family Relationship Centre for any number of reasons and who will try to find something to give them an exemption," she said. "The other party's drug abuse, alcohol abuse or mental illness are some examples that spring to mind."

In mid August 2005 the Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs handed up its report after being given just two months to consider the Government's draft legislation. Divorced fathers would get more say in their children's lives and mothers would be pressured to back up claims of violence under the inquiry's recommendations.

The committee largely endorsed the Government's proposals. Controversially, it recommended the definition of family violence in the legislation be changed to include the word "reasonable" in regards to fears about domestic violence, abuse or harm, following repeated allegations from fathers' groups that mothers often fabricated violence claims in order to minimise fathers contact with their children. Penalties would apply for those making false accusations of domestic violence or sexual abuse.

That there could be such controversy over the word "reasonable" pretty well exemplified the fevered insanities of the debate.

The disagreements between men's and women's groups over the proposed family law amendments ran purely along gender lines. Women's groups warned that the insertion of the word "reasonable" would put women and children in danger, while father's groups approved the move, saying it would stop men being deprived of access to their children through false allegations of violence.

The National Council of Single Mothers put out a press release stating the annual domestic violence death toll in Australia was 76 adults and 23 children in the 2002-03 financial year, but proposed family law amendments sought to make it harder for mothers and children to achieve safety from violent ex-partners and fathers.

Convener of the National Council for Single Mothers Elspeth McInnes urged Mr Ruddock not to accept the recommendations. She claimed existing laws already failed to stop almost 100 domestic murders a year. "Anything which diminishes the current protections is enabling a continuing growth of the death rate," she said.

McInnes said the annual domestic violence homicide toll of nearly 100 adults and children should be recognised. "It's time the war on terror included the terror of domestic violence," she said.

McInnes said the Shared Parental Responsibility Bill prioritised fathers rights groups propaganda that mothers falsely allege violence and abuse, despite national and international research confirming that violence was prevalent, severe and underreported in family breakdown disputes. She said family law should have a safety-first approach when family violence was raised as an issue instead of creating new tests and fines for victims of violence.

"It's no secret that the Family Court sends children to see their violent fathers or that women get beaten by their partners. That's backed by reams of research. There is also no benefit to a woman to say she's been abused because if she can't prove it and the court thinks she's made up a false allegation, the court will punish her by granting custody to the father."

The proposed family law changes would give men who used violence and aggression greater control over mothers and force mothers to risk financial penalties and loss of care of their children to raise the issue of safety.

The latest official figures available for Australia from the National Homicide Monitoring Program showed that for the year 2006-2007 there were 260 homicide incidents. Of the victims, 185 were male and 81 were female. Of the offenders, 242 were male and 54 were female. Rates of intimate-partner homicide remained constant in 2006–07, with 22 percent of homicides occurring in this context. Of intimate-partner homicide, 23 males and 42 females were victims.

Forty-three percent of homicides between intimates in 2006–07 had a domestic-violence history with the police in some form prior to the homicide incident.

Twenty-seven children under the age of 15 years were killed in 2006–07, the overwhelming majority by a parent (84%). Of these 24 per cent of perpetrators were the biological father. The majority of perpetrators were mothers. A further 24 per cent were

live in boyfriends or new partners. Of the 14 offenders who committed suicide following the 2006–07 homicide incidents, four involved child victims. In all four cases, the offender was the custodial parent of the victim, two mothers and two fathers.

Then Shadow Attorney-General and staunch feminist Nicola Roxon concurred with McInnes. in her dissenting report on the Committee's findings she wrote: "I believe there is substantial risk that the Bill prioritises meaningful relationships with parents over safety of children."

She said the Committee relied only on anecdotal evidence presented in submissions to the inquiry, not expert advice. "I do not accept that false allegations are made in a large number of cases," she said.

Roxon said the changes were a "one-way street" giving more rights to non-resident parents and more responsibilities to resident parents. Changes to the act could discourage people from reporting incidents of domestic violence because they were frightened of being penalised if the claims were not proved.

It was "borderline irresponsible" to recommend changes without knowing what impact it would have on violence, Roxon claimed.

On her one rather brief appearance 16 minute appearance on Dads On The Air Roxon had also emphasised the issue of relationship violence. She appeared decidedly uncomfortable throughout the interview, although we always tried to make our guests feel comfortable, whether we personally agreed with them or not.

Lone Fathers Association president Barry Williams applauded the committee for the gutsy change, saying existing violence laws were ridiculous and were used as a tool.

Committee chairman Peter Slipper said the move would crack down on false allegations of abuse, removing an assumption of guilt until innocence is proved.

Nationals MP Kay Hull said she had significant concerns about over-reporting of domestic violence and the inability of some parents to disprove allegations to regain access to their children. She said children had a right to be protected from untrue claims of abuse that affected who had custody of them as well as from abuse.

Men's groups argued that violence is often alleged but rarely proven in the Family Court and that women use the allegations to prevent men from seeing their children.

Two days later and Tony Miller at Dads In Distress was once again despairing of any progress.

"Monday we have one of our guys in Newcastle court. Sixty Seven breaches of contact are on the table. Sixty Seven breaches of court orders. We are watching to see if what the Attorney-General has been promising is filtering down to the courts. The fairness we have all been talking about. Because I have to tell you, we haven't seen it yet. It's been promised, any judge in the system today who doesn't see the writing on the wall is blind and shouldn't be there. We are looking for that fairness. We want to see our kids. We want to see that the Family Court is going to recognise the children's right to a relationship with their father and vice versa. Enough is enough. How pathetic that we have a dad in court where mum has breached the orders 67 times and nothing is done.

Wake up. This has got to stop. Those orders need to be enforced if you want us to believe you are genuinely trying to reform the Family Court System."

They also complained the Bill did nothing to ensure that fathers got frequent access to their children after divorce.

Women's groups said children would lose the right to "one home, one carer, one neighbourhood" and instead would be shuffled between residences according to a parenting timetable.

Men's groups said the legislation would encourage more women to make false allegations of violence to avoid the presumption of shared parenting.

"We had high hopes for the law," Sue Price said. "But now I think the whole thing has been a waste of time. We wanted a guarantee that men would have frequent contact with their children after divorce. We didn't get that."

Attorney-General Philip Ruddock said the new Relationship Centres would be "friendly, family places, like the local library, or medical centre".

Women's groups regarded this as fantasy. They said it's simply impossible for many women to attend face-to-face meetings with their former partners and that to force them to do so, without the protection provided by security guards at court, was a recipe for disaster.

Ruddock said the presumption of shared parenting would not apply in cases where violence has been alleged. Also, couples who claim violence in the relationship will not have to attend the Family Relationship Centres. They could go straight to the Family Court.

Price said those exceptions would make the new legislation worse for men. "As soon as the reforms go through, you'll see every woman in Australia claiming she's been beaten. We already know that women lie about abuse to get custody of their children, so now we'll have more women saying they've been attacked when it might have been a tap on the shoulder, so the presumption of shared parenting won't apply."

Weary of the arguments Ruddock said: "We want to create a new culture. We're going to change family law to emphasise that what we're concerned about is the rights of the children. People often focus on the difficulties in their relationships and children come second. But children do have a right to know both their parents."

Meanwhile new research showed the culture of fathering had changed. Professor Michael Bittman of the sociology department at the University of New England said in interviews with sociologists, men "will now say fathering is something that involves being there for a child, not just providing for a child. They regard it as terribly important. Even 10 years back, if there was something like a speech day at school, fathers would think it was important for their partner to turn up. Now they think it's important they turn up as well."

In contrast, an Australian Institute of Family Studies report released at the same time found that one in four children whose parents were separated had little or no contact with their non-resident parent. Twenty six per cent of children from broken families

waited more than 12 months for contact with their non-resident parent, usually the father.

The report showed shared parenting remained the least common arrangement. While the number of children being jointly cared for had increased slightly since 1997, only six per cent were in shared parenting arrangements.

The report defined shared parenting as cases where children are in the care of either parent for at least 30 per cent of nights a year.

Minister for Family and Community Services, Kay Patterson said she was "extremely concerned that over a quarter of non-resident parents have little or no contact with their children and that many parents feel this is acceptable."

About 88 per cent of children lived with their mother after separation, the report's author Bruce Smythe, another periodic guest on Dads On The Air, said.

About one in three children whose parents are separated saw their non-resident parent each weekend or every second weekend, the report, based on 2004 Australian Bureau of Statistics data, also found. Sixteen per cent had daytime-only contact, ten per cent saw their non-resident parent only during school holidays and seven per cent saw their non-resident parent once every three to six months.

Other data showed that in families where the non-resident parent had little or no contact with the child, 40 per cent of resident mothers said there was not enough contact. About three-quarters of non-resident fathers in that group thought they did not spend enough time with their children.

The report said contact every other weekend provided resident parents with little respite, could interfere with a child's social activities and create resentment, particularly among older children.

The new research found "emerging evidence that a regime of every-other-weekend father-child contact" may diminish his importance to his children.

Smythe said while recent debates had focused on the time fathers spent with children, the type of time children spent with non-resident parents was critical.

It needed to involve routine activities, he said.

"If a child saw their father only on a Saturday, they might not have the everyday experiences needed to build a close relationship. Divorced fathers are often denied an opportunity to have 'mundane' contact with their children, doing ordinary things, such as just tucking them into bed, or sitting down to peel potatoes".

Smythe said overnight visits often took place on Fridays and Saturdays, "when dads might feel they have to take the children out. It might be better if these visits happened on a weeknight, so the father can have the experience of making the child's lunch, and taking them to school, waking up and having breakfast with them."

Smythe said the "apparent obsession" with fathers for 50/50 shared parenting might reflect a desire for "time to develop more closeness with a child" by just "hanging out, talking about things".

"There are a lot of children in Australia who only see their fathers twice a month," he said. "So their dads become these good-time dads or Disneyland Dads, who feel like they have to do something, to show the kids a good time."

Smythe said non-custodial fathers often felt that the time allocated to them was "stilted, shallow, artificial and brief". He said custody arrangements should allow both parents to experience "fluid, meaningful time, with each parent".

Amazingly, around the same time the Family Court began talking to men's rights groups in an effort to become more "father-friendly". The court was also making staff who dealt with families undergo training to help them better understand the male perspective in divorce.

The initiatives were introduced by the court's new Chief Justice, Diana Bryant, who was considered by men's groups to be more sympathetic to their concerns than former chief justice Alastair Nicholson.

Sue Price, who attended a meeting in Brisbane, said: "We were a bit taken aback when we were asked because the Family Court has pretty much ignored the way men feel."

The meeting was attended by representatives of the court, the Child Support Agency, Relationships Australia, Catholic welfare agency Centacare and men's groups. "We got out the butcher's paper and the whiteboards and we really talked about how we could make the system work better for men," Ms Price said.

"We discussed the fairness of the court decisions, and why the court seemed to regard fathers as the lesser parents. We asked why fathers should be made to feel like criminals. It was extremely productive."

Ms Price said Justice Bryant did not attend the meeting "but we spoke before she took over the court last year and I have the greatest respect for her. It's obvious that she wants to co-operate with men's groups and make the court more men-friendly."

Andrew Chudleigh, who is a consultant and adviser to the Family Court on men's issues, said the forums were "a way to pull all these players -- the Government, the court, and the men's groups -- together, so they could voice their concerns."

Terry Melvin of Mensline, who attended the first meeting in Sydney in June, said: "The Family Court comes in for quite a bit of criticism from men's groups and we thought that this was a way to build a connection. It was the first toe in the water, to start to build those links."

The Court was not the only institution showing a rare flash of humility. The Child Support Agency admitted it had been "insensitive" in dealing with feuding couples but promised a radical change in its treatment of divorced parents.

Agency General Manager Matt Miller said he wanted people to have a positive experience with the Agency. Staff would be retrained to make sure they avoided upsetting clients.

"From the CSA perspective, we realise we need to take it to a new level, particularly being more caring with our parent client group," he said.

A lot of parents had difficult cases that the agency had failed to handle in a "caring and sensitive way", Miller said. "They're very complex. It takes time to talk through those things, so we'll do more face-to-face on those complex cases," Mr Miller said.

"Sometimes your frontline people can take a less than caring attitude. That's where a lot of our energies are going to go next year, so in 12 months I would hope we've clearly been delivering a lot more caring and customer-centered service."

The Child Support changes were approved by cabinet in mid-October 2005, taking into account the incomes of both parents and the tine they care for the children.

The government said legislation would be hastily drawn up in an attempt to have the new system in place by the start of the 2006-07 financial year. Treasury had already been asked to cost the changes as part of the budget process. But the Government's hopes of getting the new payment scheme under way as soon as possible would be complicated by a shake-up of the Family Tax Benefit.

As part of the changes, almost all of the benefit will be paid to the custodial parent - usually the mother - to offset any reduction in child support payments.

President of the Sole Parents Union Kathleen Swinbourne, said there was no requirement that people would spend the money they saved on child support on their children. "Children will miss out," she said. "Single-parent families are the ones living in the most poverty and this will make it worse."

The president of the Lone Fathers Association Barry Williams supported a change in the way payments were calculated but was concerned that fathers would lose money as a result of higher payments for older children and changes to the Family Tax Benefit.

Sydney talk back king Alan Jones weighed in: "One of the issues that imposes great emotional toll on many Australian families is the issue of family break up. Who wins custody of the children and, when push turns to shove, who pays what. There has been long term resentment by the non-custodial parent that the system in place disadvantages that person enormously.

"Too often we hear that the parent with custody takes the children, often with another partner, to where the non-custodial parent could never afford to go, let alone afford to return the children for a custody break. Then, of course, payments are currently made by the non-custodial parent as a percentage of taxable income. It often leaves that parent with nothing to live on and therefore, no capacity to fashion any sort of future.

"What is more, too often, the custodial parent teams up with someone else and an income which surely ought to be considered in determining what a non-custodial parent should pay."

He paid tribute to Kay Patterson, Minister for Family and Community Services, as "a very caring person. She has done a hell of a job in bringing new and more sensible proposals to the Cabinet table."

"There has to be a better way of resolving differences than the current system whereby often, based on acrimony, one parent either doesn't see the children or can't afford to see the children. And the non-custodial parent, man or woman, fights for the rest of his or her life to make a fresh start because of ludicrous demands of the Family Court

which is biased in favour of the parent winning custody and seems to care little about the parent who is left behind. If Kay Patterson can resolve all of that, she will have made an important contribution to the lives of many."

Also in mid-October, and mirroring DOTA's own doubts about the proposed network of relationship centres, Bettina Arndt wrote in the Herald Sun: "Warning, Mr Howard. There's a red light flashing. Your vital new Family Law initiative looks set to derail. There's a very real risk the cool \$189 million you were proposing to spend on Family Relationship Centres will be money wasted. The sure sign that something is going astray is the relaxed state of our family lawyers. They don't see the FRCs as any threat to their business. And they should.

"These centres were designed to satisfy parliamentarians seeking reform to the way our Family Court system handles divorces involving children. The parliamentary committee on child custody concluded the current adversarial system was a disaster for children."

The Government had not been convinced of the Hull Committee's proposal for a tribunal system and instead backed Professor Parkinson's idea of requiring parents to resolve their issues using child-centred mediation at family relationship centres.

Arndt wrote: "The whole idea was these centres would be the end point, the place where parents actually sorted out their business, not a mere road bump on the way to lawyers and the Family Court. That message has simply gone missing from the reams of waffle being produced by the Attorney-General's department about the FRCs. The lawyers have sniffed the wind and are now seeing the FRC at worst as a minor inconvenience or perhaps even as a source of increased business."

The latest information sheets from the department did not suggest the centres were the place where decisions about children must be made - rather than lawyers' offices and the Family Court.

"The centres were supposed to be staffed by people skilled to perform the tortuously difficult child-focused mediation that helps warring parents concentrate on children's needs," Arndt wrote. "This type of mediation is different from the lawyer-led horse-trading offered by some mediation and dispute resolution services. It offers something new -- an approach that has been shown to work even with extremely hostile parents who have spent years fighting over their children in the Family Court."

Surprise, surprise, Ruddocks's lawyer-filled department was ducking the issue because they didn't want to frighten the horses.

"The AG's department is playing to its legal constituency - one very good reason implementation of the FRCs should be handed over to the Department of Family and Community Services, which better understands the sensitive work that is at the heart of this great new plan."

Arndt also dismissed the department's proposal for families with a history of violence to be referred straight to the court. "That's a joke, considering the hash the court makes of many of these cases. Child-focused mediation is a far better option even in violent families."

DOTA had always been sceptical of the Relationship Centres and believed they would have been much more effective if the government had followed its fantasy: that they

could be shared parenting centres designed purely to assist separating couples into shared parenting arrangements. It was not to be.

DOTA would later interview Arti Sharma from the Centre for Independent Studies on her essay "Family Relationship Centres: Why We Don't Need Them". She claimed trials of a similar program undertaken in Britain led to the scheme being abandoned but the Australian government decided against a trial period.

"The proposal to establish Family Relationship Centres should be scrapped. They are an example of symbolic politics; in reality they will be no improvement at all. Family Relationship Centres represent the incorporation of private, voluntary and community services into intrusive bureaucracy. They will be costly to run, and if they fail, it will be a costly failure. They needlessly duplicate the voluntary and publicly-funded community sector relationship services. The danger is that this will end up destroying the community sector's independence, wasting taxpayers' money, and hindering rather than helping couples who need assistance with the divorce process."

Finally, the family law reform legislation was tabled in Parliament on December 8, 2005.

Still insisting on calling them the most significant reforms to the family law system in 30 years Attorney-General Philip Ruddock's press release said Family Law Amendment (Shared Parental Responsibility) Bill 2005 reflected the Government's determination to ensure the right of children to grow up with the love and support of both of their parents.

"The Bill will move the focus from the rights of parents to the best interests of children," Ruddock said. "These initiatives represent a generational change in family law and aim to bring about a cultural shift in how family separation is managed: away from litigation and towards cooperative parenting.

"The legislative changes reinforce improvements already underway with the rollout of 65 new Family Relationship Centres and increased funding to expand services to support family relationships."

As foreshadowed, the Bill inserted a presumption, or starting point, of equal shared parental responsibility. This meant that both parents had an equal role in making decisions about major long term issues involving their children such as the choice of school. It also required the court to consider whether children spending equal time with both parents was practical and in the best interests of the child. If it was not appropriate, the court must consider substantial and significant time, including day to day routine, not just weekends or holidays.

The Bill gave the court power to impose costs against those who make false allegations of violence or abuse.

Ruddock said under the legislation the Family Court must consider an arrangement for "substantial and significant time" with both parents if equal time is not appropriate. "This means more than just weekends and holidays, it means doing the day-to-day things with children - tucking them into bed, picking them up after school, helping them with homework," he said. "It also means a mix of nights and days with children."

The next day the Shared Parenting Council congratulated the Howard government for tackling the "archaic" family law legislation.

The Association declared the introduction of the Shared Parental Responsibility was a landmark turning point for children of separated and divorced families.

"Today the light of democracy beamed out across this land as the Government took decisive action to strengthen children's right to an opportunity for equal or substantially equal relationships with both their parents", Ed Dabrowski, Federal Director of the Shared Parenting Council of Australia, said. "This is the greatest achievement in the support of human rights this country has experienced in recent history.

"It is the mark of a civilized society that values its families and parents and children. We have witnessed today and over the many years of this reform process, great statesmanship and leadership by our government which has shown the greatest respect and sensitivity for vulnerable children of divorce who deserve the love and protection of both their mother and father.

"Through its reform agenda and legislation introduced today, we have witnessed this Government do more to support the rights of children to the love and nurture of their parents than any other Australian Government in any other period in living memory. The legislation clearly protects children from violence and abuse with a range of new measures.

"The Bill coupled with the other three key pillars of reform through the Child Support legislation reforms, the creation of the Family Relationship Centers and the changes being implemented by the Family Court themselves to facilitate a new way of doing business, are sure to become a world setting precedent that other countries will rush to adopt.

"This is not a father's rights or mother's rights issue. This is about arresting the devastating outcomes for children that have resulted from over 30 years of failed Family Law policies."

The Association said the current legislation did not work in many cases and children were being deprived and alienated from good mums and dads.

"Many more children will have the physical stability of two homes and continuation of their local friends and school, with the emotional stability that comes from the security of knowing that two parents love them and that after separation or divorce, they will continue to preserve and develop lasting relationships with both of their parents", said Mr. Dabrowski.

"Never in the history of legislative change have we seen such a program of well thought out reforms that will give hope to the children of separating parents in Australia who simply want love, comfort and time with both parents."

Former Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson hit the airwaves, talking down the changes. "The court has always been compelled to consider a situation that's in the best interests of the child," he claimed. He described joint custody as a mathematical division" of time, "but the real problem is that it presumes that that is an ideal situation, whereas in most cases it's not for all sorts of reasons. I think that's more or less an attempt to, if you like, pander to the strong pressure that's been put on the Government by various militant fathers' groups.

"I think the downside of it is not so much from the effect on the court, but from the effect on people negotiating, they may think they're bound to start at a 50-50 division of time. And again, I don't think that's in the child's interest."

Speaking on ABC Radio Stuart Fowler, a Sydney barrister who had practised family law for 45 years, said the only impact he saw from the legislation was a change in perception on the part of his clients, a change not reflected in the way the Family Court would proceed into the future.

"I think there's going to be a clear change in the way in which lawyers talk to their clients, because the public expectation has been, I think, raised in a way which doesn't reflect the legislation. What really needs to be done in our society is to educate parents to the view that what they do affects their children, that their children are not objects of ownership but they are little people who have their own bundle of rights which are very, very important."

In an approving editorial The Age newspaper recalled its previous opposition to joint custody as unrealistic and potentially dangerous. Importantly, the proposed bill does not create a presumption of equal division of time between parents. Instead it builds on the existing law by insisting on equal shared parenting responsibility in important decisions about the children of the marriage. The Age considers the reforms proposed are sensible and more likely to lead to just results than the current arrangements. It is also a much less prescriptive arrangement than Mr Howard originally suggested..."

Some writers, such as Sydney Morning Herald journalist Paola Totaro, reiterated their support for shared care.

"Divorce is traumatic and a profound disappointment and sadness for everyone involved," she wrote. "But its impact does not have to be the bitter, warlike legacy that custodial battles so often bring. In any dispute, it makes sense to begin mediating plans for a resolution from the middle position. When it comes to custody, the middle position - the starting point - is half the time with mum and half the time with dad: 50-50.

"What could be more simple? Or more fair?

"We've brought our children up for more than eight years now under shared custody arrangements. When it first went to court, it was the lawyers - who had worked in the Family Court for years and years - who urged us to drop the plan.

"Men don't win," they said. "Don't get your hopes up," they warned. "Judges don't often come down in favour of fathers," was the lugubrious refrain. I would never have believed it if I had not lived it. But our judges endorsed it. And our children won. They have two homes, two sets of parents, several grandparents - all who love them. Asked the question, they're unanimous: "Half and half, we love them both."

Totaro said a civilised family law framework must be flexible and allow for adjustments, one way or another. "OK, so mum and dad do not love each other any more. But in many cases not only will they continue to love their children but will want to play significant, equal roles in their lives."

Totaro said for some parents a 50-50 arrangement may be more difficult geographically or logistically.

"But if you start from a 50-50 situation you can work towards more time with mum - or with dad - depending on what works best for all of you, with the children in first place... To start from the premise that mum is always the best parent is simply insulting to all the men who perform the role with passion - and all the women partnered with men who take being a father seriously. It is also intellectually primitive, sexist and profoundly unfair.

"As an educated, relatively affluent and civilised society, it is incumbent on us to... adapt and shape our behaviour to provide optimum experiences for our children."

Not all voices were so optimistic and many were sceptical the Family Court would change its practices.

Sue Price wrote that the general opinion from fathers in the early days of the inquiry had been positive. "Women's groups who claimed rampant domestic violence or child abuse were for the first time challenged and asked to provide statistical evidence; fathers who could not see their children or had been tossed around in the legal system with no result were able to tell their story; second wives disclosed the uncertainly filling their lives as a direct result of unfair and often catastrophic dealings with the Child Support Agency and grandparents told of their devastation in not being able to see their grandchildren. In fact most fathers' groups were patting themselves on the back, us included, delighted with the impressions gained from the Committee members that fathers would at last be acknowledged as being essential in their children's lives.

"The publication of the Committee's report in December 2003, Every Picture Tells a Story told those of us with a little knowledge of past family law history that the recommendations apart from the proposal to instigate another tier of quasi judicial activity in the form of Family Tribunals signified no change. The principle of shared parental responsibility, previously guardianship, had already been included in the Family Law Act since the 1995 reforms. Understandably, the general public embraced the proposals believing shared and equal parenting would become the norm.

"Yet the Government made little attempt to correct the impression created by the use of the terminology 'shared parental responsibility' until the first draft of the legislation appeared in June 2005, wherein it was particularly stated on page 10 that shared parental responsibility described as Joint parental responsibility "does not involve or imply the child spending an equal amount of time, or a substantial amount of time, with each parent.

"Under the current legal situation 'parental responsibility' shared between the parents could cynically be interpreted as Mum gets the kids, Dad get the bills.

"Those who attended the hearings had trouble reconciling the visible reactions of many on the Committee with the final outcome in the Report. No person who sat through the hearings and listened to the desperate plight of separated fathers and their families could sign off on the most significant inquiry in 30 years without recommending shared and equal parenting. Not some gobbledy gook wording of shared parental responsibility which at best could be described as confusing or at worst a deliberate attempt by the Government to deceive fathers into believing this would deliver equal rights and equal parenting time, which they were in no hurry to clarify. It all comes down to the judges' decision based on the best interests of the children."

Solicitor and former Family Court Judge associate, Waleed Aly wrote an opoinion piece for the Sydney Morning Herald headlined: Shared parenting more a mirage than a breakthrough.

Aly wrote that the changes might not be the victory for father's groups they had first appeared. While pronouncements by Attorney-General Philip Ruddock, describing the significance of recent amendments may be music to the ears of fathers' rights groups which have run "an incessant, and often intimidatory" campaign against the Family Law Act.

The Bill creates a presumption of equal shared parental responsibility, which requires the court to consider children spending equal time with both parents after separation. "It sounds like a significant win for fathers' groups, but there are good reasons to suspect it will be little more than a mirage.

"For all the promise of a new, shared parenting future, the key discretion remains with the courts. Shared living arrangements will be ordered only if reasonably practicable and the court considers it satisfies the paramount consideration: the child's best interests.

"Discretion is an inevitable feature of this area of the law. Family law courts are faced with infinitely varied and complex scenarios that continue to surprise even the most experienced judges. Rigidity in the face of so much variety would lead to injustice. But historically, judges have been reluctant to use this discretion to order equally shared residence. Reported cases where a court has ordered such an arrangement are rare exceptions - often with good reason.

"Shared residence usually requires that the child moves weekly between two homes. In early childhood, this is emotionally unsettling and it doesn't get much better as children grow older. Courts have traditionally accepted such instability is not in the child's best interest. The solution is for the child to stay in one home, with the parents moving in and out. But this requires three dwellings, which is well beyond the financial reach of the overwhelming majority of Family Court litigants.

"As long as judges have a discretion to be exercised in the best interests of the childand not the parents - it is difficult to envisage how this judicial aversion to shared living arrangements will change. Certainly, judges will be required to consider them, but this is easily satisfied by raising the possibility and explaining why it should be dismissed because it is not in the child's best interests. Given the problems associated with shared residence, it is unlikely to become a common order."

Aly wrote that because of the way the Bill had been described in the media, there was a real risk it would come as a shock to the fathers' rights groups when changes to parenting were limited.

"Right now, expectations will be dizzyingly high. The fall is likely to be painful."

Reflecting the views of many family law reform advocates, The Illawara Mercury editorialised that while the Bill tabled in parliament by Ruddock was being touted as helping to change the culture of family law, "In fact, there will be no change. It is simply an exercise in word- play. The words 'consideration of equal time' are now proposed to be added to the Family Law Act. A Family Court judge will at least have to consider if both parents can have equal contact with their kids after separation. The Labor

Government made similar changes to the Family Law Act in 1995. The Family Court then subsequently chose to interpret the legislation in such a way as to make these changes ineffective. Less than two per cent of court orders continued to be made for equal time, shared parenting.

"Using words like 'equal time' is certainly a good start. However when linked to 'consideration', this change effectively means nothing has changed. The desired outcome of any change to family law amendments is the introduction of a rebuttable presumption of equal time, shared parenting. Our politicians have not been game enough to include this outcome in the current round of changes."

In a lengthy feature, the Newcastle Herald's Jim Keller said fathers believed the odds had been stacked against them. "Fathers don't win custody cases, mothers lose them," said Carl Boyd, a prominent family law solicitor in Newcastle. "Ninety-four per cent of all contested applications are settled by consent. Dads figure they can't win them."

The average waiting period in Newcastle was 25 months from the date of filing an application for residence of children to the final hearing. "Because of the lengthy delay, people throw in the towel. Careers go ahead, life goes on," Boyd said.

During the wait for a final Family Court order, the court almost always sticks with the "status quo" which usually meant the mother retained custody of the children, giving the father access on alternate weekend and half of the school holidays.

"I think it must be absolutely bewildering, and there must be a lot of pain out there," said clinical psychologist Dr Tony Nicholas. "Like all things in life, when things are resolved amicably with children and property, then things are fine. But where this goes awry, where things become acrid, caustic, it's absolutely horrible."

Experts agreed that men were caught in a time warp: they were expected to be major wage earners for the family and at the same time live up to modern day parenting expectations by taking on increased family responsibilities "They are in the middle of a changing culture," says David Nagle, principal psychologist at Calm Solutions in Newcastle. "They have to be nurturing, they have to be the provider. They can be in a no-win situation."

More optimistic about the legislative moves were family law solicitor Andrew Hale and student specialising in family law Barry Apelbaum. The pair wrote in The Age that the laws could help bring about significant social transformation. Since the introduction of the Family Law Act in 1975, a generation of children have grown up living with mums while visiting their dads on weekends. Fathers have been shut out of a parenthood involving routine activities with their children and transformed into 'Disneyland Dads'.

The authors wrote: "The new Bill comes on the back of a need for more shared parenting. For fathers, the outlook after separation is grim. Dads In Distress points out that young separated Australian men are ten times more likely to die by suicide than through a car accident. The Family Law Reform Association NSW reiterated that at least half of the suicides of separated fathers are related to their harsh treatment by the family law and child support schemes.

"By far the strongest reason to encourage more shared parenting is because of the detriment caused to children by the absence of their fathers. Sadly, children report the loss of daily contact with one of their parents as the worst part of their parents'

separation. Psychologically, children living with just one parent are significantly more likely to have emotional or behavioural problems, and account for more teenagers requiring psychiatric hospitalisation.

"Children without their fathers tend to have lower self-esteem, and are more likely to drop out of school, suffer depression, feel different from other children at school, be involved in accidents, and to attempt and commit suicide. When children have 'no father', they are more likely to develop criminal, delinquent, and violent behaviour. Daughters with absent fathers are more likely to have difficulties with other men in their lives, to fall pregnant out of wedlock, and - ironically - to divorce. Sons are described as less masculine, and more dependent."

One of the main furphies floated by the Family Court and opponents to shared parenting was that conflict needed to be absent for shared parenting to work. Hale and Apelbaum wrote: "To insist on an absence of conflict, may encourage it. If a father wants shared parenting, and the mother does not and believes the court's fallback order will be prime residence to her, she may promote conflict and be uncooperative, to provide evidence for the court to reject shared parenting...

The authors concluded that ultimately it was hoped that the Shared Parenting Bill, if passed, would mark a cultural change in the way family law treats fathers. "When children wish it, and their separated parents are emotionally and physically able to provide for them, and geographically proximate, shared equal time between households is practical and desirable. The arrangement is obviously fair, and encourages cooperation for the benefit of the children. It would be a proud achievement if more children could continue to have a loving relationship with both their father and mother."

CHAPTER EIGHT: THE TWILIGHT ZONE

Dads On The Air began the year with a program titled: 2006: What You Can Expect, featuring interviews with Geoffrey Greene and Wayne Butler from the Shared Parenting Council of Australia.

In characteristically blunt tones we declared: "The Family Court of Australia has been an unconscionable disgrace for the entire ten years the Howard government has been in power. Many people believe this Marxist feminist relic from the 1970s should have been abolished years ago."

With the so-called Shared Parenting legislation yet to pass into law, considerable jockeying and debate continued over its exact form. Debate over the proposed national network of 65 Family Relationship Centres was also intense.

President of the SPCA Matilda Bawden said she feared Anti Family Forces were hijacking New Family Relationship Centres.

She also Labelled the Federal Attorney-General Phillip Ruddock's new Family Law Amendment (Shared Parental Responsibility) Bill as a betrayal of the trust and hopes placed by Australian families in the Federal Government and the Liberal Party.

"Non custodial parents have wrongly been led to believe that, unlike many since the 1995 Duncan amendments under the Keating Labor government, these reforms would be meaningful and convincing."

Ms Bawden's comments come in response to complaints by non-custodial parent groups that they have been frozen out by the Attorney-General's Department from fair and proper representation on the Community Services and Health Industry Services Committee Steering Committee, which was determining the professional make up of the relationship centres.

"There is almost no father-friendly representation on this Committee and certainly NO evidence to show it is even sympathetic to genuine shared parenting or joint residency outcomes or ideals. The Committee is saturated with representatives of organisations which are on the record as being opposed to shared parenting."

In February 2006 the legislation was being watered down still further. Attorney-General Philip Ruddock announced that parents seeking equal custody of their children through the courts will have to prove they have had a "meaningful relationship" with and fulfilled their obligations towards their children under further changes to the Family Law Act.

Earlier changes to the act had been criticised by the Opposition and mothers' groups as being too favourable to non-resident parents. But the Attorney-General, Philip Ruddock, tried to redress the perceived imbalance in an attempt to stop parents from making custody claims as a way of seeking revenge on former partners.

When the changes become law, the Family Court would be obliged to consider whether children spending equal time with both parents is practical and in their best interests. Parents, read fathers, would also have to prove they have had a meaningful relationship with their child, including whether they have made an effort to communicate with and see the child. This would include how much financial support has been given and whether parents have tried to obstruct each other from seeing or communicating with their child.

Also in February of 2006 author Michael Green, writing in the journal Online Opinion under the heading "The Myths About Shared Parenting", said on the face of it sensible proposals promoting cooperative parenting after separation and establishing relationship centres might be expected to meet with universal acceptance.

"Not so. There has been a chorus of dissent from significant interest groups and individuals.

Why all the big noise, Green asked. "After all, the government was not merely responding to noisy fathers' groups, as some have claimed. A Federal Joint Select Committee, the Family Law Council, the Australian Law Reform Commission and others, over the past ten years, have pointed to serious deficiencies in the Family Law Act and its processes.

"Both mothers and fathers - individually and in consort with parenting groups - have responded vigorously to invitations for submissions to a number of inquiries."

Green noted that in 2003 the government commissioned an inter-party committee which found unanimous support for far-reaching reform of the system.

"The government responded, a draft Bill was produced, and this was subjected to further public scrutiny by way of another inter-party committee. Out of this process the current Family Law Amendment Bill is now before the parliament.

"Given all of the above, one would expect that the reforms would attract overwhelming support. That this is not the case bears close examination."

Green said there was a chorus of complaint from fathers and fathers' groups. However, they were by no means the only voices of dissent. For instance, the Australian Institute of Family Studies presented a report which revealed that 42% of the fathers surveyed wanted more contact with their children, and 50% had no contact at all. Two Australian reports in 1992 showed similarly disturbing results. In one, only 48% had overnight contact with their children. In the other, the Family Law Council found that half of the children surveyed saw their fathers less than six times per year or not at all.

Research both in Australia and overseas demonstrated loss and maladjustment in children who lost contact with their absent parents.

Green argued that groups arguing equal or shared parenting was not in the best interests of children were ignoring the most relevant research, while those who argued children had enough to cope with without dealing with the change of seeing their other parent were hiding their heads in the sand.

"Separation and divorce are all about change and it is impossible to shield children from it. What is important is to engineer the necessary changes in parenting that look after them emotionally, intellectually and financially. The stability that children hunger for is not geographical stability, but the stability of meaningful relationships with the people most dear to them, their mothers and fathers, grandparents, relatives and friends, schools and communities. Shared parenting can deliver this."

Green also dismissed the objection that compulsory mediation may force separated parents, especially women, to negotiate with abusive former partners, and to agree to parenting arrangements that are not safe for them or their children.

"This is not true and has never been true. Such mischievous nonsense shields deeper currents."

He said opposition to reform from lawyers could only be motivated by professional and financial insecurity.

"The brayings of feminist groups are rooted in a similar anxiety for self-preservation and in the feminist myth. Their support for the present system reveals a concern about power and money: if mothers share the parenting of children, it follows inevitably that they will have to share control of the family and of the resources that come with it, i.e. the home and financial support."

Green said the new system of family law and practice, so soundly based on reliable research and the aspirations of right-thinking men and women, would, If funded and supported by community education, bring enormous benefits to mothers, fathers and children.

Green concluded: "Radical feminism has done a disservice to women. It has sought to portray them as poor, suffering creatures that need protection from men and from

paternalistic institutions. They are unable to speak confidently for themselves, to make their own choices, and are easily led into negotiations where their will and interests are overborne. Such thinking is a grave insult to the majority of women."

In the same year Green's book, written in conjunction with psychologist Jill Burrett, Shared Parenting was published. The authors wrote that sole custody regimes had "seriously disadvantaged children, and that fathers should be more engaged with their children than they have been. This requires real time, just like most mothers have always known - and given. For a very long time, gender stereotypes, 'the system' and other complex prejudices have discouraged some fathers and caused others to participate little in parenting, especially after separating.

"We don't think fortnightly weekend parenting is meaningful shared parenting. We think that shared parenting means having real chunks of time engaged with your children for a flexible 35-50 percent or more of their available time. Sole-mother 'custody', with mother doing all the parenting and father merely paying the bills and popping into the kids' lives from time to time, isn't really good enough for children - and often not for mothers - in either separated or 'intact' family situations."

Warnings in February 2006 by Minister for Human Services Joe Hockey that changes to child support might have to wait until after the next election met with a predictably hostile response.

Mr Hockey said he was concerned that parents could accrue debts and be shocked by changes to their payments if the system was rushed.

"It is impossible to implement Parkinson by July 1 this year, because we have not yet even got legislation. And my advice is that we would be struggling to do it by July 1, 2007," Mr Hockey said. "The CSA needs a reasonable level of surgery and significant additional resources to be able to begin implementation of Parkinson."

The plan would see non-custodial parents on the dole pay \$6 a week if they see their child one night a week, while fathers with low-wage jobs will pay \$20 a week for each child -- up from a flat \$5 weekly.

Other changes would make it easier for men to support a second family after separation. Divorced fathers would be able to quarantine earnings from overtime or second jobs from their maintenance assessment, but only if the extra pay was earned after the separation.

The Child Support Agency was requesting \$300 million to ensure it is capable of implementing Professor Parkinson's reforms.

Only 40 out of 750,000 CSA clients would not have their income changed under the Parkinson model and an estimated 60 per cent of fathers would be financially better off under the changes.

The Government proposed to spend more than \$1 billion compensating divorced parents, mainly single mothers, who could lose up to \$50 a week under changes.

Lone Fathers Association national president Barry Williams warned that the Liberals would face a backlash at the polls if they did not implement the reforms sooner. "I have called Joe Hockey's office and told them that they will lose a lot of seats out there

because men are sick of being treated like this. We were promised reform two years ago and the Parkinson report has been down for nearly 12 months. This is ludicrous".

Mr Hockey warned the Child Support Agency was not ready to implement such radical change, despite promises by former minister for Community Services Kay Patterson that the reforms would be introduced as soon as possible.

Liberal backbencher Alby Schultz told the party room that while men waited for reform, they were committing suicide at increasing rates. "I can only deduce by the comments made by Minister Hockey that we've stood by and allowed a hoax to be perpetrated on people about the implementation of the Parkinson report, and to say it can't be implemented until the next federal election is outrageous," he said.

In another piece of mischief Shadow Attorney-General Nicola Roxon released a package of amendments to "further improve" the Family Law Amendment (Shared Parental Responsibility) Bill.

"We urge the Government to accept these amendments, which are in the best interests of Australian children," she claimed.

Labor proposed several changes that would allegedly make safety a priority, including a "clear exemption from face-to-face mediation in violent relationships and proper screening for violent cases; protection from coercion and intimidation when making parenting plans and removing disincentives to raise concerns about violence".

In addition to amendments concerning family violence, Labor proposed a legislative framework to ensure that Family Relationship Centres met the challenges they would face - including proper accreditation standards, quality control and thorough training in how to recognise and handle family violence. In other words, DOTA commented, to make sure they all thought alike.

"Family law should not be about a tug-of-war between mums or dads, or a brawl between Liberal and Labor," Roxon said. "Family law is for the protection of children and we should always put them first. Children need love, care and security and we should shape our concerns around them. These amendments will be good for Australian children and we urge the Government to support them."

Ruddock fought back, accusing Labor of being "all over the shop" on the issue of family law. "The Government's reforms do protect children from the risk of violence or abuse by making it a primary factor to be considered in child custody cases, along with the right of children to know both their parents," he said. "The Government has a broader vision to protect children from exposure to violence and from growing up with conflict when parents separate. Court should always be the last resort, not the first."

He accused Labor of rejecting the prioritisation of a child's right to know both parents, removing the provision allowing cost orders against persons who made false accusations of family violence and removing the requirement for parents who go to court to first make a genuine effort to resolve their issues in mediation.

But sensitive to the propaganda by Labor and women's groups that their legislation could expose vulnerable women and children to violence and abuse, by the end of the month Ruddock released his so-called Family Law Violence Strategy.

"The Australian Government is taking steps to improve the handling of family violence and child abuse allegations in the family law system," he said. "I am concerned about false allegations of violence or abuse. I am also concerned about false denials. Family violence and child abuse have traumatic and long-lasting consequences. I want a better family law system where these cases are dealt with quickly, fairly and properly.

"Cases should not drag on while family members remain exposed to the risk of violence. Allegations should not hang out there indefinitely without an effective process to establish the facts."

Ruddock announced the Government would fund the Australian Institute of Family Studies to conduct independent research on how allegations of family violence and child abuse were raised and addressed in the family law system. The Government would also ask the Family Law Council - the Government's advisory body - to examine strategies to make sure Commonwealth and State and Territory laws and agencies can work together better in these cases.

He said the government would work with the courts to improve court processes for cases where family violence and child abuse allegations are raised; and ensure the family law reforms and proper screening at the new Family Relationship Centres helped people experiencing violence or abuse to access appropriate support and services.

Former CJ Alastair Nicholson was apparently suffering relevance deprivation syndrome. But columnist Bettina Arndt was quick to jump.

In Melbourne's Herald Sun she wrote that Nicholson never knew when to keep his mouth shut.

"His term as Chief Justice of the Family Court was a public relations disaster as a result of his inflammatory comments, his dismissal of critics of the court as "sinister", "dysfunctional" and "irrational", and his ill-informed contributions to public debate," she said. "Whatever the issue - Aborigines, refugees, homosexual rights, economical rationalism - there was Alastair.

"His latest attempt to make headlines really takes the cake. Mr Nicholson took the opportunity of a speech at a conference on homelessness to announce the Federal Government's changes to the child support scheme would mean that "children will be thrown on to the streets".

"The notion that the new child support scheme will plunge more children into homelessness is absurd but, sure enough, Alastair made the news."

She said there was broad bipartisan support for the just-announced radical overhaul of the scheme. "Politicians are all too aware that the current scheme was widely perceived as unfair: much of their time in their electorates is taken up by complaints about the system.

"The expert taskforce sought to come up with a new formula that was fair to both parents, enabled both to afford to care for their children and reduced conflict between them over contact."

By late March 2006, with the shared parental responsibility legislation having passed through yet another committee, this time the Senate Legal and Constitutional

Committee, and the Bill about to become law, there was a spate of last minute jockeying by father's groups in attempt to rescue the legislation.

On 24 March 2006 Steve Fielding of the Family First Party said he would table an urgently needed amendment to include a 'presumption of equal parenting time', as a starting point for child custody arrangements.

"In almost 98 per cent of cases, a child will effectively lose one of their parents after a Family Court decision, creating a stolen generation of children," Senator Fielding said. "Only 2.5 per cent of Family Court orders allow children to have equal time with both parents, after a relationship breakdown," Senator Fielding said. "Shared parenting is the best outcome, because children can continue to have a real father and mother. For this to work, the parent has to want to exercise their responsibility and be with their child.

"It is not our purpose to force parents to exercise shared parenting. But Family First would hope that all parents would want to."

Fathers4Equality put out a supportive release. "Only a matter of two and a half years ago, Prime Minister John Howard was considered by many as the patron saint in waiting for long suffering non-custodial fathers and children of separated families, having promised Australia 'genuine' change to the universally condemned "one size fits all" Family Law system," spokesman Ash Patil said.

He said the Liberal coalition had won the last election partly because of blue collar traditional Labor voters believing Howard would do something about reforming family law and child support.

"But all the promise and all the hopes have since disappeared with the realisation that the proposed Family Law Amendment Bill, to be debated in the Senate this week, a Bill that had been sold to fathers as the law that would finally make Shared Residence the 'norm' in Australia, was simply re-packaged legislation that has an international track record of failing fathers, failing children, and failing separated families.

"The Prime Minister will no longer be able to take father's votes for granted. Whether it succeeds or fails, the Family First amendment to the Family Law Bill will have a resounding impact, and not simply on the families going through separation, but in the minds of every parent and grand-parent come election time."

As debate progressed in the Senate, the last obstacle before it became law, the Lone Fathers Association of Australia put out a release saying the bill should be renamed the Equal Parenting Bill.

"The starting point for this Bill should be a recognition that it is a natural and paramount right of children affected by marriage and relationship breakdowns to be able to spend equal parenting time with both parents," National President Barry Williams said. "It is of the utmost importance that the words should be entrenched in law, and read as meaning that in separated and divorced families the children have a paramount right to equal parenting time with both parents, and that both parents have a paramount right to equal parenting time with their children.

"For too long now, we have witnessed children being prevented from exercising these natural rights - which is an infringement on their rights as spelt out in the UN charter of the rights of the child. Every day in our courts and on the say-so of one parent these rights are denied to the children. This immediately places the courts and the parent in conflict with the rights of the child."

Tony Miller from Dads In Distress also put out a release which read in part: "Until this Government wakes up to the reality that men in this country, certainly dads, are being led to the slaughter in the Family Courts of this land and that dads and their children simply want a fair go, we are going nowhere.

"I spent a week in Canberra recently with some of the movers and shakers of the fatherhood movement lobbying politicians to consider our plight. I came away mystified whether any of these politicians were actually dads. Because to be honest, I couldn't understand that if they were, how could they think any other way.

"We are not asking for anything special, we are not asking to be considered in any other way, but as fathers. And as fathers we should be able to hold our head up, we should be allowed to continue a relationship with our children regardless of divorce or separation.

"For most of us we realise it's too bloody late. Especially as it seems the new legislation may not be retrospective, which in effect will block anyone with existing orders reapplying. I guess they are worried of the stampede back to courts to gain some fairness.

"At the end of the day, I'm a dad, who simply wants to spend as much time with his kids as is humanly possible. I simply want and so do my children, a fairer playing field. I want to be a part of their life. And they want to be a part of mine. Just because I am divorced from their mother doesn't mean I'm divorced from them."

Senator Fielding had been rushed to hospital at the time of the vote. Unfortunately, as far as DOTA was concerned, his common sense amendments were voted down by both major political parties. They were all Implicated in the fiasco.

Minor party of the left The Democrats, who had been beating the domestic violence card for all it was worth, also had their amendments voted down, including to omit the provision that implemented costs orders for false allegations of violence – "as this provision is likely to further deter legitimate reporting of domestic violence".

"Our attempts to ameliorate the new definition of family violence in the bill, which now requires an 'objective' assessment of whether or not the victim's fear is reasonable, were also rejected," Democrats' Attorney-Generals Spokeswoman Senator Natasha Stott Despoja said. "The new definition flies in the face of a known fact about domestic violence, that often only the victim knows the signs that are likely to lead to violence.

"Laws change lives, and the Family Law Amendment (Shared Parental Responsibility) Bill 2006 is likely to have disastrous consequences for the safety of vulnerable family members, especially women and children, where there is a history of family violence."

With so much focus on the alleged violence of men DOTA repeated the findings of the 2005 Personal Safety Australia survey conducted by the Australian Bureau of Statistics. It found that in the previous 12 months almost twice as many men as women (808,300) were victims of all types of violence; twice as many men as women (485,400) were

victims of physical assault; nearly a third of sexual assault victims were men; 864,300 men were harassed and 110,700 men were stalked.

The same study found that men were almost as likely as women to experience physical violence within the home (half from females, half from males) and were just as likely as women to experience physical violence from perpetrators who were known to them.

Finally, in the early hours of 31 March 2006, the Family Law Amendment (Shared Parental Responsibility Bill 2005) was passed into law during an extended late night session of the Senate.

That same day the Attorney-General announced that "the most significant changes to the Family Law Act in more than 30 years" had passed through the Senate. Because of Senate amendments, the legislation had to return to the House of Representatives when Parliament resumed in May, with the majority of the reforms to take effect from July 1 2006.

"The law will take the view that parenting is a responsibility which should be shared and, in most cases, parents will need to consult and agree on major issues affecting their children," said Mr Ruddock.

"Where both parents share responsibility, consideration will also be given to the children spending equal or at least substantial time with both parents - providing that this is practical and not contrary to the best interests of the child."

Ruddock said that as a result of an amendment by the Government in the Senate, once the new laws commence they will apply to people who are already in the court system seeking parenting orders and to all new applications for parenting orders.

"This Bill along with the massive expansion of support services and the planned roll-out of new Family Relationship Centres later this year demonstrates the Government's commitment to changing the culture around family separation," Mr Ruddock said.

After the passing of the Bill a congratulatory media release from The Shared Parenting Council described the enactment as a major milestone for children and families. "The ground has shifted significantly in favour of children's right to know and experience a meaningful relationship with both parents after separation or divorce," Mr Ed Dabrowski, Federal Director of the Shared Parenting Council of Australia, said.

"The Parliament has exercised its will decisively today with the passing of this Bill. It is a considerable body of legislation and the second time in a decade that the Parliament had instructed the Family Court to change direction and commence expediting shared parenting outcomes for parents. The Family Court dare not flaunt these decisive measures to make shared parenting the normal outcome in disputed cases. The Family Court is now fully responsible for implementing the will of Parliament and the community expectation is that they will do so without fail."

Shared Parenting Council Executive Secretary, Mr Wayne Butler, agreed that the Bill was the most significant re-write of the Family Law Act in living memory. "This is a fabulous result for families. The court now must consider maximising the sharing of time so that children retained family life and their precious primary bonds with both mum and dad.

"For 30 years the Family Court has created a generation of divorce orphans growing up without knowing one parent," said Mr Ed Dabrowski. "The culture of Family law had created a generation of fatherless children and childless fathers. This blight on our nation stops right now, with the enactment of theses laws.

"Democrat, Labor and Greens amendments to the Bill which would have significantly weakened the rights of children to be nurtured, loved and protected by both parents, thankfully faltered. Common sense and concern for families has won the day, but it was disappointing, that despite being fully educated in the benefits to children of shared parenting, that ideologies and party politics were put above the best interests of children by these opposition parties."

Mr Barry Williams, President of the Lone Fathers Association of Australia said it was disappointing to see the display of gender politics in Senate time by the opposition parties and to witness the rhetoric aimed against the parental involvement of fathers.

"We support the new laws and will work with the Shared Parenting Council of Australia to further educate the community and the divorce industry insiders about the life-giving benefits of shared parenting," he said. "We firmly believe that these new laws, properly carried out by the Family Court, have the potential to save many lives and reduce the suffering and misery of children and many forgotten fathers. This is a day for fathers and the whole community to celebrate and look forward to better outcomes for families."

The Shared Parenting Council of Australia said the new law required monitoring of the Family Courts' performance in making shared parenting orders and community groups around Australia expected the Court to reach a high benchmark in this regard. "The first year is vital to the Court's survival", said Mr Dabrowski. "It must comply with the law and will of Parliament if it is to retain the responsibilities entrusted to it by the community and legislators. The Family Court is on probation and we intend to hold the Court fully responsible and accountable for its performance.

"Although parenting groups were disappointed that the Family First Party amendment for a presumption of equal time parenting had been lost, never the less, this highly supported reform would be the next logical outcome if the Family Court failed to deliver shared parenting outcomes according to the spirit of the new laws and the clear intentions of the Australian Parliament."

Other groups were not so positive.

Warwick Marsh, founder of the Fatherhood Foundation observed that at midnight on 30th March 2006 "the fatally flawed family law reform was passed by the Senate".

"Whilst the reform bill is a step in the right direction, and contains some good ideas, the fundamental problem has not been fixed," Marsh said. "The problem is the gender bias against the male of the species that is embedded in the culture of the Family Law Court and its many agencies. This gender bias is expressed in the many submissions that have been put in by these government agencies and counseling services against the 'rebuttable presumption of equal parenting time' as a starting point in family law reform.

"The current one-size fits all policy of sole custody will continue to predominate and children will continue to be robbed of one of their parents in over 95% of cases. Ninety percent of the time, this will be the father. Children need a mother and a father for their proper development. Mothers and fathers contribute uniquely and importantly to a

child's development. What part of the word equality does the Family Law Court establishment and the government not understand?

"Children need equal access to both their mother and father. The children of Australia need justice, not more broken promises. How much longer must our children wait?"

Fathers4Equality, in a joint press release with the Non Custodial Parents Party, declared that the feeble Family Law Act 2005 would fail children.

"This flawed legislation fails to protect children from being the pawns in family breakups," the release declared. "This is a victory for the lawyers and others who profit from family break-up. This new Act does nothing but move the deckchairs on the sinking Titanic. It still leaves far too wide discretion for the lawyers and judges and does little to replace the 'winner-takes-all' culture of the Family Court.

"Years of work has gone into this legislation and parenting groups are outraged that nothing has been fixed! Both parents are equally important for a child's development. Children who miss out on either of their parents suffer. This legislation fails since it does not require the Court to maximise the time children can spend with both their natural parents in the absence of abuse.

"We are considering demanding a referendum on the issue. In Massachusetts the US referenda have won a resounding 85% of votes in favour of a strongly worded presumption of equal time after divorce. In Australia, various polls hosted by major media outlets have weighed-in with around a 90% of Australians supporting it."

"Sharing is good" James Adams, a spokesman for Fathers4Equality, said. "Single-parent households suffer from all kinds of social, emotional and economic hardship. Too often they can't hold everything together. Tragically, that's when children suffer. The present law forces mothers to be single mums, and forces loving dads out of their children's lives and onto the scrap-heap.

"The Family Court's bias forces children to live in single parent households. This is based on discredited theories from the 1970's as the basis for deciding what is best for children. This results in a one-size fits all solution, where the kids lose a parent. This failed approach needs to be overturned.

"The research is overwhelming. Study after study shows that children in shared care, who have both their natural parents do better at school, have fewer behavioural problems, are less likely to take drugs or get pregnant as teenagers. Children need both natural parents!

"The livelihoods of many lawyers, CSA workers and others depend on all the pain and conflict caused by taking kids away from their fathers. The new act leaves the profiteers making decisions about our children. It's like putting Dracula in charge of the Blood Bank. They didn't want anything changed. And sadly, nothing has changed!"

Senator Steve Fielding told the ABC the changes had not gone far enough to ensure children spend equal time with separated parents.

Senator Fielding said in 98 per cent of cases a child effectively loses one of their parents after a Family Court decision.

The senator's amendment to give parents split time with their children was voted down and he said an opportunity had now been lost.

"We had a real opportunity here of addressing a real concern and looking at children losing, effectively, one of their parents," he said.

"I really believe we haven't gone far enough and I think you'll find in two or three years time, once there's a review done, you'll see that not a lot has changed."

On 3 April 2006 historian John Hirst wrote in The Australian that divorcing dads still faced an uphill struggle.

"In June 2003 Prime Minister John Howard declared family law was not working well because too many children were --growing up without contact with their fathers. The various men's groups around the country hoped that finally they had an influential friend.

"Last week, after three years of deliberations, the Government's amendments to family law quietly passed through the Senate. For some changes there was bipartisan support; to carry others the Government's new majority in the upper house had to be called on. The men's groups are disappointed, claiming the changes do not go far enough.

"Whenever men's groups demand fathers should have more time with their children after divorce, women's groups complain children will be exposed to more violence."

Hirst wrote that the Government attempted to solve this dilemma in gender politics by declaring that there shall be two prime considerations in divorce settlements: children should have meaningful contact with both parents and children must be protected from physical and psychological harm. Where these principles conflict, the court would decide.

"Meaningful contact is not to mean seeing the children every second weekend, which is the standard allowance to fathers at present. It may mean equal time where that is feasible but at least it must include a mix of weekends and weekdays so the parent can be involved in the child's regular routine and parent and child can be together for significant events in both their lives.

"This seems like a great advance, but men's groups are worried because these stipulations are recommendations only: in every case the settlement has to be determined according to the best interests of the child. And who decides that?"

Hirst said men's groups were right to be suspicious about the Family Court. The last great change to the law in 1995 was designed to promote the involvement of both parents in the lives of their children. But Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson, who always resented the interference of parliament, declared that nothing had changed. The court would consider anything that parliament proffered but it would decide matters according to its own view.

"Despite all the changes to the law, if the Court's view remains that in a standard case a child is better off seeing dad only every second weekend it can still so rule. And once that is plain, mothers who want to marginalise a child's father will refuse to be co-

operative during their obligatory stint at the relationship centres knowing their intransigence will be upheld when their case has to be resolved by the court."

For an extended period of time after the passing of as far as DOTA was concerned sadly watered down shared parenting laws, there was a quizzical silence. No one was quite sure what impact the laws were having. Statistics were sparse or nonexistent. Anecdotal evidence was contradictory. The editorial line of Dads On The Air had always been that the laws as they passed were not strong enough, could be too easily wound back, allowed far too much discretion to the Family Court and failed to encourage and educate the public to embrace the benefits of shared parenting.

While subsequent events were enough to make people grateful for small mercies, there did appear to be an increase in shared parenting orders and a slow cultural shift. But at the time Dads On The Air expressed bitter disappointment at the failure of the government to fully embrace cooperative parenting after divorce and to expose and reform the many destructive dysfunctions in the family law and child support systems.

In March 2006, with the legislation finally becoming law, we editorialised in a show titled Two Steps Forward One Step Back that this was the general response to the Howard government's claims the new laws represented the most significant reforms in 30 years.

"The mooted reaction from mainstream and alternative media and the sceptical response from a number of family law reform advocates demonstrates how far the debate has travelled and how underwhelming or confused is the outcome," DOTA declared.

"The underwhelmed response showed the Howard government had simply equivocated or sat on the fence for too long."

While the war might have been lost, DOTA continued to maintain the rage. In April 2006 we ran a show titled Why Shared Parenting Should Be Implemented.

That was followed by a show featuring Tanya Bollin, the spokeswoman for America's National Association of Non-Custodial Mothers.

We wrote: "Anyone who thinks that fathers and their children are the only ones that suffer under the present sole-custody model adopted by family courts as supposedly being in the best interests of children should listen to this fascinating and moving interview. There are now an estimated three million non-custodial mothers in America and they are becoming an increasingly strong voice in the widespread demands for change."

In an angry enough show in May 2006 titled "The Death of 50/50, The Death Of Reason?" we declared: "The Howard government, idiotically rejected the hugely popular idea of rebuttable joint custody or shared parenting as the starting point for separating couples; instead whitewashing the troubled family law industry and the hated Child Support Agency with the incompetent bureaucrat written reports Every Picture Tells A Story and The Best interests of Children respectively."

We interviewed Senator Fielding who we declared was one of the only politicians in the country to behave with any true integrity in the long running debate over family law and child support reform.

The Family First Party was Christian based and promoted family values. Unlike those in the main Catholic, Anglican and Uniting faiths Fielding had been consistently critical over a long period of the behaviour of the Family Court; and a staunch supporter of shared parenting as the only sensible outcome after divorce.

On 10 May 2006 Attorney-General Phillip Ruddock announced that "the most significant family law changes in 30 years" had passed through parliament.

This followed the announcement in the previous night's Federal Budget of an additional investment of \$45.8 million in family support services, building on the \$397 million over four years pledged last year.

Ruddock reiterated that the new system was designed to keep families out of the courts and deliver practical, co-operative outcomes for separating families.

"The Government has delivered on its promise to Australian families," he said. "These significant legislative changes, combined with the biggest ever investment in the family law system, will encourage a co-operative approach to the difficult issues surrounding family breakdown.

"The new laws reflect the Government's belief that two factors are of primary importance in addressing the interests of children in family breakdowns - the right of the child to have a meaningful relationship with both parents, and the protection of the child from harm."

Passage of the reforms was confirmed when the House of Representatives accepted the Government's amendments to the Family Law Amendment (Shared Parental Responsibility) Bill in the Senate.

Then in June the government launched \$25 million public information campaign aimed at helping explain to Australian families a raft of new services and changes to the family law which would take effect from 1 July 2006.

The information campaign initially featured national print and localised advertising as the first 15 new Family Relationship Centres begin offering families a range of services, as well as promoting the new telephone Advice Line and website.

The government reiterated that the reforms promoted the right of children to know both their parents and to be protected from harm. They also recognised parenting as a responsibility that should be shared equally.

Also in June, Ruddock appeared on Dads On The Air, again spruiking "the most significant changes..."

Dads On The Air remained sceptical. There had been too many committees, too much prevarication, too much uncertainty. We had seen too much.

Unconvinced that the legislation would make any real difference on the ground, we declared the war over and the fight lost. On air we said: "The liars, the lawyers, the bureaucrats and the social engineers have won the day".

There must have been something in the water in mid-2006. It was around this time, after so closely following and being enervated by the family law reform campaign, that

Dads On The Air lost focus and went through a difficult period with changes in personnel and various personality conflicts which would take some time to heal.

Ultimately we were to attract a talented new band and the show re-invented itself. It was around this time the invaluable, mild mannered tech head and all round super brain Greg Andresen, researcher and spokesman for Men's Health Australia, joined the program. His significant contribution to Dads On The Air can be seen in our new website www.dadsontheair.net which he designed.

The new site was less brash and confrontational in tone, and more stylish: www.dadsontheair.com

Another advantage of the new site and the new team which evolved around this time was that shows which had once taken weeks or months to go up online were now usually up on the site within 24 hours of broadcast, greatly increasing our relevance.

The new site also abandoned the public forums which had been both a blessing and a curse on the dot com site; at once exposing to public view the deep frustrations many fathers felt, but also allowing difficult, drunken or obsessive personalities to create havoc which took a great deal of our limited and unpaid time to clean up.

As well musician Ian Purdie, who styles himself as a "DJ Impersonator", came to the program in March 2006 after he was interviewed about his book "The Daddy Split Guide".

We noted that there was a genre of men's literature developing with everything from the angst and anger of separation to practical guides to the many problems life throws up. "lan Purdie's The Daddy's Split Guide is a bit of both; not always the most politically correct tract you'll ever read; but it has its moments; enormously entertaining, angry and occasionally wise."

lan Purdie was quick to point out that research showed most divorces were initiated by women. "The blokes are just getting up and going to work, putting one foot in front of the other, fulfilling their time honoured role as protector and provider," he said.

"They are completely taken aback when they are hit not just by the fact that their wife wants to leave them, but that an entire government funded industry backs her decision and treats him with contempt.

"Most men have no idea what to do when they are first hit by aggressive legal letters outlining the fact that they are unlikely to see their children again, or at best will be reduced to having limited fortnightly contact. Most of them basically act like wounded animals, crawling into their 'caves', embarrassed and ashamed. Most have let their wives or partners organise their social lives, and they just don't know where to turn. The silence of men is one reason why they have been almost invisible in the public debate. That just wasn't me. I've spent much of my working life in rock bands and I'm just not the silent type."

As well we picked up Phil York, a counsellor for western Sydney with Dads In Distress. A quietly spoken and thoughtful man, his contribution in keeping the show going has been invaluable.

Also around the same time Peter van de Voorde, affectionately known as "Rockin' Pop", joined the program after we dedicated a show to his CD "Our Stolen Children", a passionately felt musical cry against the family law industry. From being a grandfather who had never uploaded anything in his life, he became one of the show's most dedicated work horses. Dads On The Air may well not have survived without him.

The website for Peter's company Justis Records notes Our Stolen Children aims to highlight the plight of the 600,000 Australian children who have no significant relationship with one of their parents and the millions of children worldwide who are being denied the fundamental human right, as outlined in the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, to continue a meaningful relationship with both parents following separation. It deliberately draws a comparison between the indigenous Stolen Generation of Australian Aboriginals forcibly removed from their parents by government authorities. This policy, now almost universally condemned as one of the darkest stains on the nation's history, racist and inhumane, was also carried out supposedly "in the best interests of the child". Now, he contends, we have a "new stolen generation."

In his submission for the shared parenting legislation Peter van de Voorde wrote that the record was meant to draw attention to the "feelings of helplessness, despair, grief, frustration, hopelessness, bewilderment and anger experienced by the victims, and that these should be allowed to happen in 2006. It is designed to be a gift to the Stolen Children, from all those family members, and friends, who also love and care for them. Hopefully it will offer some insight of how one parent and half of their extended family disappeared from their lives, and help them to reconnect with those loved ones. It will also help those lost families understand why they no longer have contact with their children."

Along with original music and CD Managony developed for the program by Ian Purdie and his band Horizon Shine, Rockin' Pop's album got plenty of play on Dads On The Air.

Here's the lyrics for Orders Are Not Choices: An order is an order, it's not a choice We appealed to the Court to give our child a voice But in the family Court, it's par for the course To hand down it's orders, which it then won't enforce. If you have a problem, with substance abuse A mental disorder or just simply refuse Then the orders of the court will help you retain The care of a child who will with you remain The Family Court simply throws up its hands Refusing to act, such is their stance Hand wringing comments will come from the bench But the smell of injustice builds to a stench because An order is an order, it's not a choice We appealed to the Court to give our child a voice But in the family Court, it's par for the course To hand down it's orders, which it then won't enforce.

With the family law changes about to come into effect in July 2006, there remained some media interest. In Western Australia the ABC profiled Ed Dabrowski, who had been a frequent guest on DOTA and for several years a major figure fighting for family

law reform. The ABC recorded that Dabrowski came home from work one day to find that his wife and children had gone to Perth. Divorce followed the separation. Now he has shared custody of his children and has started a suicide prevention group for men, Dads in Distress, in Bunbury.

The journey was difficult. "It's a terrible thing to be without children," said Ed. "My children were gone."

His children were also missing their father, he discovered.

Dabrowski said the biggest hurdle to overcome to maintain his relationship with the children was the Family Court and its adversarial processes. "The chances are that fathers will get only weekend contact - basically becoming a stranger in their children's lives."

Dabrowski was optimistic the new Bill coming into effect the following month would make a big difference. The courts will consider "equal time parenting" as a first option, he said. If that's not practicable, they'll look at substantial time. "It will come to be known as a substantial time order," Ed believes. The usual once a fortnight visits will still happen on the weekend in addition to evenings during the week. It's about looking innovatively at what times dad can get to the kids.

Dabrowski said children and families, not just dads, have had a win with the new legislation. "The system was so lopsided. We didn't have a culture of shared parenting in Australia. Even the language to talk about the concept didn't really exist till recently. The best outcome for children is have to two loving and involved parents."

Ed started Dads in Distress locally because he said five men kill themselves everyday in Australia. And the statistics show that 80 per cent of those men are going through the trauma of a relationship breakdown.

"The big part of that is not getting access to their children. There's a lot of hopelessness that creeps into men's daily lives because they don't have the warmth of children around them. Certainly, I felt like the world was on top of me."

Dads in Distress welcomed the incoming legislative changes to family law. Their public statement declared: "We look forward to a fairer and more equitable solution to the current Family Law Crisis. Our greatest concern is whether these changes are going to be taken seriously by our Family Law Practitioners who ultimately are the one's who play this out in the courtrooms.

To date the feedback from Family Law practitioners in which we have spoken to is; 'same old, same old', just different speak. We have voiced these concerns to the Attorney-Generals Department. There needs to be education programs re the legislation to these practitioners put in place.

"The other major concern is that the reality hasn't hit home yet with the majority of dads that the new legislation is not retrospective. Most dads who have been given lousy orders in the past believe that once the new legislation comes in they will be able to take their cases back to court and apply for either 50/50 or a better deal than they now have. This will not be the case and it will come as a big shock to the majority of dads out there. To apply there apparently needs to be a 'change of circumstance'. Just what that change of circumstance is unclear."

Once again the punitive nightmare that was child support was in the news. Human Services Minister Joe Hockey announced that 120 officers would be employed specifically to watch suspect parents and gather video data on their lifestyles.

"If people are claiming to have no money or are not paying what they are required to pay, yet are living lavish lifestyles, then certain questions need to be answered and we'll make sure those questions are answered," Mr Hockey said.

The Government will use the evidence to prosecute the parents. "It can be used to take the individual to court and to lift the veil from which they seek to hide," Mr Hockey said.

He said there were between 40,000 and 70,000 fathers reporting no income but not claiming any welfare payments and that the spies were needed to ensure "deadbeat dads" did not "rip off their own children, their own flesh and blood".

In parliament Alby Schultz MP asked: "Are we going to fit these people out with grey uniforms and jackboots, which would be appropriate for the actions that the minister says they are going to take out in the public arena? I have grave reservations and concerns about this initiative by the minister.

"I would have thought that there were other areas of the Child Support Agency that needed to be cleaned up with a great deal of vigour than putting 120 people out into the community specifically to watch 'suspect parents' and to gather video data on their lifestyles. That is not what this government is all about and what this government purports to be all about. It is an undemocratic process. Quite frankly, I think the minister has bowed to the pressure of people within the CSA."

The new laws came into affect on 1 July 2006.

Solicitors were reportedly being inundated with calls from fathers who thought they would be granted joint custody. Many were devastated to discover the law did not guarantee equal access and that earlier court orders are not covered by the act.

"I've spoken to many family practitioners around the country and the word I get from them is it's a joke," said Tony Miller, founder of Dads in Distress. "Most guys that ring us don't understand that it's not retrospective. They're saying, 'I've had bum orders for years - as soon as this law comes through I can rush back to court and get 50-50 custody'. That's not going to happen and they're in for a big shock."

Family lawyer Stephen Winspear had already taken dozens of calls from fathers who thought the changes will lead to joint custody. "There's quite a strong perception that it's going to be 50-50; it's very misleading," he said. "All the publicity is about sharing but in fact the actual presumption is equal shared parental responsibility and the emphasis is on responsibility, which doesn't say anything about time."

The Herald Sun paid tribute to one of the law's unsung heroes: "In the past few weeks a revolution has taken place in the family-law system, designed to improve the lives of divorced children by letting dads remain part of their lives. Sadly, the man responsible for this family-law revolution didn't live to see it.

"John Perrin didn't look like a powerful man. At first glance, John Howard's social issues adviser seemed plucked straight from the set of Yes, Prime Minister.

"With grey suit, thinning hair, glasses and a trim moustache, this formal, mild-mannered man was the very model of the silent bureaucrat.

"But Perrin, who died in late May at 53 from cancer, was a mighty influential political operator, who changed the social map of Australia."

The Herald Sun said Perrin had long been determined to fix the family law system, a system which he knew to be a festering sore of discontent in the community. Inquiry after inquiry had shown that there was bias against fathers in both the Family Court and the Child Support system.

"For years, Perrin talked and listened -- prodding the experts for new ideas. A plan for a revamp of the system gradually emerged. This month would have been a great one for Perrin."

Despite DOTA's doubts about their operation, the Family Relationship Centres were set for a surprisingly positive start.

Adele Horin at The Sydney Morning Herald reported that families had flocked to the new centres.

She began: "The father was bereft because his wife and children had left him. When he turned up at the Family Relationship Centre in Penrith it took staff only a short time to realise he was suicidal. He had considered throwing himself onto railway tracks. The staff called an ambulance that sped him to the mental health unit of a nearby hospital.

"Business has been surprisingly brisk in the four weeks since the Federal Government's 15 Family Relationship Centres opened, the managers report.

"From distressed and suicidal fathers to grandparents estranged from their grandchildren, the casualties of unhappy family life have flocked through the doors seeking help - hundreds of them."

Manager of the Penrith centre Stephen Hackett said: "We always knew we would become busy; I just wasn't expecting to be busy on the first day - but we were."

The story was similar at the Caringbah centre. "We were swamped, absolutely swamped," Karen Morris, the director of services, said.

Other coverage of the Relationships Centres was largely positive. In mid August Ann Hollands of Relationships Australia told the ABC: "I think that that initiative is going to capture a lot of people who otherwise are unknowingly might have ended up on that sort of adversarial pathway and then found that things got out of hand. Not because they wanted it to, but because they didn't know that there was another and a better way. Quite a number of people who otherwise we don't know where they would have gone for help, such as grandparents coming in who have lost contact with their grandchildren because there's been a separation or a divorce in the family or recently separated fathers who are depressed or even suicidal are coming in for help and for information about how they might be able to have more access to their children."

The first clear sign that the Family Court was once again not going to accept direction from Parliament came in October 2006 at a family law conference in Perth.

In an editorial piece titled Consequence Dads On The Air noted: "The changes were not accepted with good heart by the court; and this reluctance to accept reform was no more clearly evidenced than at their great tribal gathering, the National Family Law Conference.

"The retiring Justice Richard Chisholm, who had done much to set the tone of the court, showed how little regret for past practice was in play when he declared of the reforms: 'The ultimate goal has to remain the same: to do what's best for kids. So, we might see a lot of change in the way a case is presented, but the outcome should be the same as under old system."

On the final day of the conference, the Hon Richard Chisholm started the morning session with a song about the Family Law Act amendments. He sang with gusto to the tune of "On Top of Old Smokey" (better known as the "I Lost My Poor Meatball" song):

"It seems rather blokey the men won the fights
But now they all tell us
it's about childrens' rights ...
We struggle to read it,
We mutter and moan,
By the time that we've read it,
The kids have left home ...
I studied one section, got it into my head,
But it only told me what another section said..."

The ditty caused considerable offence; and indeed it is impossible to imagine a Family Court judge singing a song that ridiculed mothers without causing a media storm. As it happened, the ditty was applauded by conference attendees.

Chisholm went on to tell the conference it was the job of the court and practitioners to apply the law and not be guessing what government wanted: "We know quite a bit of what the government intended, but then we have the legislation".

No truer words, of course, as critics had pointed out.

Male litigants who had appeared before Chisholm were often critical and at one point Dads On The Air contemplated offering a \$100 reward for anyone who could find a father happy with a Chisholm judgment; but in such a litigious environment thought better of it. A professional lifetime in the shrouds of importance and the peculiar psychopathology of the court did not lend to humility. The power play between the various branches of government was never more clearly displayed.

Chisholm cautioned practitioners to be careful about making the intention of government and the law the same thing. "At times of crises there's a lot to be said about orthodoxy; it's our job to administer the law."

Chisholm said the recent epidemic of obesity seemed to have extended to the Family Law Act before discussing what he saw as problematic parts of the provision setting out what constituted the best interests of the child.

"The ultimate goal has to remain the same: to do what's best for kids," Chisholm said. "So, we might see a lot of change in the way a case is presented, but the outcome should be the same as under old system."

Professor Patrick Parkinson commented that "we have an alignment between law and social science that we've never had before, confusing as it is". He referred to the research findings - expounded by Dr Joan Kelly during the Family Law Conference - that there had been many commonly held misconceptions about what was in the best interests of children which had now been challenged by research findings.

Departing from Professor Chisholm's opinion, he insisted that the primary considerations were not just a matter of politics, but were enacted in the light of the facts about post-separation effects on children. He urged the legal profession to consider primary considerations, not because Parliament said so, but because social science studies had shown that they were important for the healthy psychological adjustment of children of divorce.

In turn head of the Family Court of Australia Chief Justice Diana Bryant sternly lectured the government on political interference.

"It is useful when considering the implementation of legislation to remind ourselves of the independence of the Court from the Executive and the Parliament," she declared. "In doing so I do not suggest for a moment that the Court is not required to implement the law in a real and substantive way and in a manner in which the Parliament intended it to operate. That I hope is gainsaid. But it is useful to consider what that independence means, because the Court has a separate and distinct role from that of the Parliament and the Government."

Bryant in its 30 years of service since commencing operations on 5 January 1976 there had been sixty-nine Acts of the Commonwealth Parliament of Australia which amended the Family Law Act 1975.

"Amongst the most recent, and possibly most significant to the principles which guide the resolution of parenting disputes and the means by which disputes are resolved, has been the Family Law Amendment (Shared Parental Responsibility) Act 2006."

CJ Bryant said in 2004 the government had also published its framework statement for the reform of the Family Law System. In that statement the government identified four primary areas for reform: A greater emphasis on shared parental responsibility;the establishment of a network of Family Relationship Centres; the creation of a combined 'Family Law Registry' for the Family Court of Australia and the Federal Magistrates Court; and a less adversarial approach to children's cases.

Bryant said it was too early for any discernable trends in decision making or jurisprudence after the new Shared Parental Responsibility had passed into law.

At the end of October 2006 the Full Court would hear

some appeals arising from interim hearings and the question of whether Cowling in its present form survived the amendments. The Cowling case was essentially the "status quo" argument, regularly used to deny children contact with their fathers after they often ended in the mother's sole care in the weeks or months immediately following separation.

Dads On The Air later editorialised that sadly the appeals showed the weakness of the original legislation.

Bryant went on to say: "The Government's aim is to try to bring about social change, by designing a system which it is hoped will change outcomes over a period of time for a large number of the community, both those who do not seek the assistance of the court and those who do. The Court has an entirely different role.

"Its role is to resolve the disputes that come before it and where they proceed to a hearing, to determine each individual case according to the circumstances of that particular case, in the context of the Family Law Act, and in the best interests of the children in that family. Of course, the Court does not apply the law, much of which is about value judgments, in isolation. It does so in a social context.

"Much of the criticism of the Court in the past has been, in my view, because of a failure to comprehend that the discretionary nature of the considerations of what is in the best interests of an individual child in an individual family, requires making judgments about that child in that family, not all children in all families. But courts are an integral part of the arms of Government.

"The hardest and most unpopular of decisions that have to be made are, and will continue to be made by the courts. Of course, the government should expect that the court will apply the law in accordance with and the spirit of the intention of government.

"But it is important to make these points at this time because the more successful the government's initiatives are in keeping the majority of separating couples out of court, then the more difficult the cases that will end up in litigation in the courts. That is already the case and will be even more so in the future."

Bryant went on to discuss the establishment of the network of Family Relationship Centres. Like DOTA, Her Honour was not fully convinced: "To the extent that it is anticipated the Family Relationship Centres will help more separating families put aside their differences and reach agreement in the children's interests, the Government is to be applauded. Whether it is achievable in greater numbers remains to be seen but I am optimistic that attitudes can be changed with the right education, support and encouragement. Let me, however, add a word of caution.

"Any genuine change of this kind in my view will inevitably take years to be fully realised. In my own experience in practice, it took about ten years after the passing of the Family Law Act for the general community to accept that no fault divorce was appropriate.

"Genuine reform takes time and it would be difficult indeed if these initiatives which promise much were to be seen as failures because they were evaluated in too short a time frame. Commitment is required to let the winds of change blow for sufficiently long to have a lasting impact on the climate."

Bryant also called on the government to define the future of the Family Court and whether its future lay as an appeals court.

"Whatever the government plans for the future of the Family Court is unquestionably its prerogative. But it is time for an indication by the government of what is the longer term plan for the Court and if there is none, to conceive a blueprint. The failure to do so is bad for morale within the court and could affect recruitment of potential judges."

The court's pilot program had not convinced critics who claimed the less adversarial trials gave too much power to judges and relied too heavily on poor quality family reports.

But Bryant was enthusiastic:

"One of the most radical, and exciting departures from previous practice has been the development of the Less Adversarial Approach within the Family Court of Australia. The government put to one side a tribunal model, recommended in "Every Picture Tells a Story" partly on the basis that the Court would continue to embrace a less adversarial means of resolving parenting disputes.

"The nature of Less Adversarial Trial has meant a change in the manner in which hearings are conducted by Judges. All of the Judges of the Court have received training in what are essentially different communication skills and I thank all of them for their embracing of a new way of hearing cases. It is a significant change and will require ongoing support."

Bryant said an exploratory study of impacts on parenting capacity and child well being released earlier in the year showed greater satisfaction with post-court living arrangements, including for the children; significantly less difficulty in managing conflict; significantly less damage to the parenting relationship post-court and to the parent child relationship, and greater contentment and emotional stability in children after court.

In a subsequent evaluation of the reforms the Australian Institute of Family Studies showed this style of trial was not being used in the Federal Magistrate's Court and was only being used in a minority of cases in the Family Court. The model included limits on the size and number of affidavits and roles for family consultants that were based on pre-trial family assessments and involvement throughout the proceedings where necessary.

While family consultants and most judges believed the Family Court's less adversarial model was an improvement, particularly in the area of child focus, lawyers' views were divided, with many expressing hesitancy in endorsing the changes. Concerns include a lack of resources in the Family Court, leading to delays, more protracted and drawn-out processes, and inconsistencies in judicial approaches to case management.

Bryant also committed her court to the collection of statistics on case outcomes. "Oscar Wilde is quoted as stating that 'The only thing worse than being talked about is not being talked about.' Well, to those who have ever found themselves frustrated by media or political comment which trades on a gross generalisation or on the testimony of a dissatisfied litigant, you may well agree that it is far worse again to be spoken of inaccurately.

"The dissemination of statistics will enable the Court to address claims regarding the orders that it makes, including any suggestion of bias towards one parent or the other.

"There are many reasons why it is essential that the Court use its best endeavours to address inaccurate comment and misapprehensions as to the role of the Court and the nature of its objectivity. It is likely to compound the confusion of a litigant if they lack confidence in the Court because they have been exposed to misleading information.

"Criticism can further lead to a general lessening of confidence in the law, the erosion of the `rule of law'.

In November of 2006 the long awaited changes to Australia's child support system passed through parliament. The laws, as recommended by the Child Support Task Force, introduced a new formula for calculating liabilities. For the first time, the incomes of both custodial and non-custodial parents will be given equal weight. The new formula took into account the added costs of caring for teenagers and gave non-resident parents a discount on their payments if they looked after their children at least one night a week.

Dads In Distress and father's groups in general were supportive of the changes. "We've been after a more transparent and equitable arrangement and now we've got that," Tony Miller said. "A reasonable and balanced expectation of support will help fathers meet their commitments to support the raising of their children, something the members of our group have been asking for years.

"Five men a day commit suicide in this country many because of the burden previously placed upon them by an unreasonable and unworkable child support system. These changes will go some way in helping those fathers already devastated by separation from their children to cope with the often heavy burden of supporting them financially and emotionally from outside the family.

"The changes to the Family Law Act introduced earlier this year made it easier legally for fathers to continue the relationship with their children post separation, these changes will make it easier for them to do so financially."

Figures from the Child Support Agency showed that more men were applying to become the primary carer of their children after their relationships ended, and one in five single-parent families were now headed by fathers. In June 1997 only 7.5 per cent of people receiving child support payments were men. But figures released by the Federal Government showed that by the end of 2006, 21 per cent of applications were from men, a jump being attributed to changing social attitudes.

"What we're seeing through our dealings with parents is dads wanting to play a greater role in their children's lives," said the CSA'S David Mole. "The trend is a welcome development. We're more flexible now with working part-time and the types of jobs people take up which might allow them to be the primary carer for children. That's reflected in more of a balance in caring arrangements with both parents playing a greater role."

Researcher Dr Bruce Smythe said: "You're getting an early read on the signs dads are becoming more involved."

The figures also showed that non-custodial parents who paid child support to the custodial parent were spending more time with their children. Nearly 10 per cent now look after their children for at least 30 per cent of the time, while only 4.4 per cent did so in 1999.

The then Minister for Human Services Chris Ellison said the figures were a bright spot amid the difficulties of failing relationships.

"While no one wants relationships to fail, many families in Australia manage to go forward positively with their lives after separation and increasingly children are benefitting from more contact with both parents," he said.

In December of 2006 the Family Court and the country's longest serving judge Kemeri Murray, who had joined the court in 1972, delivered a broadside at the law reforms during her retirement ceremony in Adelaide.

She told the 200-strong crowd she was concerned that staff at the Relationship Centres were not obliged by law to tell separating couples that any parenting agreements they entered into were not legally recognised. She said she was most concerned that clients were not told they did not have to attend the compulsory mediation sessions if they were victims of domestic violence.

"And if some women, particularly the women, don't know about their rights to say 'look I'm not coming to a conciliation centre, I'm not going to agree to a particular plan which gives equal time with each parent because I'm frightened of domestic violence'," she said. "If the woman doesn't know that, that's not good enough."

Justice Murray said it was vital that separating couples were aware of their legal entitlements.

"I worry about that because, of course, I don't know that it's the workers' duties at the centres to tell parties their legal rights," she said. "The fact is I think there should be an obligation on them. They should be able to tell parties that come if you want to enter into a parenting plan, fine, but it's not binding."

In the same month Bryant came out strongly defending the the Court against the frequently alleged bias. On the day before Christmas, the single most emotional and distressing time of the year for separated fathers who would not be seeing their children as a result of the Court's decisions, Bryant was quoted in The Age newspaper in Melbourne: "One of the things that frustrates me most is people saying that the court is biased - or that there is a systemic bias against fathers."

The timing of the claims showed an extraordinary insensitivity. The last thing a separated dad wants to hear if he's not seeing his kids on Christmas Day is that some heartless overpaid judicial officer believes it's all in their children's best interests.

Reporter Liz Porter wrote that stung by criticism that it is biased, the Family Court was hitting back by keeping detailed records of its parenting orders.

Bryant said the court had already started documenting the number of shared parental responsibility arrangements and the number of orders where a mother or father was given sole responsibility for children.

Reasons for the exclusion of one parent were also being recorded, with the categories including "family violence", "mental illness", "substance abuse", "distance" and "entrenched conflict".

What Bryant neglected to say was that the court was being obliged to keep these statistics by the Attorney-General's Department.

"With the parliamentary inquiry recently there was a lot of discussion about what the court was and wasn't doing," Justice Bryant said."There were a lot of people saying the

court was biased. But nobody pulled out a judgement and said 'the result was wrong'. It was all about impressions and rhetoric and the court itself wasn't really able to respond well to that because we don't have the data."

While the shared parental responsibility legislation was now law, there was no let up from those beating the domestic violence drum.

Kow towing to the feminist constituency within his own party, NSW Premier Morris lemma called for changes to the co-parenting laws for separated parents. He said it appeared the new laws were not working because they ended up, in some cases, having a "perverse" effect on women and children who had escaped abusive relationships.

"I would say that, certainly, the Federal authorities ought to heed the message of those victims who are now recounting how a black and white application of a 50:50 coparenting rule, without taking into account circumstances, has the perverse effect of making life worse for the woman and for the child.

"Rather than making it better, it is actually increasing the harassment and the intimidation and prevents the mother and the child from rebuilding their lives."

lemma made the comments to an audience of domestic violence support groups after announcing an extra \$28 million four- year package to improve support services for victims.

But there were other voices. In an interview which attracted attention around the world Dads On The Air interviewed Erin Pizzey, who founded the first women's refuge in 1971.

Picking up the story in the Herald Sun, columnist Bettina Arndt recorded how Pizzey became disenchanted when the refuge movement was hijacked by women promoting anti-male agendas.

"Since then, she has been fighting a mighty battle to expose the truth about family violence: namely that girls and boys, who are exposed to violence in early childhood, can grow up to repeat what they have learnt.

"She's written books and articles exposing the anti-male myths being propagated about domestic violence, documenting research that shows domestic violence is often reciprocal, with men and women locked into destructive behaviour.

"As she explained in her radio interview with Dads on the Air this week it made her unpopular with British feminists who had turned domestic violence into a million dollar industry. She received death threats and was heckled while speaking publicly in the UK and US. Yet, she continues to speak out about the failure to recognise that women can be equally complicit in such violence. It's not in our interests she says, for women to be continually taught they are victims."

Pizzey took a swipe at Australia's Violence Against Women campaigns, which showed a parade of violent men. There was never a hint that men are sometimes victims.

"It's a terrible lie," said Pizzey.

In the same month the Australian Institute of Family Studies produced a report Allegations of Family Violence and Child Abuse in Family Law Children's Proceedings. It examined 399 cases and found most involved allegations of violence, often from both sides. In these circumstances, where unsubstantiated allegations fly in both directions, it's just too hard for judges to see the wood for the trees, suggested the AIFS researchers.

They found it was rare for judgments to deny contact on the basis of such allegations.

The report was critical of Australian research on violence in Family Court matters. The report showed much of the research relied on small, carefully selected samples to draw misleading conclusions about male violence.

The AIFS report said this blinkered research "rarely concedes the possibility that at least some of the violence may be situational, one-off, reciprocated, or even at times initiated by women."

With heightened attention on the Family Court and its alleged mistreatment of fathers in early 2007, the rare story of a mother jailed in a custody dispute was of particular significance.

in March. writing in Sydney's Daily Telegraph, Janet Fife-Yeomans recorded that a mother-of-two was behind bars for defying court orders. The woman, 31, was given a choice by the Federal Magistrates' Court - let the father see his children or go to jail.

Magistrate Michael Jarrett adjourned the case for 15 minutes but when he returned to the bench, the woman, already on a good behaviour bond for refusing access to her expartner, remained unrepentant. Mr Jarrett took the rare step of jailing her for four months.

The woman was sent to Grafton Jail and her children, a girl aged six and a boy aged eight, were with their father, 41, who was granted full custody.

The father's solicitor, Steven Tester, said the magistrate had no choice. "No one wanted to see the mother go to jail. The point of these kinds of cases is that there are laws in place and they apply to everyone. Compliance is not optional.

It was the culmination of six years and 22 Family Court and Federal Magistrates' Court hearings since the couple split when the woman was a few weeks pregnant with their second child.

Her claim that her children would be in danger from their father, who had a number of criminal convictions, was rejected by the court.

In May, the Full Bench of the Family Court, made up of three judges, halved the mother's four-month sentence and released her from jail immediately.

Still unrepentant, the mother declared she would do it all again.

She said her children were "extremely confused" after the court ordered the father to return the children to their mother the day after she got out of jail.

The Family Court restricted the father's access to six hours a month.

In their judgement the Family Court said the woman should never have been jailed.

Tony Miller of Dads In Distress commented: "Dad now receives six lousy hours a month and this is justice? What is the message we are now sending mothers who contravene orders? Simple, keep doing it and you will get away with it."

Barry Williams at Lone Fathers declared that being an election year it was vital, particularly should there be a change of government, that the changes made to family law and child support systems by the current government were maintained.

"This can only be achieved by people speaking up and to the people, the politicians, that make the law," he said. "Many of the changes made over the past few years have been as a direct result of participation by Ministers, Federal Members and persons affected by the family breakdown coming together."

With both sides of politics in election mode, in October columnist Bettina Arndt questioned in The Canberra Times: "Is Kevin Rudd interested in men? The answer, sadly, seems to be no. Rudd, unlike John Howard, rarely talks about issues affecting many of his own gender, such as family law, child support, fatherless families, boys' education.

"Indeed, this potential prime minister seems content to hand over the running on most social issues to female colleagues renowned for their anti-male bias. For anyone keen to ensure men and boys receive a fair go, the prospect of a Labor government is all bad news.

"As a prime minister, Howard has been most unusual in his passion for social issues, suggesting it isn't in our society's interest to encourage more fatherless families."

Arndt said Howard had picked up on community discontent about children losing contact with fathers after divorce and set up a bipartisan committee to look into the "rebuttable presumption of joint custody". But Labor's Jennie George and Jennie Macklin dug in and the committee was forced to water down its recommendations.

"Yet resulting changes to the Family Law Act have done much to ensure children's rights to contact with both parents. Labor reluctantly supported the legislation, with Rudd expressing great concern about the changes. He deferred to his then shadow attorney-general, Nicola Roxon, to spell out these concerns, who played up the fear that children would be forced to spend time with dangerous dads. She had previously dismissed the custody inquiry as "dog-whistle politics to men's groups aggrieved by the Family Court".

"Labor's disdain for such groups is consistently demonstrated as Labor shadow ministers refuse to meet even the most respected of these organisations, despite strenuous efforts by a sprinkling of Labor backbenchers to encourage their party to take interest."

Arndt concluded that one main reason former Prime Minister Paul Keating lost power was the perception that Labor governed for some rather than for all. "The 750,000 non-resident parents in Australia should be wary that their interests have no place on a Labor agenda."

Not long before the Howard government lost power at the end of 2007 I was asked to give a speech to the Lone Fathers Conference at Parliament in Canberra which was titled: "The Family Law Reforms: Are They Working?"

DOTA's musical talent, Peter van de Voorde and Ian Purdie, had both brought their guitars and opened with a song to the tune of "Killing Me Softly" they had penned on the drive down from Sydney:

Ruining my life with his reforms
Wrecking my kids with his laws
Killing me softly with his lies
Taking my kids my whole life
Giving it all to my ex-wife
Killing me softly with his reforms
I heard he was a good man
I heard he had a plan
So I voted for him
Fell for his cruel scam
Now I am left with nothing
Kids and money gone
Ruining my life with his reforms
Wrecking my kids with his laws
Killing me softly with his reforms.

The speech was greeted with enthusiasm by many of the fathers present, and something akin to horror by the organisers, who were close to the incumbent government and concerned about what would happen with fatherhood issues if Labor came to power.

This, in part, is what I said:

Have Howard's family law and child support reforms been a success?

As the media outlet which has followed these issues closer than anyone else in the country, Dads On The Air is very sad to report: the answer is a resounding no. Absolutely not.

To understand why an air of decay and deceit has adhered to a dying Howard government, you need look no further than the Howard government's treatment of separated dads and their families.

It is a case study of how this government has dealt with social issues, with the electorate; and yes, with their once staunch supporters.

And why they are now on the nose from coast to coast.

By flirting with the separated father vote and then discarding it, by holding in front of grieving and distressed men who have had their children arbitrarily ripped off them the possibility that they could get to see their kids again, by promising and promoting family law reform and then failing to deliver, John Howard and his government have committed emotional abuse on a massive scale.

Flirting with the separated dad vote - and don't forget this includes aunts, uncles, grandmothers, grandfathers and second wives - was one of the worst things the Howard government has ever done.

Despite all the evidence from both Australian and international sources justifying the desperately overdue need for reform of family law and child support and the introduction of equal and shared parenting as the most sensible solution to the morass Howard failed to act; instead he blinded people with smoke and mirrors.

Instead of listening to the people, to the community support for joint custody aka shared parenting as the norm post divorce, instead of taking note of the support in the media for ending the rotten debacle of family law and remedying the massive harm being done to this country's children, the Howard government chose instead to listen to the elite opinion of the so-called experts, who had long appeared to regard the father as an unnecessary element in the modern family. He blew an historic opportunity to fix this problem once and for all.

The Family Court's maladministration, its arbitrary judgements and overwhelming ideological bias against fathers had become a major embarrassment to the Howard government. It was regarded with contempt by lawyers in all other jurisdictions. But instead of fixing the conduct of this lunar left court, Howard wasted hundreds of millions of dollars setting up so-called Relationship Centres. They will operate under the same draconian secrecy laws that protect the Family Court from proper journalistic exposure and will perpetuate the same anti-father bias and the same discrimination as the Family Court itself.

No father can expect to be treated fairly in these Relationship Centres. Those tendering for the running of these centres, including Relationships Australia, have all put in submissions opposing shared parenting; and have therefore declared their bias up front.

Just the other day a story came to DOTA of a father, recently separated and desperate to see his kids, who couldn't get any sense out of his local centre whatsoever.

Privacy legislation, he was told, forbade them from telling him whether or not his exwife had agreed to his request for mediation.

Meanwhile, the "status quo", used to such devastating effect by lawyers against fathers, was settling in. As the days turned into weeks and the relationship centre continued to refuse to tell him whether his wife had agreed to mediation or not, he was becoming just another bloke who would barely if ever get to see his kids again and stood little chance of changing the situation.

Next thing in his life, as night follows day, will be the loss of most if not all of his assets; the court can and often enough does make orders for 90% of the couple's assets to go to the wife; and then the loss of most of his income through child support.

If he dares to protest against the operations of the Family Court or the despised Child Support Agency he will likely find himself an unfashionable, socially isolated, figure, that modern embarrassment, the angry separated dad.

If he complains to the media; radio, print, or television, his entreaty to journalists that his abuse at the hands of these institutions makes a good story will be entirely ignored.

Letters arriving at news outlets around Australia, into which so many fathers have poured so much distress and outrage, are almost invariably placed straight into the bin. Equally, our father's letters to politicians will be entirely ignored; if he gets some non-committal acknowledgement he can count himself lucky.

If he attempts a legal solution to his problem, he will find himself battling an immensely complex jurisdiction on his own. If he manages the staggeringly difficult process of an appeal, he will find himself in front of three Family Court judges instead of one; and discover what many have discovered before him; there is no sense at all at any level in family law. If he takes up his option of going to the High Court, the chances of success are minimal.

Hey presto, he will have become that saddest of phenomenon, a dad who doesn't get to see his kids; a direct result of government policy promoting the fatherless family.

Dads On The Air has always maintained that apart from death the single worst act the state can perpetrate against its citizenry is the removal of children from perfectly good loving parents. And that is exactly what this government has been doing.

This week hundreds of kids will have their relationships with their fathers destroyed by a multi-billion dollar bureaucratic and judicial juggernaut which makes its living off ripping kids away from their dads and creating that modern social artifice - the single mother.

Just like every other week in the 11 long years the Howard government has been in power.

Hundreds of thousands of the nation's children have suffered the abuse of being denied a proper relationship with their fathers while a gutless Parliament has looked on, too afraid they might lose a few women's votes if they stood up for dads.

The Howard government has badly misread the politics around separated dads and their families.

Instead of listening to the people, they have listened to a few angry single mother lobby groups. What they forget is that most women love the men in their lives, including the separated fathers. For every woman who's supposedly advantaged by the blatant bias of our family law system, other women; grandparents, aunts and friends, are hurt by the court's outdated sole custody regime.

For every single mother there's a desperately sad dad who would love to be able to care for his kids. The Howard government has assisted in the perpetration of the myth of the single mother as somehow an heroic figure. In reality the bloody minded and selfish refusal of some solo mothers to let their children have a proper relationship with their dad is often purely for financial or vindictive reasons.

Although no proper study has ever been done on the subject, it is often estimated there are about a million votes in the separated dad lobby. With the polls indicating the government faces annihilation at the coming election, I bet Howard wishes he had a million votes in his pocket. I bet about now he's wishing he hadn't double crossed the dads; their kids, their grandparents and all those people in separated and blended families who's views, experiences and presentations to government he has ignored.

Dads would have died in the ditch for Johnnie Howard in September 2003; when he publicly stated he was drawn to shared parenting as the norm, post-divorce and would be initiating a wide ranging inquiry into child custody.

He brought great hope to hundreds of thousands of separated parents who thought that for the first time ever we had a Prime Minister who understood their heart ache and was going to do something about the country's most despised, dysfunctional, discredited and destructive institutions, the Family Court and the Child Support Agency.

To illustrate just how far the Howard government has fallen in moral stature and in public standing, it's worth remembering back to the immediate aftermath of that 2003 announcement. There were positive front page headlines around the country and talk back radio ran hot in support, with call after call detailing the devastation being felt by separated parents.

In short, Howard won strong support from within the nation's media; widespread and excellent coverage and kudos for his government and praise for having the gumption to take on the entrenched interests of the judiciary and the bureaucracy.

It's a long time now since Howard has seen wall to wall positive front page headlines.

Meanwhile he thrashes around trying to re-ignite that sense of coherence and excitement, desperately trying to find something that will work. What did work, but is working no longer; was the government's flirtation with shared parenting or joint custody of children.

Which makes the government's actions even more puzzling: why did they backtrack when there was so much community and media support for change?

While many people will tell pollsters they are concerned about global warming or funding for public hospitals and schools, there are very few actual vote-changing issues. But make no mistake, your children ARE a vote changing issue.

If a politician comes along and tells a grieving, heart broken dad who's had his children arbitrarily ripped from him by an arrogant and uncaring judge who told the father that it is in his kids best interests that he only see them occasionally, if at all, if a politician tells that father he will get his children back for him, that man is going to vote for him; no matter what party he's from. No matter what their policies on other issues are.

If a politician tells a deeply upset and distressed grandmother who can't get to see her beloved grandkids that his government is going to tackle the grotesque unfairness of family law and the bureaucratic bastardry of the Child Support Agency which is destroying her beloved family, that is enough to influence that grandmother's vote.

In effect, that's what Howard did. By expressing support for the notion of joint custody aka shared parenting, he won the hearts and minds of separated dads around the country, and staunch support from many of the women in those father's lives, mothers, sisters, work colleagues, and of course lovers; the so-called second wives brigade.

Fast forward to 2007; and the end of the story is very sad indeed.

Not only have the judgements coming out of the Family Court and the Federal Magistrates Service demonstrated that they have no intention of reforming their anti-

father bias; the hated Child Support Agency is as bad or worse today as it has ever been.

Even in the past fortnight we've seen yet more abusive announcements from the government that it will hunt down all those "rich" dads and make them pay - and pay - and pay. This is a despised bureaucracy at war with taxpayers whose bureaucratic insanities have destroyed countless thousands of lives; driving men onto the dole queues and literally to suicide; and if the Howard government had a single shred of integrity on the subject, it would have followed the British government's example and shut them down long ago.

No such luck. Instead Howard has been prepared to perpetuate the lie that this Agency is somehow acting in the "best interests of children"; which it patently is not. And let's not forget; this is the government that, bundled in with a whole lot of other minor amendments, removed any legislative obligation for the CSA to do so.

Depending on his income level, a separated father in this country with four kids can end up paying 84.5 cents in the dollar in tax, child support and medicare levy. And if these loving parents, unable to cope with these insane imposts, fall behind in their payments, then they are whacked with compounding penalties and interest payments. The irony is the average child of a separated family now gets less money in child support than they did prior to the creation of the CSA.

If you think it's fair and reasonable to remove a child from a parent and then impose massive financial imposts on them, talk to any non-custodial mother in this country and see how they feel.

Separated fathers who have been to see the Prime Minister John Howard, report back that he treats them with courtesy, and has expressed astonishment at the high levels of taxation and child support they are paying. But Howard's done nothing to abolish this modern day slavery; instead his government routinely and proudly announces yet more crackdowns on separated fathers; blocking them from leaving the country; hunting them down wherever they may be; the almost Gestapo style tactics of the despised Child Support Agency are not only protected, they've been dramatically expanded. For some ludicrous reason separated dad bashing is seen as a vote winner.

Indeed, we recently had yet another politician briefly responsible for the Agency, Joe Hockey, declaring that he and his government would pursue separated fathers who owed child support to the grave.

As Dads On The Air put up on our web site: News flash Joe, you and your government are already doing it.

There was no more disgusting sight in public life than a well fed Joe Hockey, with his his massive income and his intact family; boasting about the latest addition to his growing family while vowing he would pursue dads unfortunate enough to have become divorced, "to the grave".

As many separated dads were natural Labor voters who voted Liberal for the first time purely on the issue of family law reform, perhaps the dads will now chase him to his political grave.

This situation has deteriorated over the last 11 years. The only government member with enough common decency and courage to speak out on the issue has been maverick Liberal MP Alby Schultz.

Howard's failure to take fast and appropriate action to fix the Family Court and the Child Support Agency, directly affects the lives of millions of people.

Retiring court stalwart Justice Chisholm maintained that because the court had always acted "in the best interests of children" the new laws were little more than a bit of "light house keeping".

But there hasn't even been any 'light house keeping', as recent judgements on appeal have clearly demonstrated.

Even the government's own favourite academic, family law insider Patrick Parkinson, has admitted that the appeal judgements are failing to fulfill the intent and spirit of the legislation; which allegedly was to improve children's relationships with their fathers post-separation.

"We are getting decisions all over the place, going different ways," Professor Parkinson told a WA newspaper recently.

Federal Attorney-General Philip Ruddock said the intent of the reforms was to ensure that both parents are allowed equal access to and responsibility for raising their children after separation. If equal child access was not appropriate, the court must consider an arrangement for substantial time with both parents. That is not what's happening.

DOTA argued as strongly as we could in numerous broadcasts that the state had no right to arbitrarily remove a child from one perfectly decent loving parent or the other; and that the only way to improve the debacle that is child custody in this country was to implement a rebuttable presumption of 50/50 joint custody for separating parents. No child should be denied a relationship with either its mother or father, without very good reason.

But it was all too simple for the politicians; and of course it would have eaten away at the multi-billion dollar industry of removing children from their fathers. And so, because everyone in government knew better, we've got the current mess.

Shared Parenting Council President Ed Dabrowski was right on the money when he asked recently: "Why would you allow a child to lose a parent and suffer the emotional scars? It's not about the best parent, it's about the best parent being both parents. This whole idea that you have to pick a winner is nonsense. I have seen fathers writhing in agony outside the doors of the Family Court. I will challenge any parent that is having their children wrenched away from them to say that they can remain totally sane and totally dispassionate about what is happening to them."

Denying kids a relationship with their father is child abuse, pure and simple.

This year's judgement from the Full Bench of the Family Court which released a woman imprisoned by the Federal Magistrates Service for refusing the father contact with his two children, took away custody from the father and gave him six hours a month contact, demonstrated what many of us have said from the outset, the government's

so-called family law reforms did not go far enough. The leopard was never going to change its spots.

If a vengeful, abusive and vindictive mother wants to deny her children a relationship with their father; the courts, the state, even the police, will back her.

There have been numerous other cases, including the so-called Exclusive Brethren case. The judge in that case, Justice Benjamin, ordered a suspended 4 month jail sentence on the mother and 2 others, for continuous contravention of court orders by denying a father access visits with two of his children. He described the denial of contact with the father as being "at the higher end of emotional abuse".

Five months later three judges of the Family Court overturned the four month suspended sentences, saying they were too harsh. Instead these learned leftovers from the Nicholson era called for another court date to hear further arguments about what the penalty should be, suggesting a rethink of "some of the mechanics of the orders" was appropriate.

Yet another example highlighting the current system's failure is a recent case presided over by Justice Le Poer Trench in Sydney on the 15th of May 2007.

In it, the Judge criticised the current adversarial system of Family Law, and summed up what everyone who's been there already knows: "This case illustrates to me the very worst of impacts on a family of the adversarial system" There were a combined 140 pages of affidavit, 428 paragraphs, 201 pages of annexures and 102 exhibits. This exercise in futility allowed the lawyers to plunder \$220,000 from the family's wealth in order for the parents to obtain a "Shared Parenting arrangement".

The question has to be asked "Who has a spare \$220,000 lying around to hand over to lawyers in order to achieve an outcome which can be so easily reversed on Appeal by the Full Bench?"

Most people have now lost all faith in a system that was not about achieving a fair and just outcome for them and their children. The lawyers, psychologists and social workers making money out of these sad conflicts casually parrot the phrase "the best interests of the child" while plundering the separating couple at the most vulnerable time of their lives.

The Family Court has always been a law unto itself; disdainful of its critics, contemptuous of the general social values of the community and paying little heed of or respect towards parliament. Indeed it is not a court in any normal sense a layman understands; rather it is a Marxist feminist tribunal producing a desired social outcome, the creation of the single mother aka the fatherless household.

Everyone should have been able to see that the court was never going to change its ways, that introducing some vague notion called shared responsibility while leaving the judge's discretion as paramount would do nothing to alter this secretive and unaccountable institution's conduct or its apparent belief that fathers have little or no value in a child's life.

It is now perfectly clear that the court has no intention of reforming its style of custody orders, is impervious to outside criticism and is an unfit organisation to be making decisions over the future of our children.

So will the government be revisiting the legislation?

Unfortunately, it's all too late.

The government is likely to be thrashed in the polls, and a Rudd Labour government is highly unlikely to ever confront its ideological anti-nuclear family cronies within the bureaucracy and the judiciary. An unholy alliance of elite opinion; of bureaucrats, lawyers, politicians and so-called "experts", with the complicity of the Liberal National Party coalition and full co-operation of the Labor Party, took the family law reform process hostage.

Much of this was done under the guise of that great motherhood issue, domestic violence. Instead of listening to the people, the schedulers of the public inquiry jammed it full of taxpayer funded advocates; all of whom were keen to paint men as violent patriarchal brutes and women as defenceless victims in urgent need of protection by the state.

The government, perhaps cowed by the hysterical volume of the industry, ignored all the warnings that writing domestic violence into family law was inappropriate and would escalate the volume of false allegations - anecdotally reported to have jumped by some 50%. Violence is a crime; it's a matter for the police. It's not a matter for ideologues in a secretive and unaccountable tribunal like the Family Court to use as an excuse for the removal of children from their fathers.

Howard missed a once in a generation opportunity to fix this poisonous brew and blew it

When this weak, watered down "shared responsibility" legislation was passed through parliament, literally, let's not forget, in the early hours of the morning, Dads on the Air declared that "the liars, the lawyers, the bureaucrats and the social engineers have won the day".

Everything that has happened since confirms that view.

The Managing Justice inquiry in the late 1990s found ample evidence of the maladministration of "justice" in the Family Court, including arbitrary decision making, unnecessarily complex procedures and extensive delays, which should have been of enormous concern to any responsible government.

Mysteriously, through its faux public inquiries conducted by family law insiders, or in the case of the House of Representatives inquiry into child custody by politicians, the government has not managed to find the same widespread disquiet exposed by that inquiry.

It is not just the disastrous social consequences arising from the interaction of our family law, child support, welfare and child protection systems which has concerned Dads On The Air over the years. It is the maladministration and the misconduct rife in the jurisdiction which should concern this government. No one can pass through the Family Court and retain any respect for this nation's legal processes. Fathers often report being abused or ridiculed from the bench; that the court's psychopathology defies belief. We, too, would never have believed some of the stories we've heard about the conduct of this jurisdiction if we hadn't witnessed it for ourselves.

The Howard government's failure to confront this issue will ultimately cost the country far more than a few million dollars.

If the polls are right, we are about to be blessed with Kevin Rudd as Prime Minister. While he talks cosily of being with his family on the porch in "Brissie" with his wife, his kids, the dog and the cat, the anti-father, anti-nuclear family, so-called "progressive" ideologues in his party are entrenched in key social policy positions. While Howard's double crossing of fathers has been shameful to behold, don't think for one minute Rudd will be any better.

The Howard government's perfidy over family law and child support has been enormously sad to watch play out, but separated dads are naive if they expect Rudd will treat them any better.

While their traditional working class supporters have been ravaged by the impacts of the Family Court and the Child Support Agency, there has been not one whisper of concern over the conduct of these institutions from the Labor Party itself.

Equality is equality. It means treating people equally. You don't get progress and you don't get social justice by advancing the interests of one gender over the other or by ignoring the views of ordinary people. When you do, all you get is backlash from the great unwashed.

That, in the end, is what this country will face as a result of this government's failure to do the right thing by mothers, fathers and children in equal measure.

Whether biased or not, as its critics claimed, the Family Court remained an institution in crisis. It missed all of its performance targets for 2007, causing delays and added stress. The court finalised just 31 per cent of applications for final orders within six months, well below its aim of having 75 per cent of applications resolved within that time frame. As well just 64 per cent of applications for interim orders were finalised within three months, significantly less than its aim of 90 per cent. In the financial year 2005-06, around 90 per cent of defended cases took up to 26.9 months before a final judgement - more than two months longer than in 2004-05.

On 3 December 2007 Kevin Rudd was sworn in as Prime Minister of Australia.

CHAPTER NINE: WORST CASE SCENARIO

At the end of 2007 Labor was back in power in Australia federally after more than a decade in the wilderness. The reactionary forces in family law now had the ear of government. They wasted little time.

First cab of the rank was a report published in the journal Australian Family Lawyer which claimed that where parents cannot co-operate and remain hostile towards each other, shared-parenting arrangements could result in a higher-than-normal rate of clinical anxiety in the children.

The report was written by Jennifer McIntosh, a child psychologist and associate professor of psychology at La Trobe University with a long and close association with the Family Court across a number of projects. She was also on the Editorial Board of

the Family Court Review and the Journal of Family Studies. Co-author was former Family Court judge Richard Chisholm, whose hostility to shared parenting was already well known. The research was partly funded by the Family Court.

The report Cautionary Notes on the Shared Care of Children in Conflicted Parental Separation was based on two samples of high conflict parents already in the court system. It recommended mediators and Family Court judges screen warring couples to ensure that their level of conflict did not make them unsuitable for shared care.

McIntosh told The Age newspaper that to be successful shared parenting must involve parents living close to each other and getting along well enough to have a working arrangement.

"They must each feel confident that the other is a competent parent, be financially comfortable, have family-friendly work practices and keep the child out of their disagreements," she said. "These conditions do not exist for many parents who have arrangements adjudicated by a court. We have a very high percentage of very high-conflict families sharing the care of their children and this goes against all the good research. This is not a good situation - developmentally - for children to be in.

"Shared care puts children more frequently in the pathway of animosity and acrimony between their parents, witnessing derogatory exchanges, for example. The core issue is that shared care can inadvertently rob children of security in their relationships with both parents."

McIntosh said the legislative and social environment had created a "shared-care frenzy", with parents entering arrangements ill-advised and ill-prepared. She claimed living in substantially shared care, being unhappy with those arrangements, and having parents in conflict were associated with poor mental health.

"One of the other realities of shared care is that it's less stable," she said. "It very often breaks down. Older children vote with their feet and say, 'I don't want to do this any more'. My concern is for the little kids who can't vote and have to live in these conditions of sharing their time between two enemies."

She said the new law "tried to do good things. It tried to say that relationships with fathers are important, and they are. My data show that too. But, inadvertently, these changes seem to be creating new difficulties."

In a rejoinder to the McIntosh piece, Professor Patrick Parkinson said her work needed to be put into perspective. She did not record that there had been a massive growth in equal time arrangements. She used a different definition of shared care – five days or more a fortnight. Nor did she point out that many of the shared parenting arrangements she used in her study had been imposed by the court only on an interim basis. "Many such arrangements will break down, and that experience can help the parents to develop more workable arrangements for the future," Parkinson said.

"Children also suffer significantly from ongoing litigation, and a temporary agreement that is not at all optimal for the child might be a lesser evil than going to trial. Conflict tends to diminish. Parents can be very raw and angry in the aftermath of separation. As time passes, most parents manage to rebuild their lives and move on.

"McIntosh's study reports on relatively short time frames. To assess what is happening, we need to follow families in shared parenting arrangements over a longer period of time and to measure children's adjustment, as she plans to do.

"There are good reasons why the law changed. It wasn't just pressure from fathers' groups. Research - in Australia and overseas - shows that many children want more time with the non-resident parent. The international research also shows that children benefit from the active involvement of both parents where both parents are competent in the parental role, committed to it and can manage to work together without high conflict."

In another rejoinder to the McIntosh/Chisholm piece, the joint authors of Shared Parenting, mediator Michael Green and psychologist Jill Burrett wrote in a piece called "The Problem With Caution": "Well publicised voices have been raised to question the wisdom and benefits of the shared parenting provisions of the amended Family Law Act. Some have pointed to suggestions of harm for children.

"Generally these affirmations have not been supported by research nor clinical data, and have been made without reference to contrasting studies and the experience of practitioners in the field.

"It is emerging that there is a minority resistance movement against the shared parenting provisions of the amended Family Law Act. This resistance appears to be located in at least three quarters, and as with similar phenomena in other areas of human activity, it captures a voice and audience which exceeds its value and rationale.

"The first is the small, strongly conservative section of the family law "industry", highly paid lawyers who tend to promote lengthy adversarial proceedings rather than effective negotiation.

"Secondly, there are women's groups, inspired by radical feminists, who see the shift in parenting patterns as a means to remove power and money from women and hand it to men.

"Thirdly, and most worrying of all, are complaints from several academics, who are using data from early research on parenting patterns following the amendments to voice concern about the wisdom of shared parenting. Unlike the US which has a large number of highly respected academics, researchers and clinicians strongly supportive of shared parenting, such a powerful voice is not apparent in Australia."

If there was ever any doubt by April 2008 it was becoming even clearer where Labor's sympathies lay. Kathleen Swinbourne of the Lone Parents Union was selected to participate in the much touted talkfest the 2020 Summit, which was bringing together 1,000 of the country's purportedly brightest minds. As had former Family Court Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson. But not a single member of the fatherhood movement.

DOTA editorialised: "The government has put together a list that reads more like an Australian left wing feminists' who's who than a genuine list of people who could contribute to the debate on families. Believe it or not, they have the audacity to use the word 'social inclusion' while ignoring every single figure in the fatherhood movement from coast to coast.

"John Howard blew a rare historical confluence of public and professional opinion when he balked at introducing proper shared parenting and opted for a meaningless notion of "shared responsibility" for separating families. Now, with the left in power from coast to coast and alternative and progressive views from the fatherhood movement ignored by the reactionary elements within the massive family law industry, we are all paying the consequences for his timidity."

The Liberal government had, for reasons known only to themselves, bent over backwards to ensure the shared parenting reforms were bipartisan. In effect this meant that a supposedly conservative party with traditional family values was allowing its social policies to be dictated by the left of the Labor Party. The legislation was significantly watered down to ensure both parties were behind it, perhaps to ensure that the accusation they were overly influenced by father's groups did not stick. The then Labour Opposition, seeing no votes for them in the issue, went along for the ride.

"In government the Labor Party did not return the favour, shamelessly pandering to their feminist, single mother and welfare constituencies.

Also In January 2008, demonstrating the depth of disenchantment that remained despite years of talk of reform, DOTA's own Peter van de Voorde penned a "A Societal Caner", which was widely distributed and popped up on websites around the world.

It read in part: "The Family Justice System has become a societal cancer, a place to be avoided at all cost. Like any cancer, if left unchecked, it will continue to grow, gaining momentum and eventually destroying its host victims and subsequently the culture which supports and feeds this malignant growth. It has removed parental rights and replaced them with parental responsibilities. However without rights, parents are denied their human right and duty to responsibly protect and share the love and care of their own biological children.

"We are now looking at a 35 year old cancer that has been allowed to grow unchecked and is by far the most dangerous place for men, women and children, to come into contact with, in the event of relationship breakdown.

"It has become a law unto itself, a dictatorship within a democracy. Secret and seemingly untouchable, it has been allowed to grow into a multi billion dollar industry, with many poisonous tentacles which have gradually and unnoticeably crept into many of our institutions and bureaucracies. These in turn have each spawned their own agencies and pseudo expert organisations and bodies, who play host to a variety of so called professional expert specialist advisers, who keep feeding the cancer with a continuous supply of misinformation and dodgy statistical data, which flows into the system, thereby quaranteeing malignant growth.

"All of this is made possible because society has unsuspectingly and unquestionably accepted the misleading 'Best Interest of the Child' principle."

As September and Father's Day 2008 rolled around, the government used it as a chance to flog the issue of child support. Others, such as The Star newspaper in Newcastle, suggested kindly that:

"This Sunday, while showing your father just how much he means to you, spare a thought for the separated dads who won't get to see their children. For the 558,000

men in Australia who are denied regular access to their children, Father's Day is dark and painful time when the grief can become overwhelming.

"Figures from the Australian Bureau of Statistics show that 87 per cent of the one million children with separated parents live with their mother. On average, 77 mothers and fathers separate every day and 52 out of those 77 fathers will be denied the access to their children they want to see."

A Family Court of Australia spokesperson could not confirm any statistics but said there was no 'philosophical bias against fathers' in the court system, and that the courts only focus was on the 'best interests of the child'.

The war of research studies and the dispute over shared parenting would continue apace throughout the first years of Labor government. Critics claimed most of the studies were "advocacy research" done by researchers with a clear bias against shared parenting who found what they wanted to find.

In October 2008 the Herald Sun reported under the headline "Break-up kids hurt by family court" that children of separated parents were being forced to have contact with violent fathers against their will.

Some of the parents have threatened to kill or burn former partners, while others stalked, abused and harassed them.

The research, published in the Journal of Family Studies, said such behaviour was excused or ignored by judges who were determined to ensure separated fathers continue to have a presence in their children's lives.

The small study of 20 cases of contested contact of children involving domestic violence showed judges ignored the wishes of vulnerable children, and blamed mothers for failing to support access by violent fathers, feminist researchers Amanda Shea Hart and Dale Bagshaw claimed.

The pair claimed that in nearly half of the cases the child was a direct witness to the violence. While in no cases was the child physically harmed there was "little visible consideration of the potential or current effects of domestic violence on the children".

They said notions of the "idealised post-separation family" took precedence over the special needs of the children in the cases they analysed from a five-year period.

The 33 children involved in the cases, aged between two and 16 at the time of the final hearings, had a range of problems, including violence, anti-social behaviour and emotional fragility. Some expressed a "wish to die".

The researchers also found that In all of the cases judges expressed concerns about the effect of the absence of the fathers on their children's lives, despite the presence of domestic violence. In 13 of the cases the allegedly violent husbands were described as "loving fathers".

Drs Hart and Bagshaw said an emphasis on shared care or father contact had made life difficult for children and mothers in cases where the break-up was caused by domestic violence perpetrated by fathers.

"There can be concerning outcomes for children who are required to spend time with their violent fathers," they said. "The safety and psychological needs of these children must be recognised and understood for their best interests to be served."

In contrast, the following month Adele Horin at The Sydney Morning Herald wrote that with soaring numbers of separated and divorced parents sharing the care of their children more or less equally, the first major Australian study into the revolution showed it is not causing the big problems its detractors had feared.

But nor was the 50-50 split better for children than more conventional arrangements, as supporters of equal time had claimed.

The study of 5,000 parents on the Child Support Agency register indicated it made no difference to children's wellbeing whether they saw the non-resident parent half the time or every second weekend. What counted was how well parents get on.

"It's not the arrangement that matters but the quality of the parental relationship," said demography researcher at the Australian National University Bruce Smythe. The study showed the children who do less well are those in near-equal share arrangements where the non-resident parent saw them for two to three nights a week.

Dr Smythe said near-equal care arrangements may be an unhappy compromise between conflicted parents. The "new high water mark" in parenting after separation is a 50-50 arrangement. "Unequal shared care may be the new soil to which conflicted couples move. Unequal care looks to be a proxy for conflict. In some cases, unequal shared care may represent an unhappy compromise. Parents who had an equal share of care were probably more likely to get along better and to have an egalitarian approach to parenting."

With ANU colleague Bryan Rodgers, Smythe examined differences in reported wellbeing and conflict among three groups of separated and divorced parents and their children: those with 50-50 care, those with 30-70 or 40-60 splits, and those with the "standard" pattern, usually alternate weekends with the non-resident parent.

The study showed the main beneficiaries of the 50-50 arrangement are the parents, who were happier in themselves and happier with their child-care regime than parents in the other two groups.

Professor Rodgers said, "The bottom line is that the move to shared care is not going to make things worse for kids. But the presumption it will lead to better development of the children is looking very flimsy."

However, he said, a lot of parents wanted a more equal arrangement and other research had shown this included many mothers with sole care, as well as many children. Since the 2006 amendments to the Family Law Act put more focus on joint parenting time, the number of parents opting for more balanced care arrangements had soared.

New data from the Child Support Agency showed that in the year to last June, 17 per cent of new cases were non-standard child-care arrangements - with the non-resident parent having the children more than two nights a week. This was a dramatic leap from the 7 per cent of all cases in 2002. Of all cases managed by the Child Support Agency,

12% now had shared care, compared with 7% five years ago. Children were deemed to be in shared care when they spend 30% to 70% of the time with each parent.

Some arrangements were short-lived. The study showed that about one in 10 parents with sole care of the children had tried a more balanced arrangement at some point but ended it for practical reasons. These included distance, work commitments or the fact that the children did not like constantly moving between houses or were unsettled.

Until the study little was known in Australia about the outcomes for children of shared care.

Next step on the back to the future highway on which the Rudd government was embarked came in November 2008 with news the Federal Magistrates Court, created by the former government primarily as a faster, simpler, cheaper and fairer alternative to the Family Court, was about to be dismantled.

The FMC had grown rapidly into the largest federal court since it was founded in 2000, and now handled 79 per cent of family law applications.

Attorney-General Robert McClelland released a report by consultant Des Semple that recommended the Federal Magistrate's family law division become part of the Family Court and its general division should fold into the Federal Court.

The Semple report praised the court's "service culture" but said it created friction and resentment with the Family Court, particularly over resources.

Mr McClelland said "no change is not an option" and the creation of the court - the principal judicial reform of the Howard government - was a mistake.

The Attorney-General said he wanted the "faster, cheaper and less formal" practices of the Federal Magistrates Court to become part of family law culture, and described Mr Semple's model as "a reverse takeover".

Up to 36 of the 59 magistrates would be transferred to a general division of the Family Court.

The creation of the Federal Magistrates Court removed a significant amount of federal law work from the state and territory courts and freed up superior courts, such as the Federal Court and the Family Court, to concentrate on more complex cases.

Former Attorney-General Philip Ruddock said he feared the Family Court culture would adversely affect the way the magistrates undertook their functions, leading to increased costs and delays. "I think the culture of the magistrates has been to produce very timely outcomes for litigants," he said.

McClelland said "getting our family law system right is a significant access-to-justice issue. If we do it well then kids can be substantially shielded from the trauma of divorce. Family law is still horrifically expensive. It still takes too long and it is unfortunately more fragmented than it needs to be.

"I think the former government experienced frustration in reforming the Family Court and rather than focusing on reforming the court effectively, gave up and created an entirely separate court."

By November of 2008, a year into his government's first term, the Attorney-General Robert McClelland was declaring that the controversial and "distressing" equal-time parenting laws for divorced couples could be overhauled.

Robert McClelland said some shared-parenting orders following relationship breakdowns were "clearly not appropriate and were causing extreme distress for children and their parents".

McClelland made the remarks during a Women's Legal Service family law forum in Brisbane.

"I assure you that I appreciate the seriousness of all I am hearing ... and that we will be mindful of these views when it comes to formulating new policies and making possible amendments to legislation."

He confirmed that the Australian Institute of Family Studies had begun a "comprehensive empirical assessment" of how families were faring under the shared parenting regime.

The propaganda war was escalating.

On 25 November 2008 Sydney Morning Herald journalist Ruth Pollard opened her piece: "Children are handed over to violent fathers and women are exposed to further harm in family mediation sessions because of flawed amendments to the Family Law Act. Too often these changes place parenting rights over the safety of children, experts warn.

"The changes, made by the Howard government two years ago, have forced women with current apprehended violence orders against their partners into mediation where further threats of abuse occur, the Herald has learned.

"And the presence of domestic violence or child abuse made little difference to whether fathers were given overnight access to their children, research from the Australian Institute of Family Studies found, prompting calls for urgent reforms to the system and better training for magistrates and mediators.

Betty Green, convener of the NSW Domestic Violence Coalition said: "It is having horrendous consequences for women who are desperately trying to keep their children safe and yet the family law court is handing over children to violent men who are not necessarily interested in parenting these children."

Green called on the Federal Government to implement urgent changes to the act so the safety of children was privileged over a parent's right to contact.

"The idea of shared parenting is fine in those relationships where prior to that there was some kind of joint responsibility in raising children, but in domestic violence relationships that is not what happens," she said.

"You get a crazy situation where from a state perspective child protection agencies may be involved, where if a mother were to provide contact for the abuser that would be grounds to lose her children because she was exposing them to violence.

"On the other hand, you have a family law court in the federal system that puts that order to one side, and says, 'Here is a father and he must have access rights to his children'."

Attorney-General McClelland said the Government

was aware of concerns over the way shared parenting provisions in the Act had been applied in cases where domestic violence was present.

"That is why the Government is implementing new

accreditation standards that will require all professionals - from mediator to judge - to be able to identify and respond to evidence of domestic violence," he said in a statement. "My department is currently consulting with key stakeholders to find better ways to address family violence in the family law system. The Institute of Family Studies is also conducting a detailed examination of the impact of the shared parenting presumption."

Karen Mifsud, a solicitor in the Women's Legal Resource Centre domestic violence advocacy service, said they had clients reporting that they did not want to go to mediation because they felt intimidated or scared but felt they had no option as they needed to get some sort of arrangement for children in place.

The Shared Parenting Council, concerned at the direction of the public debate, shot back that claims changes to the Family Law Act were compelling courts to hand children over to violent fathers was false and scurrilous. "These claims are an insult to judges and magistrates who apply the law and deal daily with serious relationship issues," their press release declared. "There are precise safeguards in the Act to exclude shared parenting and joint parental responsibility in cases where there are real issues of violence, conflict or abuse. The allegation that women are being 'forced' into mediation with violent ex-partners is particularly mischievous. The Act does nothing of the kind, and mediators and community agencies have screening strategies to identify cases in which mediation is inappropriate."

The SPCA urged the Attorney-General to reject the arguments of biased advocates more concerned with advancing their own agendas than with the real interests of children. "Reducing mothers to "victim" status is a favoured strategy of radical feminists opposed to men and does nothing for the protection and welfare of women and children."

Executive Secretary of the SPCA, Wayne Butler said recent judgements showed clearly it was a complete nonsense to suggest the Family Law Act had in any way softened the approach of the judicial officers to cases of family violence and alleged violence.

The SPCA suggested the Attorney-General consult widely with the judges, magistrates, lawyers, mediators and counsellors who dealt with separated families in and outside the courts. "Reports that have come to our attention speak favourably of the application of the shared parenting legislation and the new collaborative approach to sound parenting post divorce," Butler said.

"We strongly suggest that nothing less than five years would provide adequate time, experience and material for a full and careful review of the effects of the reformed Family Law legislation."

At the end of January 2009 the entire debate took a sickening lurch.

It was meant to be her first day of school. Darcey Iris Freeman was just a couple of days off turning five. Her father had promised to get her and her older brother to their primary school on time.

No one knows what made Arthur Phillip Freeman apparently change his mind. Not his lawyers, who could not believe what happened. Not the police, who could get no sense out of him. Not the forensic psychiatrist who concluded he was not fit to plead.

Freeman had taken all three of his children to a beach house overnight to escape Melbourne's summer heat. Coming back to town, the traffic across the West Gate bridge was slow.

But what police say happened in front of horrified witnesses happened fast - so fast, police would claim later, that there was no chance for anyone to stop it.

Just after 9am Freeman's white Toyota Land Cruiser, driving towards the city, slowed in the left lane. Then stopped.

Witnesses told police they saw Freeman get out of the car and walk to the rear passenger door. His two sons Benjamin, 6, and Jack, 2, were in the back seat. But it was Darcey whom he leaned over and unbuckled.

He allegedly lifted her up and carried her to the edge of the bridge near its highest point. Witnesses later told police the child seemed limp and did not protest.

Freeman walked to the edge of the bridge, lifted his daughter over the railing - and let go.

Darcey fell past the railings, past the pylons, 58 metres into the waters below.

Her father got back into his car and drove off. Motorists called police.

Water Police dragged the little girl from the water in a critical condition with internal injuries. A massive police hunt swung into action.

At about 10.30am police were called to the Family Court building. Security staff had phoned police after observing a man in the foyer crying and shaking uncontrollably. He looked, one said later, like "he'd had enough".

His two sons were clinging to him. He begged security guards, "Can you take my kids for me?"

He was having trouble talking. It was his older son who gave the guards his parents' names.

When police arrived, Freeman was arrested and handcuffed. He offered no resistance. Family friends were called to the court to collect the children. Mother Peta Freeman rushed to the hospital to be with her daughter, who died at 1.35 pm.

Reportedly while in police custody Freeman was unable to speak, shaking and weeping, apparently in deep shock. He was charged with murder. A doctor found him unfit for interview and was concerned he was suicidal.

Zelma Rudstein, whose law firm Rudstein Kron Lawyers had acted for Freeman, described him as a "devoted and loving father". "It's devastating and unexpected. We are just trying to come to grips with it," she said. "It's very tragic and certainly not anything anyone could have predicted would happen. He was very committed to his children."

Freeman and his wife Peta separated in March 2007. He had reportedly recently returned from overseas and had been looking forward to sharing the care of his children after having previously been in such an arrangement. Instead he had found himself facing days of proceedings in the Family Court to establish a contact regime.

The case got worldwide media coverage and disturbed almost everyone who heard it.

Federal Attorney-General Robert McClelland ordered a review of the case. But Justice Diana Bryant said the court orders were made by consent.

Chief Justice Bryant claimed the Family Court was not responsible for the Darcy Freeman incident, despite his having just been subjected to days of gruelling cross examination in the court and having shown up in its precincts straight after the incident with his two surviving children.

There had been no murder trial. There was no coroner's report. But as DOTA pointed out, that didn't stop her absolving herself and her court of any fault.

"The parties did not present to the judicial officer concerned as part of their case that this child was at risk of harm in the father's care," Bryant said. "The issues for determination were how much time the father should have with the child. Nothing was raised before the court about violence."

Justice Bryant said the Family Court would cooperate with a review of the case but would not explain any of its decisions.

"Everybody naturally wants to say 'well what was the last involvement' and if the last involvement was an order of the court well then people naturally want to say 'well it was the court's fault'," Bryant said. "But that is not necessarily the case, I mean it isn't the case. There are so many factors that cause people to be distressed."

Justice Bryant said relationship breakdowns caused incredible stress, including having to deal with money and children's issues and attending court if agreement could not be reached. "All of those things are stresses. And all of those things add to the ways in which people cope with breakdowns. Some people cope with it all right, some people don't. Some people are predisposed to mental illness, some aren't.

There is no doubt the prolonged and extreme stress and distress associated with custody battles makes people behave in strange ways. Many separated men display symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder, obsessive, difficult. Both men and women have killed their children in custody battles. While a woman had jumped from exactly the same bridge with her child strapped to her not long before, the government made no mention of this. A few years before, in NSW, a woman was sent home from the Newcastle registry after learning she was about to lose custody of her children. She drove out into a forest with them and set the car alight. No one talked of changing the laws because of her actions.

I sometimes wonder how these well paid, self-confident, self-assured, self-righteous legal figures would behave if they had been subjected to months of extreme stress prior to a trial over the custody of their own children, then had been repeatedly humiliated for days on end in the witness box, been ridiculed from the bench, had their assets and income stripped, been offered not a shred of sympathy but instead painted as violent and abusive figure, all for the personal gain of the partner they had once so deeply loved. Would they be so quick to condemn, so quick to defend the indefensible?

Dads On The Air labelled our next show Insane Levels Of Stress.

We observed that both men and women killed their children during custody disputes.

Our editorial read in part: "While vigilantes have called for the man's blood, others have called for compassion and understanding. Disgracefully, some feminist commentators have attempted to use the incident in their ideological campaign against the commonsense notion of shared parenting.

"While making no direct comment on the case itself - the father has now been charged with murder - we do look at the insane levels of stress that fathers are put under by our reviled family law system.

"The situation has been made worse by the previous conservative government's failure to fully reform the jurisdiction. Their half-baked reforms requiring the Family Court to at least examine the concept of equal time parenting has not resulted in any significant reform of the court's conduct. Many fathers are now expecting but not getting shared parenting after separation; many leave the court utterly heartbroken and with little contact with their children.

"Fathers regularly lose everything: the assets they have worked all their lives to build, much of their income, much if not all of their social network and worst of all, their beloved children."

While the Freeman case had little or nothing to do with shared parenting, McClelland seized on it to justify a review of the shared parenting legislation.

As a number of observers noted, a woman had jumped to her death from the same bridge with a toddler strapped to her only a few years before. The press made no fuss of that. No government determined to alter any legislation.

In March, just to prove that nothing had really changed, a Melbourne father of three was jailed for sending a birthday card to his daughter.

The man "Mick" - who cannot be identified for legal reasons - was locked up in a suburban police station for seven nights and spent another in the tough Melbourne Custody Centre.

Mick claimed he was a victim of Family Court bias.

"I was jailed for nine days and eight nights for sending my 11-year-old daughter a birthday card," he said. "Apparently I broke an intervention order. It's ludicrous and it breaks your heart."

The 51-year-old is estranged from his wife and claims she has brought a series of intervention orders against him, banning him from contact with his children, without any evidence.

"Until my wife divorced me I was a legally unimpeachable citizen - now I'm being treated like a criminal just because I want some contact with my kids," he said. "And that contact was ended arbitrarily without even a hearing or the presentation of evidence.

"In a court of law, if you are accused of something you are supposed to have the ability to cross examine your accusers and call witnesses. In the secret chambers of the Family Court you are not guaranteed that at all."

Mick said the experience cost him \$20,000. "It's a plundering and looting exercise on the part of lawyers involved in this and there are no juries or scrutiny by media to keep them accountable," he said.

Also in March 2009, in a string of stories questioning the wisdom of the Shared Parental Responsibility Bill, Caroline Overington at The Australian reported that a mother had lost custody of her two children because of her anti-dad stance.

Two children, a girl, aged nine, and a boy, aged seven, who had been in the care of their mother since separation in 2005 were sent from Hobart in Tasmania to live with their father in Melbourne. The Family Court heard the mother encouraged them to have "negative" feelings about their dad.

The two children had been struggling with "change overs", saying things such as "I don't want to go" and "I don't have to go" when their father arrived in Tasmania from Melbourne to collect them.

The court found the mother did not discourage them from saying these things, and did not encourage a positive relationship between the children and their father. The children told counsellors they were angry their father had left their mother, and lived with his new girlfriend in Melbourne.

Family Court judge Robert Benjamin said the children "clearly wanted" to stay with their mother, who had been their primary carer since birth, and acknowledged the "disruption to the children's family unit and their stability if they were to move to Melbourne to live with their father".

But he said he had concerns that the denigration of the father would continue into the future."Sadly, this is a case where the children may be at unacceptable risk of psychological harm if they remain with the mother."

The orders allowed the mother to see the children during school holidays and on Mother's Day. She was also entitled to a phone call "each Sunday between 6.30pm and 7.30pm".

"These children are being slowly indoctrinated into believing that their father is cruel and unkind and likely to hurt them, when this is not the case," the psychologist said.

Reaction to the story split along gender lines.

Wayne Butler of the Shared Parenting Council said the Family Court had undergone a radical change in direction since the Howard government's changes to the Family Law Act came into effect, and the emphasis was now firmly on fathers having relationships with their children after separation and divorce. He said the law was quite clear "that children are entitled to a relationship with their dad, and it's good to see the Family Court coming around to that".

Solo Mums Australian convenor Elspeth McInnes said Justice Benjamin had not taken into account psychological damage to the children, who had lived solely with their mother since 2005. "From the child development perspective, it seems extraordinary," she said. "It seems the judge is saying that mothers must make their children happy to see their fathers, or else they will be punished. I don't think such punishment has any regard to the children's wellbeing."

Mr Butler said the changes to the Act meant fathers were getting better outcomes than they had previously. "You're better off now with a judge than you were before, and you're better off than you would be, if you just accept what your former partner gives you," he said.

Patricia Merkin, who advocates on behalf of women in Family Court disputes, said the changes were "nothing less than a social engineering experiment to respond to the so-called bias against fathers".

Attorney-General Robert McClelland admitted more may need to be done to stop custodial parents denying access to the children.

He said the Australian Institute of Family Studies was conducting an evaluation of the way the new shared care rules are working.

It would particularly look at whether the desire to reduce child support obligations was behind the actions of parents seeking shared care, the standard piece of denigration emanating from women's groups.

Also in March 2009 the Family Court issued its first statistical analysis of its orders. It revealed that fathers who want custody of their children had more success in the Court than by trying to strike a deal with their ex-partners.

In a break with conventional wisdom, fathers were twice as likely to get majority custody of their children if they took their fight to the court.

The Court warned that the majority of cases were dealt with by the Federal Magistrates Court and they only dealt with the most difficult cases. But their review showed fathers were given majority custody in 17 per cent of litigated cases, but only in 8 per cent of those settled by consent, or early agreement, with the mothers.

The review of the shared parental responsibility reforms of 2006 showed that in 14 per cent of litigated cases, the father received between 30 and 45 per cent of custody. This figure fell to 11 per cent for early agreements.

The review also showed that if fathers are given less than 30 per cent custody, abuse and violence were the main alleged reasons. And about one in 12 court cases end with an order that a child should spend time with their grandparents.

Only 15 per cent of the litigated cases and 19 per cent of the consent agreements ended in orders for 50-50 care between the parents.

Although mothers continue to be awarded the bulk of custody there was significant change in favour of fathers. In 1997 just 2.6 per cent of divorced parents shared the care of their children.

The biggest group was mothers who were awarded the majority of time with their children - they represented 60 per cent of the litigated cases and 68 per cent of consent cases.

The survey assessed 1,448 of the 6,992 litigated cases in 2007-08, and 2719 of 10,575 cases settled by consent or early agreement.

The biggest group of men, one third, were those awarded less than 30 per cent custody. Abuse and family violence was the main reason in 29 per cent of these matters, followed by entrenched conflict.

Of the 9 per cent of cases in which women were awarded less than 30 per cent custody, mental health was the dominant factor in 31 per cent of cases followed by distance and financial barriers, abuse and family violence.

Substance abuse was cited as a main reason for the Family Court making sub-30 per cent orders. In 6 per cent of litigated cases, the father was ordered to spend no time with their child. The same order applied to only 1 per cent of women.

The information was posted on the Family Court's website yesterday and marked a breakthrough in the court's transparency and public accountability.

"The aim was to encourage parents to consider, where appropriate, reaching an agreement regarding parenting arrangements in the first instance themselves rather than having the court as a first option," the court said. "Given this, it is to be expected that there might be a higher number of shared care or substantial sharing of time cases negotiated outside the courts."

Lone Fathers Association spokesman Barry Williams said in 2005 mothers were awarded custody 83 per cent of the time. "There has been significant improvement," he said.

A national campaign by women's groups to highlight the alleged dangers children faced under the family law culminated in early May 2009 in a number of small rallies around the country. The Safer Family Law campaign was led by author and activist Barbara Biggs. The campaign included 14 videos on YouTube that used actors to portray parents unable to tell their stories. Another video used young actors to tell the stories of two children sent on court-ordered access visits to abusive parents; 10 professionals appeared in the videos; and three journalists spoke about the problems of the court's secrecy provisions.

There came was a spate of stories about fearful women and abusive men, with single mother's groups exploiting their sympathisers and fellow travelers in the mainstream media.

An online petition calling on the Federal Government to amend the law to better protect children has garnered several thousand names. It called on Australia to follow New

Zealand where the onus had been shifted to allegedly violent parents having to prove they were safe before custody or access was considered.

"I've had 2000 emails, some of them harrowing Family Court stories of how children were taken from mothers who were trying to protect them," Biggs said.

She said many mothers were in a bind - either lacking corroborating evidence of the violence or sexual abuse, or liable to be labeled "alienating, hysterical or neurotic" if they took their children to psychologists or sexual assault counselors.

It was the first many fathers had heard of Barbara Biggs. It wouldn't be the last.

Family Court Chief Justice Diana Bryant told the Sydney Morning Herald provisions in the Act on family violence were not ineffective. She said in every case in which violence is alleged the court must weigh up the benefit to the child of having a meaningful relationship with both parents and the need to protect the child. Neither principle was more important. "It is a matter of the evidence and facts in each case."

As well, the standard of evidence required to prove allegations of violence was less than in other jurisdictions. Hearsay and opinion were allowed. "Even so, the violence must be proven to some extent, and at least to the extent that the court can find that there is an unacceptable risk" to the child, she says. "Courts are not entirely evidence-free zones."

Adele Horin reported that CJ Bryant had written to the Attorney-General Robert McClelland suggesting "urgent consideration" be given to repealing parts of the Act because of "strong" misunderstanding in the community.

Of particular concern to the Chief Justice was a section dealing with the awarding of costs against the party who maliciously raised untrue allegations of violence or made untrue denials.

She said it was widely and wrongly interpreted in the community to mean that costs would be awarded against the party if they could not prove the act complained of actually occurred.

Because of concerns about this section, people were "rarely" filing the form required under the Act to bring allegations of family violence to the attention of the court, the judge said. "I understand the reason is that parties are concerned that they will be ordered to pay costs if they do not prove the allegations of violence. Basically, this section is only relevant in cases where a person makes a malicious allegation that is found to be untrue and applies with equal force to false denials."

She also wanted the Attorney-General to review the sections of the Act that had promoted the view parties will be considered "unfriendly" if they raise allegations of violence.

One section, for example, required the court to consider the "willingness of each child's parents to facilitate and encourage a close and continuing relationship between the child and the other parent".

"It may be the myth that raising allegations of violence will result in a mother being branded unfriendly arises because of these sections," Bryant said. "I do not fully understand how some of these shibboleths have come about. However, the fact they

have is concerning and, in my view, makes it essential for the Attorney-General to have a close look at whether there should be some amendments to overcome these problems."

Interesting that at taxpayer's expense the story should be leaked to probably the most sympathetic journalist in the country, Adele Horin at that bible of the chattering classes The Sydney Morning Herald.

It was impossible to imagine any other Chief Justice in any other jurisdiction running a public commentary on the legislation and the need or otherwise for change, but this was family law.

It was a very long way from the days when Diana Bryant appeared happy to come on to Dads On The Air - and happy to promote shared parenting as a rational alternative after divorce.

Now we had a Chief Justice who appeared to want to turn the clock back.

With so much tax payer funded fear mongering and so much misinformation being spread by so many different government funded groups, Bryant's words were condemned within the fatherhood movement as inflammatory and inappropriate. Not a word, not one word, of concern was expressed for the thousands of broken hearted men whose relationships with their children had been destroyed by false allegations.

I have met some of those men. At one stage the former head of the Australian Family Law Reform Association Max King determinedly, with a great deal of documentation, tried to demonstrate to me the process by which so many men were falsely accused of sexually molesting their children, based on no evidence at all. One psychiatrist or family report writer might raise a sliver of doubt; subsequent report writers amplify it. Often there was no evidence whatsoever at the base of the allegation. Often enough the report writers had never even met the father, basing their reports solely on the mother's word or on previous reports by writers who had also never met the father or interviewed the children.

One day, when I was on holidays with my kids in the country beyond the Blue Mountains where he lived, Max travelled out to see me with boxes of documents. He had with him a man who lost contact with his children because it was alleged he had put his daughter on his shoulders in a play park in a suggestive manner.

There were too many others, ample examples hysteria and false allegations destroying lives. In the secretive atmosphere of the Family Court of old, the one we were told acted in the best interests of children, these allegations had been allowed to thrive. Max told me of how at the meetings of the Association they would sometimes ask the room: how many of you have been accused of molesting your children? Sometimes most of the men in the room would put up their hands.

Bryant's statements provoked a rapid response.

The Shared Parenting Council of Australia put out a media release "Family Law Court 'Soft' on Justice":

It read: "Recent media reports that the Chief Justice of the Family Court, Diana Bryant has called upon the Attorney-General to give "urgent consideration" to repealing one of

the most fundamental protections in the recent Family Law Act amendments is almost without precedent and a recipe for wholesale failure in the integrity and operation of the Family Court System.

"The Chief Justice's call to repeal amendments to the Family Law Act in relation to awarding of costs against the party that maliciously raises untrue allegations of violence or makes untrue denials, will re-open the floodgates to increased perjury, false allegations and flies in the face of findings by two parliamentary enquiries, and natural justice - with an end result diametrically opposed to a child's best interest", Ed Dabrowski, Federal Director of the Shared Parenting Council said.

"Without any supporting evidence, that there is in fact any harm at all being created by these reasonable and well accepted amendments in the 2006 legislation, the Chief Justice has engaged in a media campaign to undo one of the fundamental protections available to any litigant, anywhere in any other law jurisdiction in the world.

"It is even more curious that notwithstanding that these amendments had been foreshadowed since 2003 and enacted in 2006, the Chief Justice herself has only just released guidelines for Judges, "The Family Violence Best Practice Principles", to guide the judiciary in this regard.

"It would appear that any deficiency in the lodging of 'Notification of Abuse' forms should rest with a failure to educate lawyers and those members of Family Relationship Centres. If such education is required, then the education of practitioners in the correct use of these forms should be enacted, not the wholesale repeal of this fundamental protection in law", Dabrowski said.

"Surely, the Chief Justice couldn't be condoning the re-establishment of a 'penalty free' process for one parent to make false and malicious allegations against the other - this defies every process of law in the Westminster system. If any amendment would be required, it should be to ensure that perjury is punished by criminal sanction, not the repealing of research based amendments made just some three years ago."

The Shared Parenting Council maintained that such a retrograde step would encourage a wholesale rise in mischievous allegations made in Court and to Child Protective Services. It would increase the frequency and severity of false statements including false allegations of abuse and violence against parents and grandparents who were simply seeking to continue parenting and maintain contact with their children and grandchildren after separation and divorce.

In an adversarial system allegations are routinely reported to the courts in case documents and it is for a Judicial Officer to determine the basis of these allegations.

According to Mr Dabrowski, "the Family Court had proven reluctant to sanction or fine parents in apparent defiance of the new laws, yet had shown no hesitation in segregating accused parents from their children and making no-contact orders on hearing untested allegations or removing one parent when entrenched conflict was a case factor".

The Shared Parenting Council of Australia received many complaints from parents where the Court's 'cautionary' approach to allegations resulted in impaired or total loss of contact without the allegations ever being proved or even investigated.

Mr Dabrowski lamented that "legally unimpeachable parents were being treated like criminals and easily lose their children, without due process, at the discretion of judges. Diana Bryant is in effect saying that the most hostile parent ought to have the power to veto the other parent's involvement, no matter what. She is advocating the law change to grant permission for one of the litigants to come in with fabricated or at best flimsy allegations which would veto the child's best interest, to veto shared parenting, a remedy that fosters the best interests of children and is otherwise encouraged by the law.

"The new legislation in 2006 was designed specifically to ensure that children did not lose all contact with one parent and to ensure both parents understood their responsibilities in parenting after separation. Any watering down of the section relating to a "willingness of each child's parents to facilitate and encourage a close and continuing relationship between the child and the other parent" will be vigorously opposed."

The group Fathers4Equality also put out a release, with the heading: "...because lying in the Family Court is CHILD ABUSE".

"A case of poor judgment" the release called Bryant's comments, saying she had launched an extraordinary attack on Australia's internationally regarded 2006 Family Law amendments.

According to Ash Patil, President of shared parenting group Fathers4Equality, "These provisions in the family law act were specifically implemented to reduce the epidemic of false allegations and parental alienation that permeate every corridor of the Family Law Courts, to the clear detriment of the innocent children caught in the cross-fire. But Bryant wants them removed, and fails to explain how the innocent victims of maliciously false allegations would be protected without them."

Spokesman James Adams added: "What is more astonishing it seems is that unlike the parliamentary committee that recommended these laws in the first place, the Chief Justice has not consulted widely before making such an extraordinary intervention. In fact she has not consulted with any fathers' groups at all. Rightly or wrongly, Bryant will now be perceived to have compromised views on this issue, denying her the opportunity to have played a unifying force in the process of family law reform in this country, much like the wasted opportunities of her predecessor."

"These provisions have been specifically implemented to reduce the disturbingly common practices by some separated parents in making contrived and sinister allegations in Court against the other parent, and to otherwise engage in concerted efforts to destroy the relationship between the child and the other parent.

"This is done knowing full well the children will be irrevocably harmed in the process, both psychologically and emotionally. Yet it goes on and will continue to go on given human nature, unless we have laws to help it stop."

Another spokesman, James Adams, said the provisions were agreed to by a bi-partisan parliamentary committee that went around Australia canvassing the views of all Australians. "Finally this committee was so appalled at the extent of institutional abuse in the Family Court that it recommended measures to protect innocent children and parents who were victims of contrived allegations and parental alienation by spiteful expartners," he said. "But Bryant wants to override the will of the Australian people and

the will of Parliament and to completely remove all disincentives against lying in the Family Court. A request to the Attorney-General to implement an educational campaign about these provisions would go a long way in addressing any existing misconceptions, and would be a more measured and effective approach to the issue at hand."

The group concluded: "In reference to a recent campaign that has promoted a less than accurate reflection of these new laws, we would ask the Chief Justice to consider making a public statement to the effect, as is the case, that no evidence exists of any escalation of child abuse as a result of the new amendments. This would be an important statement from the Chief Justice in the interests of an informed community discussion on this matter, and would help ensure that the debate is discussed in terms of facts, not innuendo."

Sadly, the apparent moves back to an environment where false allegations were allowed to run unchecked reminded me of an article I had once written on the subject, called Christmas Day. Much of it, unfortunately, was still relevant.

It went like this:

CHRISTMAS DAY. A POLICE STATION CAR PARK. Malcolm has not seen his nine year old son and six year old daughter for more than a month.

The children don't get out of the car. Their father pushes presents at them through the car window, tries to talk to them. After five minutes, the children are driven off. Malcolm has only seen his son in sessions with a Family Court appointed psychologist since.

Malcolm is one of the many Australians, primarily fathers, accused of sexually abusing their children each week - the atomic bomb of custody disputes.

Like thousands of other fathers; his life has imploded into an expensive nightmare of litigation and conflicting experts.

A senior public servant with special security clearance, he can be trusted with the country's secrets, but not with his own children. While a female child protection worker found no evidence of abuse and condemned the mother's behaviour; it is the crucial family report by the court appointed psychologist, who recommended the father have minimum contact, that Malcolm will have most difficulty overcoming.

Despite their notoriety amongst father's groups for their bias, inaccuracy and unchanging nature over a quarter of a century the Federal government has refused to acknowledge any community concern over their veracity.

These reports, the evidentiary base of Australian family law, are written by court counselors or court appointed psychiatrists and psychologists, who normally interview each of the parties for an hour each. Court research showed judges relied heavily on them as a basis for their judgements. Many of these "experts" spent longer in the witness box than they ever did interviewing the families involved, yet there was no scientific evidence to suggest that interviewing people was the best way to determine a custody issue.

Lone Fathers President Barry Williams said fathers can lose any relationship with their children based on "very biased" reports by court counselors made up of "innuendo or make believe" which they may not even be permitted to see. When a man wants to see

his children they say he is trying to control the woman. It is not true at all. They want to see their kids because they are part of their life. The reports are ill written, foolish and irresponsible."

The divorce industry is now worth an estimated \$5 billion a year, an industry as big as beef, sheep or horse racing. One of the dirty little secrets of the family law industry is that it rests on spurious, often inept, sometimes blatantly dishonest reports from Family Court counselors, psychiatrists and psychologists.

Many of the judicial officers employed within both the Family Court and the Magistrate's Court had a long association with family law and its use of suspect evidence. One magistrate, Judith Ryan, former head of the Family Law unit of Legal Aid, was responsible for the repeated use of Sydney's "big three" Drs Peter Champion, Brent Waters and Chris Rikard-Bell, all favourites of DOCS as well as the Family Court.

At the time Ms Ryan took it upon herself to seek the silencing of National President of Dads Peter Vlug after he appeared on a radio show Life Matters on Radio National. She requested one of her staff to listen to a tape of the broadcast in which the then National President of Dads Against Discrimination Peter Vlug highlighted the issue of false sexual abuse allegations in the Family Court. That Legal Aid employee was then requested to write an affidavit claiming she recognised the voice of Mr Vlug.

"I was asked to go on the program," he said. "False allegations occupy a considerable amount of the court's time and therefore taxpayer's money. It was a matter of public interest."

Despite their importance and the millions of dollars of funding flowing to groups such as the Australian Institute of Family Studies and the Family Law Council, there has never been an audit or academic study of family reports.

National President of Whistle Blowers Australia Dr Jean Lennane said the same misuse of psychiatry occurred in the Family Court as other courts, but its secrecy meant it was less well documented and led to "some very bad miscarriages of justice towards children who are deprived of access to one or other parent on the basis of ... very dubious psychiatric evidence. They are relying on spurious reports and misinformation. The secrecy has allowed enormous abuses of process to develop."

In a landmark case, Blue Mountains solicitor Hal Ginges was recently awarded an undisclosed sum and a public apology from the Department of Community Services over false allegations of sexual abuse of his children involving DOCS officers. Illustrating their close connections, the investigation by DOCS led to orders in the Family Court that the father's contact with his children be restricted and supervised.

"Ultimately the children found their own way back," Mr Ginges said, who practices in the Children's Court and the Family Court. "Things haven't changed. Fathers are still being falsely accused and undertrained officers of DOCS are still taking children away and relying on untested allegations."

Any discussion of the role of psychiatric evidence in the Family Court leads straight to the question of false sexual abuse allegations. For Malcolm, he is caught up in a maze of conflicting affidavits and legalistic complexities. An affidavit from a baby sitter, who notified the police, reports the mother dropping off the children, claiming they had been sexually abused, and then promptly going out on a date.

Malcolm has never been charged or found guilty of anything, but like so many fathers, if the matter ever goes to trial the war of contradictory experts, many of whom may spend more time in the witness box than they ever did interviewing the family, may well be enough, despite the lack of medical evidence, for a judge to entertain "lingering doubts" sufficient to deny him any contact at all with his children until they turn 18.

Very few of those accused of sexual abuse of children are ever convicted; but the allegations prompt a cascade of events from The Child Abuse Industry, to quote the title of a 1980s American book warning that the self referencing and ideologically driven child protection bureaucracy was out of control.

As forensic psychologist Yolande Lucinde wrote in a paper presented to the Australian Academy of Forensic Sciences, the child abuse epidemic "has all the characteristics of mass hysteria, now called moral panic...driven by hysterical beliefs, unvalidated and untrue."

Dr Lucire says that in terms of the numbers of people and resources involved we are in the greatest moral panic since the Salem witch-hunts.

She regards the "so-called substantiations" recorded by welfare departments as nothing more than assertions and notes that in reality child sexual abuse is "very very rare", and only found amongst "very disordered people in disordered families."

"It is quite improbable," she says. "The allegations arise in the context of custody battles. Some studies indicate 80% of the accusing parents have massive personality disorders... probability analysis indicates that any one report is many times more likely to be false than true. The terror that an innocent person might be found guilty, which has traditionally and rightly been the foundation of our justice system, has been replaced by the terror that a guilty man might go free. In a moral panic, hysterical beliefs short-circuit reasoning and an illusory paradigm governs perception. Judges, juries, social workers and doctors fear offending against the newly imposed values, and suppress their own common sense."

With the secrecy legislation protecting the Family Court and closely linked child welfare departments, the richest sources of information on the operation of the court and the nature of the reports is coming from whistleblowers. One former Family Court officer, who worked in the Sydney Registry for 14 years, Bill Sheridan, said: "Whoever pays the piper calls the tune. Some of these reports are almost in the word processor, it is a matter of changing the names around.

"One will describe every parent that comes before them as a 'dysfunctional personality', others will have different quirks. If you went to six different psychiatrists or psychologists you would get six different views.

"By the time they get over their lengthy CVs you will probably find the reports are all on the same lines. From my personal experience watching the 'experts' being crossexamined, I did not think these reports were a good method of determining custody issues.

"The report writers can't help themselves but to twist things, and they get the information supplied to them wrong. They will misinterpret. It is verballing. They do it for the money. There are great financial rewards for their behaviour, in the millions of dollars per year.

"Any false allegation by either parent can be reported as fact. Without any testing at all to gather the truth they will embark on some campaign, such as that the father is oppressive or abusive. They will twist and manipulate the facts. They embellish the evidence. The family reports are not expert evidence, simply opinion. They are doing nothing to assist anyone in any shape or form."

Another retired court officer, distressed by what he witnessed, wrote a book "Child Sexual Abuse Allegations in Australia" which was placed on an international web site outside Australian jurisdiction.

He noted the death of the premise of "innocent until proven guilty" to be replaced by "groundless suspicion, ad hoc accusations, arbitrary judgements and premature condemnation".

"It is my opinion that in the past 15 years the insidious invasion of a child's suggestibility by inept child sexual abuse interviewers has been instrumental in more children becoming victims of manufactured 'sexual abuse' than actual instances of this abuse," he wrote. "A witch-hunt mentality emerged in earnest during the mid-80s as Australia literally became a Little America overnight - a nation of accusers and litigants - adding to the coffers of the legal profession, while depleting the self esteem of thousands of innocent children and adults.

"Too ready access to Legal Aid and the lure of victim's compensation further smoothed the way for this litigious onslaught, aimed mainly against males, as the spectre of child sexual abuse appeared ad nauseum in the media. The dissemination of child protection misinformation by misguided child protection zealots resulted in chaos and confusion, as parents started notifying thousands of alleged cases of child sexual abuse in all States. The reluctance of courts to enforce harsher disciplinary action against inept welfare workers is unconscionable..."

The former court officer spent much of his final months as a court employee at the photocopy machine. In his chapter Child Sexual Abuse and the Family Court he examined in detail the two classic sexual abuse cases "M&M" and "B&B" used by the Court to justify the removal of fathers from their children's lives solely on the basis of unproved allegations.

These cases led to that great judicial catch-all notion of "lingering doubt". The officer also examined what he saw as the "capricious" judicial behind them.

Under these precedents to deny a child any contact with their father after an allegation of sexual abuse had been made it was not necessary to prove that the child has been sexually abused or that the child may be at risk if access were granted.

All that was required was for a trial judge to have a "lingering doubt" as to whether access would or would not expose the child to an unacceptable risk. With many of the family reports sitting on the fence when such allegations were raised, it could be not what was said so much as what was not said that left the father damned and the children without a male parent.

Exploring the situation in NSW, the author looked at the estimated 35,000 cases of allegedly "confirmed" child sexual abuse in the last decade and asked why not one investigative reporter had ever asked the obvious question: "Why is it that, of the

thousands of alleged cases classified as "Actual - Confirmed Child Sexual Abuse", less than three percent resulted in convictions?"

He said that after many years in the court room he had formed the view that the treatment of sexual abuse allegations had created a "kangaroo-court mentality" that was a blatant denial of natural justice.

Thousands of children had been left the subject of interrogation and unwarranted sexual abuse therapies. The former court officer was left in despair at a system which had degenerated to such a degree "at the expense of vulnerable children and innocent adults". He noted as proof that most sexual abuse allegations coming before the court were mischievous the fact that the alleged abuse was never claimed as the reason for the breakup of the marriage.

Over the years, fed up with what they perceived as extremely poor behaviour by Family Court officers and family report writers, a number of men have posted virtually their entire family law cases to the internet.

Accused of molesting his children, one senior academic was threatened with jail for publicising his case. Along with other litigants he was ordered by the Family Court not to contact the United Nations. He defied the court and posted his entire case on the internet. Although denied access to his three children, the academic was never found guilty of anything.

One family report criticised him for becoming obsessed with clearing his name, quoting approvingly another report criticising him for his "lack of appreciation, if not disregard" of his former wife's feelings and the emotional consequence the father's persistent publication of his plight might have on her.

As in so many other cases, the counselor concluded that there was "considerable potential for emotional risk" if the children were to see their father and "regardless of the veracity of the sexual abuse allegations... one questions the benefit to the children of resuming any form of contact with their father..."

Transcripts of court proceedings also posted to the internet showed another father struggling before "Her Honour", pointing out the irony that if he had actually been found guilty of sexually abusing his children the affect would be the same: denial of any relationship with his children for more than ten years. Her Honour ordered him to stand back from the bench. There was no apology forthcoming from the court. The father's final words were: "It just seems so unfair".

Campaigner against the abuse of psychiatry in courts Stewart Dean recommended that anyone being interviewed by a court appointed expert should take a support person such as himself to act as independent witness.

"The biggest use of these reports is when the mother wants custody and she alleges pedophilia against the husband. They got away with it for a long time. The women's groups have been coaching women in the steps to take. In that way they were more or less assured to get custody of their children. The clichés were always the same. That has been the biggest misuse in the Family Court.

"Psychiatrists in general have overplayed their hand. Lawyers and psychiatrist feed off each other. The lawyers more than anyone know how crook the psychiatrists are, but

they use them to win or create cases. Cases should not be judged by psychiatrists, but by evidence. "

The close if not incestuous relationship between the psychiatric and legal profession were amply illustrated by a judgement of the Psychologists Registration Board of Victoria which deregistered cocaine addicted psychologist and Family Court favourite Timothy Watson-Munroe.

The Board said it received more complaints over Family Court reports than any other matter. As they were largely prevented from investigation by the secrecy provisions in the legislation, they had resorted to writing to the Court over the matter.

In a sad forerunner to the 44 page judgement, newspapers reported a man's taking the psychologist to the Board after he was denied any contact with his son. The orders made by the Family Court were based on recommendations by Watson-Munroe - who was subsequently deregistered for being of poor character.

Five QCs went as character witnesses for him. He procured his cocaine from a solicitor who gave him briefs. Some of the evidence showed him watching videos of police interviews for the purpose of writing court reports while sniffing cocaine, criticising drugdependent clients while himself high as a kite.

Police tapes record him, referring to lines of cocaine, saying: "There's nothing like the joy of waking up and realising that contrary to...every urge in your body not to leave one, you have in fact left a small one for the morning."

At the time lobby group Men's Rights called on the government to fund a review of all custody orders made as a result of recommendations by Watson-Munroe and urged all fathers who lost their children as a result to consider compensation actions. Nothing happened.

The inaction of professional bodies, medical boards and health care complaint units actively protected corrupt psychiatrists and psychologists. The protection or privileging of experts in the Family Court spilt over into other arenas such as DOCS in NSW, Human Services in Victoria and Family Services in Queensland.

"Psychiatrists and psychologists are employed in particular jurisdictions because they produce the answers that are desired or that fit into the prevailing ideology of the court," said then President Lyn Cottee of the Citizens Commission on Human Rights, a group which campaigns against psychiatric abuses. "They have become a new power elite. Everything they say is taken as gospel no matter in some cases how preposterous.

"In the case of the Family Court, psychiatrists often become the determiner of fact rather than the judge. Character flaws of the preferred parent are overlooked in favour of magnifying and sometimes even fabricating the flaws in the other parent. These unscientific, biased, opinion-based pronouncements are often sufficient for parents to lose any contact with their children."

It was well recognised amongst social scientists that interviewing people was an unreliable form of evaluation, one of the ironies of family reports and the enormous weight placed upon them. There was no evidence to indicate it was an appropriate way determine custody arrangements.

Sanford Braver author of "Divorced Dads: Shattering the Myths" wrote: "There is no evidence that there is a scientific valid way for a custody evaluator to choose the best primary parent. Instead there is convincing evidence that their recommendations merely follow the evaluator's own gender biases."

In the US, Margaret Hagan, author of "Whores of the Court: The Fraud of Psychiatric Testimony", noted in her chapter "In the best interests of the Child" the shock the contributions of the "psycho-experts" often gave to parents. She said a psychological professional who had never met the children could hold their future in his or her hands. One mother lost custody of her children because the judge determined that by refusing to be assessed she had shirked her duty to have her parental fitness assessed by a psychologist.

"It is no step at all to turn...personal value judgements into professional opinions to support the case of a parent making claims..." Ms Hagan wrote.

In Britan The Spectator, in a cover story The Rape of Justice, described the "spurious" if not "incomprehensible" reasons for father's losing contact with their children. "There was the father whose overnight contact with his five-year-old was stopped because 'the child had many mile-stones ahead of him'; another who was denied contact because he 'had to prove his commitment'; another because 'this is the mother's first child'; another because he was 'over-enthusiastic'; yet another because 'the child fell asleep in his car on the way home'....And so on and so, appallingly, on."

A similar litany of disaster and denial of relationships with fathers or less commonly mothers is true of Australia. A father's close relationship with a son is described as "unhealthy"; another parent is described as having a psychiatric condition of unknown name immutable to treatment, another as having a controlling and intensive intelligence, another as being too involved with his children's schooling.

In one report a famous Sydney DOCS and Family Court favourite, psychiatrist Brent Waters, stated that the most disturbing thing was that the parents couldn't see that there was anything wrong with them. They lost all four of their children. In another the mother, who hated the welfare authorities and was admittedly no saint, was described by Peter Champion, another favourite of DOCS and the Family Court, as being arrogant and unable to admit that she was wrong. She lost her two children.

One father, who consulted a string of psychiatrists and psychologists in his battle to rescue his child from an allegedly abusive situation, only got one good report - from the disbarred Watson-Munroe. Another father lost any chance of custody when Watson-Munroe misinterpreted the father's plans for accommodation of his young son. There was no retraction, no apology.

One father lost any contact with his child after a report from a women's health centre, Gunedoo in the Blue Mountains, suggested that the son had no worthwhile relationship with the father, who was never interviewed. Another accused the father of harassing his son at school without any evidence at all. Another suggested the father should not be granted shared parenting because it might give him hope of reconciling with the mother. Another psychiatric report stated he couldn't understand why the father was putting the mother through the stress of a trial he could not win.

The story concluded: "Along with the contradicting experts, Malcolm and his ex-wife's affidavits also contradict each other. Amidst the sad, horrific battle of contradictory

experts, one of the father's affidavits reports the child saying to her father: 'Mummy said that you touched my fanny, but you didn't, did you Daddy?' For him and for his children, as for so many others, the agony of Australian family law will never be over."

In May 2009 Dads On The Air was asked to speak at a forum organised by a group known as The Fellowship of the Round Table on the subject: "Family law – is the man the loser?"

I found myself sitting next to the poster girl of the anti-shared movement in Australia, Barbara Biggs. She was a former prostitute, author of a number of books about her life, property developer and all round colourful character who had seized on family law as a cause for reasons none of us could understand. Her claims that the shared parenting laws were forcing children into abusive relationships with their fathers were hotly disputed, but unfortunately the counter argument was not getting any play in the media.

Guests on the program had previously criticised her campaign as hysterical, just the latest incarnation of extreme male bashing. But the Safer Family Law Campaign, as Biggs' quest became known, attracted considerable attention.

One of the things you learn going through a jurisdiction like the Family Court as a lone litigant is how not to be bullied or intimidated. DOTA stalwart Peter van de Voorde, the very proud father of five daughters and a passionate critic of the family law system, agreed to share the 20 minute time slot. The event took place in the Jubilee Room at parliament house. Kathleen Swinbourne from the Lone Parents union was originally scheduled to speak at the forum, and we had been relatively unconcerned by this. She was not an impressive public speaker.

Barbara Biggs, on the other hand, was a different kettle of fish. I had always said I would bet money on Swinbourne not appearing at the forum for the simple reason that these people always avoided debating on open ground if they could. I was proven right. She cancelled on the day, throwing the organisers into a spin. They ended up flying Barbara Biggs up from Melbourne. This was the first time I had met her. "Are you nervous?" she asked as we stood next to each other making a cup of tea, after I had confessed to hating public speaking. "No, no," I said, not entirely truthfully but not wishing to show vulnerability. When you're vulnerable people attack.

Cleverly, she insisted with the organisers that she go last, ensuring that her claims could not be challenged. Dads On The Air recorded the evening and spread the results over the next two weeks of shows. We saved up Barbara for the second week, and called it the Barbara Biggs show.

After earnest speeches from family lawyer Mark Youssef, who provided statistics on the slow rate of adoption of shared parenting, and myself, who back grounded the debate, Peter van de Voorde gave an impassioned speech on the harm being done to parents and children by the family law system,

"What drives non=custodial parents like myself is grief, pain and absolute outrage. It saddens me greatly to witness the continuing lack of community awareness because these are human rights violations. Denying its citizens their fundamental human rights, are the policies of a morally failed state which is universally regarded as unacceptable.

"But you see, historically we've been here before many times, and sooner or later, the tide's going to turn. It took many years for the world to recognize the injustices

perpetrated against Indigenous populations, slavery, apartheid, black civil rights and so on. These injustices were also ignored for many decades due to community ignorance.

"Unfortunately we're repeating the same injustices under another name against a different group, and once again witness this same community ignorance.

"Saying SORRY to one deserving dispossessed group, while at the same time completely ignoring the dispossession taking place right under our noses, smacks of hypocrisy.

"According to the latest Australian Bureau of Statistics figure there are now almost 700,000 Australian children who no longer have any meaningful contact with their non-custodial parents. When you add the estimated 1.5 million extended family members such as grandparents, uncles, aunts and cousins who are also denied their ties of kinship with those much loved members of their families, you find that more than 2.6 million of the nation's citizens are already affected.

"Incredibly both parents and children have been forced to go cap in hand to this immoral State institution, for more then 30 years now, only to walk away with bloodied noses. Without parenting rights and stripped of their children and family wealth, which has left them financially and emotionally destitute, many parents are forced to walk away in utter despair or risk facing a jail term. Then to add insult to injury, they are offensively labeled 'deadbeat' parents, and are mercilessly persecuted by heartless child support agencies."

Barbara Biggs, who had already spread her books for sale up the back of the Forum, rose to speak.

She immediately made play out of the fact that she was the only woman on the panel. Out the window went any reasoned discussion. It was fascinating to watch.

As Biggs spoke, hostility within the audience mounted. "Codswollop" shouted the normally reserved Wayne Butler, founder of the Family Law Web Guide and one of the Shared Parenting Council's leading lights. Biggs promptly put him back in his box. After her speech, almost all the questions from the audience were directed at her. In a sense it was a relief.

There was considerable debate within Dads On The Air over whether we should broadcast Barbara Biggs speech and the answers she gave to guestions from the floor.

Several people warned me against it, but as the Program Director it was my call. My thinking was that everyone knew what we thought; but most people hadn't had the opportunity to hear Barbara Biggs. All most people knew of her was that she kept popping up in newspapers criticising men and characterising them as abusers. I decided to run her in full and title the program The Barbara Biggs Show. As far as I am concerned "let them hang themselves" is a potent strategy. By exposing her extreme male bashing views to the light surely people would see how deranged the so-called "safer family law" campaign really was.

Noting that Barbara Biggs had become the figurehead for the anti-shared-parenting movement, our flyer for the show read: "Family law reformers around the country have been alarmed at the scurrilous campaign, including a number of demonstrations outside family courts and other locations, to return family law to the dark ages when more than

half of all children entering the Family Court arena rarely if ever saw their fathers again and almost no fathers were ever given any substantial time with their children.

The campaign is being conducted under the guise of preventing domestic violence against women and sexual abuse against children. Biggs claims that the shared parenting laws have forced children to spend time with abusive parents, but her target is clearly fathers. One simple point reformers make is that child abuse is committed by both genders and is a crime, it is a police matter, but Biggs only focuses on sexual abuse of children ignoring homicide, infanticide, neglect, emotional and physical abuse where women make up the majority of perpetrators. Most sexual abuse of children occurs at the hands of other siblings, step- parents, mother's boyfriends or de factos and other relatives. Fathers are the least likely to sexually abuse their children. For the vast majority of family law cases, the research is clear: children benefit from a continued relationship with both parents after separation.

"Barbara Biggs has made a career out of her colourful life, including alleging she was sold as a sex slave by her grandmother at 14 as well doing stints as a prostitute, mental health patient and property developer. Her books include: In Moral Danger, The Journey Home, The Accidental Renovator and Money and Sex: How To Get More. Whether Biggs is a dangerous hysteric promoting irrational hatred against men or a true champion of the nation's abused children, you can decide for yourself.

Surprisingly Barbara Biggs said at the forum the Child Support Agency should be abolished as it causes more trouble than it's worth. Most fathers would agree! As well, interesting for a feminist advocate, she claimed that about 30% of all child sexual abuse cases were perpetrated by women. At last we saw a leading feminist figure admitting that abuse was perpetrated by both genders.

"Ms Biggs claimed that she wanted to work with fathers and fathers groups in her campaign for safer family law. But within 24 hours the most virulent of the anti-father websites, Anonymoms, with which Biggs appeared closely linked, was frothing at the mouth that men would dare speak at parliament house.

They invited readers to click on a link to the song Who Let The Dogs Out? Very funny. May we gently suggest that if you really want to work with fathers, the first step might be not to call them dogs.

Many of her critics are concerned about the anti-male tone which permeates Ms Bigg's work and the hatred displayed in her campaigning. Here is a sample from In Moral Danger: 'I am still staring guys back but I can't help buying into what I know is in their heads about me. I am trying to assert myself on behalf of women but when I see the look in their eyes and the whole thing fucks with my head. The more I have to look away the worse I feel. Then I start noticing how guys sit on the bus with their legs wide apart like they own the place when we women are all squished up being polite making room for other passengers. The more I hate guys for taking up so much space in the world the more I hate myself for being such a worm about not meeting their eyes in the street."

The Safer Family Law campaign, with Biggs as one of its front women, kicked off in May 2009.

The Sunday Herald Sun observed: "For both sides, the battle is emotional and personal and could easily descend into acrimony. And, as in all emotional exchanges, sometimes fact, myth and assumption become blurred in the haze of propaganda and spin."

Chief Justice Bryant told the newspaper there was a "tension" between what the Family Law Act described as "the benefit to the child of having a meaningful relationship with both of the child's parents" and "the need to protect the child from physical or psychological harm from being subjected to or exposed to abuse, neglect or family violence".

This tension had to be determined by judges on evidence - not populist public campaigns. "Protection of children should need no debate," she said. "We live in a society where we regard the protection of children as being vitally important and we want our courts and other institutions to support that position."

But she realised theory and reality differed sometimes: "It is a controversial topic that usually breaks down on gender lines."

As an example of the protests Barbara Biggs had been organising, in June 2009 a group of "blood-stained" and bandaged mothers paraded outside NSW Parliament House in Sydney, calling on the Family Court to stop ordering children to see abusive parents. With arms in fake slings, artificially bruised faces and broken dolls in prams, about 30 mums took part in the "Bandage Parade" hoping to highlight the danger of giving unsupervised custody of children to abusive parents after separation. "He Can't Bash Mum and Be A Good Dad Kids Deserve Safe Parents" read one of their largest placards. Why the group was demonstrating outside a state parliament over federal legislation is anybody's guess.

"We have a systemic failure when more than 15,000 Australian children are ordered into ongoing contact with parents the court itself has deemed violent and abusive," Barbara Biggs claimed to reporters in her role as spokeswoman for the National Council for Children Post-Separation. "This has happened because of hastily written shared parenting laws and the Family Court turning a blind eye to abuse when it comes to its duty of care for Australian children."

Ms Biggs said the marches would continue until the end of the year, when family law was expected to be reviewed. She said parents were being forced to conceal claims that their child was being abused, for fear of losing custody of their children. "If you can't prove abuse beyond reasonable doubt, then you have to pay the court costs and risk losing custody of the child because you are deemed a dangerous parent for poisoning your child against the father or mother. "You have to make a choice - agree to some custody with an abusive ex-partner or risk losing custody. What do you do?

"We are a group who care about the physical, emotional and psychological wellbeing of our children and until that is part of family law - not the parents' right to access their children - we will continue to have problems."

Amazingly it appeared the Labor government had the appetite to overthrow the modest bipartisan reforms of the Howard government it had in the end so readily agreed to and which despite their weaknesses had in fact encouraged fathers to be involved in their children's lives after divorce, as early statistics from both the Family Court and the Child Support Agency had demonstrated.

Father's groups dismissed Ms Biggs claims as dangerous, hysterical and wildly inaccurate and pointed out they could equally parade any number of fathers before the cameras who have spent months if not years fighting desperately to rescue their children from terrible situations.

DOTA editorialised: "The Family Court, with no investigative capabilities beyond its own coterie of suspect experts, is the last place for genuine cases of abuse to be handled. Meanwhile, the collateral damage of these vicious campaigns could be the destruction of thousands upon thousands of children's relationships with their falsely accused fathers. Wherever you stand, whatever you think, the coming months will no doubt be chaotic as the campaign against fathers escalates."

To counter balance the Biggs poison, the following week we called the show The Case For Shared Parenting, and interviewed amongst others Maurice Vellacott, the Canadian MP who was introducing shared parenting legislation into the Canadian Parliament. We subsequently interviewed an Australian father who was jailed for a month for inadvertently playing golf next to a sporting field where his son, unbeknown to him, was playing soccer.

Our editorial read: "With moves clearly afoot to wind back the modest reforms of the previous government on shared parenting legislation designed to encourage a relationship between both parents and children after separation, we take a look at the very strong case for shared parenting as the norm post-separation, with advocates arguing it works best for both children and parents - as well as saving the government a great deal of money by encouraging single parents to get off welfare and into work. The main obstruction to the commonsense notion of shared parenting comes from government bureaucrats and the family law industry itself."

Canadian Member of Parliament Maurice Vellacott had just introduced a bill promoting shared parenting. A poll he commissioned, conducted by Nanos Research, showed that 78% of Canadians supported equal shared parenting, with a high of 86% support in the province of Quebec. Slightly more women than men support equal shared parenting. Surveys in Australia had shown similar high levels of support.

In June of 2009 Caroline Overington at The Australian reported on a paper by retired Family Court judge Richard Chisholm rebuking the public impression that the care of children was now expected to be shared after divorce. He stated that the shared parenting laws introduced by the Howard government in 2006 did not guarantee divorced fathers the right to a 50-50 split with their children because "such an arrangement is not always in the best interests of the children."

As if, Dads On The Air sighed loudly on radio, the Family Court had ever acted in the best interests of children.

Already it seemed that golden era, when the Sydney Morning Herald trumpeted shared parenting on its front page as a bold and necessary reform was a millennium ago. Political, media and community support for change had been widespread in those seemingly far off days.

Dispelling the myth which had arisen in the public imagination that family law was now fairer and the manifest difficulties of the past had been resolved, Chisholm reiterated that the legislation only required the Family Court to consider whether equal time with both parents suited a particular child.

The report followed on from a previous story reporting that fathers expecting 50-50 time splits with their children were overwhelming staff at the Family Relationship Centres, where all separating parents were now expected to go before approaching the Family Court.

Staff at the centres said a "pub law" belief about a father's right to a 50-50 time split had taken hold in the community.

But Chisholm said the shared parenting laws, introduced in 2006 and now under review, never guaranteed anybody a 50-50 time split. In a paper titled Shared Care and Children's Best Interests presented at a Legal Aid NSW family law conference, Professor Chisholm said there was "a lot of evidence to support the idea that children will generally benefit if they experience a loving and involved relationship with both parents after separation.

"There is also evidence that children care a lot about their parents and generally want to remain closely involved with both of them."

Professor Chisholm reiterated that the Howard government amendment "envisaged the non-resident parent participating in various aspects of the child's life, for example being involved in the child's daily routine".

"But the provisions about equal time did not reflect what most expert researchers believed was important for children. What seems to matter most to children, and what seems most important for their healthy development, has more to do with what happens when they are with each parents, and in particular whether they feel loved and cared for.

"The idea of equal time makes a lot of sense in terms of adult entitlement.

"As far as I can tell, it does not reflect what research scholars believe is important for children's development."

He urged academics to do more research into the benefits of shared parenting, particularly in cases where parents are in conflict. He said: "We need to know much more about the nature of conflict, the extent to which children are being exposed to it, and the extent to which parents and the courts might be treating the legislation as requiring some form of shared parenting, even when it is damaging to the children."

The Australian Institute of Family Studies was conducting a review of the Howard government amendments, which Overington claimed had been the subject of mounting complaint.

If the review recommended changes, Professor Chisholm said, "I hope the focus will be on how it impacts on families, rather than how it impacts on voters and lobby groups".

Throughout the first half of 2009 the Rudd Labor government stuck to the official line that they were awaiting a report from the Australian Institute of Family Studies, sometimes referred to at DOTA as the Institute of Feminist Studies because of its historical biases. While there was concern amongst family law reformers, there were no sustained protests. Most separated fathers were simply getting on with their own lives. There was none of the momentum that had built up in the lead-up to the passing

of the shared parenting legislation in 2006. The general public thought the problem had been fixed.

By July fears were increasing that change was afoot. At a public forum Sue Price from the Men's Rights Agency confronted the Attorney-General Robert McClelland over the issue and was told she could make a submission to the Institute of Family Studies if she wished. But a phone call to Moloney revealed they were not interested in public submissions.

Incensed, she put out a press release which stated in part: "The Attorney-General says he will be guided by the report from AIFS which, disturbingly, is only taking submissions from a select and 'anointed' group of organisations — rather than the broader community. Over the years the judiciary has overwhelmingly supported maternal preference, and the now discredited 'tender years doctrine', losing sight of the need to assess the suitability of each parent and the benefits to be gained by a child still having both parents in their life.

"The Australian Institute of Family Studies will not, according to researcher Lawrie Moloney, be extending an invitation to men's and fathers' groups to contribute to the research. The rights of hundreds-of-thousands of men, not to mention their children, have been cruelly struck down."

It appeared clear the mandarins were back in control; and the stitch up was in process.

But as the December deadline approached the government, at least on the face of it, became concerned the AIFS report might be too neutral. In our interviews with Moloney he had always been very reserved and rigidly academic when queried on his own support for family law reform. He would stick to the evidence.

It was to the dismay of every father's group in the country that in July the Attorney-General Robert McClelland appointed former Family Court judge Richard Chisholm to head another inquiry into family law, focusing on issues of violence.

The former Family Court judge's hostility to the shared parenting laws, his close relationship to the former Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson and his attitude towards separated fathers were well known.

This was the same Chisholm who at the 12th National Family Law Conference Chisholm had started his talk about the Family Law Act amendments by singing: "It seems rather blokey the men won the fights, but now they all tell us it's about children's' rights..."

Chisholm had previously declared the new legislation should make no difference to the court's outcomes because of its continuing obligation to act in the best interests of children.

Chisholm's appointment by the Rudd government was compared by family law reformers to putting the fox in charge of the chicken coop. It was a classic government strategy, to appoint a supposedly independent figure whose biases concurred with their own in order to produce a report to their liking.

Author of Shared Parenting and former President of the Shared Parenting Council of Australia Michael Green QC, who had never been consulted by the so-called experts running the Labor government's review of the legislation, put out a statement:

"The worst is happening: the appointment of Richard Chisholm to review the legislation will inevitably see regressive change to the shared parenting provisions. The Labor Party have always listened to the feminists and their social policy is heavily influence by them.

"Now is the time to start writing to your federal members and the Attorney-General. Remind them that we can harness over a million votes at the next election. The future of over a million children is at stake."

Overington reported in a front page story on July 24 that the Attorney-General had pledged to make changes to the Howard government's "contentious" shared parenting laws - and to the entire family law system - to ensure the safety of children after divorce."

Exploiting private tragedy, McClelland once again cited the sad story of Darcey Freeman as a reason for the review. "There will always be differing perspectives about how our family law system should function. That's especially true for those individuals and groups directly affected by the laws and processes."

But he said the Rudd government's priority was the safety and wellbeing of children, which may not always mean equal, or a lot of, time with both parents.

"If it becomes clear that current laws and practices may jeopardise the safety of families and children, we must work together to address these shortcomings. It is paramount that our family law system is capable of identifying and responding to violence.

Overington claimed the decision to intervene came after "an avalanche of complaints about the way the family law system is working, particularly in relation to the custody of children."

She went on to record that several prominent women from Kevin Rudd's front bench, including Minister for the Status of Women Tanya Plibersek and Health Minister Nicola Roxon, were concerned about the way family law was operating, fearing the laws requiring the Family Court to presume the best interests of a child were served by a meaningful relationship with both parents after divorce were forcing children into damaging shared parenting arrangements.

It was, hook line and sinker, the story feminist lobby groups wanted him to tell.

Overington copped considerable criticism and claims of bias from fathers groups amidst allegations she was misusing her privileged position as a journalist on the national newspaper to run a campaign against shared parenting. In a five day period mid-2009 stories included "Family Law experts slate shared-parenting", "Flaws in John Howard's parenting law", "Agony of children at divorce has clout" and "Parent law ties women to men". While a confused complaint to the Australian Press Council did not proceed there was barely a single father's group or father's representative who did not complain that their comments were either misreported or taken out of context.

Whatever her failings may or may not have been, she remained abreast of the news and with a clear eye for controversy. It was a point the men's lobby groups, inexperienced in the ways of the media and passionate if not occasionally obsessive about their cause, failed to appreciate.

The story on McClelland's moves was followed by another headlined: "Divorced dads fear rollback of parent laws."

Now it was time for at least some of the other side of the story.

Overington opened with the salvo: "The shared parenting laws that have given divorced fathers more time with their children will be rolled back because of the power of left-wing feminist women in Kevin Rudd's cabinet."

She quoted Sue Price lamenting that "15 years of progress in getting fathers and children to spend time together is about to be undone".

"I met with the Attorney-General Robert McClelland a few weeks ago, and it was clear to me that these laws are being rolled back.

"The Rudd government say they are reviewing the law, but basically the law will change because in the Labor government there are a number of women who are well and truly indoctrinated in a 1970s feminist movement background, and they do not value the role of men in society.

"Tanya Plibersek pushes domestic violence based on incorrect data. Nicola Roxon dances a merry dance around men. The fact is that children are at far greater risk from their mothers. Mothers kill more children than fathers, and that's a fact."

In a statement Family Court Chief Justice Diana Bryant said she supported the review of "how the courts manage the important issues of violence in family law matters: "I welcome any suggestions as to how we can improve with system."

On the other hand Ed Dabrowski, of the Shared Parenting Council, was dismayed, saying: "Vocal minority groups, mostly women, have latched on to a few cases and are now saying the shared parenting laws are leading to situations that are loaded with domestic violence.

"That is not the case, and if there is to be a review, it ought to be a public review. They should have a full inquiry and let's see what the public, including fathers, think about going back to the old days."

NSW Acting Attorney-General Verity Firth entered the fray, saying there "seems to have been considerable problems" with the new shared parenting law in reconciling a child's right to a "meaningful relationship" with both parents "and the protection of the child from exposure to violence".

Ms Firth said there was some evidence that a "very strong pro-contact culture had arisen even where the safety of children couldn't be guaranteed".

Jen Jewel Brown, of the National Council for Children Post-Separation, a single mother's lobby group, also welcomed the review, saying the new Family Law Act was working as a "wrecking ball for many damaged children and their parents, in particular, as they try to re-establish themselves after the breakdown of abusive relationships".

She said mothers had grown reluctant to raise allegations of violence in the Family Court because they feared being "accused of raising false allegations or not promoting a meaningful relationship with the other parent", which can mean they lose custody or face the entire bill for court costs.

The chairman of the Family Law Council, John Wade, said there was an "appetite for change" and "a feeling that we need to look at it again, and see whether it's working", but any changes were "bound to be controversial because it's the area of law that most Australians have contact with, either themselves or through their relatives."

Without any public consultation, and zero consultation with father's or family groups, it was clear the appetite for change was coming solely from the mandarins and certain government funded women's groups. There could have been no clearer example of the gulf between the mandarins and the masses, who by and large appeared to still strongly support shared parenting.

There were many impassioned and furious responses to the government's moves to wind back the legislation.

Dads On The Air's own Peter van de Voorde, for example, wrote: "Why are we so surprised that the current crop of legislators have turned out no different then the last lot? Have we forgotten that it was the whole of Parliament who voted for the watered down, ineffective changes to the destructive Family Laws, which have continued to plague our society for the past 35 years? Now they are looking at rolling them back!

"The suggestion has been made that we all write letters to our politicians, but "Hello" we have been doing that for the past 35 years and it has proved a useless exercise, which has brought about no effective change."

Van de Voorde went on to state that the Parliament and its attendant bureaucracies were stacked to the rafters with those driving their own personal agendas regarding what was best for the nation's parents and their children. The wishes of the vast majority of the general public had been ignored while at the same time voices of reason and logic had been ignored or ridiculed.

"If anyone should be in doubt about the direction of this "back to the future" Australian Government, one needs to look no further, then the appointment by our current AG, of former Family Court judge Richard Chisholm to review family law processes.

"This relic of the disgraced "Nicholson" era, who happily sang songs at a Family Law convention, making fun of the despair of the nation's responsible fathers and their children, who were being forcibly separated by him and his cronies, is now going to advise our Government on what is in the best Interests of our children".

"These destructive relics of a bygone era are firmly in the camp of the anti shared parenting lobby."

Late in July, The Australian's legal affairs writer Michael Pelly reported the Family Court Chief Justice Diana Bryant's description of the shared parenting laws as "problematic" and the expectations of fathers as "a concern".

By this stage the government had embarked on three different inquiries into family violence and family law. Three inquiries: yet not one of them invited the contributions of fathers or even the general public.

The Chief Justice also repeated her claims that punitive costs orders for those who raise false allegations of violence have been counter-productive and that women feared being branded "unfriendly".

There was not a single word of concern about the thousands, tens of thousands of men whose lives had been turned to mud by false allegations.

Pelly wrote that her principal issue of concern was "the perception of the reforms, which created a presumption that the best interests of the child were served by a meaningful relationship with both parents after divorce.

"However, at the time of the 2006 reforms, it was sold to the public as an 'equal time' provision rather than a starting point that could be altered due to the circumstances of the case."

"It is problematic in that it is creating problems in the community because people do not understand the Act," the Chief Justice said. "It's not seen as a concern inside the court, but the expectations of the parties are a problem. Chief Justice Bryant also said it "may have led to misunderstandings and may dissuade women from raising issues of violence and abuse. There is also concern that they might be branded 'unfriendly' if they raise allegations of violence and that they don't pursue them because of that."

DOTA editorialised that on the face of it this represented bias on the part of a woman who, with her handsome government salary, was meant to be representing everyone neutrally.

This was backed by senior family lawyers who said the fathers in particular came to them with firm expectations.

"We have these terrible expressions, which say there shall be a presumption of joint responsibility," said Stephen Winspear of the Victorian Law Institute. "That is not joint time but as soon as it says the word 'joint' people jump on it and think they have got all these rights. You have to be careful; language is dangerous," he said.

The editor of Australian Family Lawyer, Ian Kennedy, agreed: "The sausage is fine. It's the sizzle that is causing the problem."

The head of the family law section of the Law Council, Geoff Sinclair, drew attention to section 117AB of the Family Law Act which deals with costs orders where false allegations are made.

"It should not be there," said Mr Sinclair. "It may stop people raising issues they are legitimately concerned about."

The Australian Law Reform Commission had by this stage joined The Australian Institute of Family Studies and former Family Court judge Richard Chisholm in conducting an inquiry into the shared parenting laws and family violence at the behest of the Rudd government.

The Commission had been formally asked to develop a national legal framework to tackle family violence.

In our weekly flyer we wrote:

"Arrogantly, the government is not even pretending to consult dads. One report is by the Australian Institute of Family Studies. The next is by the Law Council of Australia, whose feminist stances are also well known. And finally retired Family Court judge Richard Chisholm is conducting another review. His hostility to shared parenting is equally well known and he is perceived in the separated dads community as displaying the worst characteristics of the old style of Family Court, which almost invariably treated fathers with contempt.

"A better choice than Chisholm would have been Michael Green QC, co-author of the book Shared Parenting. That this government is prepared to overthrow the popular reforms to our despised family law system and return the country to the dark ages when the majority of fathers entering the court rarely if ever saw their children again defies belief. The government's kow towing to the wild exaggerations of the taxpayer funded domestic violence industry and the peddling of hysterical hatred against men has sickened many."

DOTA editorialised that the Family Court was directly involved in the campaign against the reforms, which it had never welcomed. Always a law unto itself, the Court had brooked no criticism of its operations. The reforms encouraging it to treat fathers with some measure of dignity after its long history of treating them dismissively had been imposed upon the Family Court by the legislature for the simple reason that there had been overwhelming disquiet in the community over its conduct. The reforms did not sit well within the Court itself. They were only ever adopted reluctantly and the Court appeared to do all it could to circumvent them. The slow rate of adoption of shared parenting despite the widespread support for such an option from the public was ample evidence of this. It continued a long history of refusing to accept responsibility for its own poor reputation and doing its best to ignore the will of Parliament.

As evidence of the Family Court's direct involvement in and even manipulation of the campaign to turn back the shared parenting laws, under the headline "Court lets children and mother hide from father" The Age newspaper ran a story in late July 2009 which the Family Court had specifically alerted them to. It was a case where the Court had granted a woman and her two young children permission "to go into hiding and change their identity to escape her 'violent, abusive and controlling' former partner."

The newspaper reported the court's use of people's private tragedies for propaganda purposes without question.

Carol Nader wrote that the Family Court had upheld the woman's complaints that she and her children had endured a history of domestic violence and said the family could move from their home in Tasmania to anywhere in Australia without telling the father of their new location.

"The father had sought shared parental responsibility, where the children would live with their mother but he would spend time with them on alternate weekends, one evening a week during school term, and for half of school holidays and special occasions. But last week, a Family Court judge ordered him to not go within 500 meters of the woman or his children.

The Age reported: "The mother claimed the father had threatened to kill her. But he denied virtually all the allegations of violence, and said they had been made to exclude him from the children's lives."

No evidence was offered to prove that the father was indeed "violent, abusive and controlling" and it was perfectly feasible no such evidence existed beyond the claims of the mother.

Were there any police or medical reports at all to back up the claims? If the case was similar to so many others, the only "evidence" to back up the woman's claims may have been a psychiatric report from one of the Court's controversial and from a father's perspective often complained about family report writers.

We will probably never know the truth about this case, as we will never know the truth about so many others. The thousands upon thousands of trials where fathers had been denied a relationship with their children based solely on false allegations and the word of the mother made fathers and their representative groups naturally sceptical.

One can't help wondering, if the man really was such a bastard, why did this woman not just have a relationship with him, but have two of his children?

DOTA editorialised: "If in the perhaps unlikely circumstance the father genuinely did suffer from anger or violence issues, surely the state had a responsibility to see that he was sent into treatment. Rather than damaging the children by denying them a relationship with him – and no doubt as a consequence with their paternal grandparents as well. Instead we had the Family Court manipulating the media coverage of family law by using a father's sad personal circumstances for propaganda purposes."

The judge said: "In this case the father has been violent, abusive and controlling. This is one of those exceptional cases where spending time with a parent may do more overall harm to the children than good."

Just like that, without a trace of conscience, these children were made fatherless. Quite possibly, in a secretive and unaccountable court remarkably resistant to change, without a trace of evidence either.

How many fathers could the court have equally bowled up to the media who were now seeing and maintaining a relationship with their children when under the previous regime they would be lucky to see them once or twice a year? How many examples of fathers who had fought long and hard to protect their children against the overwhelming bias of the court and the country's child protection agencies could the men's groups have bowled up? If only they had been asked. If only the secrecy provisions of the legislation allowed open debate and reporting.

CHAPTER TEN: THE SWINGS AND ROUNDABOUTS OF 2010

For those concerned about family law in Australia, the year 2010 got off to a lively start with the simultaneous release of three separate reports on shared parenting commissioned by the Rudd government. The reviews were conducted by the Australian

Institute of Family studies, the Family Law Council and former Family Court judge Richard Chisholm. These would be followed later in the year by yet more reports, most falling into the category of feminist advocacy research, relying on small or self-selecting samples or written with a clear agenda in mind. The Australian Law Reform Commission was also busy through much of the year, releasing mid-year a discussion paper "Family Violence - Improving Legal Frameworks" followed in November by their final report "Family Violence - A National Legal Response".

The Howard government after a few failed attempts at family law reform balanced the views of the various bodies which made up the family law industry, some of them formed as part of the Family Law Act and as part of their inquiry by canvassing the views of ordinary people - the men, women and children whose lives can be so dramatically affected by family court decisions. The Labor Party on the other hand turned directly to the established industry and made only limited attempts to consult the views of the public or of lobby groups. By this time most lobby groups had come to the conclusion their views were ignored and only sought to give credence to the government's claim they had consulted widely. They had not. To have consulted more widely would have meant they did not get the answers they sought.

The blizzard of reports was presaged by another piece of classic Family Court behaviour. A mother found by the Family Court to be violent, untruthful, lacking moral values and responsible for the psychological and emotional abuse of her children had been awarded full custody. The father, deemed "principled" and with "much to offer his children", was effectively banned from seeing his daughters. As DOTA had always maintained, violent, drunken, abusive and drug addicted women were given custody of their children every day of the week. It was simply a lie to claim the court was acting in the best interests of children.

The Herald Sun in its report predicted the case would spark renewed debate about family law and the issue of shared parenting.

The father, who could not be named for legal reasons, was described by a Family Court judge as no threat to his daughters, a successful parent who was "courteous" and "intelligent".

The same judge found the mother abandoned her first daughter at two and spurned the child's subsequent attempts at reconciliation and had displayed "dreadful", "cruel" and "malicious" behaviour.

The comments from readers were also fairly classic: Ron O for example declared: "Best solution - sack ALL Family Court judges. None of them have a clue. They give a whole new meaning to the word incompetence. They are NOT acting in the interests if the children - they are acting in the interests of their own inflated ego's." S. Kelvin declared "This is what feminism has led to throughout the western world: women with no character and men with no rights. Decent people are getting sick of the double standards."

Of the first three 2010 reports by far the most comprehensive and scientific was the AIFS report, whose authors included Professor Lawrie Moloney, an occasional DOTA guest, and a team of other researchers from the AIFS.

It showed that for most parents and their children reforms had been well received and were working well. The new network of Family Relationship Centres, in particular, were

helping to deflect parents from going to court to fight over the children and most people felt they were treated fairly.

The report took three years to complete and was based on the experiences of 28,000 Australians, including 10,000 parents affected by the reforms, as well as grandparents and lawyers. The evaluation was claimed to be the largest examination of the family law and service system ever undertaken.

It showed that for most parents and their children reforms had been well received and were working well. The new network of Family Relationship Centres, in particular, were helping to deflect parents from going to court to fight over the children and most people felt they were treated fairly.

The philosophy of shared parental responsibility was overwhelmingly supported by parents, legal professionals and family relationship service providers.

"There's more use of family relationship services, a decline in court filings and some evidence of a shift away from people going straight to court to resolve post-separation relationship difficulties," said Australian Institute of Family Studies Director

Professor Alan Hayes.

The report showed relationship services clients provided favourable assessments of the services they attended. Pre-separation services were regarded very highly by clients. At the post-separation level, over 70% of family relationship and family dispute clients said that the service treated everyone fairly and over half said that the services provided them with the help they needed. This represented a high level of satisfaction given the cases often involve strong emotions, high levels of conflict often lacked easy solutions.

The substantial increase in the use of relationship-oriented services, both pre- and post-separation, suggested a cultural shift in the way in which problems that affect family relationships were being dealt with.

The report found a 22 per cent drop in the number of cases going to court.

Professor Hayes said that overall, the reform goal of getting separated parents to work things out for themselves was being achieved, with most separated parents resolving their parenting arrangements within one year and without the use of the legal system.

"This is evidenced in a reduction in child-related parenting matters reaching court, with a fall in applications for court orders and a greater proportion of parents reporting they were able to resolve their issues themselves, supported by the new family relationship services," he said.

Of those surveyed the AIFS found that 80% said they supported shared parenting and 70% of couples who were in a shared parenting arrangements said they were working well.

"More than a million Australian children currently live in separated families," Professor Hayes said. "The way in which separated couples resolve parenting arrangements, make decisions about their children and conduct their relationships all have significant and lasting impacts on their children's lives for better or worse depending on how well they manage post-separation parenting."

The AIFS found there was confusion about the new laws, leading to disillusionment, especially amongst fathers, causing anger and time-wasting. The wording of the Act had led many fathers into wrongly believing that equal shared parental responsibility allowed for equal shared care - or 50/50 time. They believed shared care was a right providing they were not violent. In fact, judges only had to consider granting shared care.

The AIFS noted the confusion could make it more difficult for parents, relationship services professionals, lawyers and the courts to get parents to focus on the best interests of the child.

Lawyers in particular indicated that the 2006 reforms promoted a focus on parents' rights rather than children's needs and that the family law system didn't do enough to support arrangements suitable for a child's particular level of development.

More positively, The AIFS Evaluation observed that the changes had encouraged more creativity in making arrangements that involved fathers in children's everyday routines, as well as special activities.

Although only a minority of children had shared care time, the proportion of children with these arrangements had increased. This was part of a longer term trend in Australia and internationally.

The majority of parents with shared care-time arrangements thought the arrangements were working well for both parents and children. On average, parents with shared care time had better quality inter-parental relationships.

The AIFS recorded that generally, shared care time did not appear to have a negative impact on the wellbeing of children.

The exception was where mothers had safety concerns. Irrespective of care-time arrangements, safety concerns – real or not - had a negative impact on children's wellbeing. The impact of mothers' safety concerns on children's wellbeing was exacerbated where they experienced shared care-time arrangements.

"The message out of this evaluation is clear - ongoing conflict between separated parents leads to worse outcomes for children," Professor Hayes said.

The AIFS Evaluation did detect room for improvement in dealing with issues of family violence. More than half the lawyers working in the jurisdiction felt the system did not deal adequately with the issue.

This could well reflect the ideologies of those lawyers attracted to the jurisdiction. Given the low socio-economic status, high unemployment levels, poor educational attainments and dysfunctional lives of the largely welfare and drug or alcohol dependent clients who took up so much of the Court's time, there would probably always be issues of violence amongst at least some of its client groups.

Significantly, the AIFS found: "There is no evidence to suggest that family violence and highly conflictual inter-parental relationships are any greater in children with shared care time than for children with other care time arrangements."

Despite the quality of the AIFS's extensive analysis, this finding was subsequently ignored by the government, by women's groups and by the family law and domestic violence industries.

"The evaluation provides clear evidence that while there have been some positive developments, the family law system has some way to go in effectively responding to family violence and child abuse, mental health and substance misuse," Professor Hayes said.

"Where there were safety concerns reported by parents, these were linked to poorer outcomes for their children in all types of care relationships, but for those in shared care time, it was even worse. This is a small but extremely significant minority.

"But it's worth remembering that while the evaluation found that for an important minority equal care time was a serious concern, for children where there's no violence or abuse, equal care time was found to work well."

Key findings from the evaluation included:

- 71 per cent of fathers and 73 per cent of mothers say they've sorted out their care arrangements
- 39 per cent of parents who used family dispute resolution reported reaching an agreement
- 78 per cent of Family Relationship Centre staff and 86 per cent of family dispute resolution staff say that family dispute resolution is inappropriate due to family violence for up to a quarter of parents they see
- 16 per cent of children are in shared care-time arrangements (i.e., where 35-65 per cent of time is spent with both parents)
- More fathers than mothers proposed equal time arrangements when going to court - 10 per cent of mothers and 27 per cent of fathers
- A majority of separated parents, just over 60 per cent, were in friendly or cooperative relationships
- Just under one fifth of separated parents reported their relationship to be full of conflict or fearful, with mothers twice as likely as fathers to report a fearful relationship
- 26 per cent of mothers and 17 per cent of fathers reported their partner had physically hurt them before or during separation.
- In his report Family Courts Violence Review that old lion of the Family Court of Australia Richard Chisholm was entirely less positive. He said the laws were "a tangle of legal technicality" which had taken the focus off the best interests of the child and they were both confusing and troublesome. He advocating abandon the push towards shared parenting. His report said many people wrongly believed the changes to family law meant that separated fathers were automatically entitled to 50-50 custody of their kids. Chisholm wrote: "The presumption of equal parental responsibility has been wrongly taken to mean

that there was also a presumption favouring children spending equal time with each parent".

The retired judge argued that the provision emphasising the importance of a child's relationship with both parents should be dropped and judges required only to consider what was in the best interest of the child.

Professor Chisholm recommended family violence be presumed in all parenting cases presenting to the Court and recommended every case automatically be assessed for violence risks. He also suggested the court should receive additional funding to do the job.

Once more displaying zero neutrality, Chief Justice Bryant, issued a statement welcoming that finding.

Former head of the Family Court Alastair Nicholson said the Chisholm recommendations were "absolutely the way I would have gone". "The fault lies with the legislation," he said. "I have great sympathy for the judges trying to interpret it. Absolutely, yes, it must be up to judges and magistrates to decide what is best for each child in each case."

Many within the Australian fatherhood movement believed the Family Court had long thrived on false claims of child sexual abuse and inflated claims over domestic violence and its secretive nature and adversarial style of determination simply encouraged this. The claims almost invariably first appeared during custody disputes and were often used as the justification for the removal of children from their fathers. These views were neither sought nor provided by any of the inquiries looking at the issue.

While not mentioned in any of the inquiries, the One In Three campaign by Men's Health Australia was beginning to play a significant part in raising doubt about the government's exaggerations and the domestic violence industry's excesses. The organisation began systematically taking issue with official distortion of statistics.

Their campaign lead to stories such as that in the Herald Sun in September of 2010: "The issues of child protection and domestic violence have been hijacked by politically motivated feminist cliques, according to a coalition of men's groups."

The paper reported the claim came after an ombudsman's report found bureaucrats guilty of "unreasonable and wrong administrative action" after failing to correct false and misleading information that promoted the idea men were overwhelmingly responsible for domestic violence.

The ombudsman found that South Australia's Office for Women presented erroneous statistics, such as that 95 per cent of domestic violence involves a male perpetrator and a female victim. On the contrary, raw data show that, overall, at least one in three victims were male.

Men's Health Australia spokesman Greg Andresen said the SA Ombudsman's report should make the Gillard Government think twice about rolling back the shared parenting reforms introduced to family law by the Howard government -- which effectively guaranteed fathers some level of access to their children in the event of marital breakdown.

"The picture seems to be emerging of offices of women around the country -- who advise state and federal ministers -- having taken deeply feminist lines on domestic abuse and child protection," Andresen said. "These bureaucrats have a strong feminist perspective -- and that's probably appropriate for people concerned with women's issues.

"But the problem is that when governments roll out programs relating to children, what gets rolled out is a program for women, not one that has equal regard for men and women. The conventional wisdom among these people is that the only perpetrators of domestic violence are men and the only perpetrators of violence against children are men. There is a wealth of research that shows that men are almost as likely to suffer domestic violence or abuse."

Tony Miller from DIDS declared AVOs and false allegations were often the first tool used by warring parties in the early days of divorce or separation to secure custody of children or to exclude contact or punish one parent for the failure of the relationship.

"Once an AVO has been issued, most often against the male, it makes it extremely difficult and complex when it comes to obtaining time with their children. In the past the AVO system has been abused and the concern now is with the new reforms to the Family Law System that AVOs will be used to circumvent any chance of dispute resolution through the new Family Relationship Centres and force people back into the court system."

Miller said he had once been one of those sad dads denied contact with their children peering through the wire fence surrounding his son's school. "I was spotted and asked to move on," he recalled. "I explained who I was and that I just wanted to catch a glimpse of my little boy who I hadn't seen for many years. I was taken to the principal's office and after explaining the circumstances was told that I was listed to have no contact. It was many years ago but I remember it as yesterday.

"After breaking down in front of him, the principal took pity on me and let me peer through the blinds of his office. He had to point him out to me because I his father couldn't recognise my own son. I left quietly, humbly thanking him for his kindness and in tears.

"My boy grew up not knowing his dad and now I am still peering through the fence unable to break through, only now it's not wire, its heroin addiction.

"Whilst our children need protection against any form of violence we must be ever vigilant of the use of our children as pawns between warring parents and come to terms with the reality that fatherlessness is destroying Australian society today."

In a father free zone, the Family Law Council's report titled "Improving responses to family violence in the family law system: An advice on the intersection of family violence and family law issues" was released concurrently with the AIFS and Chisholm reports.

The report perhaps demonstrated why the previous government had tended to work around the Council rather than with it.

"Improving Responses To Family Violence" opened with the claim that the pattern of family violence which became visible in the family law system was only the tip of the

iceberg of family violence, alcoholism, drug addiction and mental illness entrenched in Australia.

The report repeated the myths of the domestic violence industry that one in three Australian women experienced physical violence and one in five experience sexual violence over their lifetime, figures which could only be obtained by the widest definition of domestic violence and in studies where they were asked the same questions equally applied to men. The possibility there could be male victims of domestic violence received not a mention.

The Council urged the government to address the concerns of women that if they could not prove their claims of domestic violence they would be labeled an "unfriendly parent".

It also recommended that the definition of "family violence" in the Family Law Act be widened to include behaviour by a person towards a family member which was physically or sexually abusive; emotionally or psychologically abusive; economically abusive or was threatening, coercive, or in any other way controlled or dominated a family member or caused them feel fear for the safety their well being or behaviour that caused a child to hear or witness, or otherwise be exposed to the effects of such behaviour.

The council also urged the clearing up of public confusion between the 2006 shared responsibility reforms and provision of equal time joint custody.

Rick O'Brien, the deputy chairman of the Law Council's family law section, said: "A law that cannot be understood by the people affected by it - or, worse still, lends itself to being actively misunderstood - is a bad law," he said. A significant proportion of the community thinks the 2006 reforms mandate equal shared time. They do not. Shared care is only an arrangement judges must consider, though consider it they must after going through various other steps."

The entirely tax payer funded family law industry was back in town.

Shadow Attorney-General George Brandis disagreed with the moves to wind back shared parenting and dismissed Chisholm's report as taking "a fairly tendentious view of the operation of the 2006 reform." He said the Howard government's 2006 laws adequately protected children and the proposed expansion of the definition of violence would weaken the definition of genuine violence.

Brandis referred to the Institute of Family Studies findings that in general the 2006 reforms had worked well and there was no evidence to suggest children had been exposed to any greater level of family violence. "So there seems to be something of a difference of emphasis, if not a conflict, between Professor Chisholm and Australian Institute of Family Studies."

Senator Brandis said the reports did not justify a change in direction for family law.

"They should not be used by the Government as a pretext or an excuse to walk away from the principle that every child has a right to a meaningful relationship with both parents on the occasion of family breakdown, while always maintaining, as has never been in doubt, the paramount interests of the child as the first consideration.

"The Opposition's position is that we do not believe that the shared parenting arrangements should be walked away from. We are not persuaded that there is sufficient evidence or, indeed, any persuasive evidence that the 2006 legislation has not worked in a satisfactory fashion."

Nor was it good policy to define domestic violence so broadly that almost any conduct could constitute violence. "If the Act does that then what it is in fact doing is watering down the concept of violence," he said.

However Shayne Neumann, the head of Labor's social affairs caucus committee and a former family lawyer, said the shared responsibility laws had gone too far and had hurt women and children. He claimed the Howard Government got it wrong on shared parenting in 2006, moving without any social research and in a knee jerk reaction to the urgings of a vocal minority of men's groups. He seems to forget that the changes were introduced with bipartisan support.

"By elevating the rights of parents above the need to protect children, the Howard Government fettered judicial discretion and created a legislative pathway fixated on shared parenting," he said. "Children were exposed to violence. The definitions in the past were too narrow and pandering to the men's rights groups. Howard listened to extremists. What Howard was doing for political expediency was listening to the Hansonite voices of the men's rights groups."

Take that with a grain of salt.

The Attorney-General said it was clear from the Chisholm report and the other reviews that women had become reluctant to raise allegations of violence, in part because the court could now punish them by hitting them with the entire bill for proceedings if the allegations are not proved.

McClelland agreed that "misunderstanding needed to be addressed" but "the question is whether you need legislation to get that information out." He said the government would be looking at the "lighter touch" approach of public education, before diving into the "deeper waters of legislative change".

For the first time McClelland agreed that there had been some positive developments from the 2006 changes, chiefly that fathers no longer assumed that they had to accept an 80-20 time split with their children after divorce.

"We've moved past that, but we are now in a situation where . . . the misconception (that each parent is entitled to a 50-50 time split) has taken hold. Our task now is to clarify that. The focus has to be on the best interests of the children, and not the rights of parents."

In an election year family law posed a peculiar conundrum for the Rudd government, bringing its feminist and working class constituencies into conflict at a time when polls showed they could not afford to lose votes. With the Chisholm report and others the Labor government had rigged or arranged enough enquiries to satisfy its feminist supporters with a plethora of recommendations to rewrite the legislation to emphasise domestic violence and the safety of mother and child above any other consideration. At the same time the Labor government, recognising the popularity of shared parenting in the community, could not afford to alienate its many backers amongst working and middle class fathers, mothers and families supportive of the family law changes.

After the considerable amount of original fanfare and high flying words about protecting the vulnerable from violence as being of paramount concern when the Chisholm inquiry was first announced, an election year was no time to relive the emotional debates over family law of the Howard years.

Perhaps to minimise their impact, all three commissioned reports on shared parenting and violence were released simultaneously and without public fanfare. McClelland emphasised the importance of the AIFS Evaluation and downplayed in particular the contentious recommendations of the Chisholm inquiry, which would have seen family law issues played out in parliament for the remainder of the year.

Brisbane ABC radio presenter Madonna King wrote that the Rudd Government, in an election year, now had to decide whether to address the recommendations to change family law yet again, this time to emphasise issues of family violence, and thereby raise the ire of one set of parents, particularly fathers, or let it slide, with the promise of something less than legislation, and increase the frustration of another set of parents, often mothers.

"Either way, the Prime Minister and his team will face a sustained lobby effort that began this week, with a campaign by fathers' groups to fight any suggestion shared-care provisions be wound back.

"The problem is that the law is only one of the pillars of a system that just isn't working.

"Listen to talkback, and hear the hurt and pain as individual parents tell their story about custody battles, false allegations of violence, real violence that is not acted upon, lengthy delays in hearings, and family wars that know no bounds.

"And both sides of this debate have strong ammunition, which is at the crux of the problem now faced by Kevin Rudd."

King retold the story of Dionne Fehring who blamed the emphasis on shared parenting for the deaths of her two young children. Her former partner suffocated her 17-month-old daughter Jessie and baby son Patrick, who was only 12 weeks old, with plastic bags, before killing himself – on the day he was due to hand the children back to her after the Family Court had reversed custody after hearing her accusations of prolonged domestic violence.

King said Fehring believed shared parenting can't always work, and the assumption that has existed since the 2006 law changes, that 50:50 custody is a right, needed to be wound back.

"You wonder, after hearing the pain in her voice, how shared parenting, and the assumption of shared custody, can be prescribed in law," King wrote.

But on the other hand fathers groups were signalling a nationwide campaign if the laws were changed.

"There are two sides to every argument," King wrote.

"Take the case of the father who...sought custody of his three-year-old son, against his mother's wishes.

"She shopped around at doctors, lodging numerous allegations against the father, who persisted in his attempts to be part of his son's life. He just wanted to be there for his son. He wanted to know him; to be part of his life.

"Eventually, the father was awarded custody. And the mother, two weeks before handover, killed herself and the child."

King concluded: "With tens of thousands of Australian children in shared-care arrangements, it's not an issue the Rudd Government can fudge."

The Men's Rights Agency issued a press release declaring the Labor governments moves to roll back shared parenting would cost them votes. Sue Price said a recent survey of nearly 500 people showed the issue was a vote changer.

Nearly two-thirds (64%) of those surveyed said they voted Labor at the last federal election. When asked whether knowledge of the Labor Government's reviews into Family Law and the impact these reviews are likely to have on shared parenting has caused people to think more negatively about the Government, 93% answered that it had.

When asked about voting intentions at the coming federal election, 72% of respondents said they will not vote Labor and a further 20% said they are unlikely or highly unlikely to vote Labor.

"The swing against Labor is being almost exclusively fuelled by the expected rollback of shared parenting arrangements gained under the Howard Government," Sue Price said. "Nearly 60% said they would have voted Labor in the coming election if they had not known about the reviews to family law."

The following month Chief Justice Diana Bryant was playing her part in the moral panic of the day by calling for a radical change to the law to provide more protection to family members "at risk of violence". While critics did not see her role as appropriate, she appeared determined to play her part in the campaign to roll back shared parenting.

The CJ said she wanted more information from confidential mediation sessions between separating couples to be given to family law courts if there was believed to be a risk to a child or a parent's safety. She presented her concerns with the Attorney-General.

The types of information provided would include evidence of violence or mental health and drug and alcohol issues. Judges would use the information to help with decisions about parental access and where children live.

Under existing law, any information that emerged in a mediation session was confidential.

She said there might be cases where risk factors could be missed if full information was not given to the court in the early stages of a case. She said: "You might have a mediator... who has formed a view that mental health issues are a serious problem. They can't provide that information.

"All of the information that is conveyed to mediators in family relationship centres is privileged. They might have quite a lot of information about family violence from their

screening tool which can't be shared with courts. So when people come to court they just start off fresh with an application.

"I do think we ought to look at whether we can get something more from those organisations... something more that informs the courts when an application is filed to alert them to issues that need to be dealt with as a matter of urgency."

With so much institutional propaganda, there were few voices publicly defending shared parenting or raising questions about the negative consequences of exaggerating fears over domestic violence.

One exception was Alby Schultz, the member for Hume whose percentage of the vote in his rural electorate of Hume, already high, had increased since he began speaking out on issues around family law and child support.

"The release of these reports should not be used by the Rudd Labor Government as a pretext or an excuse to walk away from the principle that every child has a right to a meaningful relationship with both parents on the occasion of family breakdown, while always maintaining, as has never been in doubt, the paramount interests of the child as the first consideration," he said.

Echoing a common story heard by DOTA, Schultz said he believed many instances of family conflict could be averted by a shake up of the Child Support Agency.

"The overwhelming similarity in cases that are brought to my attention is that even though a separated couple have entered into a shared parenting agreement, there is no recognition of this fact by the CSA in calculating the maintenance that is to be payed by the paying parent.

"Is it not surprising then, why a father continually questions where his maintenance is going when it is plainly obvious that it is not being spent on what it is intended for and why, in some sensitive cases, the father becomes so disillusioned and distressed by the continual aggressive tactics employed by the CSA with respect to the collection of his child maintenance, that a tragedy sometimes occurs.

"I dare say that if the paying parent was able to direct and observe through CSA administration, a certain percentage of their payment go into a trust account specifically designed to ensure child maintenance is used for the daily and future care of the child, these extreme cases may reduce."

Lone Father's president Barry Williams condemned the Chisholm report, saying it was plain wrong and shared parenting was the way to go.

Tony Miller from Dads in Distress said he was joining the men's groups meeting to stop parenting laws being ``rolled back to the Dark Ages".

"We've fought hard in the last 10 years to ensure fathers and children get a fair go," he said. ``Since shared parenting came in, we are most definitely seeing a fairer deal in the court system than we did in the past. If it's going to be changed and rolled back to the dark ages that would just astound us. All we're after is to make sure dads get to see kids as often as they can. Any change to that and we would be absolutely horrified."

On the other hand the Family Court's campaign against the intent of the legislation continued apace. Again in February, the Full Bench of the Family Court clarified what it

meant by "shared care" and "substantial and significant time" for children after divorce - and it wasn't a 50-50 time split between parents.

The Court posted an appeal decision to their website in a case known as Whisler and Whisler (2010).

The judgement demonstrated that fathers who won "shared parental responsibility" of their children could find they still saw them only on alternate weekends, for two hours after school on Wednesdays, and half the school holidays.

Mr Whisler had been the "house-husband" and stay-at-home dad for two years before separating. He appealed against a decision by a federal magistrate to scrap a "week about" arrangement for his children, aged six and four, and replace it with one in which the children lived mainly with their mother and saw their father on alternate weekends, for 2 1/2 hours on Wednesday nights, half the school holidays and on special occasions such as Fathers' Day.

Mr Whisler complained that the orders did not amount to the children having "substantial and significant time" with him.

The Family Court thought otherwise.

"These orders are clearly for substantial and significant time between father and children," the decision read. The Court said this was in part because he could see his children for two and a half hours on Wednesdays.

"That doesn't sound like the spirit of the new law at all," Michael Green QC of the Shared Parenting Council said of the decision. "There's no way in the world that that is shared parenting."

Just as it had done with the 1995 reforms, the Court had ignored the will of parliament and subverted legislative reform.

The legislators should have known this would happen.

The decision also vindicated DOTA's editorial stance that the Family Court would not change direction unless it absolutely had to. The 2006 laws had not been bold enough in the first instance, leaving too much discretion to Family Court judges. The parliament's desire to lessen the pain and acrimony common amongst separated parents and to promote cooperative parenting after separation was simply too easily ignored.

Predictably Elspeth McInnes of Solo Mums said the decision reflected reality, "which is that equal time, or shared time, cannot work for all couples and shouldn't be forced on them".

In a brief respite to the wave of anti-father and anti-shared parenting propaganda, in May The Age ran a tribute story to shared care by Jo Case, editor of The Big Issue.

She told the story of missing her son so badly she climbed into his bed and started crying. Then she dragged herself off to bathroom and looked at herself in the mirror. "Come on, I told myself sternly, looking deep into my own slitted red eyes. He's not dead, he's just at his father's. Like he is every other week of his life. You'll see him soon. The next thought, the one that really sobered me up, was, What if his father rang

you right now and asked you to take him for the week? How would you get your work done and your deadlines met?"

Case said the most common reaction from harried mothers when they discovered she shared the care of her son on a week about basis was: "You're so lucky. You get the best of both worlds."

The second reaction was, "I could never do that. I'd just go insane with missing them. That's so good of you." Case said this also came from fellow mothers, but these were the types who disinfected their kids' toys when they dropped on the floor and no longer accepted lunch or dinner invitations because their children needed routine.

The third reaction was, "Wow. Really? That is great. Good on you." This came from separated fathers who are only allowed access to their children for one weekend a fortnight. "They tend to beam at me like I am a saint," she wrote.

"Sometimes I wish I had never been so 'reasonable', and suspect myself of having been so depressed when I left my son's father that I accepted shared custody out of exhaustion rather than fairness. But, when all my guilt-tinged analysis has been exhausted, one fact remains. Shared custody, despite its effects on me or my former partner, is the best thing for my son. He has two parents who want him, who care about him, and who are intimately involved in his everyday life."

In mid-June of 2010 Tony Miller from Dads In Distress, was awarded a medal of the Order of Australia for his contribution to the welfare of men through his role as the group's founder.

Miller started the group after his own personal breakdown. "My life was a mess, I was suicidal and I couldn't find someone to talk to who I thought would understand what I was going through," he recounted. "I realise now it was a completely selfish act on my part but I wrote a letter to the Advocate and almost immediately other men contacted me with similar stories of isolation, anger and confusion."

Dads in Distress was formed in 2000, the same year as Dads On The Air.

Although a decade had passed, Miller told his local paper the Coffs Harbour Advocate that not enough had changed.

"People are still going back and forth to the Family Court, there are still battles over the contravention of court orders and sadly men in crisis are still taking their own lives," Miller said.

Dads On The Air ran a tribute to DIDS, with our editorial reading in part: "For Australian men, who have reached the end of their emotional ability to cope with the ravages of a Family Justice system which has removed their children, property and savings, Dads In Distress, now ten years old, provides a safe and supportive haven for them to regain their emotional strength and sense of self-worth."

It was unfortunate that the need for an organisation like DIDS remained so strong.

Miller left DIDS in 2010 for internal political reasons and when last heard of was homeless and sleeping in his car.

For the cast of characters that now made up Dads ON The Air, monitoring the issue of family law and child support reform in Australia had become like watching a back to the future movie in slow motion.

It was a time to reflect.

After all these years, the resistance of the Family Court and its flanking bureaucracies to reform in the face of widespread public and professional odium remained nothing short of astonishing.

As of 2010 the Court was the same institution that a decade or more before both public and the legal profession were so widely disenchanted with. It used many of the same suspect family report writers as it did back then. It had the same excruciatingly complex and distressing processes which imposed extreme, prolonged and unfair pressure on litigants. It had the same leisurely pace, the same extensive delays and the same style of judgements.

While the Family Court made great claims for its new less-adversarial, supposedly more child centered style of trials, with the legislation mandating that such methods be implemented, as of 2010 there remained a need for a broader and more independent confirmation of their success, including published interviews with parents.

The court's own evaluation was positive, but in the AIFS evaluation of the reforms lawyers had expressed a number of concerns, including increased delays and costs. One lawyer said: "There is simply not the

resources for matters to be dealt with in a proper and timely fashion. The delay is prejudicial to

all involved".

Several participants in the AIFS evaluation made mention of the need to prepare or "coach" clients prior to trial and to think carefully about the evidence that was to be presented. This required clients to engage more resources and therefore money

in preparing for the first part of the court process.

Lawyers said the Less Adversarial Trial scheme required more preparation and more court events, and consumed more judicial resources.

"Participants noted that, along with the obvious financial costs that multiple appearances entail, clients also face an emotional cost, as the reforms have resulted in multiple court events that heighten conflict and have a negative impact on children."

The AIFS's examination of the trials as part of its evaluation of the 2006 reforms did not examine the views of parents.

The expressed view at DOTA was that, If possible, these styles of trials inappropriately handed even more power to the Court's judges and the Court's contentious family report writers.

The development of Dads On The Air dovetailed neatly with a broader historical and international push by fathers and their sympathisers for reform of family law across many different jurisdictions. We were never short of material and were able to report on

social changes, research reports, legislative ups and downs, colourful protests, debates, disasters and triumphs from around the globe.

Most particularly we were able to report on the sustained push for reform of the Family Court of Australia's style of custody order. This was accompanied by a push for change to its processes, attitudes and culture.

During the ten years in which Dads On The Air had been broadcasting, the Australian government had expended tens of millions of dollars on inquiries, committees, investigations and reports into the treatment of separated families and its overall operations. Many of these reports and the hundreds of submissions which had gone into them went nowhere or had little impact. Many of the contributions of father's groups, who opponents alleged had such influence with the Howard government, saw their submissions barely acknowledged or even footnoted.

Despite DOTA's skepticism and at times strident criticism of the "little steps" reforms finally passed into law by the Howard government in 2006 they did in fact bring about some significant and positive changes.

As a result of the 2003 inquiry and the extensive community debate and media coverage it generated, shared parenting was by 2010 far more widely accepted and supported as the best outcome for both parents and children post-separation. Surveys confirmed the popularity of the laws.

Despite DOTA's belief that the legislation was probably not strong enough to deliver shared parenting outcomes, statistics released by both the Family Court and the Child Support Agency demonstrated an increase, albeit from a low base. Perhaps it was not just a matter of legislation. Perhaps it was an idea whose time had come, the necessary revolution.

The government's Family Characteristics Surveys of 1997 showed low levels of shared care - in just 3% of divorced families. The Family Characteristics Survey of 2006-07 conducted 12 months after the legislative changes found the level of shared parenting had risen to 8%. DOTA's view was it should be at 90%, but at least there was progress.

The Family Court's first release of statistics following the reforms also showed progress, with fathers being granted primary care in 17% of decided cases; equal parenting time in 15% of these cases; and shared parenting of around five days per fortnight in 14%. In consent cases, fathers were granted primary care in 8% of cases; equal parenting in 19% of cases; and shared parenting in 14% of cases.

An AIFS Evaluation had shown the majority of parents in shared parenting situations were happy, believing the arrangement worked well for themselves and their children.

But more parents were reaching their own arrangements in terms of both custody and child support, leading to less acrimony and more workable solutions.

DOTA had been more than doubtful the Family Relationship Centres would succeed, fearful they would turn into yet another secretive and counter-productive layer of bureaucracy staffed by hostile man haters, determinedly opposed to shared parenting outcomes and determined to take the woman's side no matter what.

In their early days inconsistent stories emerged from clients having both positive and negative experiences.

But the AIFS Evaluation of the 2006 Reforms suggested they had been a success. A clear majority of parents who tried to resolve their differences in the centres said they "worked well". "A significant proportion of separated parents are able to sort out their post-separation arrangements with minimal engagement with the formal system," the report recorded.

Considering the frustrating, expensive and lengthy nightmare litigants still faced if they determine to resolve their issues in the Court, that was a major achievement.

But the Australian community was still throwing up many heart breaking stories of lives needlessly mangled through the process of separation and divorce. There remained many complaints of the family law and child support systems themselves contributing to animosity and dysfunction between separated parents, with predictably negative results on parents and children alike.

As evidenced by the back to the future moves of the Labor government and its reliance on a narrow range of elite opinion, the fact that the Parliament as a whole has had so little insight into this human tragedy playing out in the Australian community remained alarming. The Parliament's combined ignorance of the ramifications of their failure to properly legislate for relief of the plight of the nations' fathers and their children, and indeed for non-custodial mothers, is a sad reflection of an inability to value the voices of ordinary people.

If implemented more boldly, the shared parenting reforms would ultimately have benefited not just non-custodial parents and their children, but single mothers. Laws requiring both genders to be treated equally in achieving the best outcomes for children could have been heralded nationally as a proud sign of an increasingly civilised and equitable society.

With government research indicating single mothers remain on welfare for an average of 12 years each, the reforms would have helped break the often inter-generational cycle of dependency and unemployment characteristic of single parents. As result it would have provided many of these mothers - and as a a result their children - with richer and more fulfilling life experiences as they returned to the work force.

Perhaps, too, with a bit of realism and spirit of cooperation in place, they would have prevented or mitigated the whirl of hysteria that was now being promoted around issues of family law and domestic violence.

We as a nation, have a duty to protect the rights of our children. If we continue to get this wrong, if we continue to pretend that our current path of destroying father child relationships is acceptable in the name of ideologically driven hysteria over alleged male brutality, if we continue to shy away from a presumption of a shared parenting outcomes as a starting point for separating parents, then we are failing in one of our most fundamental duties to future generations.

While there have been some improvements, history may well see this larger failure, this continuing abuse of children, as one of the great moral evils of our time.

The moral panic or mass hysteria, being promoted by opponents of shared parenting over the issue of domestic violence will ultimately prove counter-productive, causing more harm than good, sowing distrust, doubt and dislike between the genders.

The industry's exaggerated hyperbole has already contributed over the years to many false or grossly exaggerated claims amongst separating couples. And to many innocent fathers being denied contact with their children. The claims, usually made at the height of a custody battle for the single purpose of embarrassing, humiliating, and denigrating the children's father, acquiring advantage in the dispute over property and assets, and procuring a knock out blow in the fight over their offspring, lead unthinking parents to inadvertently harm their own offspring.

While its proponents cast themselves as champions and protectors of children, many of the actions of the "family" violence brigade are misguided. Both men and women inhabit this earth, and to paint half the human race as violent abusers in such a reckless manner does great harm to society as a whole. Like all ideologically based mass movements, it will ultimately founder on a lack of truth – which is that there have always been high conflict and low conflict couples and always will be, that most people are of good will but a small percentage of both men and women are abusive.

The expansion of the definition of domestic violence to include much of what is perfectly ordinary if not always praiseworthy human behaviour – such as emotional or financial manipulation – will create a legislative quagmire which will diminish the standing of the Family Court still further.

Passing laws which criminalise the behaviour of such large numbers represents a dramatic expansion of the role of the state in people's private lives will prove counterproductive.

But given the shibboleths involved, the intimidating high moral ground advocates occupy, most people's unquestioning wish to do the right thing, the sympathy and chivalry the alleged victim group of women and children elicits and the astonishing amount of government money poured into the arena, moving forward to a saner era may prove difficult. The astonishing number of groups, academics and lawyers making a living from the hundreds of millions of government dollars being poured into domestic violence programs ensures that the arena becomes self perpetuating and difficult to reform, or even to question. It also ensured that the misuse of domestic violence allegations in custody disputes would continue. The truth will not out before many people have been needlessly harmed.

Dads On The Air had been virtually the only media outlet in Australia to raise doubts about the operation of the domestic violence industry. We have regularly pointed out studies in Australia and around the world that showed domestic violence was not the gendered crime feminist advocates claimed it to be.

We also pointed out the hypocrisy of failing to show concern for male victims, despite for example the Personal Safety Survey by the Australian Bureau of Statistics showing men were twice as likely as women to be the victim of violence, either from other men or from their intimate partners.

Our editorial position had always been that, perhaps with the best of intentions, the industry's self serving promotion of what had descended into public hysteria over domestic violence, was ultimately counter productive. The failure of all this government

inspired activity to decrease the level of intimate partner violence in the community is testament to this.

The propaganda and heightened fears now being whipped up various interest groups around issues of family violence and family law have simply validated DOTA's position. Alternative views are never sought. The marginalisation of father's and men's voices is plain for all to see.

The Family Court of Australia is in large degree today all too much like the institution it was when Dads On The Air began broadcasting in 2000. It remains impervious to criticism, overly legalistic, out of touch with mainstream Australian society and continues to push its own out-dated agendas onto the public.

While there had been hope for positive change after the retirement of Nicholson, . While the new Chief Justice Diana Bryant had not proved to be the great reforming broom some might have dreamt about. However she was something of a relief after the long reign of her predecessor if only because she did not feel compelled to comment on every major social issue of the day from asylum seekers to the smacking of children.

Bryant however had not hesitated to use her position as head of the Court to directly interfere in the debate over the shared parenting provisions in the 2006 legislation and to play a part in their potential rollback. Her pronouncements on the "problematic" nature of the laws and the adequacy or otherwise of the violence provisions have provided good fuel for journalists and inappropriately distorted the debate. Her position as Chief Justice should have ensured her public neutrality.

The 2006 family law reforms of the Howard government, while not introducing a rebuttable presumption of joint custody, were ultimately more successful than Dads On The Air had expected. While much about the divorce regime remained as bad or worse than ever; a cultural shift took place in the community as a result of the heightened awareness of the problems. Many fathers now expected to share the care of their children after separation. Many separating couples also seemed to expect the same thing. An amicable divorce became almost a fashion accessory. While the levels of shared care are nowhere near where they might have been with bolder and more visionary legislative reform and expansive public educations campaigns, and the lives of children and parents alike are still being badly impacted by the very institutions meant to assist them, more children were getting to see both parents after separation.

To a fair degree the Howard reforms did promote cultural change and encouraged shared parenting outcomes. Rightly or wrongly, whether technically it was written into the legislation or not, separated fathers expected and in many cases believed they had the right to substantially care for their kids on an equal footing with their ex-wives or partners. In many instances starting from a different point ensured more positive outcomes.

While insufficient, the legislative changes also appeared to have engendered some improvement in in the institutional treatment of separated fathers.

Dads On The Air's editorial position had always been, perhaps from the comfortable position of pundits, that the Howard government reforms were too little too late, were not nearly as effective as they should be, left far too much power into the hands of secretive, unaccountable and ideologically driven judges and could be too easily rolled back.

We had always maintained that the government should have made the legislation bolder, stronger and more definitive, to assure the public that both parents would be treated equally after divorce and that the government expected both parents to care for their children in the tough love spirit of "you both made them you can both look after them". We supported the campaign for a rebuttable notion of joint custody aka shared parenting because it was the only solution we could see to the wasteland of unhappy lives that the Family Court's sole custody model ad created.

But while they were nowhere near as forthright as DOTA would have liked, by 2010, as a result of the reforms, anecdotally public opprobrium of the court appeared to have diminished substantially. The offices of parliamentarians were no longer clogged with unhappy litigants. Results for the Child Support Agency were more mixed.

While DOTA criticised the reforms for not going far enough in encouraging cooperative parenting after divorce or separation, claiming they failed to tackle many of the endemic problems in family law and were too easily wound back, the public impression was that the system's problems and its anti-father bias had been fixed.

In its various speculations on the subject DOTA maintained that one should never under estimate the power of fashion in changing entrenched social attitudes. The middle and upper classes, already financially secure, were waking up to the destructive impacts and spectacular waste of money involved in prolonged Family Court disputes. One of the tricks in expanding the benefits of cooperative parenting is to spread this cultural shift towards shared parenting, already becoming established amongst affluent sections of the community, further down the income scale.

At the end of 2010, a decade after Dads On The Air first began broadcasting, much had changed and nothing had changed. Two steps forward and one step back had become more like a hundred yard dash into a nightmare combining the worst elements of the past with a more sophisticated totalitarianism, a higher level of state control and penetration into private lives than Australia had yet seen.

During 13 years of a "conservative" supposedly pro-family Liberal government headed by John Howard hundreds of thousands of fathers and their children had their relationship with each other unnecessarily ripped asunder by the established divorce industry. The Howard era from 1994 to 2007 saw the percentage of single parent households as a percentage of all parents increased by a couple of points to around 22 per cent. For just over 60 per cent of one parent families government payments were their largest source of income. However the proportion of lone parents receiving some income from wages and salaries or income from their own unincorporated business was 51% in 2003–04, an increase from 44% in 1996–97. In 2006, 87% of one-parent families with children under 15 years were headed by mothers. The proportion headed by fathers was 12% in 1997 and 13% in 2006. . Almost 40 per cent had not finished high school. According to the Australian Bureau of Statistics, in 2006, towards the end of Howard's reign, 87% of one-parent families with children under 15 years were headed by mothers. The proportion headed by fathers had changed little, from 12% in 1997 to 13% in 2006.

The style of custody order favoured by The Family Court of Australia had created great personal suffering on the part of disenfranchised fathers but also had significant social consequences.

As well, during the Howard era thousands upon thousands of separated fathers were driven to despair and suicide as the Child Support Agency plundered whatever remained of their assets and income and subjected them to routine and often incessant institutional harassment.

After many years of fumbling around the issue with indecisive inquiries it finally moved in its last term of government to establish the vague notion of "shared responsibility" into law. For many fathers it was far too little far too late. The Family Court made it's reluctance to embrace the reforms very clear.

It was open on the evidence before it for the 2003 parliamentary committee investigating child custody to recommend a rebuttable presumption of joint custody. It failed to do so and the ramifications of that mistake continue to the present day.

Howard could have in the political maneuverings behind the outcomes of Every Picture Tells A Story, or at least had a better oversight of its progress. He could have found a way to introduce stronger shared parenting provisions but baulked, in his final term, at more profound reform of the divorce industry and its government institutions. Perhaps as some of his followers said, he was a true conservative in every sense, making change only slowly. But this was a man who could take decisive and radical action when it suited. Howard took the country to war in Iraq, against the wishes of much of the population, in a single decisive move. The same man's incremental moves to reform family law and child support moved through so many committees and so many inquiries over so many years, and was so watered down in the process, that the original media support and public acclaim his bold expressions of interest in joint custody generated died away.

Ironically, despite the number of commissioned reports designed to give the Labor government justification in winding back Howard's modest shared parental responsibility reforms, when it came to the steeple gate the new government also baulked. At least, that is, prior to the 2010 election. Then Prime Minister Kevin Rudd reportedly had little appetite for moving against the nation's separated dads in the run up to a difficult campaign.

Many of those separated fathers were union members, the bulwark of the Labor Party, and senior parliamentarians with close links were reported to have warned against the move. The notion of shared parenting, as others have noted, was popular in the pub.

But by June of 2010 Australia was blessed with its first woman Prime Minister Julia Gillard. While many of her pronouncements after ousting Kevin Rudd in a palace coup were decidedly mainstream, she owed much to feminist supporters and political groups such as Emily's List and was justifiably proud of her achievements. While the bandwagon was already on a roll, she made no effort to reign in her Attorney-General or the Party and its sympathisers' assault on the shared parenting legislation.

The year also saw Labor government moving to essentially destroy another Howard initiative, the Federal Magistrate's Court, by bringing it under the umbrella of the Family Court. As a simpler, faster and less expensive court in closer contact with litigants the Magistracy had been more inclined to embrace the spirit of the reforms. Its family arm was to be folded into the Family Court as a kind of lower tier of the "superior" court. Opposition Legal Affairs spokesman George Brandis had described the plan as a shambles.

The media's treatment of father's issues has not improved significantly, although a number of separated men now working in the media have at times helped to add some realism. At least for a time after the 2006 legislative reforms a broader range of father's advocates were likely to be quoted, although that impact faded oiver time.

The tone and substance of debates over family issues, in particular shared parenting and in the latter days family violence and family law, was still largely set by feminist columnists and sympathetic journalists. A number of newspapers including The Age and The Sydney Morning Herald, the dominant broadsheets in Australia's two largest cities, still feel free to run feminist advocacy without the provision of any countervailing views.

Mirroring the outside world, male editors and chiefs of staff from intact families show little understanding of the issues and zero empathy with their separated colleagues, believing they must have brought it on themselves. Acting as champions of women during your working day is a simple piece of almost animal psychology guaranteeing the big man goes home to a smooth bed and a calm home life.

Unfortunately, while it had the opportunity, the Howard government did not reform or repeal Section 121 of the Family Law Act, the secrecy provisions forbidding the naming or identifying of litigants. They continue to effectively protect the court and its operations from proper journalistic inquiry and to engender an environment where wild accusations can be made with impunity. Nothing has changed there.

The problems at the Child Support Agency, impacting on only section of the community, remain under-reported.

Fatherhood advocates including Sue Price at Men's Rights claim the problems with the Agency are as bad or worse than ever. She told DOTA it was becoming apparent from whistleblowers that the CSA was making decisions contrary to court orders; such as those on legal and actual residency.

"They have an ability to determine whether the child is in "legal" according to court orders or "actual" care, depending on their determination of the child's living circumstances," Price said. "A person can spend \$200,000 on getting residency with their children, a parent disobeys them and the CSA will take the mother's word on what the actual care is, thereby financially rewarding her for defying the court. The CSA are in effect thumbing their nose at the court orders. The Labor Government has given the CSA legislative approval to make such decisions in the latest round of amendments."

"Just how effective CSA is when one takes into account a death rate amongst their clientele which is two and a half times that of the normal population; the questionability of the CSA's performance in reducing debt levels, only achieved to any significant degree in 2003-04, when the CSA staff 4% pay rise was in the balance, (a whistleblower suggested the debt level was artificially reduced by removing missing payers who had been given a default income) and the financial viability of the cost of collection compared to the claw back savings afforded to the taxpayer in family tax benefits.

"Strangely the cost of collection was removed from the CSA published Facts & Figures data after 2004. It is now a mammoth proposition to troll through Annual expenditure figures of the CSA, Fascia and the Attorney General's department to calculate the cost of collecting each dollar of child support."

These moves coincided with researcher Richard Cruickshank's exposes of the Agency's costs.

The Howard Government had an opportunity to fix the appalling mess which is the Australian Child Support Agency. They failed because most politicians do not understand the CSA legislation nor the attitude of those driving CSA doctrine of debt collection and punitive action against fathers, who have been deliberately demonised as criminals and falsely accused of trying to avoid responsibility for their children. And the Parkinson report they relied on to fix the mess did not take seriously the voluminous complaints coming from its clients.

It appeared the Labor government had listened to none of the numerous complaints emanating from the Child Support Agency's clients. During the election campaign in August 2010 Prime Minister Julia Gillard announced her government would hit so called "deadbeat dads" by strengthening the regime on the use of default income in child support assessments with a "new, more accurate default income arrangement".

She claimed that some parents had failed to lodge tax returns for more than seven years and a new default income of two-thirds of male total average incomes would be applied where tax returns were not filed within two years.

The default would be \$39,000 per annum. She said there had been a 325 per cent increase in the use of default incomes where it was lower than the person's taxable income. As well, if no tax return was filed their last known income, as long as it wasn't lower than the default income, would be indexed to wages growth and then used to calculate child support.

In other words, the Labor government was giving Child Support officers even more power to invent father's incomes and drive many of them into lifelong debt. Gillard accepted no responsibility for the mess the Agency continued to create in the lives of separated parents. There were no plans afoot to institute a long over due investigation into the Agency's social outcomes or its implication in the high unemployment rates amongst separated men or its associated death toll.

For a number of days in August 2010 Australia was in a kind of no-man's land after elections delivered a hung parliament. But even as the jostling went on to determine which side of politics would govern, the anti-father forces kept on shipping out their anti-shared parenting propaganda.

Feminist academic Belinda Fehlberg, law professor at Melbourne university specialising in family law noted that there had been almost no mention of family law reform during the election campaign. But, she said, the Howard government's changes to the Family Law Act continue to damage a significant minority of children.

She cited a case recently before the Full Court of Family Court of Australia, known as "Collu & Rinaldo" which involved a four-year-old child who had been travelling month-about between his father in Sydney and his mother in Dubai for 14 months, while the case awaited court hearing.

Fehlberg claimed such arrangements may suit parents, but this case – and the research – show the psychological damage that can result from constant disruption and lack of stability for such young children.

Fehlberg cited the Australian Institute of Family Studies and the Chisholm Inquiry, saying the demonstrated shared parenting time was not working well for a significant minority of Australian children.

"They showed that fathers have been encouraged to seek shared care and more mothers now feel pressured into it. They also showed that shared care is now used by a substantial minority of parents with significant problems such as high parental conflict, substance abuse and or mental health issues. It is being agreed to by parents and, even more often, ordered by courts in cases where it seems not to be in children's best interests, partly due to community and professional misunderstandings about what the law says."

She wrote that since the spate of reports at the beginning of the year, three further reports examining the shared parenting bill, also commissioned and paid for by the federal Attorney-General's Department and released in July, also raised questions.

Family Court favourite, clinical child psychologist Dr Jennifer McIntosh, looked at the allegedly negative impact of shared care arrangements on children under the age of four. Her report claimed that children under four who spent substantial time away from the "primary carer" were doing less well than other children on a range of developmental measures, with higher levels of anxiety, aggression and eating disturbances.

Another report by social work professors and feminist advocates Dale Bagshaw, Thea Brown, Elspeth McInness and colleagues was a massive two volume document titled Family Violence and Family Law in Australia: The Experiences and Views of Children and Adults who separated Post-1995 and Post-2006, the date of parliament's tow failed attempts to encourage shared parenting. This piece of advocacy research was also amply funded by the Attorney General's Department, the services of three universities and a number of women's and domestic violence services.

Blind in their gendered assault on fathers and the common-sense notion of shared parenting, the Attorney-General's department had never thought to either employ neutral researchers or to at least make some show of achieving balance through university based organisations such as the Men's Health and Information Research Centre. Not to be. All done without shame and against the interests of many Australian taxpayers.

The authoritative sounding Family Violence and Family Law in Australia relied on responses to on-line questionnaires and phone-ins organised through various women's and domestic violence services. Many of the women were involved in or claimed to be survivors of custody battles. The researchers declared "A consistency of responses suggested the strong reliability of the data". Give it a rest. This self-selecting group would automatically attract people with grievances, barrows to push, the mentally ill who believed their own fabrications, deluded activists more than capable of manufacturing stories - and so on. And lo and behold their responses were all much the same. They were extremely unlikely to admit to having falsified or exaggerated their claims, indeed on average they claimed to have lived with domestic violence for ten years. In Australia today, with women more than capable of standing up for themselves, that seems extremely unlikely. But why ruin the story of the noble victim? The just over a hundred children involved in the phone-ins and questionnaires were quite possibly encouraged to participate or tutored by their parents.

The authors claimed their research demonstrated that the family law system did a poor job of supporting and assisting victims of family violence. Which, of course, was exactly what they wanted to find.

The ideological advocacy for what was being paraded as a plausible piece of scholarship defied belief: "One complication is what is defined and accepted as family violence by clients, as victims do not conceptualise their experiences as being family violence in many circumstances and certainly not in legal terms that meet court definitions."

The tone was set in the acknowledgements when they thanked the "courageous children, women and men" who filled out the questionnaires and responded to phoneins. Courage is saving someone else's life at risk to your own, not filling out a questionnaire.

The authors alleged that: "Their constant complaint was that, instead of receiving sympathy and support from the service providers, they received disbelief and disregard in relation to their experiences of family violence and their concerns for their children's safety."

The claims were often disbelieved for the simple reason that they were often not true, made in the context of an adversarial system which specifically encouraged parents to make claims against each other for personal gain and without consequence. There existed no proof, no photographs, no police reports, no doctors or hospital reports, no disturbed neighbours. A raised voice or a raised eyebrow is not domestic violence. Under Australian law, it may soon count as exactly that.

The report went on: "Adult victims were frequently advised by lawyers and others not to report family violence for fear of losing their children, even when the violence could be substantiated, and when they did report violence they were often not believed, or were accused of trying to alienate the child from the other parent. Women complained that the perpetrators (who were more often than not men) falsely denied that family violence occurred and this was not investigated. Women also feared for their children's safety when they were in their violent father's care.

"Male and female respondents were also extremely concerned that allegations and denials of child abuse were rarely investigated by the state child protection agencies when they were reported. For some women, their fear as a result of the violence and the threats of retaliation from their male partners was so great that they reported they could not use any services relevant for separating couples. For some women, their fear as a result of the violence and the threats of retaliation from their male partners was so great that they reported they could not use any services relevant for separating couples."

In life you find what you choose to seek. In research you find what you choose to fund.

Yet another report, from the Social Policy Research Centre at the University of NSW, found that shared care was experienced differently by mothers and fathers and was most problematic when mothers had serious concerns about their children's safety or there was high parental conflict.

The report concluded that factors such as the level of parental co-operation and conflict were more important than the structure of parenting arrangements. "In other words,

shared care of itself is not necessarily better for children than other care arrangements. Given this, there seems to be no justification for our current legislative approach, which encourages parents in this direction."

During the election the political party most clearly in favour of rolling back the shared parenting provisions was the Greens, who at the beginning of the year had used the Chisholm report as justification for their position.

The article concluded that the incoming government "should act on consistent evidence showing us that a significant number of children are being damaged by our shared parenting laws. What we need are laws that require us to determine children's best interests on a case-by-case basis without pre-conceived ideas, and laws that require us to take family violence seriously at every step along the way."

That a feminist academic could quote a former Family Court judge as justification for junking shared parenting laws showed just how closed the circuit of logic had become. No light of reason, no reasoned truth, need enter here.

The Age did not publish any countering views, although they were not hard to find.

The Family Court's traditional style of custody orders was once again being paraded as being in the best interests of children.

The Age's sister newspaper, The Sydney Morning Herald, was also at it.

Feminist columnist Adele Horin continued her decade's old hostility to fathers as parents on the paper's opinion pages, this time under the headline "Next government must confront the dangers in family law reforms"

She wrote: "In an election degraded by bipartisan fear-mongering on asylum seekers and climate change, we can be grateful the hot-button issue of family law remained safely off limits.

"Who gets the kids after parents separate, for how long, and in what circumstances is an issue that is far from settled, despite the changes in the Family Law Act the Howard government introduced in 2006 with Labor's support."

She noted that awaiting the incoming attorney-general was \$7 million worth of freshly minted, government-commissioned research on the effect of the changes, specifically the impact of shared care arrangements where children spend equal or near-equal time with both parents.

"So sensitive is the subject that a senior officer in the Attorney-General's Department remarked to a researcher this year: "We have to slow this down; we know it's worth 1 million votes." Any suggestion of rolling back the 2006 reforms risked reigniting emotive campaigns by men's groups that considered the changes a victory for fathers' rights.

Horin accused the Labor Attorney-General, Robert McClelland of having done his best to bury the reports, including a two volume tone on violence and family law. She said they were slipped on to the departmental website without any official publicity, simultaneously and late in the late afternoon, ensuring reduced media coverage.

Horin also claimed that with lawyers and mediators required by the law to raise the possibility of shared care "unrealistic expectations and fears have been raised. And,

without doubt, many people have been led to believe they have no choice but to agree to equal time, and that not to do so may count against them should they end up in court. Some of these agreements, based on misinformation, may not be in the children's best interest."

Horin concluded it was a relief the issue did not become politicised in the election: "The new government can make a considered decision about how to make a good system better. It should heed the voices of respected legal experts and researchers. Doing nothing is the coward's way out."

Garbage in, garbage out.

As was the norm, the Sydney Morning Herald once again failed to run any countering views.

After Labor party succeeded in brokering its way back into power during those dramatic days following the August 2010 election, little time was wasted before pursuing the feminist inspired alarm over family law. Prior to the election that very same party had done its best to avoid the topic altogether. Democracy is a wonderful thing.

In early November of 2010 the Attorney-General Robert McClelland flagged his "concern" that the existing laws did not adequately deal with family violence concerns. He said he wanted to change the law to make it clear safety concerns outweighed the need for a child to have a meaningful relationship with both parents.

"We're effectively switching the two around so that in considering their discretion, the courts will be required to have regard to, first and foremost, the welfare of the best interests of the child," he said.

He said the changes would not affect cases where there were no safety risks.

Adopting the Law Council's proposals, McClelland proposed to expand the definition of family violence to include emotional and financial manipulation.

The definition of domestic violence, as his critics observed, was being expanded to include almost any human behaviour at all, as long as it was committed by a male.

Can anyone in Australia, male or female, honestly claim to have never been emotionally or financially manipulative at some stage of their life?

On 11 November 2010 McClelland released a draft bill proposing amendments to the Family Law Act to allegedly "provide better protections for children and families at risk of violence". Public submissions were invited. However the government deliberately attempted to minimise controversy and the contributions from the unfunded fathers and family law reform sector by having a tight period of consultation spread across the festive season and a closing date of 14 January, when much of the country was still on holidays.

McClelland also claimed the Chisholm report demonstrated "that the family law system has some way to go in effectively responding to issues relating to family violence."

It did nothing of the kind. It demonstrated the entrenched biases of the ancient regime and the ideological proclivities of the left, now back in the driving seat. The fact the Labor Party's intentions on family law, fundamental to the interests of so many

Australians, was not mentioned once during the election campaign demonstrated the government's deliberate hoodwinking of the public.

The draft Family Violence Bill sought to amend the Family Law Act in areas including prioritising the safety of children; changing the meaning of 'family violence' and 'abuse' to "better capture harmful behaviour" and strengthening the obligations of lawyers, family dispute resolution practitioners, family consultants and family counselors. It also aimed to ensure that courts had better access to evidence of family violence and abuse and made it easier for state and territory child protection authorities to participate in family law proceedings.

Another recommendation in the draft bill was the deletion of the "friendly" parent provision, which obliged judges to have regard to whether a parent encouraged the child's relationship with the other parent. McClelland claimed some parents were afraid to raise claims of violence in case they were considered "unfriendly" parents.

As well parents would no longer have cost orders made against them for making false allegations or statements. McClelland claimed this provision deterred parents from raising truthful claims in case the court did not believe them.

Another change was the inclusion of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child as a new object of the act.

The new definition contained a long list of matters including "behaviour that torments, intimidates, or harasses a family member. That effect could be caused by repeated derogatory taunts or racial taunts, or intentionally causing death or injury to an animal or damaging property."

Family violence would also include unreasonably controlling, dominating or deceiving a family member. This could be brought about by denying a family member financial autonomy or preventing a family member from making or keeping connections with family, friends or culture.

Threatening to commit suicide with the intention of tormenting or intimidating a family member would also be deemed family violence.

Lawyers and those working in the family law system would also be required to report wider categories of abuse to child welfare authorities. Neglect and psychological harm through exposure to family violence would join assault, sexual assault and sexual exploitation as matters that trigger mandatory reporting.

"The proposed legislative changes will not undermine the effectiveness of the Family Law Act in promoting a child's right to a meaningful relationship with both parents where there are no safety concerns," McClelland claimed.

With such a broad definition of domestic violence aimed squarely at men, in a secretive, biased and discretionary jurisdiction with extremely low standards of proof, where hearsay and opinion counted as evidence, it was hard to see how this could possibly be true.

Not to mention that the Bill's strongest supporters were the Family Court's greatest apologists, Richard Chisholm and Alastair Nicholson, whose hostility to the shared parenting laws were well documented.

The former Chief Justice said the changes were long overdue and the Howard government's changes to the Family Law Act had not been thought through. "There was too much sound and fury and not enough proper analysis," he said.

There had never been any doubt about the former Chief Justice Alastair Nicholson's partisanship and open hostility to the Howard government. But if further proof was needed it came in June 2007, when, in his latest tax payer funded role as a Honorary Professorial Research Fellow at the University of Melbourne, he enunciated his belief even before they had lost the election that "history would come to regard the rule of the Howard Government over this country as one of the darker periods of the country's history".

At the same time as the government released the draft exposure Family Violence Bill 2010 and invited public submissions, it also released a consultation paper. With a short reporting period and no effort to specifically consult with the community, certainly not to garner or examine dissenting voices outside the self referencing pack mentality of the family law and domestic violence industries themselves, the chances of the government paying any heed at all to submissions that disagreed with their agenda was zero. They certainly had no intention of consulting father's groups, despite the obvious impact on them. To respond to and critique this level of detailed information and a fairly complex Bill was beyond the resources of most of the unfunded groups.

The seeming armada of generously funded reports virtually all complied with the government's agenda, which was to accord as closely as it could with the stance of women's groups, feminist advocates and domestic violence services against shared parenting. It was nothing short of a snow job.

The Australian Law Reform Commission released concurrently in November its voluminous two volume report Family Violence - A National Legal Response, designed to provide the government with a legal framework on which to proceed. It recommended that the discriminatory words "Domestic violence is predominantly perpetrated by men against women and children" be inserted in front of all relevant state and federal legislation, including the Family Law Act.

It was a deliberate attempt to prejudice Family Court judges against fathers, despite the body of evidence demonstrating both genders could be equally guilty of domestic violence.

The ALRC made 187 recommendations. The consultation paper earlier in the year had run to more than 1,000 pages. The summary of the final report alone ran to 76 pages. It was introduced by Attorney-General Robert McClelland noting "the scale of violence affecting Australian women and their children". No mention of men except as perpetrators.

The Family Violence Team, the Child Protection Team, the Sexual Assault team and the Over-arching Issues Team who produced the report were almost all women lawyers. There were 236 consultations nation wide. God knows how much this all cost.

Time and again the report repeated the ideologically driven claims that family violence was "predominantly committed by men; it can occur in all sectors of society; it can involve exploitation of power imbalances; its incidence is underreported."

Under their recommendations a man could be excluded from his own home on the basis of an accusation.

Here's a small sample of the recommendations: "That a person is not to be regarded as having consented to a sexual act just because the person did not say or do anything to indicate that she or he did not consent; or the person did not protest or physically resist; or the person did not sustain physical injury.

State and territory legislation dealing with sexual offences, criminal procedure or evidence, should contain guiding principles to which

courts should have regard when interpreting provisions relating to sexual offences. At a minimum, these guiding principles should refer to "the high incidence of sexual violence within society; sexual offences are significantly under-reported; a significant number of sexual offences are committed against women, children and other vulnerable persons and sexual offences often occur in circumstances where there are unlikely to be any physical signs of an offence having occurred."

It wasn't enough for yet another feminist academic, Annie Cousins, who writing in The Australian noted that the ALRC'S recommendations "included behaviour that many would not consider to be violence but, in the context of a family situation, would probably make a lot of sense to victims. It includes stalking, economic abuse, emotional abuse, deprivation of liberty, and causing damage to property and injury to animals. In other words, it recognises that violent men use a range of behaviours to control partners. A victim of family violence is a product of all her experiences of emotional, physical, economic or sexual abuse and this makes her vulnerable to delays, indifference, and bureaucratic and legal difficulties."

The Law Council, that old Labor favourite, also announced its support of the Family Violence Bill.

The Council said that having taken a number of steps over the years to raise awareness of family violence it had been working closely with the government and other agencies to explore innovative and practical ways to address the issue.

Chair of the Council's Family Law Section Geoff Sinclair said: "The current provision makes it more difficult for genuine victims of violence to present their case without fear of costs orders being made against them if they are not believed."

In their submission to the 2006 Senate Inquiry the Council had argued that the insertion of the word "reasonable" in regards to the fear of violence would only ferment dispute between the parties and distract them from the real issue of children's welfare by focusing on arguments about whether statements were, or were not, false. They claimed the word "reasonable" would encourage parties to litigate rather than focus on resolving their dispute.

Sue Price at the Men's Rights Agency said the government was trying to destroy shared parenting. "It's the first move in rolling back shared parenting, which is very foolish, and ultimately all the blame will be placed on men," she said. "That's the established agenda. Statistics say that more biological mothers kill their children than biological fathers and more mothers abuse and neglect their children."

Sole Parents Union president Kathleen Swinbourne said the changes did not go far enough. "Broadening out the definition of violence doesn't make it easier to prove in the Family Court," she said. "And the other issue is that children need to be protected from a lot more than violence."

In Australia the blizzards of domestic violence propaganda peaked on November 25, so-called White Ribbon Day. With the majority of domestic violence allegations made in the context of custody battles, the White Ribbon Foundation's work promoting public misconceptions and moral panic had done nothing to restore sanity to family law debates.

There were some signs of countering views but with the media rarely reporting the views of father's groups except perhaps as an afterthought and with the poorly resourced groups having little power and zero leverage with government, the organisations which channeled the voices of many members of the Australian public were largely invisible.

However Men's Health Australia continued to raise concerns over government abuse of domestic violence data.

In November they condemned the misuse of public funds by the White Ribbon Foundation with a formal complaint to the Minister for the Status of Women Kate Ellis.

Men's Health Australia pointed out the many errors in their documentation including that men were less likely than women to experience violence within family and other relationships, that the impact of violence on men's overall health was not known and that there was no evidence male victims were less likely to report domestic violence than were female victims.

"Rigorous research by the Australian Bureau of Statistics, the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, and the South Australian Department of Human Services has clearly debunked these dangerous myths," said Greg Andresen from Men's Health Australia. "This is not the first time the White Ribbon Foundation has been caught using incorrect and misleading statistics. We now know that Australian men and women are equally likely to be physically assaulted by persons known to them; that the contribution of violence to the burden of disease in men is approximately 2.5 times higher than in women; and that women are almost three times as likely as men to report being a victim of domestic violence to the police."

Other demonstrably false errors in their documentation included claims that domestic violence was the leading cause of death for women aged between 15 and 44 and that men were less likely to suffer injury during a domestic incident, when the opposite was true, perhaps because of the more likely use of weapons against them.

Men's Health Australia went on to say that abuse of men took many of the same forms as abuse of women - physical violence, intimidation and threats; sexual, emotional, psychological, verbal and financial abuse; property damage, harming pets, and social isolation. Men, more so than women, can also experience legal and administrative abuse - the use of institutions to inflict further abuse on a victim, for example, taking out false restraining orders or not allowing the victim access to his children.

One man described his experience of this sort of abuse thus: "My wife would not let me see the kids. She accused me of sexually molesting my daughter. I was devastated. I didn't see my kids for ages. After a Court hearing which lasted ten days, the judge found that my ex-wife herself had molested my daughter in an effort to generate evidence against me. Despite this, she was still allowed custody. And the Court and the child welfare agency refused to take any action against her."

Andresen concluded that there were many misunderstandings about male victims of family violence. "Some argue that men aren't affected as badly as women. Others argue that female violence is usually carried out in self-defence. Yet others assert that women's violence isn't part of an overall pattern of control and domination. An extensive review of Australian and international research finds little evidence to support these claims.

"As well as the effects of violence on men, their children can suffer the same impacts as do children of female victims. These include witnessing family violence by their parents or step-parents, experiencing direct violence and abuse themselves, and suffering a range of negative impacts on their behavioural, cognitive and emotional functioning and social development. Neglecting violence against men means neglecting these children."

The prestigious site Online Opinion, the focus for many of the country's most sophisticated cultural and political debates, was the only media outlet in the country to run a full spread of views on domestic violence and the moves to use it to abolish any semblance of shared parenting; all amply fleshed out on their active forums.

Debate at Online Opinion was lively after one of the anti-shared parenting movement's most prominent leaders Elspeth McInnes penned her support under the headline "Safety first in family law is long overdue". She once again told the sad story of Darcey Freeman, the little girl thrown from a bridge, ignoring the fact that statistically mothers murdered the majority of the two dozen or more children killed by adults each year in Australia and that for propaganda purposes father's could equally tell lurid and appalling stories against mothers if they wanted to be so tasteless. Gabriella Garcia jumped off the very same bridge less than 12 months prior with her 22 month old son strapped to her chest, but there was no outpouring of grief for her or her son, no changes in legislation, her death was not used for propaganda purposes.

The McInnes article was little more than a dressed up hate campaign under the guise of exposing the difficulties which face mothers and children face leaving violent and abusive men. She wrote: "Many are advised by state child protection workers that they will have their children taken into care if they stay living in a domestically violent relationship. Once they leave, the current family law system normally ensures that the children will have time in the care of the violent or abusive parent. The task of Family Relationship Centre workers and legal system professionals has been to get mothers to co-operate in handing their children into the care of abusive parents."

McInnes quoted her own feminist advocacy research with other feminist oriented academics, all funded by the government and duly promoted on the Attorney-General's website. If men paid much of the country's taxes, that's where their usefulness ended. They certainly weren't afforded the courtesy of neutrality in gender related research.

Astonishingly for such a significant Australian media outlet, Online Opinion ran the counter view. If only some of the nation's hard copy publications could have done the

same. Perhaps then the tidal wave of fear mongering and empire building over socalled "family violence" would have been more muted, the middle aged band of powerful and amply funded advocates less certain of their unflinching belief that all men were violent bastards, or as Gloria Steinem's claimed, "the patriarchy requires violence or the subliminal threat of violence in order to maintain itself."

Author Roger A. Smith, who trained as a lawyer and spent many years living in Asia, noted in his article Gender Based Approaches Missing The Mark that the gender-centric message gives the impression that domestic violence and partner abuse is only committed by men. "The best evidence suggests that this is far from the truth. Nearly all rigorous peer-reviewed academic population-based studies published in academic journals around the world have found that at least one-third, and often one half or more, of the victims of domestic violence are men.

"If we are serious about tackling family violence, we must not ignore these findings. Tackling two-thirds or one-half of the problem, while ignoring the other third to half, is doing a disservice to Australian families. We need to found the solutions to domestic violence firmly on the evidence base."

He observed that the gender based DV campaigns of "break the silence" enforced silence on male victims - the very thing they claimed to be against.

"The fact that this message is so insistent and that specialist services are largely withheld from male victims of domestic violence means that this group must usually suffer in appalling silence that has lasting health consequences on them, their children and families. The incessant message that men are perpetrators and women are victims means that men who do have the courage to come forward and make claims of this nature will often be treated as 'less than a man' or liars or both. Where are they to turn? Domestic violence policy should not become a weapon for inflicting domestic violence by making this class of victim voiceless."

Smith went on to say that like the famous line in Frost-Nixon that "if the president does it, it's not illegal", so it sometimes seems that if a woman does it, it's not domestic violence. This is how far the ideology has taken us in some instances. But implied impunity for any group in society only makes the situation worse and will increase the rates of domestic violence and family dysfunction.

"The irony of gender-based campaigns that mandate discriminatory legal regimes is that they can only be achieved by also discarding the principles of English common law and twentieth century international human rights law. The erosion of these principles becomes collateral damage, or in economists' jargon, a 'negative externality' in the quest to advance a particular cultural agenda.

"We would certainly never tolerate a law against terrorism that states that a crime of this nature is predominately committed by Muslims. Even anti-hooning laws, to be human rights-compliant, could never state that these offences are predominantly committed by young males - even if this is statistically correct - because it would erode the ability of the justice system to fairly and effectively deal with offenders of whatever sociodemographic background.

"Unfortunately, however, these same human rights norms are not respected when it comes to domestic violence. Recently enacted domestic violence acts in several states

are prefaced by the words: "Domestic violence is predominantly perpetrated by men against women and children".

Smith condemned the Australian Law Reform Commission's recommendation earlier in the month that these discriminatory words be extended to include the Family Law Act.

"Racial, or in this case gender-profiling, of offenders is controversial in law enforcement procedures, but to upgrade it into legislation is nothing short of extraordinary. It creates an obvious bias in the minds of judges and magistrates that a particular class of defendants is more likely to be guilty by reason of his gender or race than would be the case if he were of a different gender or race (and likewise the other gender or race more likely to be innocent).

"In the case of the Family Law Act, its only possible application would be to prejudice fathers in parenting disputes since the Court would be required to assume that fathers are more likely to be abusive toward their children than mothers. To suggest that courts are somehow able to discard such bias in determining individual cases, while maintaining the general rule as to which groups are most likely to commit certain offences, is naïve and stupid. And if the bias is to somehow be withheld in the determination of individual cases, then why legislatively prescribe it in the first place?

"The intent to breach international human rights provisions on discrimination - in particular, Articles 2, 4, 23 (4) and 26 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, and Articles 2, 7, and 16 (1) of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights - is so brazen as to be almost beyond belief. But we need to remind ourselves that we are entering into a world where ideology reigns.

"Assuming the ALRC recommendation is adopted, which seems likely, we have to accept that for the foreseeable future at least our country will be a place where justice is blind, but apparently not gender-blind."

Smith went on to say that laws of this type represented arguably the first time in the history of our system of law, or of any civilized system of law, where statute prescribed the socio-demographic characteristics of the persons who predominantly committed a particular crime. Even the criminal codes of Apartheid-era South Africa did not prescribe which race or ethnic group was prone to committing a particular offence.

He concluded: "By seeming to institutionalise discrimination, the ALRC could very well weaken public confidence and support for anti-violence measures and weaken confidence in the legal system itself. The victims of violence, whether male or female, deserve better than this. Family violence law and policy is not an arena to argue which group in society is more abusive than the other. We are never going to reduce violence with a one-sided ideological approach. The challenge now for practitioners, activists, police and legislators is to move beyond the gender blame game. Most of all, innocent children caught up in their parents' messes require us to put inclusion before ideology, safety before sexism and protection before parochialism."

In an earlier call to "end sexism in domestic violence policy" Smith had observed that since 2005 the Australian Government had been forced to spend hundreds of millions of dollars to redress the disadvantages suffered by men at the dissolution of marriage, including with respect to care and support arrangements for children and alternatives to the court and child support systems that were quite literally driving men to suicide.

Smith wrote: "The State and Territory-based laws and the attitudes of the mostly middle-aged women who run domestic violence services in Australia are still, in many respects, stuck in a 1970's time warp. It is time to remind these mostly fair-minded older sisters in charge of DV services from which men are excluded of the non-discriminatory ideals for which they once fought. There are no longer any excuses. It's time for Western feminists to move into the 21st century and embrace the ideals of equality that they themselves once advocated. Because at the end of the day, we are really only asking for a simple acknowledgement – 'yes', women do commit domestic violence and 'no' it is not acceptable."

And there, at the time of going to press with the first edition of Chaos At The Crossroads, the matter lies. After more than 20 years of ferment, community agitation, government inquiry, thousands of submissions and countless stories of suffering and distress, when it came to the country's most controversial institution, the Family Court of Australia, the ancient regime was back in the driver's seat. Its indifference to its clients and its resistance to reform remained as remarkable as ever. As for the "evil sister", the wretched tyranny of the hated Child Support Agency continued apace, a disgrace to the public service and the history of public policy in Australia.

The Australian government was moving in the opposite direction to much enlightened opinion in the Western world. By 2010, while reactionary forces continued to promote sole-mother custody, it was being recognised or at least debated across US, Canadian, Scandinavian and European jurisdictions that shared parenting was the obvious way out of the morass of individual pain, social consequence and gendered roles created by sole mother custody and the marginalisation of fathers.

The public submission period for Family Violence Bill, the result of some of the worst, certainly the most blatant manipulation of the public inquiry process seen in the country's recent history, ended smack bang in the middle of the holiday season. The Labor Government led by Julia Gillard and ably assisted by Attorney-General Robert McClelland appeared determined to press on with its lunacy in not just pandering to but leading the way for the worst excesses of the domestic violence industry, along with its academic and bureaucratic cheer squads.

There could be only one result from defining domestic or "family" violence so broadly, in such a gendered way and couched in such a manner as to target only men as perpetrators and include much ordinary human behaviour - a return to the days when many fathers entering the Family Court of Australia were denied any or given only minimal contact with their children on entirely spurious grounds. The resultant personal pain created a large body of disaffected men as well as grandparents and other extended family members, did the community as a whole great harm, brought the judiciary into disrepute and impacted badly on the children involved.

Successive governments from both left and right have failed to listen to their constituents and respond to their concerns. They have resorted to vested inquiries in the hands of the mandarins and publicly funded elites whose feigned attempts to listen to the views of ordinary people have then been heavily reinterpreted. They have delayed progress through the extensive manipulation of committees or other forms of alleged inquiry. They have fed off the tax payer funded industries as the industries have fed off them. These same governments, even when they were enacting legislative reforms, left their enforcement in the hands of institutions notoriously resistant to change. They allowed or encouraged fashionable ideology, institutional inertia and

bureaucracy to triumph over common sense. Common decency was lost long ago. In terms of human suffering, the Australian public has already paid dearly for the failure to reform outdated, badly administered and inappropriate institutions dealing with family law and child support - and for the failure of governments to take seriously the experiences and voices of the men and women most directly affected by them. The country's failure to reform family law and child support is ultimately a failure of democracy itself.

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

John Stapleton wrote for a variety of Australian publications including The Bulletin and The Financial Review before joining the staff of The Sydney Morning Herald in the mid 1980s. He spent the last 15 years of his journalistic career, until 2009, working as a general news reporter on The Australian. He is the proud father of two teenage children. His work has appeared in several anthologies, including Men Love Sex and Australian Politics. In 2000 he joined a small group of separated dads at 2GLF in western Sydney and helped to found Dads On The Air, now the world's longest running fathers radio program. Over the next nine years he spent many hundreds of hours keeping the then struggling program alive. He is currently living in Bangkok. The show continues to prosper without him. On a visit to Sydney in October 2010 he participated in Dads On The Air's tenth anniversary program, which featured some of its original members and most enduring supporters.